110 2-3 03 Released October 2003

Acta Hæmatologica

Gene- and Immunotherapy for Hematological Diseases

Editor *Dagmar Dilloo,* Düsseldorf

S. Karger Medical and Scientific Publishers Basel - Freiburg Paris - London New York - Bangalore Bangkok - Singapore Tokyo - Sydney





Gene- and Immunotherapy for Hematological Diseases

Guest Editor Dagmar Dilloo, Düsseldorf

21 figures, 3 in color and 12 tables, 2003

KARGER

Basel · Freiburg · Paris · London · New York · Bangalore · Bangkok · Singapore · Tokyo · Sydney

S. Karger Medical and Scientific Publishers Basel • Freiburg • Paris • London New York • Bangalore • Bangkok Singapore • Tokyo • Sydney

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com

Drug Dosage

The authors and the publisher have exerted every effort to ensure that drug selection and dosage set forth in this text are in accord with current recommendations and practice at the time of publication. However, in view of ongoing research, changes in government regulations, and the constant flow of information relating to drug therapy and drug reactions, the reader is urged to check the package insert for each drug for any change in indications and dosage and for added warnings and precautions. This is particularly important when the recommended agent is a new and/or infrequently employed drug.

All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be translated into other languages, reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, microcopying, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher or, in the case of photocopying, direct payment of a specified fee to the Copyright Clearance Center (see 'General Information').

© Copyright 2003 by S. Karger AG, P.O. Box, CH-4009 Basel (Switzerland) Printed in Switzerland on acid-free paper by Reinhardt Druck, Basel ISBN 3-8055-7643-9

Acta Hæmatologica

Contents

59 Editorial

- **60 Gene Therapy for Inborn and Acquired Immune Deficiency Disorders** Engel, B.C.; Kohn, D.B. (Los Angeles, Calif.)
- 71 Gene Transfer Strategies for Correction of Lysosomal Storage Disorders d'Azzo, A. (Memphis, Tenn.)
- 86 Gene Therapy for Chronic Granulomatous Disease Goebel, W.S.; Dinauer, M.C. (Indianapolis, Ind.)
- **93 Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes** Flasshove, M.; Moritz, T.; Bardenheuer, W.; Seeber, S. (Essen)
- **107 Gene Therapy Targeting Hematopoietic Cells: Better Not Leave It to Chance** Baum, C. (Hannover/Cincinnati, Ohio); von Kalle, C. (Cincinnati, Ohio)
- **110 Adoptive Immunotherapy in Chimeras with Donor Lymphocytes** Kolb, H.-J.; Schmid, C.; Chen, X.; Woiciechowski, A.; Roskrow, M.; Weber, M.; Guenther, W.; Ledderose, G.; Schleuning, M. (Munich)
- 121 Cellular Engineering of HSV-tk Transduced, Expanded T Lymphocytes for Graft-versus-Host Disease Management Burger, S.R. (Chapel Hill, N.C.); Kadidlo, D.M.; Basso, L.; Bostrom, N.; Orchard, P.J. (Minneapolis, Minn.)
- 132 Alternative Concepts of Suicide Gene Therapy for Graft-versus-Host Disease after Adoptive Immunotherapy Kramm, C.M. (Düsseldorf)
- 139 Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for EBV-Associated Post-Transplant Lymphoproliferative Disease Bollard, C.M.; Savoldo, B.; Rooney, C.M.; Heslop, H.E. (Houston, Tex.)
- **149 Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for Epstein-Barr Virus-Positive Hodgkin's Disease** Huls, M.H.; Rooney, C.M.; Heslop, H.E. (Houston Tex.)
- **154 Chimeric T-Cell Receptors for the Targeting of Cancer Cells** Rössig, C. (Münster); Brenner, M.K. (Houston, Tex.)
- 160 Leukemia Vaccines Glouchkova, L.; Ackermann, B.; Dilloo, D. (Düsseldorf)
- 171 Author Index, Vol. 110, No. 2-3, 2003
- 172 Subject Index, Vol. 110, No. 2-3, 2003

KARGER

www.karger.com

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34

E-Mail karger@karger.ch

© 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Access to full text and tables of contents, including tentative ones for forthcoming issues: www.karger.com/aha_issues

Acta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:59 DOI: 10.1159/000072454

Editorial

Over the last years, gene and immunotherapeutic strategies for the treatment of hematological diseases have been successfully transferred from the laboratory to the clinic. The aim of this issue of *Acta Haematologica* is to provide an overview on gene and immunotherapy for non-malignant and malignant hematological diseases as alternative or complimentary treatment to standard therapy. Experts in the field have contributed to cover the broad scope of currently available strategies ranging from corrective gene transfer for monogenetic diseases to adoptive transfer of T lymphocytes and vaccine development in immunotherapy of leukemia and lymphoma.

In gene therapy for monogenetic disorders of the hematopoietic system, the initial limitations of low gene transfer efficiency have been successfully addressed. Now that therapeutically effective levels of gene transfer can be achieved, the use of autologous, genetically modified hematopoietic cells has opened new therapeutic avenues for affected patients without the risks associated with allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Model diseases affecting the lymphopoietic system, such as immunodeficiencies, or the myelopoietic system, such as chronic granulomatous disease or metabolic storage disorders, have been chosen to illustrate the therapeutic potential of stable gene transfer into hematopoietic cells for correction of genetic disorders. In this context chemoresistant genes for selection of successfully transduced target cells may prove beneficial, a strategy explored in another review. In the clinical application of corrective gene transfer, the initial focus was on vector safety. To date, with a considerable number of patients treated and the development of lymphoproliferative disorders in 2 children in a French trial for gene therapy of severe combined immunodeficiency, issues such as insertional mutagenesis as well as disease or target cell-specific susceptibility to gene transfer toxicity have moved into the foreground. Included therefore is a short commentary addressing the current safety issues.

In immunotherapy of leukemia and lymphoma, both genetically modified and non-modified effector cells are employed. Prominent examples of clinically successful adoptive T-cell therapy are Epstein-Barr virus-specific cytotoxic T cells for the treatment of lymphoproliferative and Hodgkin's disease and donor lymphocytes for relapsed chronic myeloid leukemia. Genetic modification of T cells is pursued with a number of different goals such as gene marking for long-term tracking of administered cytotoxic T lymphocytes or transgenic expression of suicide genes to provide a rescue mechanism in case of graft-versus-host disease following donor lymphocyte infusion. Also, the potential of retargeting T cells toward leukemia/lymphoma-specific antigens via gene transfer of hybrid T-cell receptors is reviewed as an alternative strategy to classical cytotoxic T-cell generation. In highly proliferative diseases, such as high-risk acute leukemia, adoptive T-cell therapy is considerably less effective so that for these patients relapse prevention in the setting of minimal residual disease is paramount. Here, vaccine strategies with the aim to stimulate a leukemia-specific immune response in vivo may prove advantageous and the various approaches to leukemia vaccine generation are discussed.

While the transfer of gene and immunotherapy to the clinic has provided promising initial results for a number of hematological diseases, researchers have now been confronted with new challenges in terms of toxicity. Yet, based on careful consideration of potential toxicity and detailed analysis of adverse events, it is the continuous pursuit of these novel treatment strategies in the framework of clinical studies that will ultimately enable progress in this field.

Dagmar Dilloo

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0059\$19.50/0 Accessible online at:

www.karger.com/aha

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:60–70 DOI: 10.1159/000072455

Gene Therapy for Inborn and Acquired Immune Deficiency Disorders

Barbara C. Engel^a Donald B. Kohn^{a, b}

^aDivision of Research Immunology/Bone Marrow Transplantation, Children's Hospital Los Angeles, and ^bDepartment of Pediatrics, University of Southern California Keck School of Medicine, Los Angeles, Calif., USA

Key Words

Gene therapy $\boldsymbol{\cdot}$ Immune deficiency $\boldsymbol{\cdot}$ Hematopoietic stem cells

Abstract

Gene therapy has been under development as a way to correct inborn errors for over 20 years. Immune deficiencies are favorable candidates for gene therapy because of the potential selective advantage of genetically corrected cells in these conditions. Gene therapy for immune deficiencies has been the only application to show incontrovertible benefit in clinical trials to date. Despite the success in treating the underlying disease, there have been two cases of insertional oncogenesis reported in one of these early phase trials. Gene therapy approaches and clinical trials for several inborn as well as acquired immune deficiencies will be reviewed.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Gene Therapy for Inborn Immune Deficiency Disorders

Gene therapy has been under development as a way to correct inborn errors for over 20 years [1]. In the early 1980s, as gene therapy became technically feasible, hemoglobinopathies were the first diseases to be considered because the human β -globin gene was the first human gene to be cloned. However, by the mid 1980s it became clear that gene transfer into primary human hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) was inefficient with the available techniques. Consideration turned to the congenital immune deficiencies as more favorable candidates because of the potential selective advantage of genetically corrected cells in these conditions. Gene therapy for immune deficiencies continues to be a major focus of research and, as will be discussed, has been the only one to show a clear-cut significant benefit in clinical trials to the present time.

The congenital condition known as 'severe combined immune deficiency' (SCID) was the first human disease to be successfully cured by allogeneic bone marrow transplant in 1968 [2]. From the accumulated experience with transplants for SCID, it became clear that there is a potent selective advantage for genetically normal donor T-lymphoid progenitors in SCID patients [3]. Intravenous administration of only a modest number of normal bone

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0060\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha Barbara C. Engel Mailstop # 62, Children's Hospital Los Angeles 4650 Sunset Blvd., Los Angeles, CA 90027 (USA) Tel. +1 323 669 2237, Fax +1 323 671 3651 E-Mail bengel@chla.usc.edu marrow cells without any prior cytoreductive conditioning routinely leads to complete reconstitution of the immunologic system with donor-derived T lymphocytes. These findings implied that there was a selective advantage for the normal donor T cells, perhaps because of the available open niche lacking recipient's endogenous T cells. From these observations of selective advantage in SCID, it was proposed that a similar selective advantage for genetically corrected autologous T-lymphoid progenitors may be expected in gene therapy for SCID and that this selective advantage could amplify the effects from gene transfer into only a small number of HSC [3].

Adenosine Deaminase-Deficient SCID

In the mid 1980s, the only known and cloned gene which was causative for a form of human SCID was that encoding adenosine deaminase (ADA). Retroviral vectors based on the Moloney murine leukemia virus were developed to carry the normal human ADA cDNA, and studies showed that transfer of the normal ADA cDNA into ADA-deficient T cells corrected the physiologic defect in vitro [4].

Although initial considerations had been towards targeting pluripotent HSC with the corrective gene to provide a renewing source of T-lymphoid progenitors, it became apparent that stem cells were a difficult target. At that time, there was no way to achieve a significant enrichment of HSC, there was no cloned recombinant hematopoietic growth factor which could be used to stimulate HSC to proliferate and take up retroviral vectors and there were insufficient assays to measure stem cell activity in preclinical studies. Therefore, a group of investigators at the National Institutes of Health, lead by French Anderson and Michael Blaese, turned to the mature T cells as the potential target for gene transfer [5].

An effective form of enzyme replacement therapy had been developed for ADA-deficient SCID consisting of bovine ADA which is purified and conjugated to polyethylene glycol (PEG-ADA) [6]. Administration of PEG-ADA by biweekly intramuscular injections can lead to significant restoration of immunity in the majority of ADAdeficient SCID patients, with significant increases in the numbers of peripheral blood T lymphocytes.

The presence of circulating T cells in ADA-deficient SCID subjects receiving PEG-ADA allowed their T cells to be collected by phlebotomy or apheresis, targeted in vitro with a retroviral vector and then reinfused into the patients. This unique opportunity to access T cells in SCID patients who are otherwise severely lymphopenic formed the basis for the first clinical trial of human gene therapy which began in 1990 [5]. Two patients were treated under this protocol. They underwent multiple cycles of peripheral blood T-cell collection, ex vivo transduction, and reinfusion.

Importantly, there were no serious adverse events from using this approach. One of the most feared complications of the use of retroviral vectors was that the presence of replication-competent retrovirus (helper virus) could lead to a productive infection that may be especially devastating in patients with immune deficiency. In fact, no replication-competent retrovirus was seen in these patients or in the over 1,000 patients who have undergone retroviral vector-mediated gene transfer to the present time. In 1 of the patients, increased levels of ADA enzymatic activity (up to 25% of normal) were expressed in circulating peripheral blood T cells. These ADA gene-containing and expressing peripheral blood T lymphocytes persist through the present time, more than 10 years since the trial began. This long-lasting persistence of T cells that were isolated, manipulated and reinfused is an important observation and supports the potential for this approach. However, the patients have been maintained on PEG-ADA therapy to the present time, due to concerns that the use of mature T lymphocytes may result in a limited immunologic repertoire of gene-corrected T cells with minimal ability to generate new T-cell specificity. Subsequently, a number of ADA-deficient SCID subjects in Italy and Japan were treated under a similar protocol targeting T cells, with similar results achieved [7, 8].

The first trial targeting HSC with the ADA gene was initiated in 1992 by Bordignon et al. [7] in Italy. This study was cleverly designed to attempt to directly compare the efficacy of gene transfer into stem cells versus T lymphocytes. Two retroviral vectors carrying the ADA gene were produced which were nearly identical but could be distinguished on the basis of restriction site polymorphisms. One vector was used to transduce peripheral blood T cells in a protocol similar to that used at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) while the second vector was used to transduce HSC and both cell populations were then also reinfused. Initially, most circulating T cells that contained a vector were from the transduced T cells, but, over time, there was more contribution to peripheral blood T cells from the transduced bone marrow. While a follow-up of these patients has not been published, they do not appear to have had clinical benefit from the procedure. Shortly after the study began in Italy, 3 patients from France and England were treated with retroviralmediated transfer of the ADA gene into bone marrow cells [9]. The level of gene transfer was quite low and there

Gene Therapy for Inborn and Acquired Immune Deficiency Disorders

was minimal evidence for production of gene-containing T cells in the patients.

In 1993, our group at the Children's Hospital Los Angeles performed a trial of retroviral-mediated ADA gene transfer into CD34+ cells derived from the umbilical cord blood of 3 ADA-deficient newborns [10]. The subjects have had a low but persistent number of gene-containing peripheral blood stem cells now for over 8 years. An attempt was made to wean the patients off PEG-ADA, and during this time, the frequency of gene-containing T lymphocytes increased significantly. This finding implied that the PEG-ADA therapy blunted the selective survival advantage of the gene-corrected cells, which only became apparent as the PEG-ADA enzyme was weaned. An attempt to completely eliminate PEG-ADA administration in 1 of the subjects was halted after he developed early signs of immune deficiency with oral thrush [11]. Subsequent studies show that there was minimal expression of the ADA gene from the vector in circulating peripheral blood T cells, but expression could be induced to a high level by in vitro culture and activation with T-cell mitogens [11]. To the present time, no patient with ADA-deficient SCID has had a significant clinical benefit produced from gene transfer into either T cells or peripheral blood stem cells, although some degree of gene transfer and expression has been documented.

We are currently performing a second trial for ADAdeficient SCID in collaboration with Fabio Candotti, MD, at the NIH. We are exploring the efficacy of new cytokines (e.g. flt-3 ligand, thrombopoietin) which may be better able to stimulate gene transfer to stem cells and new vectors which may be better expressed in quiescent T cells. A recent report by Aiuti et al. [12] on 2 subjects undergoing retroviral-mediated transfer of the ADA gene into CD34+ cells with prior administration of busulfan for cytoreduction and no PEG-ADA therapy demonstrates immune reconstitution.

X-Linked SCID

The most common single genetic etiology of SCID is the X-linked form which is due to the absence or deficiency of the γ C cytokine receptor responsible in part for signaling from IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, IL-15 [13]. The γ C gene was identified and cloned in 1992 [14]. Hacaein Bey et al. [15] performed pre-clinical studies showing that retroviral-mediated gene transfer of a normal γ C gene into T cells and HSC from patients with X-linked SCID restored cytokine signaling and restored lymphopoiesis. These preclinical studies led to a clinical trial in which a total of 11 infants or children with X-linked SCID were treated by gene transfer into their autologous HSC [16-18]. In 10 of the patients, significant production of peripheral blood T, B and NK cells containing the normal gene was seen with restoration of essentially normal immunologic function. The 1 subject who did not realize a benefit had massive hepatosplenomegaly due to a preexisting infection and failed to show engraftment of the transduced cells. The findings in these X-SCID patients exemplify the postulated selective advantage in SCID with immune reconstitution presumably from a small number of gene-corrected HSC. X-SCID may have a stronger selective advantage for gene-corrected cells than ADA-deficient SCID and the absence of an enzyme replacement therapy for X-SCID obviates any blunting of selective advantage that is seen with PEG-ADA for ADA-deficient SCID. All of the 10 patients are alive and have been able to lead a normal life for up to 3 years for the first group of patients treated. The long-term duration of the clinical benefit remains to be seen but the initial success in treating their X-linked SCID is clear and incontrovertible. However, about 30 months after treatment, 2 of the patients in the first group of 5 developed a T-cell leukemia (see online press releases by the American Society of Gene Therapy and the European Society of Gene Therapy). In both cases, this seems related to insertion of the retroviral vector in or near a gene called LMO-2. This gene is known to cause T-cell leukemia if activated inappropriately, e.g. as a result of a chromosomal translocation [19, 20]. Both patients have been treated with chemotherapy and so far seem to have responded to the treatment.

Pre-clinical studies of the gene therapy approach used in this X-SCID study had shown no evidence of cancer, leukemia or otherwise, nor has such an event ever been reported in any of the other clinical trials using retroviral vectors targeting HSC. The key scientific issue to resolve is why this has only occurred in this X-SCID study. In vitro and animal studies will have to address the questions whether this is disease/gene-specific (γ C), a problem in the gene transfer method or a combination of both.

The genes responsible for many other genetic forms of SCID have also been cloned and studies in animal models have shown that other forms of SCID are equably amenable to therapy. Thus, it is possible that within the next few years, gene therapy will be applied successfully to Jak-3-deficient SCID, Rag1/Rag2-deficient SCID, as well as other rare forms. Development of gene therapy for these diseases may be limited by their extremely rare nature, making it unattractive to invest the time and money needed to develop gene therapy for a condition where it may be difficult even to recruit patients. Depending on

the results regarding the mechanism of the leukemiadevelopment in the X-SCID study, there may be impetus to do so.

Chronic Granulomatous Disease

Another immune deficiency disease to be approached by gene therapy is chronic granulomatous disease (CGD). CGD is characterized by repeated pyogenic infections due to the absence of neutrophil oxidase activity involved in intracellular killing of bacteria and other pathogens [21]. There are both autosomal as well as X-linked forms of CGD, indicating the existence of multiple causative gene loci. Gene transduction of HSC in murine models of CGD have shown effective restoration of neutrophil oxidase activity with protection from pathogenic bacteria [22, 23]. It is likely that it would not be necessary to correct a large number of HSC, as a clinical benefit could be realized from a relatively modest percentage of functionally active neutrophils. Clinical trials have been performed in CGD by Malech et al. [24] at the NIH. It was possible to demonstrate the production of functionally normal neutrophils with restored oxidase activity but these were present at low numbers and only for short times after infusion of gene-modified cells. Gene therapy approaches for CGD are covered separately by Goebel and Dinauer [pp 86-92] and will not be further addressed here.

Additional Diseases

A variety of other congenital immune deficiencies may be excellent candidates for gene therapy directed at HSC. Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome (WAS) is a complex hematologic disorder in which there is dysfunction of T cells, B cells, macrophages, as well as platelets. The gene responsible for WAS, WASP, has been cloned and appears to act at the interface of cellular cytoskeleton and signal transduction pathways [25]. Studies in WAS patient-derived cells as well as in a WASP gene knock-out mouse model have shown that transfer of the WASP cDNA can correct many of the manifestations of the cellular defects [26, 27]. It is likely that there will be a strong selective survival advantage for WASP gene-corrected cells, in that women who are heterozygous for the WASP defect show non-random X inactivation patterns, consistent with strong selective outgrowth of lymphocytes in which the normal WASP allele did not undergo lyonization.

Another congenital immune deficiency which may be a good candidate for gene therapy targeted to HSC is X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA). XLA results from a defect in a protein called Bruton's tyrosine kinase or *btk*,

Gene Therapy for Inborn and Acquired Immune Deficiency Disorders that is involved in B-lymphocyte signal transduction and maturation [28]. In the absence of btk function, B-lymphocyte development is arrested at the early pre-T-cell phase. Restoration of btk activity by gene transfer should allow B-cell development to proceed. However, there is potential that constitutive expression of btk, which is normally expressed only transiently in B-cell development, may lead to cellular dysfunction or malignant overgrowth. This has not been seen in murine studies performed to date, although the level of expression has been relatively low. btk expression should confer selective proliferation on the gene corrected B-lymphoid progenitors, again potentially allowing a clinically beneficial result to occur from gene transduction of a modest number of stem cells.

Other even rarer genetic immune deficiencies such as the X-linked lymphoproliferative syndrome, leukocyte adhesion deficiency, CD40 ligand deficiency (X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome) and other disorders of leukocyte production or function are also likely to be candidates for gene therapy. Treatment of the specific disorder requires identification and isolation of the normal responsible gene, determination of the extent of gene transfer and expression necessary for correction of the condition, testing in appropriate animal or cell culture pre-clinical models, and then the performance of clinical trials to test safety and efficacy. It may be difficult to identify resources necessary to perform all of these pre-clinical and clinical studies for these relatively rare disorders. However, besides the direct benefits of these studies to the patients who suffer from these diseases, it is expected that these studies will lead to effective gene therapy for more common disorders, such as sickle cell disease, thalassemia, and lysosomal storage disorders.

Gene Therapy for Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) infects human CD4+ T lymphocytes and monocytic cells. Although improvements in anti-retroviral medications have produced great benefits to many people infected with HIV-1 [29–32], these drugs are costly and may have severe side effects. Treatment must be lifelong for longterm protection of patient's CD4+ T lymphocytes from viral destruction to prevent the occurrence of severe and life-threatening opportunistic infections and neoplasms. Therefore, development of alternative or complementary treatments for HIV-1 is needed. With the emergence of

Acta Haematol 2003;110:60-70

the field of gene therapy, applications to treatment of infectious diseases, such as HIV-1 infection, are being explored.

Target Cells

The optimal target cell for gene therapy of HIV-1 infection has not yet been identified. Initial clinical trials used peripheral blood CD4+ T lymphocytes that are relatively easy to obtain and, unlike HSC, relatively easy to transduce [33]. Because mature T cells have a limited lifespan, repeated infusions of gene-modified cells would be required to maintain protection, posing logistical and financial problems.

In addition to CD4+ T lymphocytes, other cells such as T-cell precursors in the thymus and lymph nodes, as well as macrophages, dendritic cells and microglia in the brain are also infected during the course of AIDS. All of these cells are derived from HSC in the bone marrow [34, 35]. Gene transfer into HSC (from bone marrow, peripheral blood or cord blood) would theoretically create a pool of cells that could give rise to all hematopoietic lineages and confer lifelong antiviral protection to the descendant cells [36].

If essentially all of a patient's HSC and the resultant T lymphocytes and monocytic cells could be rendered unable to support HIV-1 replication, it is likely that viral loads would decrease. Theoretically, inhibition of HIV-1 replication in 99.9% of the susceptible cells would be necessary to produce a 3-log reduction in virus burden, an effect often seen with highly effective anti-retroviral therapy. However, with the limited capabilities to effectively transduce high percentages of human HSC, it is currently not possible to protect the majority of susceptible cells. Another mechanism to achieve efficacy would be to engineer cells that are incapable of supporting active HIV-1 replication and are protected from virus-induced cytopathicity, thus having a selective survival advantage compared to non-protected cells. In this case, a modest number of protected cells may comprise an increased percentage of all T lymphocytes, leading to some preservation of immune function. This selective survival of gene-protected T cells has been observed in vivo in a study by Woffendin et al. [33] who demonstrated a selective survival advantage for T lymphocytes expressing a dominant-negative rev gene (revM10).

Anti-HIV-1 Genes

As opposed to the conventional immunization techniques in which an entire organism is protected against invasion by a microbial agent, the concept of 'intracellular immunization' involves genetic modification of cells that would be potential targets for viral infection [37]. Genetic elements that inhibit viral replication, so-called resistance genes, are stably transferred into a patient's cells. Ideally, these resistance genes should be effective, nontoxic and not bypassed by HIV-1 sequence variation.

A number of synthetic genes have been developed that show suppression of HIV-1 replication in model systems. Generally there are three possibilities of intervention with the HIV-1 viral life cycle: preventing the virus from getting into the cells, interfering with its replication once it has infected the cell, and, finally, destroying infected cells. Both protein-based and RNA-based anti-HIV-1 gene products have been developed and are currently being studied in various clinical trials.

Protein-Based Strategies

Inhibition of Viral Entry. In addition to the CD4 receptor, HIV-1 requires chemokine receptors as co-receptors for entry into the cell [38, 39]. It has been shown that the chemokine receptor CCR5 is used by macrophage-tropic virus strains, whereas T-cell-tropic viruses (that emerge later in disease progression) use the CXCR4 receptor. Several approaches have been under investigation to prevent the virus from getting into the target cell including attempts to downregulate co-receptor expression using intracellular single-chain variable fragments, ribozymes, or intrakines [40–45]. Another recently described strategy involves a membrane-anchored peptide to block the interaction of gp41 with the cell membrane [46]. Systemic administration of the peptide T20 has previously been shown to effectively inhibit HIV-1 entry. Although initial results seem promising, more information has to be gained about these approaches to anti-HIV-1 therapy. It is conceivable that HIV-1 mutants might be selected that resist the blockade to the CCR5 co-receptor encouraging the development of a more pathogenic virus that uses CXCR4 [47].

Transdominant Mutant Proteins. Transdominant negative mutant proteins are mutant forms of essential HIV-1 proteins which can interfere with the function of the wild-type HIV-1 protein to suppress viral replication. The concept is that a partially homologous mutant protein can still interact with wild-type polypeptide chains but is otherwise defective. In this scenario, only a few mutant monomers may be sufficient to recruit multiple wild-type monomers into nonfunctional multimers. Alternatively, the mutant proteins can compete with the wild-type protein for cofactors, substrates or targets available only in limited amounts within the cell. This approach has been described for both regulatory (Tat, Rev) and structural (Gag, Env) HIV-1 proteins and cofactors [48–54].

Inducible Intracellular Toxic Proteins. The principle of this method is to kill HIV-infected cells. Sequences encoding toxic proteins (like herpes simplex thymidine kinase or attenuated diphtheria toxin) are introduced into a patient's cells under the control of the HIV-long terminal repeat (LTR) promoter, which is activated by the TAT protein expressed by HIV-1. Upon infection with HIV, the production of the HIV-1 TAT protein triggers the production of the toxin causing 'suicide' of the infected cell [55–59].

Single-Chain Antibodies. Single-chain variable fragments (SFv) of an antibody are fusion proteins of the minimal domains from the heavy and light chains that retain the antigen-binding properties of the parental antibody. When expressed intracellularly, these SFv can bind the viral protein against which they are directed (e.g. Rev, gp120) and trap them in an inappropriate cellular compartment [60–63].

Chimeric Receptors – $CD4\zeta$ In these chimeric immune receptors, the zeta (ζ) subunit of the CD3 T-cell receptor (cytoplasmic domain, necessary for signal transduction) is fused to the extracellular domains of human CD4. Upon binding HIV-1 env (gp120), transduced cells would act as HIV-specific T cells, in an major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-unrestricted manner [64, 65].

There are several potential problems that may be encountered using protein-based strategies. The obvious concern in using inducible intracellular toxic proteins is that uncontrolled activation of the toxic gene may be harmful to the patient. Some studies suggest that intracellular SFv binding to differing epitopes of a specific protein may have different influences on that protein's function that could potentially even enhance HIV-1 production [66]. Generally, the introduction of a foreign protein intended to inhibit HIV-1 might lead to intracellular processing into antigenic peptides which are then presented by MHC class-I molecules, resulting in a cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to the modified cell. Thus, an immune response, which is desirable in various gene therapy approaches to cancer, would in this case lead to the destruction of the resistant cell. In this respect, resistance genes expressing RNA (antisense, ribozymes, decoys) rather than foreign proteins may be preferable as they are expected to be less immunogenic.

RNA-Based Strategies

Antisense RNA. This strategy utilizes expressed RNA sequences that are complementary to viral RNA sequences. By binding to its 'sense' RNA, the antisense RNA can prevent gene expression by interfering with RNA processing or by inhibiting initiation of translation. This approach has the advantage of specificity. With varying degrees of success, antisense RNA has been directed against tat, rev, gag, env, TAR, RRE, the primer binding site, the polypurine tract and parts of the HIV-1 LTR [67–73].

Ribozymes. Ribozymes are small antisense RNA molecules capable of cleaving specific RNA sequences in a catalytic reaction. They have the advantage of being sequence specific. Additionally, as opposed to antisense RNA which needs to be present in excess of its target sequence, one ribozyme can cleave several target RNA molecules by sequential binding, due to the catalytic nature of the reaction. Sequences which have been targeted include tat, rev, gag, integrase, RT and the HIV-1 LTR [74–78]. Apart from the difficulties of achieving specific delivery to the cells, a problem with both technologies - antisense RNA and ribozymes - is the development of escape mutants by changes of one to a few base pairs in the target HIV-1 sequence and the formation of secondary or tertiary structures or protein binding of the target RNA sequence which might then become inaccessible.

RNA Decoys. RNA decoys exploit regulatory processes that are unique to the replication of HIV. Virus replication requires binding of the two key regulatory proteins Tat and Rev to TAR and RRE RNA sequences. RNA decoys compete with the viral RNA for binding of these proteins. By overexpression of these RNA sequences which bind the HIV-1 protein, the proteins are trapped by the artificial targets and cannot bind their natural target sequence on the HIV-1 transcripts [79–82].

One major concern about this strategy is that normal cellular factors can also associate with the decoys and be sequestered upon overexpression of these RNA sequences. To that end, shorter RNA decoys have been constructed that retain the minimal Rev-binding domain and are less likely to bind to other cellular factors but are able to inhibit HIV-1 replication [83, 84].

Gene Delivery

Depending on the target cell, different methods of gene delivery need to be used. T cells can be readily transduced with retroviral vectors upon activation with, for example, monoclonal antibodies to CD28 and anti-CD3 [64]. In contrast, HSC are more difficult to efficiently and stably transduce. Retroviral vectors require cell division for their integration. As the pluripotent HSC are largely quiescent, transduction efficiency into these cells has been very low [85]. Clinical trials employing retroviral vectors have revealed a transduction efficiency of 0.1-1% into reconstituting stem cells [85].

Approaches to pseudotype the standard MoMuLVbased vectors with the envelope protein of the gibbon ape leukemia virus [86] resulted in moderately higher levels of gene transfer to human cells. Additional improvements have been made in the transduction conditions, using recombinant fibronectin support, new cytokines (Flt-3 ligand, thrombopoietin), and manipulation of cell cycle kinetics [87–91]. Combinations of these techniques have resulted in modest, yet significant, increases in gene marking in primate stem cell transplant models (e.g. 1– 10%) [92, 93]. However, even higher levels of gene transduction of stem cells are probably needed for effective treatment of many disorders.

Vector systems based on lentiviruses, such as HIV-1, have been shown to be able to transduce quiescent cells such as neurons, hepatocytes, and others [94]. Pseudotyping HIV-1-based vectors with VSV-G protein has been shown to produce virions with sufficient physical stability to allow concentration to high titers by ultracentrifugation [94, 95]. Studies examining the ability of lentiviral vectors to transduce primitive human hematopoietic progenitor cells have shown great promise for transduction of cells which engraft immune-deficient NOD-SCID mice [96]. They also transduce quiescent CD34+CD38- progenitors which will grow in extended long-term initiating cell culture [97] and can do so following a single exposure of cells to vectors on the day of isolation. Despite all these encouraging results, it is not yet known whether they are really superior to retroviral vectors in transduction efficiency of human HSC that lead to sustained hematopoietic reconstitution in vivo.

Clinical Trials

While in vitro models of cell transduction and inhibition of HIV-1 can be informative, they fail to test the two key parameters required for successful stem cell gene therapy in HIV-1: (1) efficient gene transfer into true pluripotent human HSC which can give lasting production of mature progeny cells of lymphoid and myeloid lineages, and (2) the effects of anti-HIV-1 gene expression on antiviral effects in the HIV-1-infected host. Thus, clinical trials must be performed as part of the evaluative process, with a long-term goal being the development of clinically beneficial strategies. In general, nearly all clinical studies using Moloney murine leukemia virus-based retroviral vectors to transduce CD34+ cells have shown very low levels of gene-containing cells in the circulation of subjects [98].

Only a few clinical trials have been performed targeting HSC from HIV-1-infected subjects. Systemix Inc. has performed a trial of retroviral-mediated transfer of the RevM10 gene into CD34+ peripheral blood stem cells (PBSC) from HIV-1-infected adults. An initial report showed low gene transfer and no detectable cells in the circulation of patients after infusion of transduced cells [99].

In a collaboration between our group at the Children's Hospital Los Angeles and the groups of Zaia et al. [100] at City of Hope National Medical Center, we have performed two clinical trials, transducing PBSC with anti-HIV-1 hammerhead ribozymes. In the first trial [100], 5 asymptomatic HIV-1(+) subjects were treated under the protocol. CD34-enriched peripheral blood hematopoietic cells were transduced with either the retroviral vector L-TR/TAT (containing two hammerhead ribozymes) or LN (containing the neo-resistance gene) and given back to their donors by a single intravenous infusion without any adverse effects. The frequency of gene-containing cells in follow-up studies of peripheral blood was quite low (less than 1/100,000) and no positive samples were seen later than 6 months after the cell re-infusions. These observations suggest that there was transduction and engraftment of mature progenitor cells of relatively short-term proliferative capacity, but no transduction and engraftment of long-lived stem cells.

In a second trial [100], the investigators at City of Hope have performed autologous transplantation of ribozyme-transduced PBSC in patients with HIV-1 and lymphoma, following myeloablative anti-lymphoma chemotherapy. Potentially, cytoablation may allow greater engraftment of transduced HSC. Higher levels of the ribozyme-containing cells than in the prior studies were observed, with detectable levels of vector-derived transcripts in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and granulocytes. However, as seen in the first trial, there was no detectable gene marking after 6–12 months.

We have also performed a pilot study to evaluate the safety, feasibility and efficacy of using retroviral-mediated transduction of an RRE decoy gene into CD34+ cells from the bone marrow of HIV-1-infected children [101]. Four subjects, 8–17 years of age, were recruited and underwent the procedure. For this study, two vectors were used: one encoding an RRE decoy and the bacterial *neo* gene (L-RRE-neo), and one encoding only the *neo* gene (LN). Each patient's cells were divided into two portions, one portion received the RRE decoy gene, the other portion the *neo*-only vector. Cells were transduced by 3-day culture in IL-3/IL-6/SCF on autologous stroma, and returned to the subject by intravenous administration without adverse effects. Transduction of clonogenic progenitors in the marrow was between 7 and 30%, but the cells with the RRE decoy vector were seen in the peripheral blood only on the first day following cell infusion.

We have started a new phase-I clinical trial of gene transfer of anti-HIV-1 gene into bone marrow CD34+ cells from HIV-1-infected children. Retroviral vectors carrying the huM10 'humanized' dominant-negative rev gene (or a control, nonexpressed gene) are being used. The '2nd generation' conditions for transduction of CD34+ cells (flt-3 ligand/TPO/SCF on recombinant fibronectin) described above are being used. Pediatric subjects of 3-13 years of age with relatively early HIV-1 infection are the study population. This age group was chosen because young children would have the greatest probability of developing new T lymphocytes from transduced HSC due to their greater thymic capacity. Thus, they could derive a clinical benefit if T lymphocytes expressing huM10 have prolonged survival, whereas this potential benefit for children could be missed if only older subjects (e.g. adolescent or adult), with poorer thymic function, were studied. The

trial is approved for a total of 12 subjects, 6 with plasma HIV-1 levels <1,000 copies/ml and 6 >1,000/ml. Two children have been enrolled (November 2000 and February 2001) and undergone the procedure to date. Bone marrow was harvested, CD34+ cells isolated and transduced and the cells reinfused without adverse events. Follow-up studies are in progress.

As of today, no study involving gene transfer into cells of HIV-1-positive patients has achieved a significant therapeutic effect. New improved tools need to be developed to allow better gene transfer as well as long-lasting transgene expression. With the development of lentiviral vectors, it might be possible to use the ability of HIV-1 to infect nondividing cells to achieve these goals, provided the safety concerns in this particular setting can be resolved. There is a potential for the mobilization of lentiviral vectors in patient's cells that are co-infected with wild-type-HIV-1, which could increase the risks of recombination. While the development of third generation SIN vectors [102–104] reduces these risks [105], careful studies will need to be done before this vector system can be applied in this disease setting.

For all retroviral studies targeting HSC, careful consideration will have to be made of the benefits versus risk ratio for each disease under study.

References

- 1 Wolff JA, Lederberg J: An early history of gene transfer and therapy. Hum Gene Ther 1994;5: 469–480.
- 2 Gatti RA, Meuwissen HJ, Allen HD, Hong R, Good RA: Immunological reconstitution of sex-linked lymphopenic immunological deficiency. Lancet 1968;ii:1366–1369.
- 3 Parkman R: The application of bone marrow transplantation to the treatment of genetic diseases. Science 1986;232:1373–1378.
- 4 Kantoff PW, Kohn DB, Mitsuya H, Armentano D, Sieberg M, Zweibel JA, Eglitis MA, McLachlin JR, Wiginton DA, Hutton JJ, Horowitz SD, Gilboa E, Blaese RM, Anderson WF: Correction of adenosine deaminase deficiency in human T and B cells using retroviral gene transfer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986;83: 6563–6567.
- 5 Blaese RM, Culver KW, Miller AD, Carter CS, Fleisher T, Clerici M, Shearer G, Chang L, Chiang Y, Tolstoshev P, et al: T-lymphocyte directed gene therapy for ADA-SCID: Initial trial results after 4 years. Science 1995;270: 475–480.

- 6 Hershfield MS: PEG-ADA replacement therapy for adenosine deaminase deficiency: An update after 8.5 years. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1995;76:S228–S232.
- 7 Bordignon C, Notarangelo LD, Nobili N, Ferrari G, Casorati G, Panina P, Mazzolari E, Maggioni D, Rossi C, Servida P, et al: Gene therapy in peripheral blood lymphocytes and bone marrow for ADA-immunodeficient patients. Science 1995;270:470–475.
- 8 Onodera M, Ariga T, Kawamura N, Kobayashi I, Otsu M, Yamada M, Tame A, Furuta H, Okano M, Matsumoto S, Kotani H, McGarrity GJ, Blaese RM, Sakiyama Y: Successful peripheral T-lymphocyte-directed gene transfer for a patient with severe combined immune deficiency caused by adenosine deaminase deficiency. Blood 1998;91:30–36.
- 9 Hoogerbrugge PM, van Beusechem VW, Fisher A, Debree M, leDeist F, Perignon JL, Morgan G, Gaspar B, Fairbanks LD, Skeoch CH, Moseley A, Harvey M, Levinsky RJ, Valerio D: Bone marrow gene transfer in three patients with adenosine deaminase deficiency. Gene Ther 1996;3:179–183.

- 10 Kohn DB, Weinberg KI, Nolta JA, Heiss LN, Lenarsky C, Crooks GM, Hanley ME, Annett G, Brooks JS, el-Khoureiy A, et al: Engraftment of gene-modified cells from umbilical cord blood in neonates with adenosine deaminase deficiency. Nat Med 1995;1:1017–1026.
- 11 Kohn DB, Hershfield MS, Carbonaro D, Shigeoka A, Brooks J, Smogorzewska EM, Barsky LW, Chan R, Burotto F, Annett G, Nolta JA, Crooks G, Kapoor N, Elder M, Wara D, Bowen T, Madsen E, Snyder FF, Bastian J, Muul L, Blaese RM, Weinberg K, Parkman R: T lymphocytes with a normal ADA gene accumulate after transplantation of transduced autologous umbilical cord blood CD34+ cells in ADA-deficient SCID neonates. Nat Med 1998;4:775– 780.
- 12 Aiuti A, Slavin S, Aker M, Ficara F, Deola S, Mortellaro A, Morecki S, Andolfi G, Tabucchi A, Carlucci F, Marinello E, Cattaneo F, Vai S, Servida P, Miniero R, Roncarolo MG, Bordignon C: Correction of ADA-SCID by stem cell gene therapy combined with nonmyeloablative conditioning. Science 2002;296:2410–2413.

Gene Therapy for Inborn and Acquired Immune Deficiency Disorders

- 13 Buckley RH, Schiff RI, Schiff SE, Markert ML, Williams LW, Hrville TO, Roberts JL, Puck JM: Human severe combined immunodeficiency: Genetic, phenotypic, and functional diversity in one hundred eight infants. J Pediatr 1997;130:378–387.
- 14 Takeshita T, Asao H, Ohtani K, Ishii N, Kumaki S, Tanaka N, Munakata H, Nakamura M, Sugamura K: Cloning of the gamma chain of the human IL-2 receptor. Science 1992;257: 379–382.
- 15 Hacaein Bey S, Basil GD, Lemerle J, Fisher A, Cavazzana-Calvo M: Gamma c gene transfer in the presence of stem cell factor, flt-3L, interleukin-7 (IL-7), IL-1 and IL-15 cytokines restores T-cell differentiation from gamma c(-) Xlinked severe combined immunodeficiency hematopoietic progenitor cells in murine fetal thymic organ culture. Blood 1998;92:4090– 4097.
- 16 Cavazzano-Calvo M, Hacaein Bey S, de Saint Basile G, Gross F, Yvon E, Nusbaum P, Selz F, Hue C, Certain S, Casanova JL, Bousso P, Le Deist F, Fisher A: Gene therapy of human severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID)-X1 disease. Science 2000;288:669–672.
- 17 Hacein-Bey-Abina S, von Kalle C, Schmidt M, Le Deist F, Wulffraat N, McIntyre E, Radford I, Villeval JL, Fraser CC, Cavazzana-Calvo M, Fischer A: A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med 2003; 348:255–256.
- 18 Cavazzana-Calvo M: Gene therapy for gamma c chain X-SCID: An update. 10th Annual Meeting European Society of Gene Therapy, Oct 2002.
- 19 Lowsky R, DeCoteau JF, Reitmair AH, Ichinohasama R, Dong WF, Xu Y, Mak TW, Kadin ME, Minden MD: Defects of the mismatch repair gene MSH2 are implicated in the development of murine and human lymphoblastic lymphomas and are associated with the aberrant expression of rhombotin-2 (Lmo-2) and Tal-1 (SCL). Blood 1997;89:2276–2282.
- 20 Neale GA, Rehg JE, Goorha RM: Disruption of T-cell differentiation precedes T-cell tumor formation in LMO-2 (rhombotin-2) transgenic mice. Leukemia 1997;11(suppl 3):289–290.
- 21 Segal BH, Leto TL, Gallin JI, Malech HL, Holland SM: Genetic, biochemical, and clinical features of chronic granulomatous disease. Medicine 2000;79:170–200.
- 22 Mardiney M 3rd, Jackson SH, Spratt SK, Li F, Holland SM, Malech HL: Enhanced host defense after gene transfer in the murine p47phox-deficient model of chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1997;89:2268–2275.
- 23 Dinauer MC, Li LL, Bjogvinsdottir H, Ding C, Pech N: Long-term correction of phagocyte NADPH oxidase activity by retroviral-mediated gene transfer in murine X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1999;94: 914–922.

- 24 Malech HL, Maples PB, Whiting-Theobald N, Linton GF, Sekhsaria S, Vowells SJ, et al: Prolonged production of NADPH oxidase-corrected granulocytes after gene therapy of chronic granulomatous disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:12133–12138.
- 25 Derry JMJ, Ochs HD, Francke U: Isolation of a novel gene mutated in Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Cell 1994;79:635–644.
- 26 Candotti F, Facchetti F, Blanzuoli L, Stewart DM, Nelson DL, Blaese RM: Retrovirus-mediated WASP gene transfer corrects defective actin polymerization in B cell lines from Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome patients carrying 'null' mutations. Gene Ther 1999;6:1170–1174.
- 27 Snapper SB, Rosen FS, Mizoguchi E, Cohen P, Khan W, Liu CH, Hagemann TL, Kwan SP, Ferrini R, Davidson L, Bhan AK, Alt FW: Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein-deficient mice reveal a role for WASP in T but not B cell activation. Immunity 1998;9:81–91.
- 28 Rawlings DJ, Witte ON: The Btk subfamily of cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases: Structure, regulation and function. Semin Immunol 1995;7: 237–246.
- 29 Pomerantz RJ: Residual HIV-1 infection during antiretroviral therapy: The challenge of viral persistence. AIDS 2001;15:1201–1211.
- 30 Chun TW, Fauci AS: Latent reservoirs of HIV: Obstacles to the eradication of virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:10958–10961.
- 31 Persaud D, Pierson T, Ruff C, Finzi D, Chadwick KR, Margolick JB, Ruff A, Hutton N, Ray S, Siliciano RF: A stable latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4(+) T lymphocytes in infected children. J Clin Invest 2000;105:995– 1003.
- 32 Pennisi E, Cohen J: Eradicating HIV from a patient: Not just a dream? Science 1996;272: 1884.
- 33 Woffendin C, Ranga U, Yang ZY, Nabel GJ: Expression of a protective gene prolongs survival of T cells in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;93:2889–2894.
- 34 Kennedy DW, Abkowitz JL: Kinetics of central nervous system microglial and macrophage engraftment: Analysis using a transgenic bone marrow transplantation model. Blood 1997;90: 986–993.
- 35 Krall WJ, Challita PM, Perlmutter LS, Skelton DC, Kohn DB: Cell expressing human glucocerebrosidase from a retroviral vector repopulate macrophages and central nervous system microglia after murine bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1994;83:2737–2748.
- 36 Bridges SH, Sarver N: Gene therapy and immune restoration for HIV disease. Lancet 1995;345:427-432.
- 37 Baltimore D: Intracellular immunization. Nature 1988;335:395–396.
- 38 Weiss RA: HIV receptors and the pathogenesis of AIDS. Science 1996;272:1885–1886.
- 39 Moore JP: Coreceptors: Implications for HIV pathogenesis and therapy. Science 1997;276: 51–52.

- 40 BouHamdan M, Strayer DS, Wei D, Mukhtar M, Duan LX, Hoxie J, Pomerantz RJ: Inhibition of HIV-1 infection by down-regulation of the CXCR4 co-receptor using an intracellular single chain variable fragment against CXCR4. Gene Ther 2001;8:408–418.
- 41 Basu S, Sriram B, Goila R, Banerjea AC: Targeted cleavage of HIV-1 coreceptor-CXCR-4 by RNA-cleaving DNA-enzyme: Inhibition of coreceptor function. Antiviral Res. 2000;46: 125–134.
- 42 Zhang X, Iwatani Y, Shimayama T, Yamada R, Koito A, Xu Y, Sakai H, Uchiyama T, Hattori T: Phosphorothioate hammerhead ribozymes targeting a conserved sequence in the V3 loop region inhibit HIV-1 entry. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev 1998;8:441–450.
- 43 Goila R, Banerjea AC: Sequence specific cleavage of the HIV-1 coreceptor CCR5 gene by a hammer-head ribozyme and a DNA-enzyme: inhibition of the coreceptor function by DNAenzyme. FEBS Lett 1998;436:233–238.
- 44 Chen JD, Bai X, Yang AG, Cong Y, Chen SY: Inactivation of HIV-1 chemokine co-receptor CXCR-4 by a novel intrakine strategy. Nat Med 1997;3:1110–1116.
- 45 Yang AG, Bai X, Huang XF, Yao C, Chen S: Phenotypic knockout of HIV type 1 chemokine coreceptor CCR-5 by intrakines as potential therapeutic approach for HIV-1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:11567–11572.
- 46 Hildinger M, Dittmar MT, Schult-Dietrich P, Fehse B, Schnierle BS, Thaler S, Stiegler G, Welker R, von Laer D: Membrane-anchored peptide inhibits human immunodeficiency virus entry. J Virol 2001;75:3038–3042.
- 47 Mosier DE, Picchio GR, Gulizia RJ, Sabbe R, Poignard P, Picard L, Offord RE, Thompson DA, Wilken J: Highly potent RANTES analogues either prevent CCR5-using human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in vivo or rapidly select for CXCR4-using variants. J Virol 1999;73:3544–3550.
- 48 Green M, Ishino M, Loewenstein PM: Mutational analysis of HIV-1 Tat minimal domain peptides: identification of trans-dominant mutants that suppress HIV-LTR-driven gene expression. Cell 1989;58:215–223.
- 49 Bahner I, Zhou C, Yu X-J, Hao Q-L, Guatelli JC, Kohn DB: Comparison of trans-dominant inhibitory mutant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genes expressed by retroviral vectors in human T lymphocytes. J Virol 1993;67: 3199–3207.
- 50 Malim MH, Freimuth WW, Liu J, Boyle TJ, Lyerly HK, Cullen BR, Nabel GJ: Stable expression of transdominant Rev protein in human T cells inhibits human immunodeficiency virus replication. J Exp Med 1992;176:1197– 1201.
- 51 Malim MH, Bohnlein S, Hauber J, Cullen BR: Functional dissection of the HIV-1–1 Rev trans-activator – Derivation of a trans-dominant repressor of Rev function. Cell 1989;58: 205–214.

- 52 Bauer G, Valdez P, Kearns K, Bahner I, Wen SF, Zaia JA, Kohn DB: Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1) replication after transduction of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor-mobilized CD34+ cells from HIV-1-infected donors using retroviral vectors containing anti-HIV-1 genes. Blood 1997;8:2259– 2267.
- 53 Trono D, Feinberg MB, Baltimore D: HIV-1 Gag mutants can dominantly interfere with the replication of wild-type virus. Cell 1989;59: 113–120.
- 54 Buchschacher GL Jr, Freed EO, Panganiban AT: Cells induced to express a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope gene mutant inhibit the spread of wild-type virus. Hum Gene Ther 1992;3:391–397.
- 55 Caruso M, Klatzmann D: Selective killing of CD4+ cells harbouring a human immunodeficiency virus-inducible suicide gene prevents viral spread in an infected cell population. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992;89:182–186.
- 56 Brady HJ, Miles CG, Pennington DJ, Dzierzak EA: Specific ablation of human immunodeficiency virus Tat-expressing cells by conditionally toxic retroviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:365–369.
- 57 Ragheb JA, Couture L, Mullen C, Ridgway A, Morgan RA: Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by Tat/Rev-regulated expression of cytosine deaminase, interferon alpha2, or diphtheria toxin compared with inhibition by transdominant Rev Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:103–112.
- 58 Marcello A, Giaretta I: Inducible expression of herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase from a bicistronic HIV1 vector. Res Virol 1998;149: 419–431.
- 59 Curiel TJ, Cook DR, Wang Y, Hahn BH, Ghosh SK, Harrison GS: Long-term inhibition of clinical and laboratory human immunodeficiency virus strains in human T-cell lines containing an HIV-regulated diphteria toxin A chain gene. Hum Gene Ther 1993;4:741–747.
- 60 BouHamdan M, Kulkosky J, Duan LX, Pomerantz RJ: Inhibition of HIV-1 replication and infectivity by expression of a fusion protein, VPR-anti-integrase single-chain variable fragment (SFv): Intravirion molecular therapies. J Hum Virol 2000;3:6–15.
- 61 Marasco WA, LaVecchio J, Winkler A: Human anti-HIV-1 tat sFv intrabodies for gene therapy of advanced HIV-1-infection and AIDS. J Immunol Methods. 1999;231:223–238.
- 62 Ho WZ, Lai JP, Bouhamdan M, Duan L, Pomerantz RJ, Starr SE: Inhibition of HIV type 1 replication in chronically infected monocytes and lymphocytes by retrovirus-mediated gene transfer of anti-Rev single-chain variable fragments. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1998;14: 1573–1580.
- 63 Poznansky MC, Foxall R, Mhashilkar A, Coker R, Jones S, Ramstedt U, Marasco W: Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus replication and growth advantage of CD4+ T cells from HIV-infected individuals that express intracellular antibodies against HIV-1 gp120 or Tat. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:487–496.

- 64 Mitsuyasu RT, Anton PA, Deeks SG, Scadden DT, Connick E, Downs MT, Bakker A, Roberts MR, June CH, Jalali S, Lin AA, Pennathur-Das R, Hege KM: Prolonged survival and tissue trafficking following adoptive transfer of CD4zeta gene-modified autologous CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells in human immunodeficiency virus-infected subjects. Blood 2000;96:785–793.
- 65 Walker RE, Bechtel CM, Natarajan V, Baseler M, Hege KM, Metcalf JA, Stevens R, Hazen A, Blaese RM, Chen CC, Leitman SF, Palensky J, Wittes J, Davey RT Jr, Falloon J, Polis MA, Kovacs JA, Broad DF, Levine BL, Roberts MR, Masur H, Lane HC: Long-term in vivo survival of receptor-modified syngeneic T cells in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Blood 2000;96:467–474.
- 66 Duan L, Zhu M, Bagasra O, Pomerantz RJ: Intracellular immunization against HIV-1 infection of human T lymphocytes: Utility of anti-Rev single-chain variable fragments. Hum Gene Ther 1995;6:1561–1573.
- 67 Hiratou T, Miyano-Kurosaki N, Gushima H, Takaku H: A new class of anti-HIV-1 oligonucleotide targeted to the polypurine tract of viral RNA. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2001;20:715–718.
- 68 Mautino MR, Morgan RA: Potent inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by conditionally replicating human immunodeficiency virus-based lentiviral vectors expressing envelope antisense mRNA. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:2025–2037.
- 69 Chadwick DR, Lever AM: Antisense RNA sequences targeting the 5' leader packaging signal region of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 inhibits viral replication at post-transcriptional stages of the life cycle. Gene Ther 2000; 7:1362–1368.
- 70 Sei S, Yang QE, O'Neill D, Yoshimura K, Nagashima K, Mitsuya H: Identification of a key target sequence to block human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication within the gag-pol transframe domain. J Virol 2000;74: 4621–4633.
- 71 Veres G, Junker U, Baker J, Barske C, Kalfoglou C, Ilves H, Escaich S, Kaneshima H, Bohnlein E: Comparative analyses of intracellularly expressed antisense RNAs as inhibitors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. J Virol 1998;72:1894–1901.
- 72 Li G, Lisziewicz J, Sun D, Zon G, Daefler S, Wong-Staal F, Gallo RC, Klotman ME: Inhibition of Rev activity and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by antisense oligonucleotide phosphorothioate analogs directed against the Rev-responsive element. J Virol 1993, 67:6882–6888.
- 73 Chuah MKL, Vandendriessche T, Chang H-K, Ensoli B, Morgan RA: Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 by retroviral vectors expressing antisense-TAR. Hum Gene Ther 1994;5:1467–1475.

- 74 Bramlage B, Luzi E, Eckstein F: HIV-1 LTR as a target for synthetic ribozyme-mediated inhibition of gene expression: Site selection and inhibition in cell culture. Nucleic Acids Res 2000;28:4059–4067.
- 75 Wang L, Witherington C, King A, Gerlach WL, Carr A, Penny R, Cooper D, Symonds G, Sun LQ: Preclinical characterization of an anti-tat ribozyme for therapeutic application. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:1283–1291.
- 76 Zhou C, Bahner IC, Larson GP, Zaia JA, Rossi JJ, Kohn DB: Inhibition of HIV-1 in human T-lymphocytes by retrovirally transduced antitat and rev hammerhead ribozymes. Gene 1994;149:33–39.
- 77 Yu M, Leavitt MC, Maruyama O, Young D, Ho AD, Wong-Staal F: Intracellular immunization of human fetal cord blood stem/progenitor cells with a ribozyme against human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:699–703.
- 78 Zhou C, Bahner I, Rossi JJ, Kohn DB: Expression of hammerhead ribozymes by retroviral vectors to inhibit HIV-1 replication: Comparison of RNA levels and viral inhibition. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev 1996;6:17–24.
- 79 Sullenger BA, Gallardo HF, Ungers GE, Gilboa E: Overexpression of TAR sequences renders cells resistant to human immunodeficiency virus replication. Cell 1990;63:610–608.
- 80 Lisziewicz J, Sun D, Smythe J, Lusso P, Lori F, Louie A, Markham P, Rossi J, Reitz M, Gallo RC: Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by regulated expression of a polymeric Tat activation response RNA decoy as a strategy for gene therapy in AIDS. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:8000–8004.
- 81 Lee S-W, Gallardo HF, Gilboa E, Smith C: Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in human T cells by a potent Rev response element decoy consisting of the 13nucleotide minimal Rev-binding domain. J Virol 1994;68:8254–8264.
- 82 Bahner I, Kearns K, Hao Q-L, Smogorzewska EM, Kohn DB: Transduction of human CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells by a retroviral vector expressing an RRE decoy inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in myelomonocytic cells produced in long-term culture. J Virol 1996;70:4352–4360.
- 83 Vaishnav Y, Vaishnav M, Wong-Staal F: Identification and characterization of a nuclear factor that specifically binds the Rev-response element (RRE) of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). New Biol 1991;3:142–150.
- 84 Shukla R, Kimmel P, Kumar A: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Rev-responsive element RNA binds to host cell-specific proteins. J Virol 1994;68:2224–2229.
- 85 Halene S, Kohn DB: Gene therapy using hematopoietic stem cells: Sisyphus approaches the crest. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:204–209.
- 86 Miller AD, Garcia JV, von Suhr N, Lynch CM, Wilson C, Eiden MV: Construction and properties of retrovirus packaging cells based on gibbon ape leukemia virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:78–82.

- 87 Kiem HP, Heyward S, Winkler A, Potter J, Allen JM, Miller AD, Andrews RG: Gene transfer into marrow repopulating cells: Comparison between amphotropic and gibbon ape leukemia virus pseudotyped retroviral vectors in a competitive repopulation assay in baboons. Blood 1997:90:4638–4645.
- 88 Dunbar CE, Seidel NE, Doren S, Sellers S, Cline AP, Metzger ME, Agricola BA, Donahue RE, Bodine DM: Improved retroviral gene transfer into murine and rhesus peripheral blood or bone marrow repopulating cells primed in vivo with stem cell factor and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:11871–11876.
- 89 Hanenberg H, Xiao XL, Dilloo D, Hashino K, Kato I, Williams DA: Colocalization of retrovirus and target cells on specific fibronectin fragments increases genetic transduction of mammalian cells. Nat Med 1996;2:876–882.
- 90 Dao MA, Hannum CH, Kohn DB, Nolta JA: Flt3 ligand preserves the ability of human CD34+ progenitors to sustain long-term hematopoiesis in immune-deficient mice after ex vivo retroviral-mediated transduction. Blood 1997;89:446–456.
- 91 Dao MA, Taylor N, Nolta JA: Reduction in levels of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27 (kip-1) coupled with transforming growth factor beta neutralization induces cell-cycle entry and increases retroviral transduction of primitive human hematopoietic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:13006–13011.
- 92 Kiem HP, Andrews RG, Morris J, Peterson L, Heyward S, Allen JM, Rasko JEJ, Potter J, Miller AD: Improved gene transfer into baboon marrow repopulating cells using recombinant human fibronectin fragment CH-296 in combination with interleukin-6, stem cell factor, FLT-3 ligand, and megakaryocyte growth and development factor. Blood 1998;92:1878– 1886.

- 93 Huhn RD, Tisdale JF, Agricola BA, Metzger M E, Donahue RE, Dunbar CE: The effects of alternative transduction cytokine combinations (rhMGDF/rhSCF/rhG-CSF vs rhIL-3/ rhIL-6/rhSCF) and of cytokine pre-treatment before non-myeloablative radiation conditioning on the efficacy of retroviral gene marking of hematopoietic cells in rhesus monkeys (abstract 86a). American Society of Gene Therapy, Seattle, 1998.
- 94 Naldini L, Blömer U, Gage FH, Trono D, Verma IM: Efficient transfer, integration, and sustained long-term expression of the transgene in adult rat brains injected with a lentiviral vector. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;9:11382– 11388.
- 95 Burns JC, Friedmann T, Driever W, Burrascano M, Yee JK: Vesicular stomatitis virus G glycoprotein pseudotyped retroviral vectors: Concentration to very high titer and efficient gene transfer into mammalian and nonmammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:8033– 8037.
- 96 Miyoshi H, Smith KA, Mosier DE, Verma IM, Torbett BE: Efficient transduction of human CD34+ cells that mediate long-term engraftment of NOD/SCID mice by HIV vectors. Science 1999;283:682–686.
- 97 Case SS, Price MA, Jordan CT, Yu X-J, Wang L, Bauer G, Haas DL, Xu D, Stripecke R, Naldini L, Kohn DB, Crooks GM: Stable transduction of CD34+CD38– human hematopoietic cells by HIV-1 based lentiviral vectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:3120–3125.
- 98 Kohn DB, Nolta JA, Crooks GM: Clinical trials of gene therapy using hematopoietic stem cells; in Forman SJ, Blume KG Thomas ED (eds): Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation, ed 2. Boston, Blackwell Scientific, 1999, pp 97–102.
- 99 Junker U, Moon JJ, Kalfoglou CS, Sniecinski I, Forman SJ, Zaia JA, Kaneshima H, Böhnlein E: Hematopoietic potential and retroviral transduction of CD34+Thy-1+ peripheral blood stem cells from asymptomatic human immunodeficiency virus type-1-infected individuals mobilized with granulocyte colonystimulating factor. Blood 1997;89:4299–4306.

- 100 Zaia JA, Rossi JJ, Krishnan A, Ito JT, Castanotto D, Li S, Yam P, Bauer G, Selander D, Csik S, Rossi JM, Li H, Bahn V, Tseng W, Sauter S, Molina A, Parker V, Jolly DJ, Sniecinski I, Forman SJ, Kohn DB: Autologous stem cell transplantation using retrovirustransduced peripheral blood progenitor cells in HIV-infected persons: Comparison of gene marking post-engraftment with and without myeloablative therapy. Blood 1999;94(suppl 1):642a.
- 101 Kohn DB, Bauer G, Rice CR, Rothschild JC, Carbonaro DA, Valdez P, Hao Ql, Zhou C, Bahner I, Kearns K, Brody K, Fox S, Haden E, Wilson K, Salata C, Dolan C, Wetter C, Aguilar-Cordova E, Church J: A clinical trial of retroviral-mediated transfer of a rev-responsive element decoy gene into CD34(+) cells from the bone marrow of human immunodeficiency virus-1-infected children. Blood 1999;94:368–371.
- 102 Dull T, Zufferey R, Kelly M, Mandel RJ, Nguyen M, Trono D, Naldini L: A third-generation lentivirus vector with a conditional packaging system. J Virol 1998;72:8463– 8471.
- 103 Miyoshi H, Blömer U, Takahashi M, Gage FH, Verma IM: Development of a self-inactivating lentivirus vector. J Virol 1998;72: 8150–8157.
- 104 Zufferey R, Dull T, Mandel RJ, Bukovsky A, Quiroz D, Naldini L, Trono D: Self-inactivating lentivirus vector for safe and efficient in vivo gene delivery. J Virol 1998;72:9873– 9880.
- 105 Bukovsky AA, Song JP, Naldini L: Interaction of human immunodeficiency virus-derived vectors with wild-type virus in transduced cells. J Virol 1999;73:7087–7092.

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:71–85 DOI: 10.1159/000072456

Gene Transfer Strategies for Correction of Lysosomal Storage Disorders

Alessandra d'Azzo

Department of Genetics and Tumor Cell Biology, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, Tenn., USA

Key Words

 $\label{eq:lysosomal} Lysosomal enzymes \cdot Lysosomal storage diseases \cdot Gene therapy \cdot Viral vectors \cdot Animal models$

Abstract

Lysosomal storage diseases (LSDs) represent a large group of monogenic disorders of metabolism, which affect approximately 1 in 5,000 live births. LSDs result from a single or multiple deficiency of specific lysosomal hydrolases, the enzymes responsible for the luminal catabolization of macromolecular substrates. The consequent accumulation of undigested metabolites in lysosomes leads to polysystemic dysfunction, including progressive neurologic deterioration, mental retardation, visceromegaly, blindness, and early death. In general, the residual amount of functional enzyme in lysosomes determines the severity and age at onset of the clinical symptoms, implying that even modest increases in enzyme activity might affect a cure. A key feature on which therapy for LSDs is based is the ability of soluble enzyme precursors to be secreted by one cell type and reinternalize by neighboring cells via receptor-mediated endocytosis and routed to lysosomes, where they function normally. In principle, somatic gene therapy could be the preferred treatment for LSDs if the patient's own cells could be genetically modified in vitro or in vivo to consti-

KARGER Fax + 41 61 306 12 34

www.karger.com

E-Mail karger@karger.ch

© 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha tutively express high levels of the correcting enzyme and become the source of the enzyme in the patient. Both ex vivo and in vivo gene transfer methods have been experimented with for gene therapy of lysosomal disorders. Several of these methods have proved efficient for the transfer of genetic material into deficient cells in culture and reconstitution of enzyme activity. However, the same methods applied to humans or animal models have been giving inconsistent results, the bases of which are not fully understood. A broader knowledge of disease pathogenesis, facilitated by available, faithful animal models of LSDs, coupled to the development of better gene transfer systems as well as the understanding of vector host interactions will make somatic gene therapy for these devastating and complex diseases the most suitable therapeutic approach.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Nature and Function of Lysosomal Hydrolases

The major site of compartmentalized digestion of intra- and extracellular macromolecules is the lysosomal system, a morphologically heterogeneous population of organelles present in virtually all animal cells with the exception of the erythrocytes [1]. With their content of

Alessandra d'Azzo

Department of Genetics and Tumor Cell Biology, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital 332 North Lauderdale Street Memphis, TN 38105 (USA)

Tel. +1 901 495 2698, Fax +1 901 526 2907, E-Mail alessandra.dazzo@stjude.org

Table 1. Lysosomal diseases

Disease	Enzyme deficiency	
Sphingolipidoses GM1 gangliosidosis	β-Galactosidase	230500
GM2 gangliosidosis Variant B or B1: Tay-Sachs disease Variant O: Sandhoff's disease	Hexosaminidase A Hexosaminidase A and B	272800 268800
Variant AB Metachromatic leukodystrophy	GM2 activator protein Arylsulfatase A	250100
Fabbe disease Gaucher disease	Galactosylceramidase β-Galactosidase A β-Glucosidase	245200 301500 230800, 230900, 231000
Niemann-Pick A or B disease Farber's disease	Sphingomyelinase Ceramidase	257200 228000
Wolman's disease Austin's disease	Acid lipase Multiple sulfatase deficiencies	278000 272200
Mucopolysaccharidoses Type I: Hurler's syndrome (IH) Scheie disease (IS)	α-L-Iduronidase α-L-Iduronidase	252800 252800
Type II: Hunter disease Type III: Sanfilippo disease	Iduronate-2-sulfate-sulfatase	309900
Type III B Type III C	N-Acetyl-α-glucosaminidase Acetyl-CoA: α-glucosaminide-N-acetyltranferase	252920 252930
Type III D Type IV: Morquio disease	N-Acetylglucosamine-6-sulfate-sulfatase	252940 253000
Type IV B Type VI: Maroteaux-Lamy disease	β-Galactosidase Arysulfatase B	253000 253010 253200
Type VII: Sly disease Type IX Pycnodysostosis	β-Glucuronidase Hyaluronidase (HYAL1) Cathepsin K	253220 601492 265800, 601105
<i>Glycoproteinoses</i> Aspartylglucosaminuria	Aspartylglucosaminidase	208400
Fucosidosis a-Mannosidosis	α-Fucosidase α-Mannosidase	230000 248500 248510
Schindler and Kanzaki diseases Galactosialidosis	α -N-Acetyl-galactosaminidase or α -galactosidase B Protective protein/cathepsin A (PPCA)	104170 256540
Mucolipidoses Type 1: Sialidosis	α-Neuraminidase	256550
Type II cell disease Type III Pseudo Hurler polydystrophy Type IV Mucolipidosis	N-Acetylglucosamine-1-phosphotransferase N-Acetylglucosamine-1-phosphotransferase Mucolipidin	252500, 252600, 252605 252500, 252600, 252605 252650, 605248
<i>Glycogenosis type II</i> Infantile (Pompe's disease) and adult forms	α-1,4-Glucosidase or acid maltase	232300
<i>Ceroid lipofuscinoses</i> Locus CLN1: infantile form (Santavuori-Haltia) Locus CLN2: late infantile form (Lansky-Bielschowsky)	Palmitoyl protein thioesterase	256730 204500
Locus CLN3: juvenile (Batten) Locus CLN5: late infantile form (Finnish variant)	CLN3 protein CLN5 protein	204200 256731
Locus CLN6: late infantile form (variant) Locus CLN7: late infantile form (variant) Locus CLN8: northern epilepsy	? ? CLN8 protein	601780 No OMIM 600143
Others Cystinosis Sialia acid storage diseases	Cystinosin (cystine carrier)	219800, 219900, 219750
(infantile form, Salla disease) Niemann-Pick type C: NPC1 and NPC2	NPC1 protein, NPC2 (epidymal secretory protein)	257220, 601015
	(cprayman secretory protein)	

Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM): http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=OMIM

hydrolytic enzymes, lysosomes maintain cellular homeostasis by regulating the turnover of many cellular constituents; proteins, glycoproteins, nucleic acids, polysaccharides and glyco-, phospho- and neutral lipids are their natural substrates [1]. Most soluble enzyme precursors reach the lysosome by going across the secretory pathway to the trans Golgi network and the endosomal compartment. This tightly regulated process entails the acquisition and processing of the sugar chains, the synthesis of the M6P recognition marker, the segregation from secretory proteins, and final maturation and activation in endosomes/ lysosomes. By default, a small percentage of the precursor proteins can also be recovered in the extracellular milieu, but these secreted forms retain the capacity to be reinternalized via receptor-mediated endocytosis, and to be efficiently targeted to the lysosome where they function normally [2–4].

In general, lysosomal enzymes are specific with respect to the chemical linkage and structure of the monomeric unit that they hydrolyze. This specificity is reflected in the wide range of glycosidases that represent one of the largest classes of lysosomal enzymes. Glycosidases bring about the catabolism of specific sugar chains on glycoconjugates in a step-wise and concerted fashion. If any one of these enzymes is deficient or functionally defective, the process of degradation is halted at the level of the missing enzyme. This block leads first to the progressive intralysosomal accumulation of partially degraded metabolites, and subsequently to the cellular and organ dysfunction associated with a lysosomal storage disease (LSD) [4, 5]. Not surprisingly, genetic lesions that result in faulty enzyme function are heterogeneous, given the numerous modifications that must occur with some precision between the site of synthesis of a lysosomal protein and its final sequestering and full activation within the lysosome. The genotype and familial history of the disease may eventually impact the response to treatment.

Lysosomal Storage Diseases

LSDs comprise a group of over 40 monogenic neurodegenerative disorders of metabolism, the majority of which are autosomal recessive. Their incidence as a group accounts for 1 in \sim 5,000 life births. With few exceptions, these disorders are caused by either single or multiple deficiency of glycosidases, and are classified, according to the type and site of the primary accumulated products, as mucopolysaccharidoses (MPS), mucolipidoses, glycoproteinoses, sphingolipidoses and others (table 1). Overall LSDs represent a great burden for society in terms of clinical and diagnostic care, and no curative therapies are available as yet for these diseases. However, the very nature of soluble lysosomal enzymes and their unique capacity to be transferred from one cell to neighboring cells at near or distant sites have made LSDs particularly amenable models for the development of therapeutic modalities. In principle, the enzyme deficiency of cells can be corrected when these cells take up the missing enzyme from exogenous sources (fig. 1).

Both severe, early onset forms and milder late onset variants are distinguished in most of the LSDs. This clinical heterogeneity often correlates with the residual amount of functional enzyme in lysosomes; this implies that even modest increases in enzyme activity, if they occur early in life and at the correct cellular site, might prevent/cure the disease. The fact that carriers are asymptomatic suggests that the full complement of enzyme activity is not needed to maintain a normal phenotype or to achieve therapy. Enzyme levels as low as 5-10% may be sufficient to prevent the occurrence of symptoms, although the threshold of enzyme able to cope with the metabolic need of any given cell may vary from individual to individual and may be influenced by genetic background or environmental factors [4, 6].

Clinically, LSDs are complex, systemic diseases that affect to different extents the visceral organs, the heart and skeletal muscles, the bones and cartilage and most importantly the central (CNS), and peripheral nervous systems [4, 7]. Common features include severe psychomotor delay, visceromegaly, growth retardation and early death. Neurological abnormalities, in particular, may alter dramatically disease prognosis and complicate the applicability of potential therapeutic modalities. These variations in disease penetrance for both the systemic and nervous systems likely reflect differences in the metabolic needs of individual cell types that, in turn, may depend on the selective nature of the primary defect. Although the common macroscopic evidence of LSD in tissues is the presence of vacuolated cells, the cellular and molecular consequences of the intralysosomal accumulation of various metabolites are largely unknown. Given the complexity of these disorders, this information will prove crucial in addressing the feasibility and limitations of therapy for neurodegenerative LSDs. Studies have now begun to emerge that will help to relate storage of potentially toxic metabolites to cell dysfunction and cell death [8, 9].

The large number of genetically engineered mouse models of LSDs that are currently available combined with spontaneously occurring animal models, is facilitating this endeavor. In most instances, these models resemble closely the corresponding human diseases and are

Gene Therapy for Lysosomal Disorders

therefore becoming increasingly important for studies of the pathogenesis and treatment of these disorders [10–12].

Therapy for Lysosomal Storage Diseases

The mechanism of cross-correction has formed the basis of different therapies for LSDs such as enzyme replacement therapy (ERT), hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) transplantation, and gene therapy. The results of ERT in clinical trials of Gaucher disease [13, 14], Pompe disease [15], Fabry disease [16], and MPS I [17] as well as in animal models [18–25] have demonstrated that this procedure could be effective against some non-neuropathic LSDs. However, ERT alone is unlikely to ameliorate more severe neuropathic forms of LSDs, unless it is combined with other treatments [26]. The presence of the blood-brain barrier that effectively prevents most soluble molecules from entering the CNS [27] hampers the applicability of this approach for the cure of neuropathic patients.

Unlike ERT, HSC transplantation (using bone marrow (BM) or umbilical cord blood) could provide a permanent source of normal enzyme, since HSCs can in principle differentiate and repopulate target organs, including the CNS (fig. 2), and function as donors of the corrective enzyme to deficient cells [28-30]. Allogeneic BM transplantation (BMT) with marrow from HLA-compatible, partially mismatched, or unrelated donors has been used with increasing frequency to treat patients with LSDs. The outcome is largely contingent on the type and stage of the disease. In general, this procedure is relatively effective in alleviating visceral symptoms and in stabilizing bone lesions, provided that it is performed before the occurrence of major neurological damage [31-33]. However, diseases that have an early onset and involve predominantly the CNS respond poorly or not at all to BMT, albeit some variations in outcomes have been observed among disease subtypes [32, 34]. For example, the longterm effects of transplantation in patients with Hurler syndrome (α -iduronidase deficiency, MPS I) have been encouraging but by no means curative [35, 36]. Skeletal abnormalities were only minimally altered [37, 38] and psychomotor functions were at best stabilized [35, 38]. BMT appears to change the course of the disease in patients with Krabbe disease and metachromatic leukodystrophy (MLD), but only if performed prior to the occurrence of severe clinical signs [34, 39]. Dramatic resolution of the systemic pathology, improvement in bone disease and stabilization of neurocognitive functions have been seen in transplanted α -mannosidosis and fucosidosis patients [40–42]. In contrast, the outcome of treatment in aspartylglucosaminidase (AGA)-deficient patients has been disappointing [43] and the same holds true for GM1and GM2-gangliosidoses [44].

The results of BMT in small and large animal models of LSDs seem to parallel that in human patients. The clinical responses vary depending on the disease subtypes and the age at treatment, especially with regard to the CNS disease [45, 46]. Thus, syngeneic BMT in neonatal β-glucuronidase-deficient (MPS VII) mice has proved more successful than in adult mice for ameliorating both visceral and bone pathology, and improving auditory function, even in the absence of myeloablation [47-49]. However, the procedure did not reverse storage in the brain or improve the behavioral deficits in these mice [47, 50, 51]. The outcome of BMT in the Niemann-Pick disease (NPD) and galactosialidosis mouse models has been surprisingly positive [52–54]. Even though the correction of the CNS pathology was only minimal, rescue of Purkinje cell loss was apparent in treated NPD mice. Encouraging results were also obtained in cats with a-mannosidosis and dogs with fucosidosis where a clear neurologic improvement and a reduction of storage in neurons were detected after transplantation of young pups [55, 56]. Among the gangliosidoses, BMT extended the lifespan, corrected the biochemical deficits in systemic tissues, and slowed the neurological deterioration in GM2-gangliosidosis mice, in spite of the persistence of neuronal pathology [57]. However, the same procedure applied to dogs with GM1-gangliosidosis or cats with GM2-gangliosidosis did not significantly reverse their pathology [46, 58].

Despite these variations in therapeutic outcome, the overall results suggest that BM-derived cells are capable of infiltrating the CNS and supplying normal enzyme to deficient cells, thereby restoring lysosomal function [30]. In general, the earlier in life that the transplant is performed, the better the clinical outcome. Response to BMT may also be influenced by: (1) the type and number of engrafted donor cells; (2) the biochemical and physical properties of the secreted, correcting enzyme; (3) the efficiency of secretion and extracellular stability of the correcting enzyme [59]; (4) the extent of uptake by target cells, and (5) the characteristics of the affected cells as well as the level of cell degeneration.

Some of these variables have been tested in proof-ofprinciple studies by using transgenic BM cells overexpressing the therapeutic enzyme under the control of an erythroid- or macrophage-specific promoter to correct the







disease phenotype in the galactosialidosis mouse model [52, 54]. This experimental approach is based on the hypothesis that higher levels of enzyme would provide effective treatment for the systemic and CNS disease in a shorter period of time. The results of these studies have

validated this idea, and unequivocally demonstrated that homogeneous populations of hematopoietic cells overexpressing the therapeutic enzyme can effectively cross-correct affected cells and improve/delay the CNS pathology in both BMT and crossbreeding experiments.

Gene Therapy for Lysosomal Disorders

Gene Transfer and Gene Therapy for Lysosomal Storage Diseases: Pros and Cons

Ex vivo Gene Transfer

The same advantages and hurdles associated with BMT can be applied to a gene therapy approach based on the use of genetically modified HSCs. This procedure, however, should overcome the main limitations of allogeneic BMT in humans: namely, the difficulty in finding HLA-matched donors, and the morbidity and mortality associated with irradiation, immunosuppression, and graft-versus-host disease. In fact, somatic gene therapy could become the preferred treatment for LSDs if the patient's own cells could be genetically modified in vitro or in vivo to constitutively express and secrete higher levels of the correcting enzyme than normal BM, and could become the source of the correcting enzyme in the patient. Both ex vivo and in vivo gene transfer methods have been tested for somatic gene therapy of LSDs. The range of delivery systems, starting with retroviral vectors, has expanded to include vectors based on adenovirus, adenoassociated virus, herpes simplex virus, lentivirus, and others, as well as non-viral systems. Several of these methods have proven efficient for the transfer of genetic material into deficient cells in culture and consequent restoration of the enzyme activity [60-71]. However, the same gene transfer systems applied to patients or affected animals have been hampered by inconsistent results, the bases for which are not yet fully understood.

Among the problems are the types of currently available vectors, the poor understanding of vector-host interactions, particularly in the context of a pathologic condition, the low transduction efficiency of pluripotent stem cells and the inability to achieve long-term expression of the correcting protein in vivo. Some of these difficulties could be circumvented by the use of improved viral vectors, virus purification conditions [72–74], transduction procedures, and viral packaging cell lines [75–80]. Moreover, the expansion, transduction, and selection of target cells, like BM stem cells, in vitro have been facilitated by the use of specific cell culture conditions and selectable markers [80a–c].

Retroviral vectors have so far been the most exploited gene transfer vehicles for therapy of LSDs. Those commonly used are the ecotropic and amphotropic murine leukemia viruses [81, 82]. These vectors have the advantage that they stably integrate at random sites into the host genome, affording long-term expression. However, they are limited in their use since they require dividing cells as a target; they are difficult to produce at high titer for in vivo application and, depending on their integration site, they can permanently alter expression of neighboring genes. Nevertheless, an ever-growing number of studies are reported in the literature that describe the use of retroviral-mediated gene therapy in animal models of LSDs. Transplantation of transduced syngeneic HSCs and BM macrophages in the MPS VII mice has resulted in increased enzyme activity and reduced lysosomal storage only in the liver and spleen, but neither brain nor bone pathology were improved by this procedure [51, 83, 84]. In contrast, the effects of a gene therapy approach in PD mice replicated those obtained with normal BM and consisted in prolonged life span, increased acid sphingomyelinase activity, reduced storage in both systemic organs and spinal cord neurons, and an increased number of Purkinje cell neurons [85]. Equally encouraging results were obtained in the mouse models of MLD and galactosialidosis using a murine stem cell virus-based retroviral vector [86, 86a]. Long-term expression of the enzyme and most notably transfer of arylsulfatase A to the brain were achieved in the MLD mice. In the protective protein/ cathepsin A (PPCA)-deficient mice, complete correction of systemic pathology was accompanied by delayed Purkinje cell loss and functional amelioration of the neurological phenotype. In Fabry disease, mice transplanted with retrovirally transduced BM mononuclear cells increased α -galactosidase activity and decreased storage was observed in all organs with the exception of the brain [87].

The overall outcome of these studies points to the potential of retroviral-mediated gene transfer to BM stem cells for improving systemic disease in small laboratory animals, but again the efficacy of this procedure in treating CNS pathology needs careful evaluation. In addition, the same procedure applied to larger animal models has given inconsistent results. For example, dogs with fucosidosis (α -fucosidase deficiency) transplanted with retrovirally transduced allogeneic or autologous BM failed to engraft, although the transduction efficiency was high [88]. Similarly, in MPS VI cats that received genetically marked autologous BM or neonatal blood cells, the levels of arylsulfatase B remained low and no clinical improvement was noticed during the 2-year follow-up, despite evidence of long-term engraftment [89]. However, neonatal gene therapy in MPS VII dogs was successful in preventing the main clinical manifestations of the disease [89a]. Once more, the time of treatment seems to be the ratelimiting step of these therapeutic procedures especially if we attempt to prevent, delay progression or even reverse CNS pathology.

As alternative approaches to ex vivo gene therapy directed to the hematopoietic cells, investigators are also testing the use of other genetically modified cells and vectors for delivery of the correcting enzyme at target sites. For instance, retrovirus-transduced fibroblasts expressing β -glucuronidase, embedded into a collagen lattice have been implanted intraperitoneally into MPS VII mice or dogs. The enzyme secreted by these neo-organs cleared storage in the liver and spleen of MPS VII mice and reduced liver pathology in the dogs [90, 91]. However, for delivery of the therapeutic enzyme across the blood-brain barrier, the recombinant fibroblasts had to be directly implanted into the brain parenchyma. Although sustained β -glucuronidase expression and clearance of storage in neurons were observed, these effects were limited to cells in the proximity of the graft and the activity decayed after an approximately 1-month period [92]. Using this delivery system in normal dogs, expression of β-glucuronidase was detected for nearly a year following implantation into the omentum of six lattices containing retrovirally transduced fibroblasts [93]. In a similar approach, alginate microcapsules containing non-autologous fibroblasts have been implanted either intraperitoneally or in the brain of MPS VII mice [94, 95]. Again, the liver and spleen were readily cleared of storage and expressed significant levels of β -glucuronidase activity, but the enzyme elicited an antibody response that had to be controlled with immune suppressants to prolong the effect of the treatment [94]. Interestingly, reversal of histopathology in the brain was accompanied by improvement in the behavioral abnormalities for up to 2 months after treatment. Equally efficient for the short-term improvement in brain pathology were human amniotic epithelial cells marked with an adenoviral vector expressing β -glucuronidase and injected into the corpus striatum [96]. Since these cells are immunologically naïve, they could become an attractive system for local delivery of high quantities of a therapeutic enzyme, especially at sites that are difficult to reach, although issues concerning safety and long-term expression have still to be addressed.

Considering that the properties of donor cells may greatly influence the efficacy of cell-mediated therapy for neurologic LSDs, intracranial transplants of genetically modified neural stem cells or adult glial cells could potentially be a better choice for treating the CNS [97–99]. Their therapeutic potential has been tested in MPS VII and twitcher mice (model of Krabbe disease). In MPS VII newborns that received intraventricular transplant of a multipotent neural cell line expressing β -glucuronidase, donor cells appeared to engraft, become part of the brain microenvironment, and correct lysosomal storage in both neurons and glia [100]. Similar experiments performed in the twitcher model indicated that these neural progenitor cells could differentiate in several cell types including oligodendrocytes, the primary affected cells in this disease; however, correction of the demyelinating defect was only minimal [101]. Whether these transformed neural cell lines transplanted into the brain will eventually give rise to intracerebral tumors has not been tested as yet. In this respect, the encouraging, albeit short-term, results obtained with transduced primary human astrocytes engrafted into the mouse striatum point to this cell type as an alternative and perhaps safer system for treatment of the CNS [99].

The use of BM stem cells as the source of the enzyme for treatment of the CNS disease has recently been extended. It was shown that BM contains non-hematopoietic stem cells capable of differentiating into multiple mesenchymal cell lineages, including neural cells [102]. These cells, referred to as marrow stromal cells or mesenchymal stem cells, have several attractive characteristics: they are easy to isolate from BM, to expand in culture, and to transduce in vitro. They may, therefore, have advantages over HSCs for gene therapy.

All together, cell-mediated delivery methods have the potential to provide sustained expression of therapeutic proteins at target sites. On the other hand, with the exception of one study in normal dogs [93], the follow-up of treatment has been relatively short; hence no indication is there for the long-term engraftment of the exogenous cells, expression of the therapeutic enzyme and the potential side effects. Moreover, local administration of neo-organs or modified cells does not fulfill the need of generalized correction of lysosomal storage unless it is coupled to a more systemic therapy.

In spite of the limitations encountered so far, the ex vivo studies in animal models have helped to set the stage for trials of human stem cell gene therapy in patients with Gaucher disease [103–105]. HSCs from patients' peripheral blood or BM were transduced with a retrovirus expressing the human glucocerebrosidase cDNA and infused into non-ablated recipients. Although the transduction efficiency was low, gene-marked cells persisted for ~ 3 months, but the number of corrected cells was too low to afford any increase in enzyme activity and therapeutic benefit. To circumvent the problems of low transduction efficiency and expression, alternative gene therapy approaches are being developed that make use of vectors based on lentiviruses, including the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (HIV-1) [106]. These vectors have a

Gene Therapy for Lysosomal Disorders

broader host range than retroviral vectors since they transduce both dividing and non-dividing cells and have been shown to effectively target human CD34+ cells [107].

In vivo Gene Transfer

Direct delivery of recombinant viral vectors into affected recipients would obviate the potential problems associated with in vitro manipulation of autologous cells and shorten the time that treatment can be initiated. Once more, in order to be effective these gene transfer vectors should be made at sufficiently high titer, should transduce a wide range of cells, be stable to achieve wide spreading, give sustained long-term expression and secretion of the correcting enzyme, and, most importantly, be safe. If all these parameters are met, the in vivo methods could be chosen as alternative or complementary systems to ex vivo therapy for correction of both systemic and CNS disease in LSDs. Significant progress has been made recently using adenovirus and adeno-associated virus vectors for in vivo gene transfer in animal models.

Adenoviral vectors have several advantages over retroviruses: they infect both dividing and non-dividing cells; they can accommodate larger inserts of exogenous DNA, and they can be produced at high titer [108, 109]. The downsides of these vectors have been their potential cytotoxicity, the high immunogenicity of viral proteins [110, 111] and in turn the transient expression of the therapeutic enzyme that limits its effects. Nevertheless, a few groups have now reported the successful use of this transfer system for the short-term correction of diseases that are predominantly systemic. A recombinant adenovirus expressing the human a-galactosidase A was injected intravenously into Fabry mice. Enzyme activity considerably higher than normal values was measured in all systemic organs 3 days after injection but declined rapidly during the following 12 days. Remarkably, however, the high level of enzyme in organs and plasma was sufficient to substantially improve the pathology for up to 6 months after treatment [112]. Similar studies performed in mice with Pompe disease demonstrated that a single injection of a modified adenoviral vector expressing α -glucosidase resulted in efficient hepatic transduction, increased enzyme secretion in plasma and systemic correction of both skeletal and cardiac muscles, the primary organs affected by the disease [113]. In Tay Sachs mice intravenous injection of a recombinant adenovirus co-expressing the hexosaminidase subunits resulted in high transduction of the liver, massive secretion of the enzyme in serum and restoration of enzyme activity in all peripheral organs [114]. Thus, albeit transient, adenovirus-mediated expression of the therapeutic enzyme is high enough to provide a prolonged effect, especially if immune suppressive agents are simultaneously administered [115].

For the treatment of the CNS pathology, a number of reports have documented the combined use of recombinant adenoviral vectors for intravenous injection as well as direct injection into the brain. In the aspartylglucosaminuria mouse model, correction of the liver pathology was associated with sustained AGA expression in the ependymal cells lining the ventricles and diffusion of AGA into the neighboring neurons with partial amelioration of the pathology [116]. In the MPS VII mice, intravenous injection coupled to systemic treatment with immune-suppressive antibody resulted in normal β -glucuronidase activity in systemic organs for up to 16 weeks after treatment. Impressive was the reduction of pathology in the brain, even if the number of cells expressing the β -glucuronidase mRNA were only a few [115, 117, 118]. These are clear examples of the remarkable bystander effect that can be reached if the expression and secretion of the correcting enzyme is high and the enzyme is readily taken up. This of course will entirely depend on the physiological and biochemical characteristics of both the disease and the enzyme itself. For example, direct intraventricular injection of a recombinant adenovirus encoding galactocerebrosidase in twitcher mice demonstrated only slight improvements in motor functions, body weight and twitching but only when treatment was initiated at postnatal day 0 and not at postnatal day 15 [119].

Moreover, it is clear that the therapeutic potential of recombinant adenovirus vectors for the treatment of LSDs and other clinical conditions in humans cannot be fully exploited unless we are confident that their limitations can be completely overcome. Recent results with modified adenovirus vectors in which nearly all adenoviral sequences have been removed (high-capacity 'gutless' vectors) show promise for reduced toxicity and long-term expression [120, 121].

Adeno-associated virus (AAV) is a replication-deficient human parvovirus that has the capacity to transduce with equal efficiency both dividing and non-dividing cells, including neurons [122]. The most attractive features of this virus that encourage the use of AAV-based vectors in human clinical trials [123] are: (1) the capacity of latent infection via integration into the host genome; (2) the lack of the pathogenic or inflammatory side effects, and (3) the long-term expression of the transgene [124– 126]. In spite of their small insert capacity, recent improvements in the production of high-titer, purified re-





combinant AAV vector stocks have increased the number of applications of AAV as a gene transfer system. Most of the initial experiments with AAV vectors were performed in the MPS VII mouse model. An intramuscular administration of a recombinant AAV vector encoding β-glucuronidase to neonatal or adult mice resulted in persistent transgene expression in the injected organ and partial amelioration of lysosomal storage in the liver and spleen. The latter was likely attributable to virus dissemination through the blood stream rather than secretion of the enzyme from infected muscle [127, 128]. In contrast, a widespread improvement in the phenotype was obtained by injecting a β -glucuronidase expressing AAV vector in newborn mice (1-2 days old). This early treatment gave rise to high levels of enzyme activity and prevented/ reduced lysosomal storage in most organs including the brain throughout the 4-month duration of the experiment [129].

The AAV gene transfer system has also been effective for treating the CNS disease. Again, most of the studies have been done in neonatal and adult MPS VII mice and in most cases with a limited follow-up after treatment. A single intracranial injection of a β -glucuronidase expressing AAV vector into the striatum of a severely affected adult mice was enough to revert pathological lesions in a significant portion of the brain. The effect persisted for up to 16 weeks and spreading of enzyme-positive cells in the contralateral hemisphere was indicative of a retrograde transport of the virus [130]. A similar procedure applied to newborn mice was successful not only in preventing or reducing neuronal storage but also in improving cognitive function without detectable side effects [131]. Intrathecal injection into the cerebral spinal fluid has also been experimented with as a less invasive route of administration of the virus to mutant mice [132]. A reduction of storage in some neurons and increased β -glucuronidase activity in the brain were obtained with this procedure, although there was no indication of the extent of correction of the brain pathology.

The encouraging outcome of the studies in the MPS VII model have prompted the use of this delivery system in other LSDs. Jung et al. [133] have injected a recombinant AAV expressing human α -galactosidase in the portal vein of Fabry mice. Six months after treatment the α-gal A activity was about 10-15% of control values in the liver and other systemic organs, and was accompanied by a considerable reduction in glycolipid storage. Preliminary studies on the San Filippo B mice injected intracranially demonstrated persistent expression of the correcting enzyme and a reduction in storage [134]. A single injection of an AAV vector encoding PPCA directly into the cerebellum of galactosialidosis mice resulted in sustained expression of the enzyme in several Purkinje cells and neurons of the deep cerebellar nucleus (fig. 3) with consequent delay in Purkinje cell loss characteristic of this model [135]. A long-term follow-up of the treated mice demonstrated a clear improvement in their coordination skills and lack of tremor associated with the ataxic phenotype [Cunningham, Smeyne and d'Azzo, personal communication]. On the other hand, a similar vector expressing human galactocerebrosidase injected intravenously and/or intracranially into neonatal Twitcher mice did not improve their clinical condition [136], although this may be due to the incapacity of the human galactocerebrosidase to be properly processed in mouse cells [Wenger D., personal commun.]. The overall lesson from these studies is that recombinant AAV vectors may not be equally effective in correcting different LSDs and underscore the need of achieving a better understanding of virus-host interaction as well as disease pathogenesis. In addition a

Gene Therapy for Lysosomal Disorders

careful evaluation of the long-term effects of treatment is mandatory in view of the recent findings that a large proportion of MPS VII mice injected with a recombinant AAV vector shortly after birth develop hepatic tumors 1– 1.5 year after treatment [137].

Other viral vectors are also being considered. A few interesting studies have been pursued recently that are based on the use of lentivirus vectors, including human, and feline immunodeficiency viruses (HIV and FIV) for gene therapy of LSDs in animal models. Similar to retroviruses, lentiviral vectors integrate stably into the host genome, but have the advantage of infecting both dividing and non-dividing or terminally differentiated cells and accommodating large insert size [81, 138]. In a difficult to treat disease like MLD, Consiglio et al. [139] have achieved sustained arylsulfatase A expression and effective rescue of hippocampal neurons following injection into the affected brains of a HIV-1-based vector expressing human ASA. Although the MLD mice were injected at adult age (5 months), the treatment was apparently sufficient for the long-term correction of the injected hemisphere and protection from progressive deterioration of hippocampal-related learning ability. Very encouraging results were also obtained in adult MPS VII mice using a similar lentiviral vector [140]. The recombinant virus was delivered by either single intra-striatum injection or multiple injections in the cerebral hemispheres and the cerebellum. Clearance of storage was observed throughout the brain suggesting that reversal of advanced brain lesion can be achieved if a suitable delivery system is applied. Two-month-old MPS VII mice have also been injected intravenously with a single dose of a FIV-based vector expressing β -glucuronidase. Sustained β -glucuronidase activity was detected in several tissues with a parallel reduction in pathological signs in the liver and spleen. These results indicate that the hepatocytes, when stably transduced with lentivirus-based vectors, can serve as a reservoir of the correcting enzyme for the long-term therapy.

Obviously the main concern raised by the use of this type of vector is safety. As is the case for other gene transfer systems, HIV-based vectors have been stripped of most of the HIV genes whose functions are supplied in trans [141]. Nonetheless, potential risks, albeit remote, of recombination events that would reconstitute the original viral genome must be meticulously controlled and more experimental examples must be evaluated.

Despite significant accomplishments, until vector systems are developed that provide high transduction efficiency, low immunogenicity, long-term protein expression in the appropriate target cells, and correction of difficult to reach organs, the full potential of this approach will not be realized. New and improved methods for delivering the therapeutic genes to affected sites are being developed. The use of hybrid or chimeric vectors, incorporating different viral elements have been shown to improve both transduction of recipient cells and transgene expression [142]. The induction of systemic hyperosmolarity to temporarily open the blood-brain barrier have facilitated the penetration of vector across the ependymal cell layer into the subependymal region and improved spreading of β-glucuronidase-expressing cells [143]. Intravenous or direct brain injection of an adenoviral vector that encodes therapeutic β-glucuronidase fused to the protein transduction peptide of the HIV Tat have resulted in improved bio-distribution of the secreted enzyme in both visceral organs and the brain [144]. Finally, the testing of different viral serotypes may determine the choice of vectors for transfer of the correcting enzyme to different affected organs [145, 146].

Conclusions

A critical look at the myriad of gene therapy studies that are now facilitated by the availability of faithful animal models in which to implement therapeutic modalities should enable us to assess what is conceivable and what is not for the treatment of lysosomal disorders. How far we can go with the available systems and what needs to be improved. Behind the relatively simple concept of crosscorrection that makes LSDs particularly amenable models for gene therapy trials lays the complexity and diversity of these diseases that must be addressed and carefully evaluated, since they are likely to influence the response to treatment. This underlies the continuing need for therapeutic studies to be guided by fundamental research into the molecular and cellular mechanisms of disease. It is clear that many limitations and pitfalls still need to be overcome in order to make the transition to the clinic an educated and judicious approach.

However, neither mice nor other larger animal models are humans. Thus, prior to clinical trials, it is important to come up with better methods to assess preclinical results. These include the large scale production, purification and quality control of viral vector stocks, the correct dose and route of administration, the evaluation of the efficacy of gene transfer in terms of the number of transduced cells present in target tissues, and the critical documentation of any clinical improvement. Regardless of the delivery system, some diseases may be more resilient to treatment than others. In these instances we might approach therapy from the standpoint of the accumulated products rather the enzyme deficiency. Inhibition of substrate synthesis as opposed to supplementation of the missing enzyme has been experimented with for the treatment of glycolipid storage diseases with promising results [147, 148]. Combining substrate inhibitors and BMT was found to be synergistic in correcting pathological signs in the Sandhoff mice [149]. Last but not least, early treatment may be the only approach for early-onset patients who are often devoid of residual enzyme. In these cases therapeutic intervention in utero could prevent the appearance of any clinical symptoms and obviate the problems associate with an immune response [150]. A few experimental trials have been attempted that, although negative, are helping

to set the stage for the use of this approach in both small and large animal models of LSDs [151, 152]. Ultimately the combination of different therapies may be the method of choice for neurological LSDs that require both systemic and CNS correction.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Drs. Gerard Grosveld and David Wenger for their critical reading of the manuscript, Dr. Erik Bonten for help in editing table 1, and Charlette Hill for help in typing and editing the manuscript. Alessandra d'Azzo is supported by the Assisi Foundation of Memphis, National Institutes of Health grants DK52025 and GM60950, the Cancer Center Support (CORE) grant CA 21765 from the National Cancer Institute, and the American Lebanese Syrian Associated Charities (ALSAC).

References

- Lloyd J, Mason R: Biology of the Lysosome: Subcellular Biochemistry. New York, Plenum Press, 1996, p 27.
- 2 Fratantoni JC, Hall CW, Neufeld EF: Hurler and Hunter syndromes: Mutual correction of the defect in cultured fibroblasts. Science 1968; 162:570–572.
- 3 Neufeld EF, Fratantoni JC: Inborn errors of mucopolysaccharide metabolism. Science 1970;169:141–146.
- 4 Neufeld EF: Lysosomal storage diseases. Annu Rev Biochem 1991;60:257–280.
- 5 Scriver C, Beaudet A, Sly W, Valle D, Scriver C, Beaudet A, Sly W, Valle DS: The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, ed 8. New York, McGraw-Hill, 2001.
- 6 Conzelmann E, Sandhoff K: Biochemical basis of late-onset neurolipidoses. Dev Neurosci 1991;13:197–204.
- 7 Neufeld E, J M: The Mucopolysaccharidoses: The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease. New York, McGraw-Hill, 2001, vol 3, pp 3421–3453.
- 8 Wada R, Tifft CJ, Proia RL: Microglial activation precedes acute neurodegeneration in Sandhoff disease and is suppressed by bone marrow transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:10954–10959.
- 9 Im DS, Heise CE, Nguyen T, O'Dowd BF, Lynch KR: Identification of a molecular target of psychosine and its role in globoid cell formation. J Cell Biol 2001;153:429–434.
- Walkley SU: Cellular pathology of lysosomal storage disorders. Brain Pathol 1998;8:175– 193.
- Suzuki K, Proia R, Suzuki K: Mouse models of human lysosomal diseases. Brain Pathol 1998; 8:195–215.

- 12 Wenger DA: Murine, canine and non-human primate models of Krabbe disease. Mol Med Today 2000;6:449–451.
- 13 Beutler E, Kay A, Saven A, Garver P, Thurston D, Dawson A, Rosenbloom B: Enzyme replacement therapy for Gaucher disease. Blood 1991; 78:1183–1189.
- 14 Barton NW, Brady RO, Dambrosia JM, Di Bisceglie AM, Doppelt SH, Hill SC, Mankin HJ, Murray GJ, Parker RI, Argoff CE, Grewal RP, Yu KT: Replacement therapy for inherited enzyme deficiency Macrophage-targeted glucocerebrosidase for Gaucher's disease. N Engl J Med 1991;324:1464–1470.
- 15 Van den Hout H, Reuser AJ, Vulto AG, Loonen MC, Cromme-Dijkhuis A, Van der Ploeg AT: Recombinant human alpha-glucosidase from rabbit milk in Pompe patients (letter). Lancet 2000;356:397–398.
- 16 Eng CM, Guffon N, Wilcox WR, Germain DP, Lee P, Waldek S, Caplan L, Linthorst GE, Desnick RJ: Safety and efficacy of recombinant human alpha-galactosidase A-replacement therapy in Fabry's disease. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:9–16.
- 17 Kakkis ED, Muenzer J, Tiller GE, Waber L, Belmont J, Passage M, Izykowski B, Phillips J, Doroshow R, Walot I, Hoft R, Neufeld EF: Enzyme-replacement therapy in mucopolysaccharidosis I. N Engl J Med 2001;344:182–188.
- 18 Kakkis ED, Schuchman E, He X, Wan Q, Kania S, Wiemelt S, Hasson CW, O'Malley T, Weil MA, Aguirre GA, Brown DE, Haskins ME: Enzyme replacement therapy in feline mucopolysaccharidosis I. Mol Genet Metab 2001;72: 199–208.

- 19 Yu WH, Zhao KW, Ryazantsev S, Rozengurt N, Neufeld EF: Short-term enzyme replacement in the murine model of Sanfilippo syndrome type B. Mol Genet Metab 2000;71:573– 580.
- 20 Byers S, Crawley AC, Brumfield LK, Nuttall JD, Hopwood JJ: Enzyme replacement therapy in a feline model of MPS VI: Modification of enzyme structure and dose frequency. Pediatr Res 2000;47:743–749.
- 21 Dunder U, Kaartinen V, Valtonen P, Vaananen E, Kosma VM, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J, Mononen I: Enzyme replacement therapy in a mouse model of aspartylglycosaminuria. FA-SEB J 2000;14:361–367.
- 22 Bijvoet AG, Van Hirtum H, Kroos MA, Van de Kamp EH, Schoneveld O, Visser P, Brakenhoff JP, Weggeman M, van Corven EJ, Van der Ploeg AT, Reuser AJ: Human acid alpha-glucosidase from rabbit milk has therapeutic effect in mice with glycogen storage disease type II. Hum Mol Genet 1999;8:2145–2153.
- 23 Vogler C, Levy B, Galvin N, Thorpe C, Sands M, Barker J, Baty J, Birkenmeier E, Sly W: Enzyme replacement in murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII: Neuronal and glial response to beta-glucuronidase requires early initiation of enzyme replacement therapy. Pediatr Res 1999;45:838–844.
- 24 O'Connor L, Erway L, Vogler C, Sly W, Nicholes A, Grubb J, Holmberg S, Levy B, Sands M: Enzyme replacement therapy for murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII leads to improvements in behavior and auditory function. J Clin Invest 1998;101:1394–1400.
- 25 Kikuchi T, Yang H, Pennybacker M, Ichihara N, Mizutani M, Hove JV, Chen Y: Clinical and metabolic correction of Pompe disease by enzyme therapy in acid maltase-deficient quail. J Clin Invest 1998;10:827–833.

Gene Therapy for Lysosomal Disorders

- 26 Sands M, Vogler C, Torrey A, Levy B, Gwynn B, Grubb J, Sly W, Birkenmeier E: Murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII: Long term therapeutic effects of enzyme replacement and enzyme replacement followed by bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Invest 1997;99:1596– 1605.
- 27 Kroll RA, Neuwelt EA: Outwitting the bloodbrain barrier for therapeutic purposes: osmotic opening and other means. Neurosurgery 1998; 42:1083–1100.
- 28 Chen CC, Rivera A, Ron N, Sutkowski N, Dougherty JP, Ron Y: Long-term contribution to the myeloid compartment by lineage-committed stem cells. Blood 1998;92:3210–3217.
- 29 Kennedy D, Abkowitz J: Kinetics of central nervous system microglial and macrophage engraftment: Analysis using a transgenic bone marrow transplantation model. Blood 1997;90: 986–993.
- 30 Kennedy DW, Abkowitz JL: Mature monocytic cells enter tissues and engraft. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:14944–14949.
- 31 Vellodi A, Young E, Cooper A, Lidchi V, Winchester B, Wraith J: Long-term follow-up following bone marrow transplantation for Hunter disease. J Inherit Metab Dis 1999;22:638– 648.
- 32 Krivit W, Aubourg P, Shapiro E, Peters C: Bone marrow transplantation for globoid cell leukodystrophy, adrenoleukodystrophy, metachromatic leukodystrophy, and Hurler syndrome. Curr Opin Hematol 1999;6:377–382.
- 33 Hoogerbrugge P, Valerio D: Bone marrow transplantation and gene therapy for lysosomal storage diseases. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;21(suppl 2):S34–S36.
- 34 Krivit W, Shapiro E, Peters C, Wagner J, Cornu G, Kurtzberg J, Wenger D, Kolodny E, Vanier M, Loes D, Dusenbery K, Lockman L: Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation in globoid-cell leukodystrophy. N Engl J Med 1998; 338:1119–1126.
- 35 Peters C, Shapiro E, Anderson J, Henslee-Downey P, Klemperer M, Cowan M, Saunders E, deAlarcon P, Twist C, Nachman J, Hale G, Harris R, Rozans M, Kurtzberg J, Grayson G, Williams T, Lenarsky C, Wagner J, Krivit W: Hurler syndrome. II: Outcome of HLA-genotypically identical sibling and HLA-haploidentical related donor bone marrow transplantation in fifty-four children. The storage collaborative study group. Blood 1998;91:2601–2608.
- 36 Fleming D, Henslee-Downey P, Ciocci G, Romond E, Marciniak E, Munn R, Thompson J: The use of partially HLA-mismatched donors for allogeneic transplantation patients with mucopolysaccharidosis-1. Pediatr Transplant 1998;2:299–304.
- 37 Hopwood JJ, Vellodi A, Scott HS, Morris CP, Litjens T, Clements PR, Brooks DA, Cooper A, Wraith JE: Long-term clinical progress in bone marrow transplanted mucopolysaccharidosis type I patients with a defined genotype. J Inherit Metab Dis 1993;16:1024–1033.

- 38 Vellodi A, Young EP, Cooper A, Wraith JE, Winchester B, Meaney C, Ramaswami U, Will A: Bone marrow transplantation for mucopolysaccharidosis type I: Experience of two British centres. Arch Dis Child 1997;76:92–99.
- 39 Navarro C, Fernandez JM, Dominguez C, Fachal C, Alvarez M: Late juvenile metachromatic leukodystrophy treated with bone marrow transplantation: A 4-year follow-up study. Neurology 1996;46:254–256.
- 40 Wall D, Grange D, Goulding P, Daines M, Luisiri A, Kotagal S: Bone marrow transplantation for the treatment of alpha-mannosidosis. J Pediatr 1998;133:282–285.
- 41 Vellodi A, Cragg H, Winchester B, Young E, Young J, Downie CJ, Hoare RD, Stocks R, Banerjee GK: Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for fucosidosis. Bone Marrow Transplant 1995;15:153–158.
- 42 Miano M, Lanino E, Gatti R, Morreale G, Fondelli P, Celle ME, Stroppiano M, Crescenzi F, Dini G: Four year follow-up of a case of fucosidosis treated with unrelated donor bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2001;27:747–751.
- 43 Arvio M, Sauna-Aho O, Peippo M: Bone marrow transplantation for aspartylglucosaminuria: Follow-up study of transplanted and nontransplanted patients. J Pediatr 2001;138:288– 290.
- 44 Chavany C, Jendoubi M: Biology and potential strategies for the treatment of GM2 gangliosidoses. Mol Med Today 1998;4:158–165.
- 45 Haskins M: Bone marrow transplantation therapy for metabolic disease: Animal models as predictors of success and in utero approaches. Bone Marrow Transplant 1996;(suppl 3):S25– S27.
- 46 Walkley S, Thrall M, Dobrenis K: Targeting gene products to the brain and neurons using bone marrow transplantation: A cell-mediated delivery system for therapy of inherited metabolic human disease; in Lowenstein PR, Enquist LW (eds): Protocols for Gene Transfer in Neuroscience: Towards Gene Therapy of Neurological Disorders. New York, Wiley, 1996, pp 275–302.
- 47 Sands MS, Barker JE, Vogler C, Levy B, Gwynn B, Galvin N, Sly WS, Birkenmeier E: Treatment of murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII by syngeneic bone marrow transplantation in neonates. Lab Invest 1993;68:676– 686.
- 48 Sands MS, Erway LC, Vogler C, Sly WS, Birkenmeier EH: Syngeneic bone marrow transplantation reduces the hearing loss associated with murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII. Blood 1995;86:2033–2040.
- 49 Soper BW, Lessard MD, Vogler CA, Levy B, Beamer WG, Sly WS, Barker JE: Nonablative neonatal marrow transplantation attenuates functional and physical defects of beta-glucuronidase deficiency. Blood 2001;97:1498– 1504.
- 50 Bastedo L, Sands MS, Lambert DT, Pisa MA, Birkenmeier E, Chang PL: Behavioral consequences of bone marrow transplantation in the treatment of murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII. J Clin Invest 1994;94:1180–1186.

- 51 Vogler C, Sands M, Galvin N, Levy B, Thorpe C, Barker J, Sly W: Murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII: The impact of therapies on the clinical course and pathology in a murine model of lysosomal storage disease. J Inherit Metab Dis 1998;21:527–586.
- 52 Zhou XY, Morreau H, Rottier R, Davis D, Bonten E, Gillemans N, Wenger D, Grosveld FG, Doherty P, Suzuki K, Grosveld GC, d'Azzo A: Mouse model for the lysosomal disorder galactosialidosis and correction of the phenotype with over-expressing erythroid precursor cells. Genes Dev 1995;9:2623–2634.
- 53 Miranda S, Erlich S, Freidrich V, Haskins M, Gatt S, Schuchman E: Biochemical, pathological, and clinical response to transplantation of normal bone marrow cells into acid sphingomyelinase-deficient mice. Transplantation 1998:65:884–892.
- 54 Hahn C, Martin M, Zhou X, Mann L, d'Azzo A: Correction of murine galactosialidosis by bone marrow-derived macrophages overexpressing human protective protein/cathepsin A under control of the colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor promoter. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:14880–14885.
- 55 Taylor RM, Farrow BRH, Stewart GJ: Amelioration of clinical disease following bone marrow transplantation in fucosidase-deficient dogs. Am J Med Genet 1992;42:628–632.
- 56 Walkley SU, Thrall MA, Dobrenis K, Huang M, March PA, Siegel DA, Wurzelmann S: Bone marrow transplantation corrects the enzyme defect in neurons of the central nervous system in a lysosomal storage disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:2970–2974.
- 57 Norflus F, Tifft C, McDonald M, Goldstein G, Crawley J, Hoffmann A, Sandhoff K, Suzuki K, Proia R: Bone marrow transplantation prolongs life span and ameliorates neurologic manifestations in Sandhoff disease. J Clin Invest 1998;101:1881–1888.
- 58 O'Brien JS, Storb R, Raff RF, Harding J, Appelbaum F, Morimoto S, Kishimoto Y, Graham T, Ahern-Rindell A, O'Brien SL: Bone marrow transplantation in canine GM1-gangliosidosis. Clin Genet 1990;38:274–280.
- 59 Dobrenis K, Wenger DA, Walkley SU: Extracellular release of lysosomal glycosidases in cultures of cat microglia (abstract 652). Mol Biol Cell 1994;5:113a.
- 60 Luddi A, Volterrani M, Strazza M, Smorlesi A, Rafi MA, Datto J, Wenger DA, Costantino-Ceccarini E: Retrovirus-mediated gene transfer and galactocerebrosidase uptake into twitcher glial cells results in appropriate localization and phenotype correction. Neurobiol Dis 2001; 8:600–610.
- 61 Pan D, Aronovich E, McIvor RS, Whitley CB: Retroviral vector design studies toward hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy for mucopolysaccharidosis type I. Gene Ther 2000;7:1875– 1883.
- 62 Tsutsudaasano A, Migita M, Takahashi K, Shimada T: Transduction of fibroblasts and CD34+ progenitors using a selectable retroviral vector containing cDNAs encoding arylsulfatase A and CD24. J Hum Genet 2000;45:18– 23.

- 63 Sena-Esteves M, Camp SM, Alroy J, Breakefield XO, Kaye EM: Correction of acid betagalactosidase deficiency in GM1 gangliosidosis human fibroblasts by retrovirus vector-mediated gene transfer: Higher efficiency of release and cross-correction by the murine enzyme. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:715–727.
- 64 Matzner U, Habetha M, Gieselmann V: Retrovirally expressed human arylsulfatase A corrects the metabolic defect of arylsulfatase Adeficient mouse cells. Gene Ther 2000;7:805– 812.
- 65 Takiyama N, Dunigan J, Vallor M, Kase R, Sakuraba H, Barranger J: Retrovirus-mediated transfer of human alpha-galactosidase A human CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:2881–2889.
- 66 Sun H, Yang M, Haskins ME, Patterson DF, Wolfe JH: Retrovirus vector-mediated correction and cross-correction of lysosomal alphamannosidase deficiency in human and feline fibroblasts. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:1311– 1319.
- 67 Nicolino MP, Puech JP, Kremer EJ, Reuser AJ, Mbebi C, Verdiere-Sahuque M, Kahn A, Poenaru L: Adenovirus-mediated transfer of the acid alpha-glucosidase gene into fibroblasts, myoblasts and myotubes from patients with glycogen storage disease type II leads to high level expression of enzyme and corrects glycogen accumulation. Hum Mol Genet 1998; 7:1695–1702.
- 68 Keir SD, Miller J, Yu G, Hamilton R, Samulski RJ, Xiao X, Tornatore C: Efficient gene transfer into primary and immortalized human fetal glial cells using adeno-associated virus vectors: Establishment of a glial cell line with a functional CD4 receptor. J Neurovirol 1997;3:322– 330.
- 69 Yogalingam G, Muller V, Hopwood JJ, Anson DS: Regulation of N-acetylgalactosamine 4-sulfatase expression in retrovirus-transduced feline mucopolysaccharidosis type VI muscle cells. DNA Cell Biol 1999;18:187–195.
- 70 Di Francesco C, Cracco C, Tomanin R, Picci L, Ventura L, Zacchello E, Di Natale P, Anson DS, Hopwood JJ, Graham FL, Scarpa M: In vitro correction of iduronate-2-sulfatase deficiency by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer. Gene Ther 1997;4:442–448.
- 71 Akli S, Guidotti JE, Vigne E, Perricaudet M, Sandhoff K, Kahn A, Poenaru L: Restoration of hexosaminidase A activity in human Tay-Sachs fibroblasts via adenoviral vector-mediated gene transfer. Gene Ther 1996;3:769– 774.
- 72 Duisit G, Salvetti A, Moullier P, Cosset FL: Functional characterization of adenoviral/retroviral chimeric vectors and their use for efficient screening of retroviral producer cell lines. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:189–200.
- 73 Zolotukhin S, Byrne BJ, Mason E, Zolotukhin I, Potter M, Chesnut K, Summerford C, Samulski RJ, Muzyczka N: Recombinant adenoassociated virus purification using novel methods improves infectious titer and yield. Gene Ther 1999;6:973–985.

- 74 Summerford C, Samulski RJ: Viral receptors and vector purification: New approaches for generating clinical-grade reagents. Nat Med 1999;5:587–588.
- 75 Schiedner G, Hertel S, Kochanek S: Efficient transformation of primary human amniocytes by E1 functions of Ad5:generation of new cell lines for adenoviral vector production. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:2105–2116.
- 76 Sanyal A, Schuening FG: Increased gene transfer into human cord blood cells by centrifugation-enhanced transduction in fibronectin fragment-coated tubes. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10: 2859–2868.
- 77 Miller A, Chen F: Retrovirus packaging cells based on 10A1 murine leukemia virus for production of vectors that use multiple receptors for cell entry. J Virol 1996;70:5564–5571.
- 78 Loiler S, DiFronzo N, Holland C: Gene transfer to human cells using retrovirus vectors produced by a new polytropic packaging cell line. J Virol 1997;71:4825–4828.
- 79 Medin JA, Migita M, Pawliuk R, Jacobson S, Amiri M, Kluepfel-Stahl S, Brady RO, Humphries RK, Karlsson S: A bicistronic therapeutic retroviral vector enables sorting of transduced CD34+ cells and corrects the enzyme deficiency in cells from Gaucher patients. Blood 1996; 87:1754–1762.
- 80 Pan D, Shankar R, Stroncek DF, Whitley CB: Combined ultrafiltration-transduction in a hollow-fiber bioreactor facilitates retrovirus-mediated gene transfer into peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with mucopolysaccharidosis type II. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:2799– 2810.
- 80a Lorincz M, Herzenberg LA, Diwu Z, Barranger JA, Kerr WG: Detection and isolation of genecorrected cells in Gaucher disease via a fluorescence-activated cell sorter assay for lysosomal glucocerebrosidase activity. Blood 1997;89: 3412–3420.
- 80b Metz M, Pichler A, Kuchler K, Kane S: Construction and characterization of single-transcript tricistronic retroviral vectors using two internal ribosome entry sites. Som Cell Mol Genet 1998;24:53–69.
- 80c Persons D, Allay J, Allay E, Smeyne R, Ashmun R, Sorrentino B: Retroviral-mediated transfer of the green fluorescent protein gene into murine hematopoietic cells facilitates scoring and selection of transduced progenitors in vitro and identification of genetically modified cells in vivo. Blood 1997;90:1777–1786.
- 81 Buchschacher GL Jr, Wong-Staal F: Development of lentiviral vectors for gene therapy for human diseases. Blood 2000;95:2499–2504.
- 82 Peng KW, Russell SJ: Viral vector targeting. Curr Opin Biotechnol 1999;10:454–457.
- 83 Wolfe J, Sands M, Barker J, Gwynn B, Rowe L, Vogler C, Birkenmeier E: Reversal of pathology in murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII by somatic cell gene transfer. Nature 1992;360: 749–753.
- 84 Ohashi T, Yokoo T, Iizuka S, Kobayashi H, Sly WS, Eto Y: Reduction of lysosomal storage in murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII by transplantation of normal and genetically modified macrophages. Blood 2000;95:3631–3633.

- 85 Miranda SR, Erlich S, Friedrich VL Jr, Gatt S, Schuchman EH: Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy leads to marked visceral organ improvements and a delayed onset of neurological abnormalities in the acid sphingomyelinase deficient mouse model of Niemann-Pick disease. Gene Ther 2000;7:1768–1776.
- 86 Matzner U, Harzer K, Learish RD, Barranger JA, Gieselmann V: Long-term expression and transfer of arylsulfatase A into brain of arylsulfatase A-deficient mice transplanted with bone marrow expressing the arylsulfatase A cDNA from a retroviral vector. Gene Ther 2000;7: 1250–1257.
- 86a Leimig T, Mann L, Martin MdP, Bonten E, Persons D, Knowles J, Allay JA, Cunningham J, Nienhuis AW, Smeyne R, d'Azzo A: Functional amelioration of murine galactosialidosis by genetically modified bone marrow hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood 2002;99:3169– 3178.
- 87 Takenaka T, Murray GJ, Qin G, Quirk JM, Ohshima T, Qasba P, Clark K, Kulkarni AB, Brady RO, Medin JA: Long-term enzyme correction and lipid reduction in multiple organs of primary and secondary transplanted Fabry mice receiving transduced bone marrow cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:7515–7520.
- 88 Ferrara M, Occhiodoro T, Fuller M, Hawthorne W, Teutsch S, Tucker V, Hopwood J, Stewart G, Anson D: Canine fucosidosis: A model for retroviral gene transfer into haematopoietic stem cells. Neuromuscul Disord 1997;7:361–366.
- 89 Simonaro C, Haskins M, Abkowitz J, Brooks D, Hopwood J, Zhang J, Schuchman E: Autologous transplantation of retrovirally transduced bone marrow or neonatal blood cells into cats can lead to long-term engraftment in the absence of myeloablation. Gene Ther 1999;6: 107–113.
- 89a Ponder KP, Melniczek JR, Xu L, Weil MA, O'Malley TM, O'Donnell PA, Knox VW, Aguirre GD, Mazrier H, Ellinwood NM, Sleeper M, Maguire AM, Volk SW, Mango RL, Zweigle J, Wolfe JH, Haskins ME: Therapeutic neonatal hepatic gene therapy in mucopolysaccharidosis VII dogs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:13102–13107.
- 90 Moullier P, Bohl D, Heard JM, Danos O: Correction of lysosomal storage in the liver and spleen of MPS VII mice by implantation of genetically modified skin fibroblasts. Nat Genet 1993;4:154–159.
- 91 Wolfe JH, Sands MS, Harel N, Weil MA, Parente MK, Polesky AC, Reilly JJ, Hasson C, Weimelt S, Haskins ME: Gene transfer of low levels of beta-glucuronidase corrects hepatic lysosomal storage in a large animal model of mucopolysaccharidosis VII. Mol Ther 2000;2: 552–561.
- 92 Taylor R, Wolfe J: Decreased lysosomal storage in the adult MPS VII mouse brain in the vicinity of grafts of retroviral-corrected fibroblasts secreting high levels of beta-glucuronidase. Nat Med 1997;3:771–774.

- 93 Moullier P, Bohl D, Cardoso J, Heard JM, Danos O: Long-term delivery of a lysosomal enzyme by genetically modified fibroblasts in dogs. Nat Med 1995;1:353–357.
- 94 Ross CJ, Bastedo L, Maier SA, Sands MS, Chang PL: Treatment of a lysosomal storage disease, mucopolysaccharidosis VII, with microencapsulated recombinant cells. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:2117–2127.
- 95 Ross CJ, Ralph M, Chang PL: Somatic gene therapy for a neurodegenerative disease using microencapsulated recombinant cells. Exp Neurol 2000:166:276–286.
- 96 Kosuga M, Sasaki K, Tanabe A, Li XK, Okawa H, Ogino I, Okuda O, Arai H, Sakuragawa N, Kamata Y, Azuma N, Suzuki S, Yamada M, Okuyama T: Engraftment of genetically engineered amniotic epithelial cells corrects lysosomal storage in multiple areas of the brain in mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice. Mol Ther 2001;3:139–148.
- 97 Ourednik V, Ourednik J, Park K, Snyder E: Neural stem cells – A versatile tool for cell replacement and gene therapy in the central nervous system. Clin Genet 1999;56:267– 278.
- 98 Lacorazza H, Flax J, Snyder E, Jendoubi M: Expression of human beta-hexosaminidase alpha-subunit gene (the gene defect of Tay-Sachs disease) in mouse brains upon engraftment of transduced progenitor cells. Nat Med 1996;2:424–429.
- 99 Serguera C, Sarkis C, Ridet JL, Colin P, Moullier P, Mallet J: Primary adult human astrocytes as an ex vivo vehicle for beta-glucuronidase delivery in the brain. Mol Ther 2001;3:875–881.
- 100 Snyder EY, Taylor RM, Wolfe JH: Neural progenitor cell engraftment corrects lysosomal storage throughout the MPS VII mouse brain. Nature 1995;374:367–370.
- 101 Wenger D, Snyder E, Taylor R, Vanier M, Fafi M, Luzi P, Datto J: Neural stem cells for the treatment of the twitcher mouse model of Krabbe disease (abstract A116). 49th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Human Genetics, 1999.
- 102 Phinney D, Kopen G, Isaacson R, Prockop D: Plastic adherent stromal cells from the bone marrow of commonly used strains of inbred mice: Variations in yield, growth, differentiation. J Cell Biochem 1999;72:570–585.
- 103 Rosenberg SA, Blaese RM, Brenner MK, Deisseroth AB, Ledley FD, Lotze MT, Wilson JM, Nabel GJ, Cornetta K, Economou JS, Freeman SM, Riddell SR, Brenner M, Oldfield E, Gansbacher B, Dunbar C, Walker RE, Schuening FG, Roth JA, Crystal RG, Welsh MJ, Culver K, Heslop HE, Simons J, Wilmott RW, Boucher RC, Siegler HF, Barranger JA, Karlsson S, Kohn D, Galpin JE, Raffel C, Hesdorffer C, Ilan J, Cassileth P, O'Shaughnessy J, Kun LE, Das TK, Wong-Staal F, Sobol RE, Haubrich R, Sznol M, Rubin J, Sorcher EJ, Rosenblatt J, Walker R, Brigham K, Vogelzang N, Hersh E, Eck SL: Human gene marker/therapy clinical protocols. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:919-979.

- 104 Schuening F, Longo W, Atkinson M, Zaboikin M, Kiem H, Sanders J, Scott C, Storb R, Miller A, Reynolds T, Bensinger W, Rowley S, Gooley T, Darovsky B, Appelbaum F: Retrovirus-mediated transfer of the cDNA for human glucocerebrosidase into peripheral blood repopulation cells of patients with Gaucher's disease. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8: 2143–2160.
- 105 Dunbar C, Kohn D, Schiffmann R, Barton N, Nolta J, Esplin J, Pensiero M, Long Z, Lockey C, Emmons R, Csik S, Leitman S, Krebs C, Carter C, Brady R, Karlsson S: Retroviral transfer of the glucocerebrosidase gene into CD34+ cells from patients with Gaucher disease: In vivo detection of transduced cells without myeloablation. Hum Gene Ther 1998.
- 106 Richter J, Karlsson S: Clinical gene therapy in hematology: Past and future. Int J Hematol 2001;73:162–169.
- 107 Luther-Wyrsch A, Costello E, Thali M, Buetti E, Nissen C, Surbek D, Holzgreve W, Gratwohl A, Tichelli A, Wodnar-Filipowicz A: Stable transduction with lentiviral vectors and amplification of immature hematopoietic progenitors from cord blood of preterm human fetuses. Hum Gene Ther 2001;12: 377–389.
- 108 Tsai SY, Schillinger K, Ye X: Adenovirusmediated transfer of regulable gene expression. Curr Opin Mol Ther 2000;2:515–523.
- 109 Seth P: Adenoviral vectors. Adv Exp Med Biol 2000;465:13–22.
- 110 Parr MJ, Wen PY, Schaub M, Khoury SJ, Sayegh MH, Fine HA: Immune parameters affecting adenoviral vector gene therapy in the brain. J Neurovirol 1998;4:194–203.
- 111 Chirmule N, Propert K, Magosin S, Qian Y, Qian R, Wilson J: Immune responses to adenovirus and adeno-associated virus in humans. Gene Ther 1999;6:1574–1583.
- 112 Ziegler RJ, Yew NS, Li C, Cherry M, Berthelette P, Romanczuk H, Ioannou YA, Zeidner KM, Desnick RJ, Cheng SH: Correction of enzymatic and lysosomal storage defects in Fabry mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:1667– 1682.
- 113 Amalfitano A, McVie-Wylie A, Hu H, Dawson T, Raben N, Plotz P, Chen Y: Systemic correction of the muscle disorder glycogen storage disease type II after hepatic targeting of a modified adenovirus vector encoding human acid-alpha-glucosidase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:8861–8866.
- 114 Guidotti J, Mignon A, Haase G, Gaillaud C, McDonell N, Kahn A, Poenaru L: Adenoviral gene therapy of the Tay-Sachs disease in hexosaminidase A-deficient knock-out mice. Hum Mol Genet 1999;8:831–838.
- 115 Stein CS, Ghodsi A, Derksen T, Davidson BL: Systemic and central nervous system correction of lysosomal storage in mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice. J Virol 1999;73: 3424–3429.

- 116 Peltola M, Kyttala A, Heinonen O, Rapola J, Paunio T, Revah F, Peltonen L, Jalanko A: Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer results in decreased lysosomal storage in brain and total correction in liver of aspartylglucosaminuria (AGU) mouse. Gene Ther 1998;5:1314– 1321.
- 117 Ghodsi A, Stein C, Kerksen T, Yang G, Anderson R, Davidson B: Extensive beta-glucuronidase activity in murine central nervous system after adenovirus-mediated gene transfer to brain. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:2331– 2340.
- 118 Ohashi T, Watabe K, Uehara K, Sly WS, Vogler C, Eto Y: Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer and expression of human beta-glucuronidase gene in the liver, spleen, and central nervous system in mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94:1287–1292.
- 119 Shen J, Watabe K, Ohashi T, Eto Y: Intraventricular administration of recombinant adenovirus to neonatal twitcher mouse leads to clinicopathological improvements. Gene Ther 2001;8:1081–1087.
- 120 Thomas CE, Schiedner G, Kochanek S, Castro MG, Lowenstein PR: Peripheral infection with adenovirus causes unexpected long-term brain inflammation in animals injected intracranially with first-generation, but not with high-capacity, adenovirus vectors: Toward realistic long-term neurological gene therapy for chronic diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:7482–7487.
- 121 Schiedner G, Morral N, Parks RJ, Wu Y, Koopmans SC, Langston C, Graham FL, Beaudet AL, Kochanek S: Genomic DNA transfer with a high-capacity adenovirus vector results in improved in vivo gene expression and decreased toxicity. Nat Genet 1998; 18:180–183.
- 122 Samulski R, Sally M, Muzyczka N: Adenoassociated viral vectors; in Friedmann T (ed): The Development of Human Gene Therapy. Cold Spring Harbor Monogr Ser. Woodbury, Cold Spring Harbor Press, 1998, vol 98, pp 131–172.
- 123 Monahan PE, Samulski RJ: AAV vectors: is clinical success on the horizon? Gene Ther 2000;7:24–30.
- 124 Kaplitt MG, Leone P, Samulski RJ, Xiao X, Pfaff DW, O'Malley KL, During MJ: Longterm gene expression and phenotypic correction using adeno-associated virus vectors in the mammalian brain. Nat Genet 1994;8: 148–154.
- 125 Xiao X, Li J, McCown T, Samulski R: Gene transfer by adeno-associated virus vectors into the central nervous system. Exp. Neurol 1997;144:113–124.
- 126 Clark KR, Liu X, McGrath JP, Johnson PR: Highly purified recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors are biologically active and free of detectable helper and wild-type viruses. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:1031–1039.

- 127 Watson GL, Sayles JN, Chen C, Elliger SS, Elliger CA, Raju NR, Kurtzman GJ, Podsakoff GM: Treatment of lysosomal storage disease in MPS VII mice using a recombinant adeno-associated virus. Gene Ther 1998;5: 1642–1649.
- 128 Daly TM, Okuyama T, Vogler C, Haskins ME, Muzyczka N, Sands MS: Neonatal intramuscular injection with recombinant adenoassociated virus results in prolonged betaglucuronidase expression in situ and correction of liver pathology in mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice. Hum Gene Ther 1999; 10:85–94.
- 129 Daly T, Vogler C, Levy B, Haskins M, Sands M: Neonatal gene transfer leads to widespread correction of pathology in a murine model of lysosomal storage disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:2296–2300.
- 130 Bosch A, Perret E, Desmaris N, Heard JM: Long-term and significant correction of brain lesions in adult mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice using recombinant AAV vectors. Mol Ther 2000;1:63–70.
- 131 Frisella WA, O'Connor LH, Vogler CA, Roberts M, Walkley S, Levy B, Daly TM, Sands MS: Intracranial injection of recombinant adeno-associated virus improves cognitive function in a murine model of mucopolysaccharidosis type VII. Mol Ther 2001;3:351–358.
- 132 Elliger S, Elliger C, Aguilar C, Raju N, Watson G: Elimination of lysosomal storage in brains of MPS VII mice treated by intrathecal administration of an adeno-associated virus vector. Gene Ther 1999;6:1175–1178.
- 133 Jung SC, Han IP, Limaye A, Xu R, Gelderman MP, Zerfas P, Tirumalai K, Murray GJ, During MJ, Brady RO, Qasba P: Adeno-associated viral vector-mediated gene transfer results in long-term enzymatic and functional correction in multiple organs of Fabry mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:2676– 2681.
- 134 Fu H, Picornell Y, Fletcher D, Muenzer J: In vivo correction of lysosomal storage in the brain of a MPS III B mouse model by AAVmediated gene therapy. 4th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Gene Therapy, 2001, p 227.
- 135 Leimig T, Hargrove P, Mann L, Vanin E, Smeyne R, Nienhuis A, d'Azzo A: AAV-Vectors for the in vivo correction of brain pathology in galactosialidosis and G_{M1} gangliosidosis mice. Am Soc Gene Ther 1999, p 200a.

- 136 Fantz C, Wenger D, Sands M: Neonatal and in utero gene transfer utilizing adeno-associated virus and lentiviral vectors for the treatment of Krabbe's disease. 4th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Gene Therapy 2001, p 228.
- 137 Daly T, Ohlemiller K, Roberts M, Vogler C, Sands M: Prevention of systemic clinical disease in MPS VII mice following AAV-mediated neonatal gene transfer. Gene Ther 2001;8:1291–1298.
- 138 Kay MA, Glorioso JC, Naldini L: Viral vectors for gene therapy: The art of turning infectious agents into vehicles of therapeutics. Nat Med 2001;7:33–40.
- 139 Consiglio A, Quattrini A, Martino S, Bensadoun JC, Dolcetta D, Trojani A, Benaglia G, Marchesini S, Cestari V, Oliverio A, Bordignon C, Naldini L: In vivo gene therapy of metachromatic leukodystrophy by lentiviral vectors: Correction of neuropathology and protection against learning impairments in affected mice. Nat Med 2001;7:310–316.
- 140 Bosch A, Perret E, Desmaris N, Trono D, Heard JM: Reversal of pathology in the entire brain of mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice after lentivirus-mediated gene transfer. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:1139–1150.
- 141 Naldini L, Blomer U, Gallay P, Ory D, Mulligan R, Gage FH, Verma IM, Trono D: In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. Science 1996;272:263–267.
- 142 Costantini LC, Jacoby DR, Wang S, Fraefel C, Breakefield XO, Isacson O: Gene transfer to the nigrostriatal system by hybrid herpes simplex virus/adeno-associated virus amplicon vectors. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:2481– 2494.
- 143 Ghodsi A, Stein C, Derksen T, Martins I, Anderson RD, Davidson BL: Systemic hyperosmolality improves beta-glucuronidase distribution and pathology in murine MPS VII brain following intraventricular gene transfer. Exp Neurol 1999;160:109–116.
- 144 Xia H, Mao Q, Davidson BL: The HIV Tat protein transduction domain improves the biodistribution of beta-glucuronidase expressed from recombinant viral vectors. Nat Biotechnol 2001;19:640–644.

- 145 Chao H, Liu Y, Rabinowitz J, Li C, Samulski RJ, Walsh CE: Several log increase in therapeutic transgene delivery by distinct adenoassociated viral serotype vectors. Mol Ther 2000;2:619–623.
- 146 Davidson BL, Stein CS, Heth JA, Martins I, Kotin RM, Derksen TA, Zabner J, Ghodsi A, Chiorini JA: Recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2, 4, and 5 vectors: Transduction of variant cell types and regions in the mammalian central nervous system. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:3428–3432.
- 147 Platt FM, Jeyakumar M, Andersson U, Priestman DA, Dwek RA, Butters TD, Cox TM, Lachmann RH, Hollak C, Aerts JM, Van Weely S, Hrebicek M, Moyses C, Gow I, Elstein D, Zimran A: Inhibition of substrate synthesis as a strategy for glycolipid lysosomal storage disease therapy. J Inherit Metab Dis 2001;24:275–290.
- 148 Cox T, Lachmann R, Hollak C, Aerts J, van Weely S, Hrebicek M, Platt F, Butters T, Dwek R, Moyses C, Gow I, Elstein D, Zimran A: Novel oral treatment of Gaucher's disease with N-butyldeoxynojirimycin (OGT 918) to decrease substrate biosynthesis. Lancet 2000; 355:1481–1485.
- 149 Jeyakumar M, Norflus F, Tifft CJ, Cortina-Borja M, Butters TD, Proia RL, Perry VH, Dwek RA, Platt FM: Enhanced survival in Sandhoff disease mice receiving a combination of substrate deprivation therapy and bone marrow transplantation. Blood 2001;97: 327–329.
- 150 Zanjani ED, Anderson WF: Prospects for in utero human gene therapy. Science 1999;285: 2084–2088.
- 151 Casal ML, Wolfe JH: In utero transplantation of fetal liver cells in the mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mouse results in low-level chimerism, but overexpression of beta-glucuronidase can delay onset of clinical signs. Blood 2001;97:1625–1634.
- 152 Lutzko C, Omori F, Abrams-Ogg AC, Shull R, Li L, Lau K, Ruedy C, Nanji S, Gartley C, Dobson H, Foster R, Kruth S, Dube ID: Gene therapy for canine alpha-L-iduronidase deficiency: In utero adoptive transfer of genetically corrected hematopoietic progenitors results in engraftment but not amelioration of disease. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:1521–1532.

Gene Therapy for Lysosomal Disorders

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:86–92 DOI: 10.1159/000072457

Gene Therapy for Chronic Granulomatous Disease

W. Scott Goebel Mary C. Dinauer

Herman B Wells Center for Pediatric Research and Department of Pediatrics (Hematology/Oncology), James Whitcomb Riley Hospital for Children, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, Ind., USA

Key Words

Gene therapy · Chronic granulomatous disease · Phagocytes · NADPH oxidase

Abstract

Identification of gene mutations responsible for leukocyte dysfunction along with the application of gene transfer technology has made genetic correction of such disorders possible. Much of the research into molecular therapy for inherited disorders of phagocytes has been focused on chronic granulomatous disease (CGD). CGD results from mutations in any one of the four genes encoding essential subunits of respiratory burst NADPH oxidase, the enzyme complex required for the production of reactive oxygen intermediates in phagocytes. The absence of phagocyte oxidants results in a predisposition to recurrent bacterial and fungal infections and inflammatory granulomas in CGD patients, associated with significant morbidity and mortality. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation can cure CGD, but transplantrelated toxicity and the limited availability of matched donors have restricted its wider application. Because the gene defects causing CGD are known, and CGD is a stem cell disorder treatable by marrow transplantation, CGD has emerged as a promising disease for somatic gene therapy targeted at the hematopoietic system. Multiple reports have demonstrated the reconstitution of NADPH

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha oxidase activity by gene transfer to human CGD marrow and cell lines cultured in vitro. CGD mouse models have been developed by gene disruption, and preclinical studies on these animals using recombinant retroviral vectors have demonstrated reconstitution of functionally normal neutrophils and increased resistance to pathogens such as *Aspergillus fumigatus, Burkholderia cepacia* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. Although the results of these murine studies are encouraging, human phase-l clinical studies in CGD patients have yet to produce clinically beneficial numbers of corrected neutrophils for extended periods. Efforts to improve gene transfer efficiency into human hematopoietic stem cells and to increase engraftment of transduced stem cells are ongoing.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) is a rare inherited disorder in which the leukocyte respiratory burst is absent or markedly deficient [1, 2] resulting in inadequate generation of highly reactive oxidants (e.g. superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and hypochlorous acid) necessary for microbicidal activity within the phagosome. As a consequence, CGD patients suffer from recurrent and often life-threatening bacterial and fungal infections. CGD oc-

Mary C. Dinauer, MD, PhD Cancer Research Institute R4, Indiana University School of Medicine 1044 W. Walnut Street Indianapolis, IN 46202 (USA) Tel. +1 317 274 8645, Fax +1 317 274 8679, E-Mail mdinauer@iupui.edu

Table 1. Classification of chronic granulomatous disease

Protein affected	Gene locus	Subtype ¹	Flavocytochrome b558 spectrum	NBT assay % positive	Frequency of cases, %
gp91 ^{phox}	Xp21.1	X91 ^u	0	0	57
		X91-	Low	80-100 (weak)	3
		X91+	Ν	0	2
p22 ^{phox}	16q24	A22 ^u	0	0	5
		A22+	Ν	0	1
p47 ^{phox}	7q11.23	A47 ^u	Ν	0	27
p67 ^{phox}	1q25	A67 ^u	Ν	0	5

N = Normal; NBT = nitroblue tetrazolium assay.

¹ In this classification, the first letter represents the mode of inheritance (X = X-linked or A = autosomal recessive). The number indicates the *phox* (for *ph*agocyte *ox*idase) component that is genetically affected. The superscript symbols indicate whether the level of the affected protein is undetectable (u), diminished (–), or normal (+) as measured by immunoblot analysis. X91⁺ and A22⁺ represent cross-reactive but defective enzymes.

curs in approximately 1 in 250,000 individuals [3], and is caused by a mutation in 1 of the 4 essential subunits of the NADPH oxidase complex (table 1) [1, 2, 4, 5]. Approximately two thirds of CGD cases are X-linked (X-CGD), and result from mutations in the gene encoding gp91^{phox} (for *ph*agocyte *ox*idase), which along with $p22^{phox}$ constitutes the flavocytochrome *b*558, a plasma membrane heterodimer which is the redox center of the oxidase. The non-X-linked forms of CGD cases are caused by mutations in the gene encoding $p22^{phox}$, whereas the remainder of CGD cases involve mutations in either $p67^{phox}$ or $p47^{phox}$, two cytoplasmic proteins that translocate to the membrane to interact with the cytochrome, forming the active oxidase complex upon phagocyte stimulation.

Because CGD is a hematopoietic cell defect, the disorder can be cured with allogeneic bone marrow transplantation [6–10]. However, because of the limited availability of matched donors, the regimen-related toxicity of the transplant, and post-transplant complications such as graft-versus-host disease, allogeneic marrow transplantation is not commonly employed to treat CGD. Because CGD is due to a single gene defect in hematopoietic stem cells, and mouse models of CGD have been developed which closely resemble the human disease, CGD has become an attractive target disease for hematopoietic cell gene replacement therapy [11], which could theoretically provide sufficient NADPH oxidase-reconstituted neutrophils to overcome, or at least ameliorate, the infectious and granulomatous complications of CGD. Correction of a minority of leukocytes is likely to lead to clinical improvement, since (1) partial chimerism following allogeneic marrow transplantation has been beneficial [6–9], and (2) female carriers of X-CGD with as few as 5–10% oxidase-positive neutrophils often have few or no symptoms [12–15]. The level of superoxide production within individual cells also appears to be important, since 'variant' X-CGD patients with low levels of residual NADPH oxidase activity can have recurrent infections [16]; partial correction of oxidase activity may be insufficient for microbicidal function.

Clinical Manifestations and Current Therapy

CGD patients typically develop recurrent bacterial and fungal infections beginning in early childhood [17-19]. CGD patients are susceptible to a wide variety of pathogens, but Staphylococcus aureus, Aspergillus species, and gram-negative enteric bacilli including Serratia marcescens, Salmonella species and Burkholderia (formerly Pseudomonas) cepacia are most problematic. Many of these organisms contain catalase, which depletes the phagosome of microbe-generated hydrogen peroxide that CGD neutrophils could otherwise use to kill ingested organisms. Frequent sites of infection include the skin, lymph nodes, bones and respiratory tract. The liver and lungs are not infrequently sites of abscesses and fungal infections. Stomatitis and severe gingivitis are common among CGD patients. The distinctive hallmark of CGD is the formation of chronic inflammatory granulomas, which can obstruct ureters and bowel or cause colitis/

Gene Therapy for Chronic Granulomatous Disease

enteritis. Granulomas may result from active infection, but these lesions are often sterile. Hence, it is postulated that chronic inflammatory lesions can result from the incomplete degradation of cellular debris which accumulates in the absence of respiratory burst-derived oxidants, or a dysregulated inflammatory response [17, 20–22].

The prognosis for CGD patients has improved greatly in the past two decades. Almost all patients with CGD died in early childhood when the disease was first described in the 1950s. Currently, infectious prophylaxis with trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole and the aggressive treatment of acute infections has improved survival [23]. Subcutaneous injections of interferon- γ three times a week has greatly reduced the number of life-threatening infections for many patients [24]. Granulomas may respond to low-dose steroid therapy [25], but some require surgical resection. Morbidity due to infection or granulomatous complications unfortunately remains significant, particularly for patients with X-CGD [26]. The overall mortality has been estimated to be approximately 5%/ year for X-CGD patients, and 2%/year for patients with autosomal recessive forms of CGD. This difference in survival is thought to be due to small amounts of superoxide production in the autosomal recessive subgroup of patients [3].

Gene Therapy for CGD

Recombinant retroviral vectors were first shown to be capable of transferring functional genes into murine bone marrow cells in early 1980s [27]. Gene transfer into human hematopoietic stem cells, however, has proved more difficult than originally anticipated. While efficient retroviral transduction of marrow-repopulating murine hematopoietic stem cells has been achieved, large animal and human studies have been hampered by low rates of gene transfer [28]. Reasons for poor gene transfer efficiency include the inability of retroviral vectors to integrate into quiescent hematopoietic stem cells [29], and a paucity of retrovirus receptors on primitive hematopoietic stem cells [30]. Several laboratories have improved stem cell transduction in large animal models, due to optimization of cytokine cocktails used in the in vitro transduction process, alternative retroviral envelopes, and co-localization of retroviruses and target cells via a fibronectin fragment to increase the efficiency of viral transduction [31-34]. These improvements have led to gene marking of up to 90% of human stem cells in some NOD/SCID mouse models [35-37]. In addition, small studies utilizing submyeloablative conditioning (320–500 cGy radiation) in rhesus macaques have reported detection of up to 15% gene-marked leukocytes as long as 33 weeks after transplantation in some animals, suggesting that low levels of gene correction may be feasible while reducing transplantrelated toxicity [38, 39].

Preclinical in vitro Studies

The reconstitution of respiratory burst oxidase activity in human CGD leukocytes cultured in vitro using gene transfer technology has now been well established. Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-transformed B-cell lines from CGD patients have been used as a model system by a number of groups. These cells express small amounts of the NADPH oxidase proteins and can produce low levels of superoxide, although the physiologic significance of Bcell superoxide generation is unclear. Respiratory burst activity can be restored to EBV-transformed B-cell lines derived from CGD patients in all 4 genetic subgroups using retroviral and/or plasmid-based vectors containing the appropriate cDNA [40-46]. Other studies have used a human myeloid X-CGD cell line developed by gene targeting, in which gp91^{phox} expression and superoxide formation in retrovirus-reconstituted cells was quantitatively evaluated [47–50]. Expression of even modest amounts of recombinant gp91^{phox} using either plasmid-based or retroviral vectors generated high levels of superoxide, suggesting that the flavocytochrome b558 complex is normally present in excess. Retroviral-mediated gene transfer to myeloid progenitors from peripheral blood or bone marrow obtained from CGD patients has also been successful. Functional expression of the proviral transcripts was documented in transduced granulocyte-monocyte cells differentiated in vitro using a sensitive chemiluminescence assay to monitor reconstitution of the NADPH oxidase, although the relative level of enzyme activity was not measured directly [43, 44, 51, 52]. Recently, however, transduction of up to 80% of CD34+ marrow cells from an X-CGD patient with a murine stem cell virus-based retrovirus containing gp91^{phox} was demonstrated, with the resulting phagocyte superoxide levels in the transduced cells being 68.9% of normal levels [53].

In addition, reports exploring the potential of alternative vector systems for the correction of CGD have begun to appear. One study utilizing an HIV-1-based lentiviral vector containing gp91^{phox} reported transduction of up to 63% of cells from a human X-CGD cell line, with mean superoxide production of in vitro differentiated cells measured at about one third of that of wild-type cells [54]. Very recently, Roesler et al. [55] reported correction of superoxide production to 53% of normal in human CD34+ peripheral blood stem cells from human X-CGD patients transduced with a third generation, self-inactivating lentiviral vector containing gp91^{phox}, compared to 163% correction with a retroviral vector. The lentivirus-transduced stem cells, however, produced greater levels of gene-corrected neutrophils than the retrovirus-transduced stem cells when transplanted into immunodeficient NOD/SCID mice (20 vs. 2.4%), suggesting that lentiviral vectors may transduce the primitive stem cells capable of repopulating NOD/SCID mice better than retroviral vectors.

Preclinical Studies in Murine CGD

Retroviral-mediated gene transfer into bone marrow cells can correct respiratory burst oxidase activity in phagocytes in vivo and improve the defect in host defense against bacterial and fungal pathogens in murine models of CGD [15, 56, 57]. These studies were among the first to show the efficacy of gene therapy in improving the clinical symptoms of an inherited disorder, using an animal model that recapitulates the human disease.

In investigations using the gp91^{phox-/-} (X-CGD) mouse, bone marrow cells were transduced with a murine stem cell virus-based retrovirus containing the murine gp91^{phox} cDNA [49, 58, 59] and transplanted into lethally irradiated (1,100 cGy, given in 2 doses) syngeneic X-CGD recipients [56, 57]. NAPDH oxidase activity was detected in 50-80% of circulating neutrophils by nitroblue tetrazolium testing 12-14 weeks after transplantation, which persisted for at least 18 months; gene-corrected neutrophils were also maintained in secondary recipients. These results demonstrate that this retroviral construct drives long-term expression of gp91^{phox} in neutrophils in vivo, and that long-term reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells were successfully transduced. Although neutrophil expression of vector-encoded gp91^{phox} protein was less than 10% of wild-type, superoxide generation was about one third that of wild-type mouse neutrophils. No adverse consequences to the long-term, constitutive expression of these levels of recombinant gp91^{phox} in marrow cells was observed [56, 57].

Even this level of NADPH oxidase function improved resistance of X-CGD mice to respiratory challenge with *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Pneumonia was prevented in genecorrected X-CGD mice with restoration of partial enzyme activity to $\sim 50\%$ of circulating neutrophils challenged with intratracheal *A. fumigatus* [56]. In X-CGD mice transplanted with mixtures of wild-type and X-CGD marrow, at least 5% wild-type neutrophils were required for protection against *A. fumigatus* challenge [56]. In 'gene therapy chimera' mice, generated by transplanting X-CGD mice with mixtures of retrovirus-transduced and mock-transduced X-CGD marrow, $\geq 11\%$ gene-corrected neutrophils prevented the development of lung disease in 6/6 mice challenged with 150 intratracheal *A. fumigatus* spores, whereas 5–10% gene-corrected neutrophils prevented the development of lung disease in 2/6 mice [60]. Taken together, these studies suggest that partial reconstitution of NADPH oxidase activity after retroviral gene transfer can improve host defense in X-CGD, if a sufficient number of cells have enzyme activity.

In attempts to reduce the toxicity of the conditioning regimen for the transplantation of gene therapy-manipulated marrow, the use of low-dose radiation conditioning combined with larger doses of transplanted marrow cells was recently investigated [61]. In 160-cGy-conditioned X-CGD hosts transplanted with 20×10^6 transduced marrow cells, up to ~10% gene-corrected neutrophils were observed 6 months after transplantation; these levels were stable for at least 12 months after transplantation in many recipients. These demonstrate that durable gene correction can be achieved using sub-myeloablative conditioning in a murine hematopoietic disease model, although the levels of gene-corrected cells are much lower than in recipients conditioned with 1,100 cGy.

The clinical benefit from retroviral-mediated gene transfer has also been studied in bacterial infection in p47^{phox}-deficient mice. In one study, recipient p47^{phox-/-} animals received a sub-lethal dose of radiation (5 Gy) prior to transplantation of transduced marrow [15]. One month after transplantation of p47phox-/- bone marrow cells transduced with a retroviral vector for p47^{phox} expression, the percentage of superoxide-generating peripheral blood neutrophils ranged from 8.4 to 17.3% in individual mice (mean $12.3 \pm 0.9\%$). Chimerism decreased to 2.6 \pm 1.0% (range 0.8–9.9%) NADPH oxidase-positive cells 14 weeks after transplantation, and continued to fall thereafter. Oxidase activity in individual neutrophils appeared to be similar to wild-type cells. Following intraperitoneal challenge with a dose of Burkholderia cepacia that was lethal in 100% of untreated p47^{phox-/-} mice, gene therapy-treated mice had significantly prolonged survival, and 2 of 9 mice studied apparently had spontaneous resolution of infection. Wild-type mice had no mortality even with a two-log higher dose of B. cepacia.

The above data demonstrate improvement in the host defenses of gene-corrected $p47^{phox-/-}$ mice, even with correction of a limited number of neutrophils. However, as suggested by the above study in the gp91^{phox-/-} mice, cor-

Gene Therapy for Chronic Granulomatous Disease

rection of NADPH oxidase in greater than 5% of cells is likely to be required for more complete restoration of host defense. At least 30% gene-corrected neutrophils were required to prevent mortality in gp91^{phox-/-} mice challenged with a different *B. cepacia* isolate, and the presence of even up to 25% wild-type neutrophils failed to prevent the formation of abscesses following challenge with *Staphylococcus aureus* [60]. As noted above, correction of >10% or more neutrophils was sufficient to prevent pulmonary aspergillosis in murine X-CGD. Overall, these observations are consistent with those in human X-CGD carrier females, in which some women with low levels of functional neutrophils (5–20%) suffer from recurrent bacterial infections typical of X-CGD patients, but *Aspergillus* infections are not seen [12–15].

The recent development of a model of cutaneous granuloma formation in murine X-CGD may prove to be useful for studying the benefits of gene therapy on the granulomatous complications of CGD [22]. X-CGD mice injected subcutaneously with sterilized A. fumigatus hyphae displayed a significant acute (3 days after injection) and chronic (30 days) inflammatory response compared to wild-type and X-CGD carrier female mice. All of the X-CGD mice also developed palpable granulomas by 30 days after injection; histologic examination of the injection site demonstrated granuloma formation, characterized by the infiltration of neutrophils and chronic inflammatory cells. We are currently using this model to study whether low levels of gene-corrected neutrophils in X-CGD mice can prevent the exaggerated inflammatory response and granuloma formation observed in X-CGD mice following subcutaneous challenge with sterilized A. fumigatus hyphae.

Phase-I Clinical Trials

A limited number of human clinical trials for gene therapy in CGD have been performed. Malech et al. [62] have conducted two phase-I clinical trials, using CD34+ stem cells from cytokine-mobilized peripheral blood as targets for retroviral-mediated gene transfer. In a completed trial involving 5 patients with the p47^{phox}-deficient form of CGD, mobilized peripheral blood CD34+ cells were collected by apheresis, transduced with a retroviral vector containing the p47^{phox} cDNA over a 3-day period ex vivo, and then transfused back into the patient [62]. Restoration of NADPH oxidase activity to 6–29% of granulocyte colony-forming cells was observed following in vitro culture of the transduced CD34+ cells. A much lower percentage of gene-corrected peripheral blood neutrophils was seen in vivo following transplantation of transduced cells, however. Using a sensitive flow cytometric assay of respiratory burst activity (dihydrorhodamine assay), oxidase-positive neutrophils were first detected approximately 3 weeks after transfusion, and persisted for several months. The peak percentage of corrected neutrophils, however, represented only 0.004–0.05% of the circulating neutrophils. This low percentage reflects the inefficiency of retroviral-mediated gene transfer into human hematopoietic cells, and the fact that patients received no marrow conditioning prior to reinfusion of transduced cells.

The same group subsequently used a modified transduction protocol for a phase-I study in X-CGD patients [63]. Retroviral transfer of the gp91^{phox} gene into autologous peripheral blood CD34+ cells was assisted by use of a fibronectin fragment [34] in the presence of a cytokine cocktail containing Flt3 ligand. The manipulated cells were reinfused into the patient after a 4-day in vitro transduction, and the regimen was repeated twice for each patient. As in the p47^{phox} study, oxidase-positive neutrophils were detected 3-4 weeks after each infusion, at a slightly higher frequency (0.06–0.2%). Nonetheless, the number of circulating gene-corrected neutrophils declined over time. Both of these studies suggest that marrow conditioning prior to infusion of transduced cells will be important for a higher level engraftment of corrected stem/progenitor cells, in addition to the development of more efficient gene transfer techniques for the transduction of human stem cells.

Conclusion

CGD is a promising candidate disease for the development of gene therapy targeted at marrow-derived cells. Based on clinical observations of female X-CGD carriers and on studies in murine CGD models, correction of respiratory burst oxidase activity in even as few as 10-20% of phagocytes is likely to be of some clinical benefit. Although even this degree of correction would be difficult to obtain with current approaches, improvements in transplant conditioning and vector design may permit the achievement of clinically relevant levels of corrected neutrophils for human CGD patients. The in vivo selection of transduced hematopoietic cells is another potential approach to increase the percentage of gene-corrected blood cells, as suggested by murine studies utilizing linked drug resistance markers such as the multidrug resistance (MDR) protein or dihydrofolate reductase [64-66]. In addition to the above findings which are specific for
CGD, insights into basic hematopoiesis and strategies for gene transfer into hematopoietic stem cells gained from these CGD studies will be applicable to many other aspects of stem cell transplantation and gene therapy of stem cell disorders.

References

- Curnutte J, Orkin S, Dinauer M: Genetic disorders of phagocyte function; in Stamoyannopoulos G (ed): The Molecular Basis of Blood Diseases, ed 2. Philadelphia, Saunders, 1994, pp 493–522.
- 2 Dinauer M: The phagocyte system and disorders of granulopoiesis and granulocyte function; in Nathan D, Orkin S (eds): Hematology of Infancy and Childhood, ed 5. Philadelphia, Saunders, 1998, vol 1, pp 889–967.
- 3 Winkelstein JA, Marino MC, Johnston RB Jr, Boyle J, Curnutte J, Gallin JI, Malech HL, Holland SM, Ochs H, Quie P, Buckley RH, Foster CB, Chanock SJ, Dickler H: Chronic granulomatous disease. Report on a national registry of 368 patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2000;79: 155–169.
- 4 Roos D, de Boer M, Kuribayashi F, Meischl C, Weening R, Segal A, Ahlin A, Nemet K, Hossle J, Bernatowska-Matuszkiewicz E, Middleton-Price H: Mutations in the X-linked and autosomal recessive forms of chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1996;87:1663–1681.
- 5 Babior B: NADPH oxidase: An update. Blood 1999;93:1464–1476.
- 6 Kamani N, August CS, Campbell DE, Hassan NF, Douglas SD: Marrow transplantation in chronic granulomatous disease: An update, with 6-year follow-up. J Pediatr 1988;113:697–700.
- 7 Hobbs J, Monteil M, McCluskey D, Jurges E, Tumi M: Chronic granulomatous disease 100% corrected by displacement bone marrow transplantation from a volunteer unrelated donor. Eur J Pediatr 1992;151:806–810.
- 8 Calvino M, Maldonado M, Otheo E, Munoz A, Couselo J, Burgaleta C: Bone marrow transplantation in chronic granulomatous disease. Eur J Pediatr 1996;155:877–879.
- 9 Ho C, Vowels M, Lockwood L, Ziegler J: Successful bone marrow transplantation in a child with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 1996;18:213–215.
- 10 Horwitz ME, Barrett AJ, Brown MR, Carter CS, Childs R, Gallin JI, Holland SM, Linton GF, Miller JA, Leitman SF, Read EJ, Malech HL: Treatment of chronic granulomatous disease with nonmyeloablative conditioning and a T-cell-depleted hematopoietic allograft. N Engl J Med 2001;344:881–888.
- 11 Weinberg K, Kohn D: Gene therapy for congenital immunodeficiency diseases. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 1996;16:453–476.
- 12 Mills E, Rholl K, Quie P: X-linked inheritance in females with chronic granulomatous disease. J Clin Invest 1980;66:332–340.

13 Johnston RI, Harbeck R, Johnston RI: Recurrent severe infection in a girl with apparently variable expression of mosaicism for chronic granulomatous disease. J Pediatr 1985;106:50– 55.

- 14 Woodman R, Teoh D, Johnston F, Rae J, Sim V, Urton T, Wright B, Curnutte J: X-linked carriers of gp^{91-phox} chronic granulomatous disease (CGD): Clinical and potential therapeutic implications of extreme unbalanced X chromosome inactivation (abstract). Blood 1995;86: 27.
- 15 Mardiney M, Jackson S, Spratt S, Li F, Holland S, Malech H: Enhanced host defense after gene transfer in the murine p47phox-deficient model of chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1997;89:2268–2275.
- 16 Bu-Ghanim H, Segal A, Keep N, Casimir C: Molecular analysis in three cases of X91⁻ variant chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1995;86:3575–3582.
- 17 Gallin J, Buescher E, Seligmann B, Nath J, Gaither T, Katz P: Recent advances in chronic granulomatous disease. Ann Intern Med 1983; 99:657–674.
- 18 Finn A, Hadzik N, Morgan G, Strobel S, Levinsky R: Prognosis of chronic granulomatous disease. Arch Dis Child 1990;65:942–945.
- 19 Curnutte JT: Molecular basis of the autosomal recessive forms of chronic granulomatous disease. Immunodefic Rev 1992;3:149–172.
- 20 Segal A: The NADPH oxidase and chronic granulomatous disease. Mol Med Today 1996; 2:129–135.
- 21 Morgenstern D, Gifford M, Li L, Doerschuk C, Dinauer M: Absence of respiratory burst in Xlinked chronic granulomatous disease mice leads to abnormalities in both host defense and inflammatory response to *Aspergillus fumigatus*. J Exp Med 1997;185:207–218.
- 22 Petersen JE, Hiran TS, Goebel WS, Johnson C, Murphy RC, Azmi FH, Hood AF, Travers JB, Dinauer MC: Enhanced cutaneous inflammatory reactions to *Aspergillus fumigatus* in a murine model of chronic granulomatous disease. J Invest Dermatol 2002;118:424–429.
- 23 Weening R, Kabel P, Pijman P, Roos D: Continuous therapy with sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim in patients with chronic granulomatous disease. J Pediatr 1983;103:127–130.
- 24 The International Chronic Granulomatous Disease Cooperative Study Group: A controlled trial of interferon gamma to prevent infection in chronic granulomatous disease. N Engl J Med 1991;324:509–516.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute P01 HL53586, and the Riley Memorial Association. The Wells Center for Pediatric Research is a Center for Excellence in Molecular Hematology funded by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (P50 DK 49218). W.S.G was a William Kennedy Fellow of the National Childhood Cancer Foundation.

- 25 Chin TW, Stiehm ER, Falloon J, Gallin JI: Corticosteroids in treatment of obstructive lesions of chronic granulomatous disease. J Pediatr 1987;111:349–352.
- 26 Weening R, Adriaansz L, Weemaes C, Lutter R, Roos D: Clinical differences in chronic granulomatous disease in patients with cytochrome *b*-negative or cytochrome *b*-positive neutrophils. J Pediatr 1985;107:102–104.
- 27 Williams D, Lemischka I, Nathan D, Mulligan R: Introduction of new genetic material into pluripotent stem cells of the mouse. Nature 1984;310:476–480.
- 28 Dunbar C: Gene transfer to hematopoietic stem cells: Implications for gene therapy of human disease. Annu Rev Med 1996;47:11– 20
- 29 Miller DG, Adam MA, Miller AD: Gene transfer by retrovirus vectors occurs only in cells that are actively replicating at the time of infection. Mol Cell Biol 1990;10:4239–4242.
- 30 Kume A, Hanazono Y, Mizukami H, Urabe M, Ozawa K: Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy: A current overview. Int J Hematol 1999;69: 227–233.
- 31 Kiem H, Andrews R, Morris J, Peterson L, Heyward S, Allen J, Rasko J, Potter J, Miller A: Improved gene transfer into baboon marrow repopulating cells using recombinant human fibronectin fragment CH-296 in combination with interleukin-6, stem cell factor, flt-3 ligand, and megakaryocyte growth and development factor. Blood 1998;92:1878–1886.
- 32 Moritz T, Patel V, Williams D: Bone marrow extracellular matrix molecules improve gene transfer in to human hematopoietic cells via retroviral vectors. J Clin Invest 1994;93:1451– 1457.
- 33 Wu T, Sellers S, Kim H, Agricola B, Metzger M, Donahue R, Dunbar C, Tisdale J: The use of cytokines active on primitive hematopoietic cells and stromal or fibronectin support during transduction improves stable retroviral gene transfer into primate CD34+ hematopoietic cells to clinically relevant levels (abstract). Blood 1998;92:689.
- 34 Hanenberg H, Ziag X, Dilloo D, Hashino K, Kato I, Williams D: Colocalization of retrovirus and target cells on specific fibronectin fragments increases genetic transduction of mammalian cells. Nat Med 1996;2:876–882.

- 35 Kelly PF, Vandergriff J, Nathwani A, Nienhuis AW, Vanin EF: Highly efficient gene transfer into cord blood nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency repopulating cells by oncoretroviral vector particles pseudotyped with the feline endogenous retrovirus (RD114) envelope protein. Blood 2000;96:1206–1214.
- 36 Miyoshi H, Smith KA, Mosier DE, Verma IM, Torbett BE: Transduction of human CD34+ cells that mediate long-term engraftment of NOD/SCID mice by HIV vectors. Science 1999;283:682–686.
- 37 Guenechea G, Gan OI, Inamitsu T, Dorrell C, Pereira DS, Kelly M, Naldini L, Dick JE: Transduction of human CD34+ CD38- bone marrow and cord blood-derived SCID-repopulating cells with third-generation lentiviral vectors. Mol Ther 2000;1:566–573.
- 38 Rosenzweig M, MacVittie TJ, Harper D, Hempel D, Glickman RL, Johnson RP, Farese AM, Whiting-Theobald N, Linton GF, Yamasaki G, Jordan CT, Malech HL: Efficient and durable gene marking of hematopoietic progenitor cells in nonhuman primates after nonablative conditioning. Blood 1999;94:2271–2286.
- 39 Huhn RD, Tisdale JF, Agricola B, Metzger ME, Donahue RE, Dunbar CE: Retroviral marking and transplantation of rhesus hematopoietic cells by nonmyeloablative conditioning. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:1783–1790.
- 40 Volpp B, Lin Y: In vitro molecular reconstitution of the respiratory burst in B lymphoblasts from p47-*phox*-deficient chronic granulomatous disease. J Clin Invest 1993;91:201–207.
- 41 Maly F, Schuerer-Maly C, Quilliam L, Gifford M, Newburger P, Cochrane C, Dinauer M: Restitution of superoxide generation in autosomal cytochrome-negative chronic granulomatous disease (CGD)-derived B lymphocyte cell lines by transfection with an expression vector containing a p22^{phox} cdna. J Exp Med 1993; 178:2047–2053.
- 42 Porter C, Parker M, Levinsky R, Collins M, Kinnon C: X-linked chronic granulomatous disease: Correction of NADPH oxidase defect by retrovirus-mediated expression of gp91*phox*. Blood 1993;82:2196–2202.
- 43 Sekhsaria S, Gallin J, Linton G, Mallory R, Mulligan R, Malech H: Peripheral blood progenitors as a target for genetic correction of p47^{phox}-deficient chronic granulomatous disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:7446– 7450.
- 44 Li F, Linton G, Sekhsaria S, Whiting-Theobald N, Katkin J, Gallin J, Malech H: CD34+ peripheral blood progenitors as a target for genetic correction of the two flavocytochrome b₅₅₈ defective forms of chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1994;84:53–58.
- 45 Chanock S, Faust L, Barrett D, Christensen B, Newburger P, Babior B: Partial reconstitution of the respiratory burst oxidase in lymphoblastoid B cell lines lacking p67-phox after transfection with an expression vector containing wildtype and mutant p67-phox cdnas: Deletions of the carboxy and amino terminal residues of p67-phox are not required for activity. Exp Hematol 1996;24:531–536.

- 46 Iwata M, Nunoi H, Matsuda I, Kanegasaki S, Tsuruo T, Sugimoto Y: Drug-selected complete restoration of superoxide generation in Epstein-Barr virus-transformed B cells from p47phox-deficient chronic granulomatous disease patients by using a bicistronic retrovirus vector encoding a human multi-drug resistance gene (MDR1) and the p47phox gene. Hum Genet 1998;103:419–423.
- 47 Zhen L, King A, Xiao Y, Chanock S, Orkin S, Dinauer M: Gene targeting of X-linked chronic granulomatous disease locus in a human myeloid leukemia cell line and rescue by expression of recombinant gp91^{phox}. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:9832–9836.
- 48 Kume A, Dinauer M: Retrovirus-mediated reconstitution of respiratory burst activity in Xlinked chronic granulomatous disease cells. Blood 1994;84:3311–3316.
- 49 Ding C, Kume A, Bjorgvinsdottir H, Hawley R, Pech N, Dinauer M: High level reconstitution of respiratory burst activity in human Xlinked chronic granulomatous disease (X-CGD) cell line and correction of murine X-CGD bone marrow cells by retroviral-mediated gene transfer of human gp91^{phox}. Blood 1996;88:1834–1840.
- 50 Becker S, Wasser S, Hauses M, Hossle J, Ott M, Dinauer M, Ganser A, Hoelzer D, Seger R, Grez M: Correction of respiratory burst activity in X-linked chronic granulomatous cells to therapeutically relevant levels after gene transfer into bone marrow CD34+ cells. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:1561–1570.
- 51 Porter C, Parkar M, Collins M, Levinsky R, Kinnon C: Efficient retroviral transduction of human bone marrow progenitor and long-term culture-initiating cells: Partial reconstitution of cells from patients with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease by gp91-*phox* expression. Blood 1996;87:3722–3730.
- 52 Weil W, Linton G, Whiting-Theobald N, Vowells S, Rafferty S, Li F, Malech H: Genetic correlation of p67phox deficient chronic granulomatous disease using peripheral blood progenitor cells as a target for retrovirus mediated gene transfer. Blood 1997;89:1754–1761.
- 53 Grez M, Becker S, Saulnier S, Knoss H, Ott MG, Maurer A, Dinauer MC, Hoelzer D, Seger R, Hossle JP: Gene therapy of chronic granulomatous disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;25(suppl 2):S99–S104.
- 54 Saulnier SO, Steinhoff D, Dinauer MC, Zufferey R, Trono D, Seger RA, Hossle JP: Lentivirus-mediated gene transfer of gp91phox corrects chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) phenotype in human X-CGD cells. J Gene Med 2000;2:317–325.
- 55 Roesler J, Brenner S, Bukovsky AA, Whiting-Theobald N, Dull T, Kelly M, Civin CI, Malech HL: Third-generation, self-inactivating gp91(phox) lentivector corrects the oxidase defect in NOD/SCID mouse-repopulating peripheral blood- mobilized CD34+ cells from patients with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 2002;100:4381–4390.

- 56 Bjorgvinsdottir H, Ding C, Pech N, Gifford M, Li L, Dinauer M: Retroviral-mediated gene transfer of gp91phox into bone marrow cells rescues in host defense against *Aspergillus fumigatus* in murine X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1997;89:41–48.
- 57 Dinauer M, Li L, Bjorgvinsdottir H, Ding C, Pech N: Long-term correction of phagocyte NADPH oxidase activity by retroviral-mediated gene transfer in murine X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 1999;94: 914–922.
- 58 Grez M, Akgun E, Hilberg F, Ostertag W: Embryonic stem cell virus, a recombinant murine retrovirus with expression in embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990;87:9202– 9206.
- 59 Hawley R, Lieu F, Fong A, Hawley T: Versatile retroviral vectors for potential use in gene therapy. Gene Ther 1994;1:136–138.
- 60 Dinauer MC, Gifford MA, Pech N, Li LL, Emshwiller P: Variable correction of host defense following gene transfer and bone marrow transplantation in murine X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Blood 2001;97:3738– 3745.
- 61 Goebel WS, Pech N, Dinauer MC: Donor chimerism and gene correction with low dose irradiation and retroviral-mediated gene transfer (RMGT) in murine X-linked chronic granulomatous disease (X-CGD). Exp Hematol 2000; 28:1499–1500.
- 62 Malech HL, Maples PB, Whiting-Theobald N, Linton GF, Sekhsaria S, Vowells SJ, Li F, Miller JA, DeCarlo E, Holland SM, Leitman SF, Carter CS, Butz RE, Read EJ, Fleisher TA, Schneiderman RD, Van Epps DE, Spratt SK, Maack CA, Rokovich JA, Cohen LK, Gallin JI: Prolonged production of NADPH oxidase-corrected granulocytes after gene therapy of chronic granulomatous disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:12133–12138.
- 63 Malech H, Horwitz M, Linton G, Theobald-Whiting N, Brown M, Farrell C, Butz R, Carter C, DeCarlo E, Miller J, Van Epps D, Read E, Fleisher T: Extended production of oxidase normal neutrophils in X-linked chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) following gene therapy with gp91phox transduced cd34+ cells (abstract). Blood 1998;92:690.
- 64 Sorrentino B, McDonagh K, Woods D, Orlic D: Expression of retroviral vectors containing the human multidrug resistance 1 cDNA in hematopoietic cells of transplanted mice. Blood 1995;86:491–501.
- 65 James R, May C, Vagt M, Studebaker R, McIvor R: Transgenic mice expressing the tyr22 variant of murine DHFR: Protection of transgenic marrow transplant recipients from lethal doses of methotrexate. Exp Hematol 1997;25: 1286–1295.
- 66 Allay J, Persons D, Galipeau J, Riberdy J, Ashmun R, Blakley R, Sorrentino B: In vivo selection of retrovirally transduced hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med 1998;4:1136–1143.



Acta Haematol 2003;110:93–106 DOI: 10.1159/000072458

Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes

Michael Flasshove Thomas Moritz Walter Bardenheuer Siegfried Seeber

Department of Internal Medicine (Cancer Research), West German Cancer Center, University of Essen Medical School, Essen, Germany

Key Words

Gene therapy · Hematopoietic stem cells · Drug resistance · Retroviral vector

Abstract

Myelosuppression represents a major side effect of cytotoxic anti-cancer agents. Infection due to granulocytopenia and the risk of bleeding due to thrombocytopenia compromise the potential of curative and palliative chemotherapy. Considering the many chemotherapeutic agents for which drug resistance genes have been described, and the recent improvements in vector and transduction technology, it seems conceivable that drug resistance gene transfer into a patient's autologous hematopoietic stem or progenitor cells will be able to reduce or abolish chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Treatment of malignant tumors usually combines several modalities such as irradiation, surgery, and systemic chemotherapy. For hematological malignancies, lymphoma and leukemia, chemotherapy represents the mainstay

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0093\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha of treatment. Solid tumors often require chemotherapy with curative or palliative intention, especially in more advanced stages. For these malignancies, dose-intensified or high-dose chemotherapy as a therapeutic option has been under investigation for the last decade. Results from randomized studies suggest that patients with advanced multiple myeloma [1] and relapsed high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [2] should be offered high-dose chemotherapy. Moreover, patients with advanced or refractory/ relapsed germ cell tumors seem to benefit from high-dose chemotherapy [3, 4]. For several other entities, such as breast cancer, the role of high-dose chemotherapy has yet to be defined [5].

Since chemotherapeutic drugs do not exclusively affect malignant cells, toxicity to normal tissue resulting in debilitating or life-threatening loss of organ function limits the dosage of these substances. Although the dose-limiting toxicity varies from drug to drug and can involve nearly all organs, myelotoxicity entailing neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, and anemia usually represents the most dominant clinical problem. Myelosuppression may even prevent the application of adequate doses of chemotherapy, leading to lower remission rates and shorter survival in treatment protocols with curative or palliative intention. A transplantable population of hematopoietic progenitor cells, rendered resistant to chemotherapeutic drugs ex vivo, might help to circumvent this problem.

Priv.-Doz. Dr. Michael Flasshove

Department of Internal Medicine (Cancer Research)

West German Cancer Center, University of Essen Medical School Hufelandstrasse 55, DE-45122 Essen (Germany)

Tel. +49 201 723 3116, Fax +49 201 723 2178, E-Mail michael.flasshove@uni-essen.de



Fig. 1. Principle of hematopoietic cell gene therapy. For details see text.

Fig. 2. The human hematopoietic compartment. BMT = Bone marrow transplantation; PBSCT = peripheral blood stem cell transplantation; NOD/SCID = nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient; LTC-IC = long-term culture-initiating cells; CFU = colony-forming unit; CFU-GEMM = colony-forming unit-granulocyte erythroid megakaryocyte macrophage; CFU-GM = colony-forming unit-granulocyte macrophage; BFU-E = burst-forming unit-erythroid.

As many prerequisites for such a concept are available right now, future clinical trials should be able to prove the feasibility of this approach. Figure 1 schematically depicts the clinical concept that is based upon the (i) mobilization of bone marrow-residing hematopoietic progenitor and stem cells into the peripheral blood of patients after application of chemotherapy and hematopoietic growth factors and the collection of these cells via standard leukapheresis procedures; (ii) ex vivo manipulation of these hematopoietic cells, and finally (iii) autologous retransplantation followed by application of dose-intensive and myelosuppressive chemotherapy. It is conceivable that such an approach can target different subpopulations of the hema-

topoietic compartment. As shown in figure 2, human hematopoiesis is characterized by a hierarchical order from pluripotent stem cells to determined progenitor cells and, finally, the most mature peripheral blood cells.

A major goal of hematopoietic cell gene therapy has always been the modification of true long-term repopulating stem cells, and this is probably a prerequisite for the treatment of monogenetic disorders. Therefore, the successful transfer of the gene correcting X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency syndrome into pluripotent hematopoietic cells has been a milestone for the clinical development of this technology [6]. For the purpose of hematoprotection from cytotoxic drugs two approaches

Table 1. Chemotherapy resistance genes

Gene	Resistance ¹	Mechanism	References ¹
Multidrug-resistance gene 1	Anthracyclines, vinca alkaloids, taxanes, etoposide	Transmembrane drug efflux pump	58, 60 62–65
Multidrug-resistance-associated protein	Anthracyclines	Transmembrane drug efflux pump	87
hENT2 nucleoside transporter	Trimetrexate, tomudex and NBMPR ²	NBMPR insensitive nucleoside transporter	53
Dihydrofolate reductase	Methotrexate, trimetrexate	Mutant form is not inhibited by drug	8, 25, 32, 40
Cytidine deaminase	Cytosine arabinoside, gemcitabine	Intracellular detoxification	35, 97, 98
Aldehyde dehydrogenase	Cyclophosphamide	Intracellular detoxification	36, 133
Glutathione S-transferase	Cyclophosphamide, anthracyclines	Intracellular detoxification	138, 139
Thymidylate synthase	5-Fluorouracil, tomudex	Mutant form is not inhibited by drug, expression of humanized <i>E. coli</i> enzyme	54–56
γ-Glutamylcysteine synthetase and MRP1 ³	Anthracyclines, melphalan	Intracellular detoxification and transmembrane drug efflux pump	88
O ⁶ -Methylguanine DNA methyl- transferase	Chloroethylnitrosoureas	Repairs O ⁶ adducts of the DNA	103–105
apn l	Bleomycin	Repairs bleomycin-induced DNA damage	121
Formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylase or oxoguanine DNA glycosylase	Thiotepa	Repairs Fapy lesions of DNA	122

NBMPR = Nitrobenzylmercaptopurine riboside; apn1 = major yeast AP (apurinic/apyrimidinic) endonuclease; MRP1 = multidrug-resistance-associated protein-1.

¹ Chemotherapeutic drugs and references listed are confined to data for hematopoietic cells.

² Either trimetrexate or tomudex were given in combination with NBMPR.

³ Experiments were performed with a vector encoding both cDNAs.

may be successful. On the one hand, the transfer of chemotherapy resistance genes into true stem cells would guarantee long-lived expression in all progeny. However, there are still technical problems associated with this approach. On the other hand, expression of these genes in a more determined progenitor cell population, such as colony-forming units (CFU) or pre-CFU (fig. 2), which seems to be feasible with current technology, should also result in a sufficient number of transplantable drug-resistant progenitor cells. These cells may supply enough differentiated peripheral blood cells to protect the hematopoietic system during chemotherapy.

The transfer of exogenous genetic material into primary human hematopoietic cells can be achieved with different viral vector systems. After the first stable transgene expression in murine and human hematopoietic cells was reported in the mid 1980s [7–12], most preclinical and clinical work has been done with retroviral vectors. This technology has recently been reviewed [13]. Several generations of safety-modified vectors derived from (onco-) retroviruses have been published, the most successful ones using sequences from Moloney murine leukemia virus (MMLV) [14, 15] or spleen focus-forming virus (SFFV) [16]. More recently, promising constructs on the basis of lentiviruses such as HIV have been reported and might help to overcome some of the problems unsolved by conventional retroviral vectors, e.g. the low transduction efficiency for quiescent stem cells [17, 18].

So far, numerous genes have been identified, which are capable of conferring resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs after transfer into human or murine cells. Table 1 comprises only those genes, whose expression has been shown to result in increased resistance in cells of the hematopoietic compartment. They can roughly be divided into 3 subgroups according to the mechanism that is responsible for the drug resistance: (i) genes encoding

Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes

membrane-bound proteins functioning as efflux pumps for cytotoxic drugs, such as the multidrug-resistance gene 1 (MDR1); (ii) genes encoding cytoplasmatic proteins that are involved in the intracellular activity or metabolism of cytotoxic drugs, such as mutant forms of dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) or cytidine deaminase (CDD), and (iii) genes encoding nuclear proteins with the ability to repair the DNA damage caused by cytotoxic drugs, such as O⁶methylguanine DNA methyltransferase (MGMT). Some of these genes act by (over-)expression of the wild-type protein in the respective target cells, such as MDR1 or CDD. Others encode mutant proteins not affected by the respective cytotoxic drug, such as DHFR. Certainly, there are more candidate genes suitable for hematoprotection than those listed in table 1, but this review will focus on the genes already established to confer resistance to human or murine hematopoietic cells.

Dihydrofolate Reductase

DHFR is a critical enzyme of the intracellular folate metabolism catalyzing the reduction of dihydrofolates to tetrahydrofolates, which are essential for thymidilate and purine synthesis [19]. The basic principle of chemotherapy resistance conferred by the DHFR gene consists in the use of mutant forms (DHFR^{mut}), which still exhibit their enzymatic function but will be inhibited by methotrexate (MTX) or related compounds such as trimetrexate (TMTX) to a much lesser degree than the wild-type enzyme [20-22]. The most widely used singlepoint mutations have been the leucine \rightarrow arginine substitution at codon 22 (DHFRArg22) and the phenylalanine \rightarrow serine substitution at codon 31 (DHFR^{Ser31}) of the DHFR cDNA. More recently, double-point mutations have been cloned which show a much higher ability to confer MTX resistance [23, 24]. DHFR^{mut} has been the first drug-resistance gene used for retrovirally mediated gene transfer into murine hematopoietic cells [8, 25], and increased MTX resistance after retroviral expression of DHFR^{mut} has been reported for committed progenitor cells of murine, canine, and human origin [8, 25-27]. Transfer of the DHFR^{Ser31} into transplantable murine progenitor cells resulted in protection from MTX toxicity in a mouse in vivo model [28, 29]. Moreover, transplantation of DHFR^{Ser31}-transduced murine bone marrow cells into mice bearing a pre-established mammary tumor allowed a curative MTX treatment, which was lethal to the control mice [30]. The same retroviral construct conferred MTX resistance to primary human hematopoietic cells isolated from peripheral blood and umbilical cord blood [31, 32].

In contrast to other cytotoxic drugs, myelosuppression is not the critical toxicity following antifolate single-agent therapy. Nevertheless, MTX may significantly contribute to the myelotoxicity of combination chemotherapy regimens and the myeloprotective effect of the combined expression of DHFR^{mut} with other drug-resistance genes, in particular MDR1, CDD, and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) is presently investigated [33–36]. Moreover, DHFR^{mut} gene transfer may be utilized for allogeneic stem cell transplantation. In this situation, antifolates used for prophylaxis of graft-versus-host disease, are particularly hematotoxic and frequently delay hematopoietic reconstitution [37].

Transfer of DHFR^{mut} may not only be useful in MTXcontaining chemotherapy regimens, but also to select for successfully transduced cells, which coexpress a second gene of interest. Especially, gene transfer for the correction of monogenetic hematological diseases may require such an approach to achieve therapeutic efficiency. The application of MTX or TMTX has been demonstrated to allow enrichment of DHFR^{mut}-transduced cells in vitro or in vivo in a mouse transplant model [38-41]. Successful in vitro selection has also been described for hematopoietic cells of human origin [31, 32, 42, 43]. One has to keep in mind though, that in vitro and in vivo selection procedures up to now require the inhibition of the cellular thymidine uptake from serum as a potential salvage mechanism from MTX-induced toxicity. This can be achieved in vitro by using dialyzed serum [25], serum-free media [41], or pretreatment of the serum with thymidine phosphorylase [27], but these techniques cannot be applied in vivo. So far, it is unknown how much the thymidine concentration in human plasma, which is in the order of $2 \times$ 10^{-7} mol/l [44] and, therefore, lower than the concentration necessary for complete inhibition of MTX toxicity [45], could influence the in vivo drug resistance and selectibility of DHFR^{mut}-transduced human hematopoietic cells. The simultaneous application of nucleoside transport inhibitors, such as dipyridamole or NBMPR, may circumvent the salvage thymidine uptake from serum in vivo, but this approach has only been used in the murine system thus far [39, 40, 46]. Another question yet to be answered relates to the subpopulation of hematopoietic cells which is sensitive to MTX. Here, at least for the murine hematopoietic compartment, conflicting data have been reported. Blau et al. [47] described MTX toxicity only at the level of more differentiated nonclonogenic progenitor cells, while Allay et al. [46] demonstrated successful in vivo selection of DHFR^{mut}-expressing repopulating stem cells when administering MTX in combination with NBMPR in mice.

Thus, several issues have to be addressed before clinical studies with DHFR^{mut} will be feasible. Whereas in the murine system convincing data for the protection of hematopoietic cells from MTX toxicity have been reported by several groups over the past years including in vivo transplantation studies [25, 29, 30, 46, 48], data on human hematopoietic cells have been limited to in vitro experiments and the level of transferred MTX resistance was only modest [31, 32, 36, 41, 43, 49]. The degree of MTX resistance could be increased by using double-point instead of single-point mutated DHFR cDNA, an observation initially described for fibroblasts [23] and murine bone marrow cells [24]. More recently, these data have been confirmed for human hematopoietic progenitor cells from peripheral blood, bone marrow, and umbilical cord blood, and protection against concentrations of up to 10⁻⁵ mol/l MTX as well as successful selection could be achieved [42, 50]. These improved results reflect the use of double-point mutated DHFR in combination with more effective retroviral backbones and are encouraging with respect to the performance of future clinical trials. Moreover, coexpression of DHFR^{mut} together with enzymes involved in thymidine or purine salvage pathways such as herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase or xanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase may even potentiate the level of MTX resistance conferred to successfully targeted hematopoietic cells [51, 52].

Nucleoside Transporter

Another strategy to transfer drug resistance, closely related to the DHFR metabolism and the nucleotide salvage pathways, has recently been published by Patel et al. [53]. Several membrane-spanning nucleoside transporter molecules are known to salvage extracellular nucleosides, thereby circumventing antifolate-induced toxicity. In humans, high expression of the es nucleoside transporter has been found in normal tissue as well as in tumor cells. In contrast, the ei nucleoside transporter seems to be present only at low levels in human cells. Since NBMPR is a potent inhibitor of the es but not of the ei nucleoside transporter, retroviral transduction of hematopoietic cells with the *ei* gene followed by combined treatment with an antifolate and NBMPR (potentially highly cytotoxic to only es expressing cells) resulted in significant hematoprotection in vitro and in vivo in a mouse model [53]. Given

Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes

these data, it might also be interesting to combine the transfer of the ei transporter with the DHFR^{mut}.

Thymidylate Synthase

A similar approach as chosen for imparting MTX resistance on hematopoietic cells (the use of a mutant protein) has also been applied to generate resistance to drugs exhibiting their cytotoxic effect through inhibition of the enzyme thymidylate synthase (TS) [19]. Several mutants of TS have been described, whose transfer increases cellular resistance to 5-fluoro-2-deoxyuridine, raltitrexed, thymitaq, or BW1843U89 and may be useful for hematoprotection [54, 55]. Alternatively, *Escherichia coli* TS, which seems to be more active than human TS, with codons optimized for expression in mammalian cells has been used for transduction [56]. However, data reported so far for TS gene transfer to hematopoietic cells have been limited to in vitro experiments.

Multidrug-Resistance Gene 1

The MDR1 gene encodes the P-glycoprotein, a drug efflux pump localized in the cell membrane and removing cytotoxic drugs such as anthracyclines, vinca alkaloids, and taxanes from the cytoplasm. Therefore, elevated expression of MDR1 in cancer cells is correlated with increased drug resistance. The potential therapeutic application of this gene is based on the observation that transduction of cell lines with a retroviral vector encoding MDR1 resulted in a drug-resistant phenotype [57]. Successful transduction with MDR1-encoding vectors has also been demonstrated in hematopoietic cells leading to increased resistance against cytotoxic drugs [58-65]. Moreover, transfer of MDR1 into transplantable murine hematopoietic cells allowed successful in vivo selection of the transplanted cells in the recipient mice [58]. However, splice variants of the MDR1 cDNA reducing the amount of functional protein expressed from several retroviral vectors have been identified as a potential problem [66, 67], and improved expression of MDR1 has been observed after gene transfer of splice-corrected MDR1 cDNA [34, 68]. Retroviral vectors based on a spleen focus-forming virus/murine embryonic stem cell virus hybrid seem to improve the expression of MDR1 in human hematopoietic cells [16, 60, 68]. Use of these vectors resulted in successful gene transfer of human peripheral blood progenitor cells capable of long-term repopula-

Acta Haematol 2003;110:93-106

tion after transplantation into nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient (NOD/SCID) mice [68, 69].

As discussed for the use of DHFR^{mut}, the MDR1 cDNA may potentially serve as a selection marker that allows in vitro or in vivo selection of successfully transduced cells. This has been shown for murine as well as human hematopoietic cells [58, 62, 70]. Thus far, it is unclear whether selection with MDR1-associated cytotoxic drugs will ultimately result in a selection of true human hematopoietic stem cells or will be confined to hematopoietic progenitor cells, because a high endogenous MDR1 expression has been described for undifferentiated hematopoietic progenitor/stem cell populations, including SCID-repopulating cells [71, 72]. Moreover, in contrast to DHFR^{mut} gene transfer in combination with MTX treatment, the pronounced nonhematopoietic side effects of MDR1-associated drugs, such as cardio- and neurotoxicity, have to be taken into consideration for such a clinical approach.

Clinical Trials

Several clinical trials using MDR1-encoding vectors have been reported. In all studies autologous peripheral blood or bone marrow cells were retransplanted after ex vivo retroviral transduction into patients with breast cancer, ovarian cancer, lymphoma, or germ cell tumors [73-79]. Some clinical trials used a Harvey murine sarcoma virus (HaMSV)-based vector [74, 76, 79], others used MMLV-based constructs [73, 75, 77, 78]. In general, these trials have met with little success. Nevertheless, one study reported a correlation between the relative number of MDR1-containing granulocytes and the granulocyte nadir after paclitaxel treatment despite a low level of engraftment of MDR1-positive cells [73]. Another trial observed the expansion of MDR1-transduced hematopoietic cells (estimated by the presence of proviral DNA in peripheral blood granulocytes) after treatment with MDR1-associated drugs [77]. More encouraging results have recently been reported by Abonour et al. [79] from a clinical study in patients with germ cell tumor. An optimized transduction protocol making use of the matrix molecule fibronectin enabled increased transfer efficiency into undifferentiated hematopoietic cells, and resulted in persistent marking of hematopoietic cells at considerable levels for more than a year after transplantation [79]. The level of expression was obviously limited by a high rate of aberrant splicing of the MDR1 gene, as already known for the HaMSV vector used in this study [66].

Thus, clinical trials so far have only shown the feasibility of the ex vivo manipulation required for the genetic modification of peripheral blood stem cells. The feasibility and safety of the transplantation of MDR1-transduced cells will only be proven when, in fact, the transfer efficiency and the level of expression of the transgene MDR1 is high enough to protect against chemotherapy-induced myelotoxicity. Considering safety issues one has to keep in mind that vectors expressing MDR1 at a high level have caused a so-called 'myeloproliferative syndrome' in mice after transplantation of transduced and ex vivo expanded hematopoietic cells [80]. Another observation is the increased number of 'side population' stem cells in the murine hematopoietic compartment after MDR1 gene transfer into murine bone marrow cells [81], indicating a profound effect on the hematopoietic stem cell compartment at least in mice. These observations may be limited to specific types of retroviral vectors, such as HaMSV-based vectors, but the issue certainly needs further evaluation with respect to future clinical trials.

Hopefully, new retroviral vectors [16], reduced aberrant splicing by correction of internal splice sites [34], and optimized clinical-scale transduction protocols [82] will enable the performance of meaningful clinical studies of MDR1 gene transfer to answer the question of clinical benefit for the patient in the near future.

Multidrug-Resistance-Associated Protein

The multidrug-resistance-associated protein (MRP) is a member of the ATP-binding cassette transporter superfamily and a transmembrane efflux transporter similar to P-glycoprotein/MDR1 [83]. The detoxifying function of MRP depends on the presence of glutathione [84]. The phenotype of MRP-expressing cells is slightly different from MDR1-positive cells and comprises resistance to anthracyclines, vinca alkaloids and epipodophyllotoxins, but not taxanes [85]. Increased resistance against doxorubicin, vincristine, and etoposide has been reported for retrovirally transduced NIH 3T3 fibroblasts [86]. Successful transduction of long-term repopulating cells in a murine transplantation model mitigated the doxorubicininduced leukopenia of MRP-positive mice [87]. Confirming evidence for the hematoprotective effect of MRP gene transfer came from more recent studies which revealed efficient transduction of murine hematopoietic colonyforming cells with a vector coexpressing γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase (γ -GCS) and MRP resulting in resistance to etoposide and melphalan [88].

Cytidine Deaminase

The potential role of the CDD as a drug-resistance gene was derived from the metabolism of the pyrimidine analog cytosine arabinoside (ara-C). CDD deaminates cytosine nucleosides and their analogs, such as ara-C, preventing the accumulation of intracellular ara-CTP, the active metabolite of ara-C [89]. Ara-C together with anthracyclines is the most active drug for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia and is effective in combination chemotherapy for acute lymphocytic leukemia and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Low-dose as well as high-dose ara-C schedules result in severe and life-threatening myelosuppression. Increased resistance to ara-C has initially been observed in human myeloblasts and cell lines overexpressing CDD [90, 91]. With the cloning of a functional cDNA of the CDD [92, 93] the analysis of targeted (over)expression in specific cell types became possible. Consequently, stable transfection of the CDD in murine fibroblast cell lines was demonstrated to result in increased resistance to ara-C [94, 95]. Retroviral transduction of the CDD cDNA was also applied to increase ara-C resistance in hematopoietic cell lines [96]. So far, 3 groups have reported increased ara-C resistance after retrovirally mediated transduction of primary murine bone marrow cells [35, 97, 98]. While 2 investigators found only modest levels of ara-C resistance [35, 97], the degree of ara-C resistance observed by Momparler et al. [98] was much more pronounced and was confirmed later by the same group in an in vivo mouse transplant model [99]. More recently, Beauséjour et al. [100] observed that transfer of CDD into murine bone marrow cells would allow enrichment of successfully transduced cells.

Thus far, data for the successful transduction of primary human hematopoietic cells are missing, although human CD34+ cells seem to have low CDD enzymatic activity [95], rendering them an excellent target cell population for this approach. In this context, the observation of Gran et al. [101] may be of importance. They reported growth inhibition of murine and human granulocyte-macrophage colony-forming cells when cultured in the presence of recombinant human CDD protein [101]. Thus, in clonogenic progenitor cells overexpressing CDD a potential inhibitory effect might compensate for the anticipated growth advantage in the presence of ara-C. One has to keep in mind, though, that the effect observed by Gran et al. [101] was dependent on the presence of 10^{-4} mol/l thymidine, a concentration much higher than the 2×10^{-7} mol/l thymidine usually present in human plasma [44].

Data on primary human cells have to be awaited before the potential clinical benefit of CDD gene transfer can be defined. Moreover, the clinical scenario involving autologous transplantation of genetically modified cells, as envisioned for other drug-resistance genes, may not be applicable to CDD, at least for ara-C-containing chemotherapy protocols. Leukemias and lymphomas, usually treated with ara-C, are at high risk for minimal residual disease in bone marrow or peripheral blood. Thus, accidental transduction of malignant cells cannot be ruled out and may jeopardize a safe autologous retransplantation of transduced cells into the patient. However, Eliopoulos et al. [102] reported increased drug resistance after CDD gene transfer not only for ara-C, but also for other cytosine nucleoside analogs, such as 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine and 2',2'-difluorodeoxycytidine (dFdC; gemcitabine). Especially dFdC has become an important first-line or secondline chemotherapeutic drug for many malignancies including lung cancer and pancreatic cancer, with myelotoxicity as a side effect often requiring dose reduction in palliative treatment concepts.

O⁶-Methylguanine DNA Methyltransferase

MGMT belongs to the group of DNA repair proteins and has been evaluated as a candidate for a clinical approach of transferring drug resistance to hematopoietic cells [103-105]. While other DNA repair pathways involve the concerted action of multiple proteins, repair by MGMT is a one-step mechanism in which the damaging alkyl group at the O⁶ position of guanine is transferred to a cysteine residue within the acceptor pocket of the MGMT protein [106]. Bone marrow cells including the CD34+ subpopulation show very low MGMT activity as compared with other human tissues [107, 108], which might explain the profound hematotoxicity of O⁶-alkylating agents. The feasibility of hematoprotection by MGMT overexpression has first been shown for wild-type MGMT [104, 105, 109, 110], but the increase in chemotherapy resistance was only moderate and selection of transduced cells in in vivo transplantation models was not satisfying [103, 111]. A number of benzylguanine (BG)-resistant forms of MGMT have been evaluated for their potential to protect hematopoietic cells from the toxicity of combined BG/O⁶-alkylating agent application. BG is a guanine analog, which binds to the catalytic center of MGMT and causes irreversible inactivation of the protein [112]. It has been used in clinical phase-I studies to deplete MGMT-overexpressing tumors of O⁶-alkyl repair activi-

Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes

ty, thereby increasing the cytotoxic effect of O⁶-alkylating agents such as 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) [113]. BG-resistant forms of MGMT include the bacterial ada gene, as well as a number of single amino acid mutations of the human MGMT gene, such as P140A, G156A, or P140K. Retrovirally mediated expression of MGMT mutants has been used to protect primary murine and human hematopoietic cells in vitro [114, 115], and murine bone marrow in an in vivo transplantation model [116, 117]. In particular, use of the P140K mutant, which in comparison to wild-type MGMT is characterized by a more than 1,000-fold increased resistance to BG, has been promising. The transfer of this mutant allowed selection of transduced murine bone marrow cells in vivo in primary as well as secondary recipients of transduced bone marrow, indicating that selection occurred even at the level of stem cells [117, 118].

One major representative of O⁶-alkylating agents is BCNU, which is effective in the treatment of brain tumors. Moreover, it has therapeutic activity in small-cell lung cancer and lymphoma. Since severe pulmonary fibrosis has been described as a dose-limiting side effect of BCNU therapy, in particular at high doses [119], other O⁶-alkylating agents, such as the chloroethylnitrosoureatype compounds, CCNU and ACNU, or the hydrazine and triazene derivatives, procarbazine, temozolomide, and dacarbazine, may be even more promising for this clinical approach. In addition to the clinical applications already mentioned, triazene-type drugs also show cytotoxic activity in malignant melanoma and soft tissue sarcoma. After retroviral transduction of hematopoietic progenitor cells with wild-type MGMT, drug resistance against several of these drugs, such as CCNU, BCNU, ACNU and, at a lower level, also against temozolomide has been demonstrated [120]. Thus, transfer of MGMT might ultimately be used to increase resistance against a variety of different cytotoxic compounds useful for the curative or palliative treatment of many types of cancer.

Other Chemotherapy-Resistance Genes of the DNA Repair Systems

In addition to the MGMT, several other candidate chemoresistance genes involved in DNA repair have been described, which need further exploration in primary hematopoietic cells (table 1). Apn1 is the major yeast apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) endonuclease in the DNA base excision repair pathway, and retrovirally mediated apn1 expression seems to protect murine bone marrow in vitro and in vivo from bleomycin-induced toxicity [121]. Other proteins involved in base excision repair – the bacterial formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylase (fpg) and its human functional equivalent oxoguanine DNA glycosylase (OGG1) – have been shown to confer resistance to thiotepa after retroviral gene transfer into murine bone marrow cells in vitro. Moreover, fpg gene transfer resulted in increased resistance to thiotepa and allowed successful selection of transduced hematopoietic cells in a murine in vivo model [122].

Aldehyde Dehydrogenase

The class-1 and class-3 ALDHs have been linked to the inactivation of cyclophosphamide. Cyclophosphamide is metabolized in the liver by cytochrome P-450 enzymes to its active compounds, the first being 4-hydroxycyclophosphamide and its open-ring tautomer, aldophosphamide. Mafosfamide and 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide are stabilized precursors converted to the active compound 4hydroxycyclophosphamide in aqueous solution and, therefore, suitable for in vitro application [123, 124]. The human ALDH detoxifies the active metabolites of these drugs by oxidation to the inactive carboxyphosphamide [124], and intracellular ALDH activity seems to determine cyclophosphamide resistance of specific cell types [125]. Human hematopoietic progenitor cells show a high intracellular content of ALDH [126], which has been used for the isolation of primitive progenitor cell subpopulations via flow cytometry [127] and at the same time, may provide a possible explanation for the stem cell-sparing myelosuppression of cyclophosphamide in vitro and in vivo [128]. Transfection with either isoenzyme, cytosolic ALDH-1 or cytosolic/ microsomal ALDH-3 cDNA, resulted in increased resistance in cell line experiments, with a higher level of resistance observed for the use of ALDH-1 [129, 130].

Data on the transfer of ALDH into hematopoietic cells are very limited. Increased resistance was reported for K562 leukemia cells after retroviral transduction and additional selection with 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide [131, 132]. Magni et al. [133] reported a 4- to 10-fold increase in resistance against mafosfamide for human clonogenic progenitor cells from mobilized peripheral blood, whereas data from Bunting et al. [134] suggested a low protein expression due to a short half-life of the ALDH-1 mRNA expressed from various retroviral vectors. More recently, successful protection of NIH 3T3 fibroblasts, CD34-enriched human peripheral blood progenitor cells, and transplantable murine bone marrow cells from 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide toxicity could be obtained using a retroviral vector encoding ALDH-1 and DHFR^{mut} [36]. Additional data, especially on human primary cells, have to be awaited before the role of ALDH as a drug-resistance gene in hematoprotective strategies can be definitely determined. This seems to be of great interest because even today cyclophosphamide is one of the most commonly used cytostatic drugs. Since cyclophosphamide does not affect very primitive hematopoietic progenitor cells, ALDH will probably not be useful in a stem cell selection strategy.

Glutathione S-Transferase and γ-Glutamylcysteine Synthetase

A well-known mechanism of drug resistance to alkylating agents is linked to the intracellular level of glutathione (GSH), which binds to nearly all alkylating agents, including melphalan, cyclophosphamide, etc. [124]. The glutathione S-transferase (GST) isoenzymes catalyze the formation of GSH conjugates with the respective alkylating drug, while the γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase (γ -GCS) represents the rate-limiting step of the GSH synthesis. Thus, overexpression of both enzymes should increase the formation of GSH conjugates and, consequently, also lead to an increase in resistance to the respective drug. Retroviral transduction of rat GST-Yc has been reported to confer resistance to chlorambucil in NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts [135]. More recently, coexpression of rat GST-A3 (previously designated as rat GST-Yc₁) in combination with CDD resulted in a several-fold increased resistance of NIH 3T3 fibroblasts against melphalan, chlorambucil, and ara-C [136]. As observed for other drug resistance genes, such as MGMT and CDD, the expression of GST, at least of GST- α , seems to be low in human CD34+ cells [137]. A significant resistance of CFU-GM against adriamycin and 4-hydroxycyclophosphamide could be observed after retrovirally mediated introduction of human GST- π [138]. The same group reported successful transfer of GST- π into murine hematopoietic cells in a transplantation model allowing for high-dose cyclophosphamide treatment of primary recipients and resulting in GST- π expression in CFU-GM generated from secondary recipients as an indication for successful gene transfer into long-term repopulating cells [139]. More recently, an SFFV-derived retroviral vector was used to transduce murine hematopoietic cells with both the MRP1 and the γ -GCS. Significant resistance of CFU against etoposide and melphalan could be observed [88].

Combination of Drug-Resistance Genes

For most clinical approaches the combined expression of several drug-resistance genes or the expression of a drug-resistance gene together with a nonselectable therapeutic gene seems to be a desirable goal. As a matter of fact, several investigators have reported the feasibility of coexpressing two genes from the same retroviral vector using additional internal promoters, fusion genes, or internal ribosomal entry sites. Functional resistance to at least two different cytotoxic drugs could be observed, e.g. MDR1 and DHFR^{mut} [34], ALDH and DHFR^{mut} [36], CDD and GST [136], MDR1 and MGMT [140], TS and DHFR^{mut} [141], and MRP1 and γ -GCS [88].

Safety Aspects

The safety of drug-resistance gene transfer in clinical approaches has been a permanent matter of discussion. Several issues have to be taken into consideration: (i) an accidental infection of the patient with helper virus, as was reported in early nonhuman primate experiments [142], seems to be unlikely, because the use of this technology for hematoprotection will be strictly confined to an ex vivo gene transfer allowing for all kinds of analyses before transduced cells would be retransplanted to the patient; (ii) adverse effects on the target cells through overexpression of the gene of interest, such as the recently observed 'myeloproliferative syndrome' after transplantation of MDR1-transduced cells into mice [80] can neither be ruled out from in vitro data nor from the clinical trials performed thus far, since most clinical trials have suffered from low gene transfer efficiency and low expression of the transgene; (iii) disruption of an important gene by the randomly integrating retroviral vector (insertional mutagenesis) has been more a theoretical consideration for many years, but more recently, this has been observed in a mouse transplant model [143] as well as in children treated for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency syndrome [6, 144], resulting in a leukemia-type disease in both cases [143, 144], and (iv) finally, the accidental transduction of a contaminating malignant cell is a major concern for the transfer of chemotherapy-resistance genes [145], requiring careful analysis of the transduced cells before transplantation. Improved purging techniques will have to be combined with sensitive assays for minimal residual disease to guarantee autotransplants free of contaminating tumor cells in clinical studies.

Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes

Conclusion

Since the first successful gene transfer into hematopoietic cells with safety-modified retroviral vectors was reported, many efforts have been made to improve and optimize this system in order to finally reach clinical applicability. During this time, approximately 15 years now, quite a few clinical trials were started and, in most cases, failed. With the recent improvements in vector and transduction technology on the one hand, and the widespread and routine use of autologous transplantation of peripheral blood progenitor cells on the other hand, it has now again become an intriguing idea to reduce or abolish myelosuppression as one of the major side effects of chemotherapy. In this context, hematoprotection may be achieved through efficient transduction of more differentiated progenitor cells, as well as transduction of true longterm repopulating stem cells. Although myelosuppression is not the sole dose-limiting toxicity of most of these drugs, infection due to granulocytopenia and the risk of bleeding due to thrombocytopenia compromise the potential of curative and palliative chemotherapy. Considering the various chemotherapeutic drugs for which drugresistance genes have been described, it seems conceivable that drug-resistance gene transfer could circumvent myelotoxicity for most, if not all, chemotherapeutic regimens.

Acknowledgement

Our own work was supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG), Forschergruppe: 'Tumorselektive Therapie und Therapieresistenz' and the Deutsche Krebshilfe/Dr. Mildred Scheel Stiftung.

References

- Attal M, Harousseau JL, Stoppa AM, Sotto JJ, Fuzibet JG, Rossi JF, Casassus P, Maisonneuve H, Facon T, Ifrah N, Payen C, Bataille R: A prospective, randomized trial of autologous bone marrow transplantation and chemotherapy in multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med 1996;335:91–97.
- 2 Philip T, Guglielmi C, Hagenbeek A, Somers R, Van der Lelie H, Bron D, Sonneveld P, Gisselbrecht C, Cahn JY, Harousseau JL, Coiffier B, Biron P, Mandelli F, Chauvin F: Autologous bone marrow transplantation as compared with salvage chemotherapy in relapses of chemotherapy-sensitive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 1995;333:1540–1545.
- 3 Sobecks RM, Vogelzang NJ: High-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem-cell support for germ cell tumors: A critical review. Semin Oncol 1999;26:106–118.
- 4 Bokemeyer C, Kollmannsberger C, Meisner C, Harstrick A, Beyer J, Metzner B, Hartmann JT, Schmoll HJ, Einhorn L, Kanz L, Nichols C: First-line high-dose chemotherapy compared with standard-dose PEB/VIP chemotherapy in patients with advanced germ cell tumors: A multivariate and matched-pair analysis. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:3450–3456.
- 5 Rodenhuis S: High-dose chemotherapy in breast cancer – Interpretation of the randomized trials. Anticancer Drugs 2001;12:85–88.
- 6 Cavazzana-Calvo M, Hacein-Bey S, de Saint Basile G, Gross F, Yvon E, Nusbaum P, Selz F, Hue C, Certain S, Casanova JL, Bousso P, Le Deist F, Fischer A: Gene therapy of human severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID)-X1 disease. Science 2000;288:669–672.

- 7 Joyner A, Keller G, Phillips RA, Bernstein A: Retrovirus transfer of a bacterial gene into mouse haematopoietic progenitor cells. Nature 1983;305:556–558.
- 8 Hock RA, Miller AD: Retrovirus-mediated transfer and expression of drug resistance genes in human haematopoietic progenitor cells. Nature 1986;320:275–277.
- 9 Belmont JW, Henkel-Tigges J, Chang SMW, Wager-Smith K, Kellems RE, Dick JE, Magli MC, Phillips RA, Bernstein A, Caskey CT: Expression of human adenosine deaminase in murine haematopoietic progenitor cells following retroviral transfer. Nature 1986;322:385– 387.
- 10 Keller G, Paige C, Gilboa E, Wagner EF: Expression of a foreign gene in myeloid and lymphoid cells derived from multipotent haematopoietic precursors. Nature 1985;318:149–154.
- 11 Miller AD, Eckner RJ, Jolly DJ, Friedmann T, Verma IM: Expression of a retrovirus encoding human HPRT in mice. Science 1984;225:630– 632.
- 12 Williams DA, Lemischka IR, Nathan DG, Mulligan RC: Introduction of new genetic material into pluripotent haematopietic stem cells of the mouse. Nature 1984;310:476–480.
- 13 Halene S, Kohn DB: Gene therapy using hematopoietic stem cells: Sisyphus approaches the crest. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:1259–1267.
- 14 Gilboa E, Eglitis MA, Kantoff PW, Anderson WF: Transfer and expression of cloned genes using retroviral vectors. Biotechniques 1986;4: 504–512.
- 15 Miller AD, Rosman GJ: Improved retroviral vectors for gene transfer and expression. Biotechniques 1989;7:980–990.

- 16 Baum C, Hegewisch-Becker S, Eckert HG, Stocking C, Ostertag W: Novel retroviral vectors for efficient expression of the multidrug resistance (*mdr-1*) gene in early hematopoietic cells. J Virol 1995;69:7541–7547.
- 17 Buchschacher GL, Wong-Staal F: Development of lentiviral vectors for gene therapy for human diseases. Blood 2000;95:2499–2504.
- 18 May C, Rivella S, Callegari J, Heller G, Gaensler KM, Luzzatto L, Sadelain M: Therapeutic haemoglobin synthesis in beta-thalassaemic mice expressing lentivirus-encoded human beta-globin. Nature 2000;406:82–86.
- 19 Chu E, Mota AC, Fogarasi MC: Pharmacology of cancer chemotherapy: Antimetabolites; in DeVita VT Jr, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds): Cancer, ed 6. Philadelphia, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001, pp 388–414.
- 20 Simonsen CC, Levinson AD: Isolation and expression of an altered mouse dihydrofolate reductase cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1983; 80:2495–2499.
- 21 Thillet J, Absil J, Stone SR, Pictet R: Sitedirected mutagenesis of mouse dihydrofolate reductase. Mutants with increased resistance to methotrexate and trimethoprim. J Biol Chem 1988;263:12500–12508.
- 22 Schweitzer BI, Srimatkandada S, Gritsman H, Sheridan R, Venkataraghavan R, Bertino JR: Probing the role of two hydrophobic active site residues in the human dihydrofolate reductase by site-directed mutagenesis. J Biol Chem 1989;264:20786–20795.
- 23 Ercikan-Abali EA, Mineishi S, Tong Y, Nakahara S, Waltham MC, Banerjee D, Chen W, Sadelain M, Bertino JR: Active site-directed double mutants of dihydrofolate reductase. Cancer Res 1996;56:4142–4145.

- 24 Patel M, Sleep SE, Lewis WS, Spencer HT, Mareya SM, Sorrentino BP, Blakley RL: Comparison of the protection of cells from antifolates by transduced human dihydrofolate reductase mutants. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8: 2069–2077.
- 25 Williams DA, Hsieh K, DeSilva A, Mulligan RC: Protection of bone marrow transplant recipients from lethal doses of methotrexate by the generation of methotrexate-resistant bone marrow. J Exp Med 1987;166:210–218.
- 26 Kwok WW, Schuening F, Stead RB, Miller AD: Retroviral transfer of genes into canine hemopoietic progenitor cells in culture: A model for human gene therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986;83:4552–4555.
- 27 Li M, Hantzopoulos PA, Banerjee D, Zhao SC, Schweitzer BI, Gilboa E, Bertino JR: Comparison of the expression of a mutant dihydrofolate reductase under control of different internal promoters in retroviral vectors. Hum Gene Ther 1992;3:381–390.
- 28 Corey CA, DeSilva AD, Holland CA, Williams DA: Serial transplantation of methotrexateresistant bone marrow: Protection of murine recipients from drug toxicity by progeny of transduced stem cells. Blood 1990;75:337– 343.
- 29 Li MX, Banerjee D, Zhao SC, Schweitzer BI, Mineishi S, Gilboa E, Bertino JR: Development of a retroviral construct containing a human mutated dihydrofolate reductase cDNA for hematopoietic stem cell transduction. Blood 1994;83:3403–3408.
- 30 Zhao SC, Banerjee D, Mineishi S, Bertino JR: Post-transplant methotrexate administration leads to improved curability of mice bearing a mammary tumor transplanted with marrow transduced with a mutant human dihydrofolate reductase cDNA. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8: 903–909.
- 31 Flasshove M, Banerjee D, Leonard JP, Mineishi S, Li MX, Bertino JR, Moore MAS: Retroviral transduction of human CD34+ umbilical cord blood progenitor cells with a mutated dihydrofolate reductase cDNA. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:63–71.
- 32 Flasshove M, Banerjee D, Mineishi S, Li MX, Bertino JR, Moore MAS: Ex vivo expansion and selection of human CD34+ peripheral blood progenitor cells after introduction of a mutated dihydrofolate reductase cDNA via retroviral gene transfer. Blood 1995;85:566–574.
- 33 Beauséjour CM, Le NLO, Létourneau S, Cournoyer D, Momparler RL: Coexpression of cytidine deaminase and mutant dihydrofolate reductase by a bicistronic retroviral vector confers resistance to cytosine arabinoside and methotrexate. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:2537– 2544.
- 34 Galipeau J, Benaim E, Spencer HT, Blakley RL, Sorrentino BP: A bicistronic retroviral vector for protecting hematopoietic cells against antifolates and P-glycoprotein effluxed drugs. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8:1773–1783.

- 35 Sauerbrey A, McPherson JP, Zhao SC, Banerjee D, Bertino JR: Expression of a novel double-mutant dihydrofolate reductase-cytidine deaminase fusion gene confers resistance to both methotrexate and cytosine arabinoside. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:2495–2504.
- 36 Takebe N, Zhao SC, Adhikari D, Mineishi S, Sadelain M, Hilton J, Colvin M, Banerjee D, Bertino JR: Generation of dual resistance to 4hydroperoxycyclophosphamide and methotrexate by retroviral transfer of the human aldehyde dehydrogenase class 1 gene and a mutated dihydrofolate reductase gene. Mol Ther 2001;3:88–96.
- 37 Gondo H, Harada M, Taniguchi S, Akashi K, Hayashi S, Teshima T, Takamatsu Y, Eto T, Nagafuji K, Yamasaki K, Shibuya T, Niho Y: Cyclosporine combined with methylprednisolone or methotrexate in prophylaxis of moderate to severe acute graft-versus-host disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 1993;12:437–441.
- 38 Sorrentino BP, Allay JA, Blakley RL: In vivo selection of hematopoietic stem cells transduced with DHFR- expressing retroviral vectors. Prog Exp Tumor Res 1999;36:143–161.
- 39 Allay JA, Spencer HT, Wilkinson SL, Belt JA, Blakley RL, Sorrentino BP: Sensitization of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells to trimetrexate using nucleoside transport inhibitors. Blood 1997;90:3546–3554.
- 40 Spencer HT, Sleep SE, Rehg JE, Blakley RL, Sorrentino BP: A gene transfer strategy for making bone marrow cells resistant to trimetrexate. Blood 1996;87:2579–2587.
- 41 Zhao RCH, McIvor RS, Griffin JD, Verfaillie CM: Gene therapy for chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML): A retroviral vector that renders hematopoietic progenitors methotrexateresistant and CML progenitors functionally normal and nontumorigenic in vivo. Blood 1997;90:4687–4698.
- 42 Meisel R, Bardenheuer W, Strehblow C, Seeber S, Moritz T, Flasshove M: Efficient protection against methotrexate (MTX) and selection of human hematopoietic cells after transfer of dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) mutants (abstract). Blood 2001;98:405b.
- 43 Gatlin J, Douglas J, Evans JT, Collins RH, Wendel GD, Garcia JV: In vitro selection of lentivirus vector-transduced human CD34+ cells. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:1949–1957.
- 44 Ensminger WD, Frei E: The prevention of methotrexate toxicity by thymidine infusions in humans. Cancer Res 1977;37:1857–1863.
- 45 Pinedo HM, Zaharko DS, Bull JM, Chabner BA: The reversal of methotrexate cytotoxicity to mouse bone marrow cells by leucovorin and nucleosides. Cancer Res 1976;36:4418–4424.
- 46 Allay JA, Persons DA, Galipeau J, Riberdy JM, Ashmun RA, Blakley RL, Sorrentino BP: In vivo selection of retrovirally transduced hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med 1998;4:1136– 1143.
- 47 Blau CA, Neff T, Papayannopoulou T: The hematological effects of folate analogs: Implications for using the dihydrofolate reductase gene for in vivo selection. Hum Gene Ther 1996;7: 2069–2078.

- 48 May C, Gunther R, McIvor RS: Protection of mice from lethal doses of methotrexate by transplantation with transgenic marrow expressing drug-resistant dihydrofolate reductase activity. Blood 1995;86:2439–2448.
- 49 Takebe N, Nakahara S, Zhao SC, Adhikari D, Ural AU, Iwamoto M, Banerjee D, Bertino JR: Comparison of methotrexate resistance conferred by a mutated dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) cDNA in two different retroviral vectors. Cancer Gene Ther 2000;7:910–919.
- 50 Takebe N, Xu LC, MacKenzie KL, Bertino JR, Moore MA: Methotrexate selection of longterm culture initiating cells following transduction of CD34(+) cells with a retrovirus containing a mutated human dihydrofolate reductase gene. Cancer Gene Ther 2002;9:308–320.
- 51 Mineishi S, Nakahara S, Takebe N, Banerjee D, Zhao SC, Bertino JR: Co-expression of the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene potentiates methotrexate resistance conferred by transfer of a mutated dihydrofolate reductase gene. Gene Ther 1997;4:570–576.
- 52 Mineishi S, Nakahara S, Takebe N, Zhao SC, Banerjee D, Bertino JR: Purine salvage rescue by xanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (XGPRT) potentiates methotrexate resistance conferred by transfer of a mutated dihydrofolate reductase gene. Cancer Gene Ther 1998;5:144–149.
- 53 Patel DH, Allay JA, Belt JA, Sorrentino BP: Retroviral transfer of the hENT2 nucleoside transporter cDNA confers broad-spectrum antifolate resistance in murine bone marrow cells. Blood 2000;95:2356–2363.
- 54 Tong Y, Liu-Chen X, Ercikan-Abali EA, Zhao SC, Banerjee D, Maley F, Bertino JR: Probing the folate-binding site of human thymidylate synthase by site-directed mutagenesis. Generation of mutants that confer resistance to raltitrexed, Thymitaq, and BW1843U89. J Biol Chem 1998;273:31209–31214.
- 55 Landis DM, Heindel CC, Loeb LA: Creation and characterization of 5-fluorodeoxyuridineresistant Arg50 loop mutants of human thymidylate synthase. Cancer Res 2001;61:666–672.
- 56 Shaw D, Berger FG, Spencer HT: Retroviral expression of *Escherichia coli* thymidylate synthase cDNA confers high-level antifolate resistance to hematopoietic cells. Hum Gene Ther 2001;12:51–59.
- 57 Pastan I, Gottesman MM, Ueda K, Lovelace E, Rutherford AV, Willingham MC: A retrovirus carrying an *MDR1* cDNA confers multidrug resistance and polarized expression of P-glycoprotein in MDCK cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988;85:4486–4490.
- 58 Sorrentino BP, Brandt SJ, Bodine D, Gottesman M, Pastan I, Cline A, Nienhuis AW: Selection of drug-resistant bone marrow cells in vivo after retroviral transfer of human MDR1. Science 1992;257:99–103.

Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes

- 59 Hanania EG, Fu S, Zu Z, Hegewisch-Becker S, Korbling M, Hester J, Durett A, Andreeff M, Mechetner E, Holzmayer T, et al.: Chemotherapy resistance to taxol in clonogenic progenitor cells following transduction of CD34 selected marrow and peripheral blood cells with a retrovirus that contains the MDR-1 chemotherapy resistance gene. Gene Ther 1995;2:285–294.
- 60 Eckert HG, Stockschläder M, Just U, Hegewisch-Becker S, Grez M, Uhde A, Zander A, Ostertag W, Baum C: High-dose multidrug resistance in primary human hematopoietic progenitor cells transduced with optimized retroviral vectors. Blood 1996;88:3407–3415.
- 61 Bodine DM, Seidel NE, Gale MS, Nienhuis AW, Orlic D: Efficient retrovirus transduction of mouse pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells mobilized into the peripheral blood by treatment with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and stem cell factor. Blood 1994;84:1482– 1491.
- 62 Hildinger M, Fehse B, Hegewisch-Becker S, John J, Rafferty JR, Ostertag W, Baum C: Dominant selection of hematopoietic progenitor cells with retroviral MDR1 co-expression vectors. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:33–42.
- 63 Bertolini F, DeMonte L, Corsini C, Lazzari L, Lauri L, Soligo D, Ward M, Bank A, Malavasi F: Retrovirus-mediated transfer of the multidrug resistance gene into human haemopoietic progenitor cells. Br J Haematol 1994;88:318– 324.
- 64 Ward M, Richardson C, Pioli P, Smith L, Podda S, Goff S, Hesdorffer C, Bank A: Transfer and expression of the human multiple drug resistance gene in human CD34+ cells. Blood 1994;84:1408–1414.
- 65 Licht T, Aksentijevich I, Gottesman MM, Pastan I: Efficient expression of functional human *MDR1* gene in murine bone marrow after retroviral transduction of purified hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 1995;86:111–121.
- 66 Sorrentino BP, McDonagh KT, Woods D, Orlic D: Expression of retroviral vectors containing the human multidrug resistance 1 cDNA in hematopoietic cells of transplanted mice. Blood 1995;86:491–501.
- 67 Licht T, Aran JM, Goldenberg SK, Vieira WD, Gottesman MM, Pastan I: Retroviral transfer of human *MDR1* gene to hematopoietic cells: Effects of drug selection and of transcript splicing on expression of encoded P-glycoprotein. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:2173–2185.
- 68 Knipper R, Kuehlcke K, Schiedlmeier B, Hildinger M, Lindemann C, Schilz AJ, Fauser AA, Fruehauf S, Zeller WJ, Ostertag W, Eckert HG, Baum C: Improved post-transcriptional processing of an MDR1 retrovirus elevates expression of multidrug resistance in primary human hematopoietic cells. Gene Ther 2001;8:239– 246.
- 69 Schiedlmeier B, Kühlcke K, Eckert HG, Baum C, Zeller WJ, Fruehauf S: Quantitative assessment of retroviral transfer of the human multidrug resistance 1 gene to human mobilized peripheral blood progenitor cells engrafted in nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient mice. Blood 2000;95:1237–1248.

- 70 Licht T, Goldenberg SK, Vieira WD, Gottesman MM, Pastan I: Drug selection of MDR1transduced hematopoietic cells ex vivo increases transgene expression and chemoresistance in reconstituted bone marrow in mice. Gene Ther 2000;7:348–358.
- 71 Bertolini F, Battaglia M, Lanza A, Gibelli N, Palermo B, Pavesi L, Caprotti M, Robustelli della Cuna G: Multilineage long-term engraftment potential of drug-resistant hematopoietic progenitors. Blood 1997;90:3027–3036.
- 72 Chaudhary PM, Roninson IB: Expression and activity of P-glycoprotein, a multidrug efflux pump, in human hematopoietic stem cells. Cell 1991;66:85–94.
- 73 Cowan KH, Moscow JA, Huang H, Zujewski JA, O'Shaughnessy J, Sorrentino B, Hines K, Carter C, Schneider E, Cusack G, Noone M, Dunbar C, Steinberg S, Wilson W, Goldspiel B, Read EJ, Leitman SF, McDonagh K, Chow C, Abati A, Chiang Y, Chang YN, Gottesman MM, Pastan I, Nienhuis A: Paclitaxel chemotherapy after autologous stem-cell transplantation and engraftment of hematopoietic cells transduced with a retrovirus containing the multidrug resistance complementary DNA (*MDR1*) in metastatic breast cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res 1999;5:1619–1628.
- 74 Devereux S, Corney C, Macdonald C, Watts M, Sullivan A, Goldstone AH, Ward M, Bank A, Linch DC: Feasibility of multidrug resistance (MDR-1) gene transfer in patients undergoing high-dose therapy and peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for lymphoma. Gene Ther 1998;5:403–408.
- 75 Hanania EG, Giles RE, Kavanagh J, Ellerson D, Zu Z, Wang T, Su Y, Kudelka A, Rahman Z, Holmes F, Hortobagyi G, Claxton D, Bachier C, Thall P, Cheng S, Hester J, Ostrove JM, Bird RE, Chang A, Korbling M, Seong D, Cote R, Holzmayer T, Deisseroth AB, et al: Results of MDR-1 vector modification trial indicate that granulocyte/macrophage colony-forming unit cells do not contribute to posttransplant hematopoietic recovery following intensive systemic therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93: 15346–15351.
- 76 Hesdorffer C, Ayello J, Ward M, Kaubisch A, Vahdat L, Balmaceda C, Garrett T, Fetell M, Reiss R, Bank A, Antman K: Phase I trial of retroviral-mediated transfer of the human MDR1 gene as marrow chemoprotection in patients undergoing high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol 1998;16:165–172.
- 77 Moscow JA, Huang H, Carter C, Hines K, Zujewski J, Cusack G, Chow C, Venzon D, Sorrentino B, Chiang Y, Goldspiel B, Leitman S, Read EJ, Abati A, Gottesman MM, Pastan I, Sellers S, Dunbar C, Cowan KH: Engraftment of *MDR1* and NeoR gene-transduced hematopoietic cells after breast cancer chemotherapy. Blood 1999;94:52–61.

- 78 Rahman Z, Kavanagh J, Champlin R, Giles R, Hanania E, Fu S, Zu Z, Mehra R, Holmes F, Kudelka A, Claxton D, Verschraegen C, Gajewski J, Andreeff M, Heimfeld S, Berenson R, Ellerson D, Calvert L, Mechetner E, Holzmayer T, Dayne A, Hamer J, Bachier C, Ostrove J, Deisseroth A, et al: Chemotherapy immediately following autologous stem-cell transplantation in patients with advanced breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 1998;4:2717– 2721.
- 79 Abonour R, Williams DA, Einhorn L, Hall KM, Chen J, Coffman J, Traycoff CM, Bank A, Kato I, Ward M, Williams SD, Hromas R, Robertson MJ, Smith FO, Woo D, Mills B, Srour EF, Cornetta K: Efficient retrovirus-mediated transfer of the multidrug resistance 1 gene into autologous human long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med 2000; 6:652–658.
- 80 Bunting KD, Galipeau J, Topham D, Benaim E, Sorrentino BP: Transduction of murine bone marrow cells with an MDR1 vector enables ex vivo stem cell expansion, but these expanded grafts cause a myeloproliferative syndrome in transplanted mice. Blood 1998;92: 2269–2279.
- 81 Bunting KD, Zhou S, Lu T, Sorrentino BP: Enforced P-glycoprotein pump function in murine bone marrow cells results in expansion of side population stem cells in vitro and repopulating cells in vivo. Blood 2000;96:902–909.
- 82 Eckert HG, Kühlcke K, Schilz AJ, Lindemann C, Basara N, Fauser AA, Baum C: Clinical scale production of an improved retroviral vector expressing the human multidrug resistance 1 gene (MDR1). Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;26(suppl 2):S114–S117.
- 83 Cole SP, Bhardwaj G, Gerlach JH, Mackie JE, Grant CE, Almquist KC, Stewart AJ, Kurz EU, Duncan AM, Deeley RG: Overexpression of a transporter gene in a multidrug-resistant human lung cancer cell line. Science 1992;258: 1650–1654.
- 84 Zaman GJ, Lankelma J, van Tellingen O, Beijnen J, Dekker H, Paulusma C, Oude Elferink RP, Baas F, Borst P: Role of glutathione in the export of compounds from cells by the multidrug-resistance-associated protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:7690–7694.
- 85 Zaman GJ, Flens MJ, van Leusden MR, de Haas M, Mülder HS, Lankelma J, Pinedo HM, Scheper RJ, Baas F, Broxterman HJ, Borst P: The human multidrug resistance-associated protein MRP is a plasma membrane drugefflux pump. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91: 8822–8826.
- 86 D'Hondt V, Caruso M, Bank A: Retrovirusmediated gene transfer of the multidrug resistance-associated protein (MRP) cDNA protects cells from chemotherapeutic agents. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8:1745–1751.

- 87 Machiels JP, Govaerts AS, Guillaume T, Bayat B, Feyens AM, Lenoir E, Goeminne JC, Cole S, Deeley R, Caruso M, Bank A, Symann M, D'Hondt V: Retrovirus-mediated gene transfer of the human multidrug resistance-associated protein into hematopoietic cells protects mice from chemotherapy-induced leukopenia. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:801–811.
- 88 Rappa G, Lorico A, Hildinger M, Fodstad O, Baum C: Novel bicistronic retroviral vector expressing gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase and the multidrug resistance protein 1 (MRP1) protects cells from MRP1-effluxed drugs and alkylating agents. Hum Gene Ther 2001;12: 1785–1796.
- 89 Kufe D, Spriggs D, Egan EM, Munroe D: Relationships among Ara-CTP pools, formation of (Ara-C)DNA, and cytotoxicity of human leukemic cells. Blood 1984;64:54–58.
- 90 Yusa K, Ohuhara T, Tsukahara S, Tsuruo T: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 induces 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine resistance in human H9 cell line. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:16848–16850.
- 91 Steuart CD, Burke PJ: Cytidine deaminase and the development of resistance to arabinosyl cytosine. Nat New Biol 1971;233:109–110.
- 92 Kühn K, Bertling WM, Emmrich F: Cloning of a functional cDNA for human cytidine deaminase (CDD) and its use as a marker of monocyte/macrophage differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1993;190:1–7.
- 93 Laliberté J, Momparler RL: Human cytidine deaminase: Purification of enzyme, cloning, and expression of its complementary DNA. Cancer Res 1994;54:5401–5407.
- 94 Momparler RL, Laliberté J, Eliopoulos N, Beauséjour C, Cournoyer D: Transfection of murine fibroblast cells with human cytidine deaminase cDNA confers resistance to cytosine arabinoside. Anticancer Drugs 1996;7:266– 274.
- 95 Schröder JK, Kirch C, Flasshove M, Kalweit H, Seidelmann M, Hilger R, Seeber S, Schütte J: Constitutive overexpression of the cytidine deaminase gene confers resistance to cytosine arabinoside in vitro. Leukemia 1996;10:1919– 1924.
- 96 Neff T, Blau CA: Forced expression of cytidine deaminase confers resistance to cytosine arabinoside and gemcitabine. Exp Hematol 1996; 24:1340–1346.
- 97 Flasshove M, Frings W, Schröder JK, Moritz T, Schütte J, Seeber S: Transfer of the cytidine deaminase cDNA into hematopoietic cells. Leuk Res 1999;23:1047–1053.
- 98 Momparler RL, Eliopoulos N, Bovenzi V, Létourneau S, Greenbaum M, Cournoyer D: Resistance to cytosine arabinoside by retrovirally mediated gene transfer of human cytidine deaminase into murine fibroblast and hematopoietic cells. Cancer Gene Ther 1996;3:331– 338.

- 99 Eliopoulos N, Bovenzi V, Le NLO, Momparler LF, Greenbaum M, Létourneau S, Cournoyer D, Momparler RL: Retroviral transfer and long-term expression of human cytidine deaminase cDNA in hematopoietic cells following transplantation in mice. Gene Ther 1998;5:1545–1551.
- 100 Beauséjour CM, Eliopoulos N, Momparler L, Le NL, Momparler RL: Selection of drugresistant transduced cells with cytosine nucleoside analogs using the human cytidine deaminase gene. Cancer Gene Ther 2001;8: 669–676.
- 101 Gran C, Boyum A, Johansen RF, Lovhaug D, Seeberg EC: Growth inhibition of granulocyte-macrophage colony-forming cells by human cytidine deaminase requires the catalytic function of the protein. Blood 1998;91:4127– 4135.
- 102 Eliopoulos N, Cournoyer D, Momparler RL: Drug resistance to 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine, 2',2'-difluorodeoxycytidine, and cytosine arabinoside conferred by retroviral-mediated transfer of human cytidine deaminase cDNA into murine cells. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1998;42:373–378.
- 103 Maze R, Carney JP, Kelley MR, Glassner BJ, Williams DA, Samson L: Increasing DNA repair methyltransferase levels via bone marrow stem cell transduction rescues mice from the toxic effects of 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1nitrosourea, a chemotherapeutic alkylating agent. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:206– 210.
- 104 Moritz T, Mackay W, Glassner BJ, Williams DA, Samson L: Retrovirus-mediated expression of a DNA repair protein in bone marrow protects hematopoietic cells from nitrosourea-induced toxicity in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res 1995;55:2608–2614.
- 105 Allay JA, Dumenco LL, Koc ON, Liu L, Gerson SL: Retroviral transduction and expression of the human alkyltransferase cDNA provides nitrosourea resistance to hematopoietic cells. Blood 1995;85:3342–3351.
- 106 Brent TP, Remack JS: Formation of covalent complexes between human O⁶-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase and BCNU-treated defined length synthetic oligodeoxynucleotides. Nucleic Acids Res 1988;16:6779–6788.
- 107 Gerson SL, Phillips W, Kastan M, Dumenco LL, Donovan C: Human CD34+ hematopoietic progenitors have low, cytokine-unresponsive O⁶-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase and are sensitive to O⁶-benzylguanine plus BCNU. Blood 1996;88:1649–1655.
- 108 Gerson SL, Trey JE, Miller K, Berger NA: Comparison of O⁶-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase activity based on cellular DNA content in human, rat and mouse tissues. Carcinogenesis 1986;7:745–749.
- 109 Wang G, Weiss C, Sheng P, Bresnick E: Retrovirus-mediated transfer of the human O⁶methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase gene into a murine hematopoietic stem cell line and resistance to the toxic effects of certain alkylating agents. Biochem Pharmacol 1996; 51:1221–1228.

- 110 Jelinek J, Fairbairn LJ, Dexter TM, Rafferty JA, Stocking C, Ostertag W, Margison GP: Long-term protection of hematopoiesis against the cytotoxic effects of multiple doses of nitrosourea by retrovirus-mediated expression of human O⁶-alkylguanine-DNA-alkyltransferase. Blood 1996;87:1957–1961.
- 111 Allay JA, Davis BM, Gerson SL: Human alkyltransferase-transduced murine myeloid progenitors are enriched in vivo by BCNU treatment of transplanted mice. Exp Hematol 1997;25:1069–1076.
- 112 Dolan ME, Mitchell RB, Mummert C, Moschel RC, Pegg AE: Effect of O⁶-benzylguanine analogues on sensitivity of human tumor cells to the cytotoxic effects of alkylating agents. Cancer Res 1991;51:3367–3372.
- 113 Spiro TP, Gerson SL, Liu L, Majka S, Haaga J, Hoppel CL, Ingalls ST, Pluda JM, Willson JK: O⁶-Benzylguanine: A clinical trial establishing the biochemical modulatory dose in tumor tissue for alkyltransferase-directed DNA repair. Cancer Res 1999;59:2402–2410.
- 114 Reese JS, Davis BM, Liu L, Gerson SL: Simultaneous protection of G156A methylguanine DNA methyltransferase gene-transduced hematopoietic progenitors and sensitization of tumor cells using O⁶-benzylguanine and temozolomide. Clin Cancer Res 1999;5: 163–169.
- 115 Koc ON, Reese JS, Szekely EM, Gerson SL: Human long-term culture initiating cells are sensitive to benzylguanine and 1,3-bis(2chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea and protected after mutant (G156A) methylguanine methyltransferase gene transfer. Cancer Gene Ther 1999;6:340–348.
- 116 Davis BM, Koc ON, Gerson SL: Limiting numbers of G156A O⁶-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase-transduced marrow progenitors repopulate nonmyeloablated mice after drug selection. Blood 2000;95:3078– 3084.
- 117 Ragg S, Xu-Welliver M, Bailey J, D'Souza M, Cooper R, Chandra S, Seshadri R, Pegg AE, Williams DA: Direct reversal of DNA damage by mutant methyltransferase protein protects mice against dose-intensified chemotherapy and leads to in vivo selection of hematopoietic stem cells. Cancer Res 2000; 60:5187–5195.
- 118 Sawai N, Zhou S, Vanin EF, Houghton P, Brent TP, Sorrentino BP: Protection and in vivo selection of hematopoietic stem cells using temozolomide, O⁶-benzylguanine, and an alkyltransferase-expressing retroviral vector. Mol Ther 2001;3:78–87.
- 119 Wilczynski SW, Erasmus JJ, Petros WP, Vredenburgh JJ, Folz RJ: Delayed pulmonary toxicity syndrome following high-dose chemotherapy and bone marrow transplantation for breast cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;157:565–573.

Hematoprotection by Transfer of Drug-Resistance Genes

- 120 Jansen M, Bardenheuer W, Sorg UR, Seeber S, Flasshove M, Moritz T: Protection of hematopoietic cells from O⁶-alkylation damage by O⁶-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase gene transfer: Studies with different O⁶alkylating agents and retroviral backbones. Eur J Haematol 2001;67:2–13.
- 121 Kobune M, Parson S, Xu Y, Kelley MR, Williams DA: Retrovirus-mediated expression of the base excision repair protein, apn1, protects hematopoietic cells from bleomycin-induced toxicity in vitro and in vivo (abstract). Blood 1999:94:381a.
- 122 Kobune M, Xu Y, Baum C, Kelley MR, Williams DA: Retrovirus-mediated expression of the base excision repair proteins, formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylase or human oxoguanine DNA glycosylase, protects hematopoietic cells from N,N',N"-triethylenethiophosphoramide (thioTEPA)-induced toxicity in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res 2001;61: 5116–5125.
- 123 Brock N: Oxazaphosphorine cytostatics: Pastpresent-future. 7th Cain Memorial Award lecture. Cancer Res 1989;49:1–7.
- 124 Colvin OM: Pharmacology of cancer chemotherapy: Antitumor alkylating agents; in: De-Vita VT Jr, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds): Cancer, ed 6. Philadelphia, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001, pp 363–376.
- 125 Hilton J: Role of aldehyde dehydrogenase in cyclophosphamide-resistant L1210 leukemia. Cancer Res 1984;44:5156–5160.
- 126 Kastan MB, Schlaffer E, Russo JE, Colvin OM, Civin CI, Hilton J: Direct demonstration of elevated aldehyde dehydrogenase in human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood 1990;75:1947–1950.
- 127 Storms RW, Trujillo AP, Springer JB, Shah L, Colvin OM, Ludeman SM, Smith C: Isolation of primitive human hematopoietic progenitors on the basis of aldehyde dehydrogenase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96: 9118–9123.
- 128 Smith C, Gasparetto C, Collins N, Gillio A, Muench MO, O'Reilly RJ, Moore MA: Purification and partial characterization of a human hematopoietic precursor population. Blood 1991;77:2122–2128.
- 129 Bunting KD, Townsend AJ: Protection by transfected rat or human class 3 aldehyde dehydrogenase against the cytotoxic effects of oxazaphosphorine alkylating agents in hamster V79 cell lines. Demonstration of aldophosphamide metabolism by the human cytosolic class 3 isozyme. J Biol Chem 1996;271: 11891–11896.

- 130 Bunting KD, Townsend AJ: De novo expression of transfected human class 1 aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) causes resistance to oxazaphosphorine anti-cancer alkylating agents in hamster V79 cell lines. Elevated class 1 ALDH activity is closely correlated with reduction in DNA interstrand crosslinking and lethality. J Biol Chem 1996;271: 11884–11890.
- 131 Moreb J, Schweder M, Suresh A, Zucali JR: Overexpression of the human aldehyde dehydrogenase class I results in increased resistance to 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide. Cancer Gene Ther 1996;3:24–30.
- 132 Moreb JS, Schweder M, Gray B, Zucali J, Zori R: In vitro selection for K562 cells with higher retrovirally mediated copy number of aldehyde dehydrogenase class-1 and higher resistance to 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:611–619.
- 133 Magni M, Shammah S, Schiro R, Mellado W, Dalla-Favera R, Gianni AM: Induction of cyclophosphamide-resistance by aldehydedehydrogenase gene transfer. Blood 1996;87: 1097–1103.
- 134 Bunting KD, Webb M, Giorgianni F, Galipeau J, Blakley RL, Townsend AJ, Sorrentino BP: Coding region-specific destabilization of mRNA transcripts attenuates expression from retroviral vectors containing class 1 aldehyde dehydrogenase cDNAs. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8:1531–1543.
- 135 Greenbaum M, Létourneau S, Assar H, Schecter RL, Batist G, Cournoyer D: Retrovirus-mediated gene transfer of rat glutathione S-transferase Yc confers alkylating drug resistance in NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts. Cancer Res 1994;54:4442–4447.
- 136 Létourneau S, Palerme JS, Delisle JS, Beauséjour CM, Momparler RL, Cournoyer D: Coexpression of rat glutathione S-transferase A3 and human cytidine deaminase by a bicistronic retroviral vector confers in vitro resistance to nitrogen mustards and cytosine arabinoside in murine fibroblasts. Cancer Gene Ther 2000;7:757–765.
- 137 Czerwinski M, Kiem HP, Slattery JT: Human CD34+ cells do not express glutathione Stransferases alpha. Gene Ther 1997;4:268– 270.

- 138 Kuga T, Sakamaki S, Matsunaga T, Hirayama Y, Kuroda H, Takahashi Y, Kusakabe T, Kato I, Niitsu Y: Fibronectin fragment-facilitated retroviral transfer of the glutathione-Stransferase π gene into CD34+ cells to protect them against alkylating agents. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8:1901–1910.
- 139 Matsunaga T, Sakamaki S, Kuga T, Kuroda H, Kusakabe T, Akiyama T, Konuma Y, Hirayama Y, Kobune M, Kato J, Sasaki K, Kogawa K, Koyama R, Niitsu Y: GST-π genetransduced hematopoietic progenitor cell transplantation overcomes the bone marrow toxicity of cyclophosphamide in mice. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:1671–1681.
- 140 Jelinek J, Rafferty JA, Cmejla R, Hildinger M, Chinnasamy D, Lashford LS, Ostertag W, Margison GP, Dexter TM, Fairbairn LJ, Baum C: A novel dual function retrovirus expressing multidrug resistance 1 and O⁶alkylguanine-DNA-alkyltransferase for engineering resistance of haemopoietic progenitor cells to multiple chemotherapeutic agents. Gene Ther 1999;6:1489–1493.
- 141 Fantz CR, Shaw D, Moore JG, Spencer HT: Retroviral coexpression of thymidylate synthase and dihydrofolate reductase confers fluoropyrimidine and antifolate resistance. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998;243:6– 12.
- 142 Donahue RE, Kessler SW, Bodine D, McDonagh K, Dunbar C, Goodman S, Agricola B, Byrne E, Raffeld M, Moen R, Bacher J, Zsebo KM, Nienhuis AW: Helper virus induced T cell lymphoma in nonhuman primates after retroviral mediated gene transfer. J Exp Med 1992;176:1125–1135.
- 143 Li Z, Düllmann J, Schiedlmeier B, Schmidt M, von Kalle C, Meyer J, Forster M, Stocking C, Wahlers A, Frank O, Ostertag W, Kühlcke K, Eckert HG, Fehse B, Baum C: Murine leukemia induced by retroviral gene marking. Science 2002;296:497.
- 144 Check E: A tragic setback. Nature 2002;420: 116–118.
- 145 Rill DR, Santana VM, Roberts WM, Nilson T, Bowman LC, Krance RA, Heslop HE, Moen RC, Ihle JN, Brenner MK: Direct demonstration that autologous bone marrow transplantation for solid tumors can return a multiplicity of tumorigenic cells. Blood 1994; 84:380–383.

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:107–109 DOI: 10.1159/000072459

Gene Therapy Targeting Hematopoietic Cells: Better Not Leave It to Chance

Christopher Baum^{a,b} Christof von Kalle^b

^aDepartment of Hematology and Oncology, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany; ^bDivision of Experimental Hematology, Cincinnati Children's Hospital, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA

Key Words

Gene therapy \cdot Retroviral vector \cdot Mutagenesis \cdot Transformation

Abstract

Gene therapy targeting hematopoietic cells has arrived at a new stage of potency. While the potential for curing inherited disorders of the immune system has been demonstrated in clinical trials, we were also confronted with the first serious adverse events related to random insertion of foreign DNA into cellular chromosomes. As it is likely that the manifestation of severe side effects results from a multifactorial process, it will be of crucial importance to define the significance of the individual risk factors involved. The future of the field will depend on our ability to define risk classifications of clinical approaches, to continuously improve transgene technologies, and to introduce new concepts for targeted selection of transgenic cells. Interestingly, correction of genetic disorders by homologous gene repair in defined stem cell clones is on the horizon, but far from being available for clinical use.

 $Copyright @ 2003 \, S. \, Karger \, AG, Basel \\$

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch Acces www.karger.com www.

© 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0107\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha Gene therapy aims to cure inborn or acquired genetic disorders by corrective gene transfer into somatic cells. In the past year (2002), several key observations were made illustrating the whole spectrum of promises and pitfalls encountered with this technology.

Proof of principle has been provided in a mouse model that homologous gene repair is possible when targeting cells with embryonic properties derived from a somatic cloning procedure; these cells could be clonally selected, expanded and used for rescue of an inborn monogenetic immunodeficiency [1]. However, to translate this revolutionary approach into clinical reality, several limitations remain. These include: the technical difficulties encountered with this technology; the problematic ethical status of human somatic cells that have been reset to an embryonic developmental stage in vitro; issues related to the biological fitness and integrity of such cells [1, 2]; the still low efficiency of homologous gene recombination [1], and finally, the anticipated costs of such procedures.

Therefore, the foreseeable future of corrective gene transfer will still mostly rely on the somewhat suboptimal strategy of somatic gene addition. Using a vector system that mediates stable transgene delivery, recombinant transgene cassettes are introduced into somatic (stem) cells without targeting the mutated allele(s) and without

Christopher Baum

Department of Hematology and Oncology, Hannover Medical School

Carl-Neuberg-Strasse 1 DE-30625 Hannover (Germany)

Tel. +49 511 532 4523, Fax +49 511 532 4521, E-Mail baum.christopher@mh-hannover.de

further selection of clones with a particular genotype. This reconstitutes a mixed molecular chimerism, in which engineered somatic cells typically vary with respect to the specific transgene insertion site [for review see, 3]. Using appropriate vectors, the vast majority of engineered cells will support sufficient levels of transgene expression. This approach has shown convincing preclinical efficiency in a number of animal models, especially when using welldesigned retroviral or lentiviral vectors to introduce transgenes into hematopoietic cells with repopulating capacity. In addition, the field received substantial stimulation by clinical evidence for prolonged correction of two types of severe inherited immunodeficiencies following a retroviral gene-addition strategy [4, 5].

However, some engineered cells may carry unpredictable and potentially dangerous alterations of growth-regulatory genes as a result of random transgene insertion (insertional mutagenesis). Before 2002, such random side effects were anticipated to occur but were not considered as a sufficient single event that could induce a malignant transformation. Just a few weeks after the publication of the encouraging clinical follow-up in the correction of the inherited SCID-X1 immunodeficiency, this long-lasting hope had to be revised. A lymphoproliferative disorder was observed in this paradigmatic clinical trial, and the molecular diagnostics indicated that a well-known oncogene had been activated as a result of random vector insertion [6]. Just a few months earlier, a similar adverse event was observed in a mouse model of genetic cell marking [7]. Technological progress in identifying vector insertion sites of individual cell clones from complex samples was crucial for the rapid recognition of the specific pathogenesis in both cases [8].

These reports induced a worldwide reconsideration of the decision process underlying the preparation and conduction of clinical trials in hematopoietic gene therapy. Some regulatory boards decided to install a moratorium on any clinical trial involving retroviral gene transfer into hematopoietic cells, while others asked for more or less substantial revisions of trial designs and informed consents before continuation [9].

To overcome the current uncertainty in the risk prediction of gene-addition technologies, it needs to be resolved in the near future why the oncogenic risk of retroviral gene addition has not become apparent in more than a decade of clinical trials, which probably involved the manipulation of a huge number of target cells and several hundreds of patients. This may be a consequence of the clinical scenarios and specific transgene vectors involved. As it is likely that the manifestation of severe side effects results from a multifactorial process, it will be of crucial importance to define the significance of individual risk factors. Hence, we have to address the role of vector design, potential side effects of transgene expression (especially when dealing with proliferation-promoting transgenes), as well as the cellular and systemic conditions driving amplification of engineered clones. Therefore, we also need to investigate additional inborn or circumstantial hazards associated with the approaches in which side effects are observed.

Others argue that side effects were observed only recently because most engineered cells introduced in earlier studies were not long-lived enough to establish a proliferating cell clone in vivo. Hence, recent technological improvements in gene transfer protocols would explain why side effects are now observed. Accordingly, reducing the number of repopulating cells exposed to random vector insertion would be one important key to solve the problem. However, this will only provide a solution if safe conditions for engraftment and expansion of a small pool (\sim 1,000 to 10,000) of long-lived engineered stem cells are defined.

It appears safe to conclude that the truth lies somewhere in the middle of these considerations. Combined with careful progress and monitoring in clinical gene therapy, ongoing and future research may result in two major advances: a risk classification of technologies and clinical scenarios and, especially for those conditions that remain at increased risk for side effects of gene-addition technology, development of a new hybrid approach that combines random gene addition with targeted clonal selection of somatic stem cells.

References

- Rideout WM 3rd, Hochedlinger K, Kyba M, Daley GQ, Jaenisch R: Correction of a genetic defect by nuclear transplantation and combined cell and gene therapy. Cell 2002;109:17– 27.
- 2 Humpherys D, Eggan K, Akutsu H, Friedman A, Hochedlinger K, Yanagimachi R, Lander ES, Golub TR, Jaenisch R: Abnormal gene expression in cloned mice derived from embryonic stem cell and cumulus cell nuclei. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:12889–12894.
- 3 Baum C, Düllmann J, Li Z, Fehse B, Meyer J, Williams DA, Von Kalle C: Side effects of retroviral gene transfer into hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 2003;101:2099–2114.
- 4 Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Le Deist F, Carlier F, Bouneaud C, Hue C, De Villartay JP, Thrasher AJ, Wulffraat N, Sorensen R, Dupuis-Girod S, Fischer A, Davies EG, Kuis W, Leiva L, Cavazzana-Calvo M: Sustained correction of Xlinked severe combined immunodeficiency by ex vivo gene therapy. N Engl J Med 2002;346: 1185–1193.
- 5 Aiuti A, Slavin S, Aker M, Ficara F, Deola S, Mortellaro A, Morecki S, Andolfi G, Tabucchi A, Carlucci F, Marinello E, Cattaneo F, Vai S, Servida P, Miniero R, Roncarolo MG, Bordignon C: Correction of ADA-SCID by stem cell gene therapy combined with nonmyeloablative conditioning. Science 2002;296:2410–2413.
- 6 Hacein-Bey-Abina S, von Kalle C, Schmidt M, Le Deist F, Wulffraat N, McIntyre E, Radford I, Villeval JL, Fraser CC, Cavazzana-Calvo M, Fischer A: A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med 2003; 348:255–256.

- 7 Li Z, Düllmann J, Schiedlmeier B, Schmidt M, von Kalle C, Meyer J, Forster M, Stocking C, Wahlers A, Frank O, Ostertag W, Kuhlcke K, Eckert HG, Fehse B, Baum C: Murine leukemia induced by retroviral gene marking. Science 2002;296:497.
- 8 Schmidt M, Hoffmann G, Wissler M, Lemke N, Mussig A, Glimm H, Williams DA, Ragg S, Hesemann CU, von Kalle C: Detection and direct genomic sequencing of multiple rare unknown flanking DNA in highly complex samples. Hum Gene Ther 2001;12:743–749.
- 9 Check E: Regulators split on gene therapy as patient shows signs of cancer. Nature 2002; 419:545–546.



Acta Haematol 2003;110:110–120 DOI: 10.1159/000072460

Adoptive Immunotherapy in Chimeras with Donor Lymphocytes

Hans-Jochem Kolb Christoph Schmid Xiao Chen Anja Woiciechowski Marie Roskrow Martin Weber Wolfgang Guenther Georg Ledderose Michael Schleuning

Clinical Cooperative Group Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation, Department of Medicine III, Klinikum University of Munich-Grosshadern, and GSF-National Research Center for Environment and Health, Munich, Germany

Key Words

Stem cell transplantation · Chimerism · Transplantation tolerance · Adoptive immunotherapy · Donor lymphocyte transfusion

Abstract

Allogeneic stem cell transplantation has a well-defined indication in the treatment of hematological malignancies. The beneficial immune effect of allogeneic marrow transplantation has long been known, but only recently have methods been developed to separate the graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect from graft-versus-host disease (GVHD). Animal experiments have shown that lymphocytes from the marrow donor can be transfused without causing severe GVHD if stable chimerism and tolerance is established. First clinical studies have been preformed in patients with recurrent chronic myelogenous leukemia. In these patients complete molecular remissions were induced that persist without further maintenance treatment. These results have been confirmed in larger multicenter studies in Europe and the USA. The best results were obtained in chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML); repeated successes have been reported in relaps-

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0110\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha ing acute myeloid leukemia (AML), myelodysplastic syndromes and multiple myeloma (MMY), and rare responses were reported for acute lymphoid leukemia. Contrary to animal experiments GVHD has been observed in human patients although to a lesser extent than expected in transplants not given immunosuppression. Secondly myelosuppression has been observed in patients treated with relapsing CML. In CML the incidence of GVHD could be reduced by depleting CD8+ T cells from the donor lymphocyte concentrate. Alternatively only small numbers of T lymphocytes can be transfused and in the case of failing responses, the numbers of donor lymphocytes may be increased. Results in recurrent AML have been improved by the use of lowdose cytosine arabinoside, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor mobilized blood cells as compared to lymphocytes only. In MMY the response rate is higher than in AML, but the remissions are of limited duration in most patients. Several protocols have been designed to include preemptive donor lymphocyte transfusion in patients with a high relapse risk after transplantation. Problems remain to avoid chronic GVHD and to circumvent the immune escape mechanisms of leukemia.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Prof. Dr. Hans-Jochem Kolb, Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation José Carreras Transplantation Unit, Klinikum University of Munich-Grosshadern Marchioninistrasse 15, DE–81377 Munich (Germany) Tel. +49 89 7095 4240/4241, Fax +49 89 7095 4242 E-Mail Kolb@med3.med.uni-muenchen.de

The success of donor lymphocytes in the treatment of recurrent leukemia has changed the perspectives of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation [1]. The antileukemic effects of myeloablative conditioning have been substituted by adoptive immunotherapy using cells of the marrow donor (fig. 1). Formerly the treatment of leukemia and other neoplastic diseases of the hematopoietic system focused on the maximal tolerated dose of radiation and chemotherapy to destroy the leukemia as much as possible and to rescue the patient from hematopoietic failure by transplanting bone marrow. Today the limitations and risks of high-dose chemotherapy and radiotherapy are well known and the conditioning treatment is designed to allow the establishment of chimerism and the development of transplantation tolerance as a platform for immunotherapy. The conditioning does not need to be myeloablative. There is a therapeutic dilemma in bone marrow transplantation for malignant diseases. Acute graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) and its sequelae are the major complications of allogeneic stem cell transplantation. The most effective method to prevent GVHD is the depletion of T lymphocytes from the transplant [2, 3]. However, the depletion of T cells from the graft ablated most of the antileukemic effect of allogeneic transplantation [4]. Adding back small amounts of T cells to the depleted graft was not successful in reducing the risk of relapse without inducing GVHD. However, transfusion of donor lymphocytes into stable canine chimeras did not produce GVHD [5]. Therefore in the 1980s we studied donor lymphocyte transfusions (DLTs) in canine chimeras with the aim of influencing chimerism and transfer immunity from the donor to the host [6].

The animal experiments encouraged us to use donor lymphocytes for the treatment of relapse of chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) in 3 patients [7]. The results were confirmed by several single centers [8–14], and the spectrum of graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) activity was assessed in multicenter analyses [15, 16]. Native donor lymphocytes and sensitized T cells, T-cell lines and clones were successful in the treatment of viral infections [17– 19]. Similar strategies have been explored using minor histocompatibility antigens with restricted tissue expression in the treatment of leukemia [20–22]. Here we review the current status of adoptive immunotherapy with donor cells and we try to give a perspective to the future of immunotherapy.

Non-myeloablative conditioning stem cell transplantation

Chimerism & Tolerance

Adoptive immunotherapy with specific T-cells \pm dendritic cells

Fig. 1. Strategy of adoptive immunotherapy in chimeras. Adoptive immunotherapy with T cells with or without dendritic cells allows non-myeloablative conditioning. As soon as chimerism is stable and immunosuppression can be discontinued, a state of immunological tolerance is established. At this time donor cells can be transfused without severe GVHD.

Principles Derived from Animal Studies

There have been many studies on murine leukemia which differs in several aspects from human leukemia. Bacteria-free mice with spontaneous AKR leukemia have been treated with some success using marrow and lowdose lymphocytes from major histocompatibility complex (MHC) mismatched donors [23].

The concept that leukemia expresses minor histocompatibility antigens on the hematopoietic cells of the host was the starting point for the production of mixed DLAidentical chimeras in dogs. Conversion of mixed chimerism into complete chimerism served as a model for a GVL reaction. Mixed chimeras were produced by transplantation of low numbers of marrow cells depleted of T cells by the treatment with absorbed antithymocyte globulin (ATG) to prevent GVHD. These animals were stable mixed chimeras. Transfusion of donor lymphocytes on days 1 and 2, or days 21 and 22 after marrow transplantation induced fatal GVHD. However, transfusion on days 61 and 62 did not produce GVHD and the animals survived. These animals were mixed lymphoid and myeloid chimeras prior to transfusion and they became complete chimeras thereafter [6]. The donors were immunized against tetanus toxoid and the recipients developed antibody titers after DLT that persisted for more than 3 years after booster injections. Transfused and nontransfused animals were immunized against diphtheria toxoid as a new antigen. Transfused dogs developed significantly higher antibody titers than nontransfused dogs.

Adoptive Immunotherapy in Chimeras with Donor Lymphocytes



Fig. 2. The course of a 39-year-old patient suffering from myelosuppression following DLT. After DLT WBC increased and the patient developed fever until the blood counts dropped and the patient became severely pancytopenic. Transfusion of marrow from his donor without further conditioning resulted in complete restoration of hematopoiesis and complete chimerism. A molecular remission was found after marrow transfusion that persists until presence.

In mice a delay of 3 weeks for the transfusion of donor lymphocytes was enough to prevent GVHD [24].

The importance of the delay of DLT is obvious, but the cause of GVHD is not clear. One possibility is the 'cytokine storm' set free by the conditioning treatment with radiation and chemotherapy [25] that may have settled after 3 weeks and 2 months, respectively. Another possibility is the establishment of peripheral tolerance maintained by donor T cells in collaboration with host dendritic cells. The latter mechanism is supported by the finding that depletion of donor lymphocytes in the chimera prior to DLT predisposes the recipient to vigorous GVHD (Menzel H, 1996, unpublished) [26]. In man the necessary delay is not known. It may vary with age and previous chemo- and radiotherapy.

Results of DLTs in CML

Three patients with recurrent CML after allogeneic marrow transplantation were treated with DLT in 1988 and 1989 [27], they are still in hematologic and molecular remission of CML. Acute GVHD developed in 2 patients requiring immunosuppressive treatment, and chronic GVHD in 1. Immunosuppressive treatment could be discontinued in both. Severe myelosuppression was observed in a 4th patient treated 1991. Pancytopenia occurred 2 months after DLT and it did not respond to treatment with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, but to the transfusion of donor marrow (fig. 2).

The analysis of the results of centers of the European Cooperative Group of Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) showed best results in cytogenetic and hematologic relapses of CML, intermediate results in transformed phase CML, acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS), and poor results in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) [15]. Single patients with chronic myeloproliferative diseases as polycythemia vera and myeloid fibrosis [28] also responded to DLT. Both the absence of chimerism [29] and the presence of GVHD at the time of DLT were adverse factors for a response. In CML the GVL effect correlated with the severity of GVHD, but responses were also seen in patients without GVHD. However GVL was limited to patients with an allogeneic donor, it failed in patients with a monozygotic twin donor. The time until molecular remission was between 4 and 6 months after a single transfusion in most patients; in some patients molecular remissions were reached after more than a year (fig. 3). Antigen presentation could be improved by treatment with cytokines. In particular the combination of interferon-α (IFN-α) and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) improved the expression of class-I and II human lymphocyte antigens (HLAs), CD40 and CD80 [30]. Preliminary results confirm the beneficial effect of GM-CSF and IFN- α in patients with recurrent CML refractory to donor lymphocytes.

Complications of the treatment were GVHD and myelosuppression. Myelosuppression was more frequent in hematological relapse than in cytogenetic relapse. The

112

Kolb/Schmid/Chen/Woiciechowski/ Roskrow/Weber/Guenther/Ledderose/ Schleuning use of mobilized blood cells containing stem cells instead of lymphocytes did not prevent myelosuppression [31]. Prevention of GVHD could be achieved by two methods without ablating the GVL effect: depletion of CD8+ T cells from the transfusion [32, 33], and using escalating doses of DLT [34] starting at 2×10^6 lymphocytes/kg. The escalating dose schedule has significantly lowered the risk of GVHD [35]. Patients should be surveyed by regular quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction for bcr/abl, and in case of persisting or recurrent positivity the proposed schedule is started at a dose of 2×10^6 lymphocytes/kg from unrelated donors and 1×10^7 lymphocytes/kg from an HLA-identical sibling donor. Doses are escalated if there is no GVHD within 30 days or no response within 60 days.

Results of DLTs in AML and MDS

The EBMT results indicated inferior responses in patients with recurrent AML after DLT. In patients without chemotherapy-induced remission the response rate was 25% with very few patients surviving more than 4 years. In a second analysis of 120 patients with AML and MDS reported to the EBMT, complete remissions could be induced in 45 (41.6%) of 108 evaluable patients including patients treated with chemotherapy and DLT [36]. The median duration of remission was 304 days, in 18 patients remissions lasted more than a year, and in single patients more than 5 years. Overall survival was greater in responding patients. Three risk factors could be identified as being associated with a poor response to DLT: a short remission after allogeneic transplantation of less than the median of 194 days (p = 0.02); withholding chemotherapy prior to DLT (p = 0.001), and the absence of acute GVHD of grade II or higher after DLT (p < 0.0001). Of patients without GVHD only 18% responded as compared to 66% of patients with GVHD > grade I. Patients with late relapse after transplantation responded more frequently (48%) than those with early relapse (28%). After DLT the complete remission rate was independent of gender and age of the patient and donor, their relationship, the number of cells transfused and whether or not T-cell depletion was used for prophylaxis of GVHD after transplantation. Survival of patients without complete remission was poor, but once a complete remission was achieved survival was not different whether or not the remission was induced by chemotherapy. This finding supports the hypothesis that DLT maintains the remission and favors the use of chemotherapy for remission induction.



Fig. 3. Time to molecular remission after DLT. Molecular remissions were achieved after 4 months, the median time was 6 months and late remissions occurred after more than 1 year. Data are from the Transplant Center Munich Grosshadern, evaluated in March 2001.

Only limited data were available on the FAB subtype and cytogenetic analyses in these patients. With these limitations neither the FAB subtype nor the karyotype influenced the response.

Poor antigen presentation and the rapid progression of the disease were considered as the major obstacles for adoptive immunotherapy in recurrent AML. Improvement of antigen presentation and production of cytotoxic T cells against autologous blasts was studied in vitro (fig. 4). The combination of GM-CSF, IL-4, TNF- α and FLT3-L was particularly effective in inducing dendritic cells from AML blasts [37]. The culture was effective in 77% of patients and included patients with unfavorable karyotypes. Specific cytotoxic T cells against autologous blasts could be produced in more than 60% of these patients.

In a recent study we have used low-dose cytosine arabinoside as mild chemotherapy for halting progression of the disease and GM-CSF for improving antigen presentation. Mobilized blood (MDBC) was transfused as a preparation of stem cell-enriched donor lymphocytes and GM-CSF was applied for 14–28 days after transfusion. This way antigen presentation was optimized by induction of dendritic cells from AML blasts and substitution of dendritic cells derived from CD34+ cells of the graft. The response rate was improved from 25 to 67% and the actuarial probability of survival is 25% at 4 years [38]. In

Adoptive Immunotherapy in Chimeras with Donor Lymphocytes



Fig. 4. Pathophysiology of GVHD. There is mutual activation of donor CD4+ T cells and host dendritic cells which may be accelerated by pre-activation of dendritic cells by radiation, chemotherapy, endotoxin from intestinal flora, viral infections and by pre-immunization on the side of the T cells against minor histocompatibility antigens, viral antigens and others. Activated dendritic cells activate CD8+ T cells and present HLA class-I-restricted peptides to CD8 T cells which become activated and react against normal cells of the host.

some responding patients the treatment was repeated after 4-6 months, and the patients have remained in remission.

In patients with progressive disease after MDBC, lowdose cytosine arabinoside and the transfusion of donor T cells has been used with success, but GVHD was mostly severe.

GVHD and extramedullary relapses remain therapeutic problems. In most patients with extramedullary relapse and some patients with systemic relapse, low-dose cytosine arabinoside is not effective in halting disease progression. In these more intensive chemotherapy including anthracyclins is necessary; solitary infiltrates may be radiated prior to transfusion of donor cells [39]. Following more intensive chemotherapy severe GVHD may develop after transfusion of mobilized blood cells and treatment with GM-CSF. In these cases GM-CSF has to be stopped and immunosuppressive treatment with steroids, cyclosporin A and azathioprine or others has to be started. GM-CSF should also be discontinued if blasts are mobilized from the marrow into the blood. Unfortunately leukemia may recur during immunosuppressive treatment and few therapeutic options remain.

Results of DLTs in Myeloma

The best responses next to CML were seen in recurrent multiple myeloma [40–42]. The most sensitive marker for response is the monoclonal paraprotein, next are infiltrates of plasma cells in the marrow and the disappearance of lumps, and the least sensitive are osteolytic lesions. The time to response may be 4–6 months or longer, and unlike in CML hematological remissions are less likely to be complete [43]. In most instances remissions are not as durable as in CML, but durable partial remissions have been observed in single patients (Kolb, unpublished). GVHD is observed in most responding patients, it may even recur after chemotherapy for myeloma [44]. Prevention of GVHD by depletion of CD8+ T cells from DLT was used with some success [33], repeated low doses of unseparated DLT were also effective [45].

Preemptive treatment with DLT may improve the outcome in combination with T-cell depletion, but the optimal strategy has not been found [46]. Immunization of a donor against the idiotype of the myeloma and the transfer of a cellular proliferative response has been reported [47], but the reactive donor T cells were found in the patient with persisting paraprotein.

Results of DLTs in Other Diseases

The response of recurrent ALL to DLT was poor in most cases [5, 48], but there are exceptions with long-lasting remissions [49, 50]. The first case of Slavin et al. [13] was a child with ALL who received donor cells 4 weeks after transplantation for residual leukemia. Remissions have been described in patients with Hodgkin's disease, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [51] and chronic lymphocytic leukemia, but the overall response is controversial.

Neoplastic diseases other than hematological have been treated with allogeneic transplantation and DLT with some success. Metastatic renal cell cancer has shown sustained responses [52], some response was also observed in breast [53] and ovarian cancer (Kolb unpublished).

Non-malignant diseases have benefited from DLT in cases of poor graft function after non-myeloablative conditioning [54]. Allogeneic transplantation and DLT have been advocated for the treatment of autoimmune diseases [55], since patients with autoimmune disease who had been transplanted for leukemia were cured of the autoimmune disease in most instances. However, chronic GVHD may complicate allogeneic stem cell transplantation after non-myeloablative conditioning with symptoms similar to those of autoimmune diseases.

DLTs have been used for the treatment of viral infections after transplantation, in particular Epstein-Barr virus-induced lymphoproliferative disease [18]. In these cases minute numbers of T cells were sufficient and the reactions were associated with an acute inflammatory response. Pre-immunized T-cell lines were better tolerated and effective [19]. Adoptive immunotherapy of viral infections has shown promising results which may lead to better understanding of the GVL response.

Mechanism of the GVL (Tumor) Effect

The absence of a measurable GVL effect in patients with syngeneic twin donors indicates the importance of an alloimmune response [15]. Minor histocompatibility antigens are expressed on leukemia cells and can serve as targets for a GVL effect without GVHD, if their expression is restricted to hematopoietic tissue [22, 56]. HA-1 and HA-2 are such peptides with restricted expression to the hematopoietic system, but Y-associated minor histocompatibility antigens are also candidates [57, 58]. Tissue-restricted expression of minor histocompatibility antigens may be operationally limited to the hematopoietic system by presentation of class-II HLAs [59].

The effector cells of the GVL reaction are not well defined. CD4+ T cells might be candidates, since CD8+ T cells could be depleted without losing the GVL effect [32]. However CD4+ T cells can recruit CD8+ T cells and other cells in vivo [60].

There is good evidence that ex vivo T cells immunized against minor histocompatibility antigens effectively lyse leukemia cells in vitro [21, 61] and in immunodeficient mice in vivo [62]. However, ex vivo immunized T cells have not yet been used widely in human patients. The most convincing example of leukemia treatment with immunized cells is the trial of Falkenburg et al. [63] who selected cytotoxic T cells on the basis of their reactivity to CML cells and infused them repeatedly into a patient with accelerated phase CML. Slavin et al. [64] immunized donor cells with cell lysates of the parents and found a complete response in a patient with accelerated phase CML who had not responded to DLT.

Antigens other than minor histocompatibility antigens that may be candidates for a GVL effect comprise fusion peptides, peptides from proteins encoded by mutated genes and proteins of overexpressed genes. Products of disease-specific rearranged genes as BCR/ABL in CML, PML/RARa in AML FAB M3 and AML1/ETO and others contain highly specific fusion peptides. Proteins of genes with point mutations as in RAS genes and peptides of overexpressed normal genes such as p53 and proteinase 3 [65] have been studied. The antibody idiotype of a lymphoma and myeloma could also be seen as an overexpressed normal protein that marks the tumor. T-cell reactivity has been described for all of these, but only BCR/ ABL-specific T cells recognize malignant cells in patients, and T cells with that specificity are occasionally found in patients [66]. To date none of these antigens has been used successfully for adoptive immunotherapy in chimeric patients [67].

Our hypothesis that because myeloid leukemia produces dendritic cells of leukemia origin it responds better to DLT than lymphoid leukemia has been supported by the finding that dendritic cells in CML carry the bcr/abl translocation [30, 68, 69], and AML cells differentiated the karyotypic marker to dendritic cells [37, 70] in fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH).

The production of dendritic cells from leukemia precursors has been studied in vitro because most cases of AML, as lymphomas and lymphoblastic leukemia, do not express co-stimulatory molecules such as CD80 and CD86. Untreated CML is poorly stimulatory in mixed lymphocyte reactions and fails to induce cytotoxic T cells in many instances [71]. Culture of AML blasts in the presence of GM-CSF, IL-4 with or without TNF-α and FLT3-L induces the expression of co-stimulatory molecules [37] (fig. 5). Similarly culture of CML cells in the presence of IFN-α and GM-CSF stimulates expression of co-stimulatory molecules and the generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes [72]. The combination of GM-CSF and IFN-α has already been used successfully in patients with relapse of CML not responding to DLT alone and DLT plus IFN-a (unpublished). Other cytokines such as IL-2 have been introduced on the basis of animal experiments [73]. IL-2 may support the T-cell reactivity after immunization. In myeloma and lymphoid neoplasms stimulation of donor T cells is poor and new ways to improve specific T-cell stimulation are being explored. One possibility is the transfer of genes coding for immunostimulatory molecules and proinflammatory cytokines [74]. Other ways are the transfusion of dendritic cells with the DLT or the use of MDBC together with the treatment with GM-CSF.

Adoptive Immunotherapy in Chimeras with Donor Lymphocytes



Fig. 5. AML cells may develop to antigen-presenting cells. AML blasts are deficient of co-stimulatory molecules and are thus inefficient in the presentation of antigen to donor T cells. Treatment with GM-CSF drives blasts to express the stimulatory molecules necessary for efficient antigen presentation. These T cells then react against residual blasts.

Table 1. Possible mechanisms of immune escape



Low expression of co-stimulatory molecules: B7.1, B7.2, CD40, ICAM

Downregulation of HLA class I, class II antigens or relevant alleles Inefficient peptide production by proteasome/TAP mechanism Secretion of inhibitory cytokines as IL-10, TGF- β

Low secretion of proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IFN- γ Expression of FAS-L on tumor/leukemia cells inducing apoptosis of T cells

Expression of nonfunctional FAS on leukemia blasts

Mechanisms on T cells

Downregulation of ζ -chain (lymphoma and CML) and ϵ -chain (CML) of the T cell receptor

Downregulation of CD28 in AML Others



mia reaction. After establishment of chimerism dendritic cells of the host are replaced by dendritic cells of the donor. Leukemic blasts are potentially the remaining hematopoietic cells of the host which may become stimulatory and a target for donor T cells, if they are driven towards dendritic cells. The reaction is specific because minor histocompatibility antigens with restricted expression are involved and donor dendritic cells maintain tolerance in other organs.

Fig. 6. Mechanism of the graft-versus-leuke-

Immune reconstitution after DLT has been studied with typing for T-cell receptor V- β families [75] and T-cell receptor excision circles [76]. DLT enhanced immune recovery and converted to full donor chimerism. In single patients with GVL reactions clonal T-cell restitution has been observed [75]. T cells of the donor produced similar clones when exposed to the leukemia in vivo as in vitro, but genetic analysis showed that they were different [77].

Intercurrent infections with viruses or other intracellular microorganisms may jeopardize the result of DLT. Most patients experiencing viral infections in the first weeks after DLT develop GVHD. A similar observation has been reported in patients given T-cell-depleted transplants and DLT. CMV seropositivity of the patient was the most significant risk factor for survival [78]. It is being discussed whether anti-infectious prophylaxes should be given to patients after DLT.

There are numerous mechanisms how neoplasms and leukemia may escape an immune reaction against themselves (table 1) [79]. Most importantly the expression of antigens on the cell surface may change. Even the loss of the Philadelphia chromosome has been reported [80]. In this context the use of minor histocompatibility antigens is most promising, because in the chimera most hematopoietic cells are substituted by the donor and only leukemia cells are still of host type (fig. 6).

The role of natural killer (NK) cells has always been debated in allogeneic stem cell transplantation. During

post-transplant recovery NK cells are early and trials of substitution early after transplantation have not been successful. In murine models allogeneic NK cells were effective [81], but depletion of CD3+ T cells abrogated the effect [82]. In HLA-mismatched transplantation complete T-cell chimerism is not required for GVL to occur, mixed chimeras can be cured of lymphoma [83]. In mixed chimeras DLT exert a strong effect against lymphoma without causing GVHD [84]. The role of NK cells has recently been investigated in HLA-mismatched transplantation and excellent results were reported in AML, if donor and patient differed in the killer inhibitor receptors [85]. NK cells are inhibited from killing if the target cells share certain HLA antigens. In HLA-mismatched transplantation NK cells of the donor can kill leukemia cells and at the same time suppress rejection of the transplant. In the case of the donor and patient belonging to a different alloreactive group, relapses of AML did not occur.

Outlook for Adoptive Immunotherapy

Hematopoietic cell transplantation has come a long way from bone marrow transplantation to adoptive immunotherapy in chimeras. However, the mechanisms of adoptive immunotherapy in chimeras are still far from being understood. The immunobiology of leukemia, other neoplasia and viral infections has to be studied further in human patients. The mechanism of immune tolerance, immune reactivity against normal cells, and transfer of immunity can be studied in animal experiments.

Immunization of donor T cells against minor histocompatibility antigens of the recipient is currently studied in the dog. Sensitized cells convert mixed to complete chimerism much faster than naive T cells. Tests have been developed to demonstrate cellular immunity to hematopoietic progenitor cells in vitro allowing the definition of minor antigens in the dog [86]. The incidence of severe GVHD after transfusion of sensitized donor lymphocytes into stable chimeras may be 30-50% [5]. The percentage is expected to be higher in humans since patients and their donors are exposed to a multiplicity of histocompatibility and viral antigens during their life. Preventive measures against severe GVHD are necessary. Modification of donor lymphocytes with a suicide gene is the most promising way of prevention. T cells of the donor are infected with a replication-deficient retrovirus carrying the herpes simplex thymidine kinase gene (HSV-Tk) which can phosphorylate ganciclovir and the resulting nucleotide leads to the stop of DNA polymerization during cell division [87].

Current problems of the method are altered immune reactivity of transduced T cells, immune reaction against the viral protein and rejection of the transduced cells and altered sensitivity of transduced cells to ganciclovir due to splice variants of the gene. Recently the development of leukemia has been reported in a mouse treated with cells carrying the marker gene (a truncated nerve growth factor receptor) without the suicide gene. We have studied the method in the dog and found a good immune reactivity of transduced canine T cells in vitro. Transfusion of transduced T cells into a canine chimera resulted in a complete chimerism and transfer of immunity to tetanus toxoid [88].

Adoptive immunotherapy in chimeras is a promising way to treat leukemia and possibly solid neoplasia. In particular the immune reactivity against leukemias and neoplasia otherwise refractory to chemotherapy gives new perspectives in hematology and oncology. Several leukemia study groups have included preemptive DLT as prophylaxis in high-risk leukemia according to the schema shown in figure 1. The results are pending.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Project Ko 81-1383-2, Wilhelm Sander Stiftung No. 93-018-01-03, and Deutsche José Carreras Leukämie Stiftung e.V.

Adoptive Immunotherapy in Chimeras with Donor Lymphocytes

References

- 1 Antin JH: Graft-versus-leukemia: No longer an epiphenomenon. Blood 1993;82:2273–2277.
- 2 Rodt H, Kolb HJ, Netzel B, Rieder I, Janka G, Belohradsky B, Haas RJ, Thierfelder S: GVHD suppression by incubation of bone marrow grafts with anti-T- cell globulin: Effect in the canine model and application to clinical bone marrow transplantation. Transplant Proc 1979;11:962–966.
- 3 Kolb HJ, Rieder I, Rodt H, Netzel B, Grosse Wilde H, Scholz S, Schaffer E, Kolb H, Thierfelder S: Antilymphocytic antibodies and marrow transplantation. VI: Graft-versus-host tolerance in DLA-incompatible dogs after in vitro treatment of bone marrow with absorbed antithymocyte globulin. Transplantation 1979;27: 242–245.
- 4 Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sondel PM, Goldman JM, Kersey J, Kolb HJ, Rimm AA, Ringden O, Rozman C, Speck B, et al: Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1990;75:555–562.
- 5 Weiden PL, Storb R, Tsoi M-S, Graham TC, Lerner KG, Thomas ED: Infusion of donor lymphocytes into stable canine radiation chimeras. Implications for mechanism of transplantation tolerance. J Immunol 1976;116: 1212–1219.
- 6 Kolb HJ, Günther W, Schumm M, Holler E, Wilmanns W, Thierfelder S: Adoptive immunotherapy in canine chimeras. Transplantation 1997;63:430–436.
- 7 Kolb HJ, Mittermueller J, Clemm C, Ledderose G, Brehm G, Heim M, Wilmanns W: Donor leukocyte transfusions for treatment of recurrent chronic myelogenous leukemia in marrow transplant patients. Blood 1990;76: 2462–2465.
- 8 Bar BMAM, Schattenberg A, Mensink EJBM, Van Kessel AG, Smetsers TFCM, Knops GHJN, Linders EHP, De Witte T: Donor leukocyte infusions for chronic myeloid leukemia relapsed after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Oncol 1993;11:513–519.
- 9 van Rhee F, Lin F, Cullis JO, Spencer A, Cross NCP, Chase A, Garicochea B, Bungey J, Barrett AJ, Goldman JM: Relapse of chronic myeloid leukemia after allogeneic bone marrow transplant: The case for giving donor leukocyte transfusions before the onset of hematological relapse. Blood 1994;83:3377–3383.
- 10 Hertenstein B, Wiesneth M, Novotny J, Bunjes D, Stefanic M, Heinze B, Hübner G, Heimpel H, Arnold R: Interferon alpha and donor buffy coat transfusions for treatment of relapsed chronic myeloid leukemia after allogeneic marrow transplantation. Transplantation 56, 1114–1118. 1993.
- 11 Helg C, Roux E, Beris P, Cabrol C, Wacker P, Darbellay R, Wyss M, Jeannet M, Chapuis B, Roosnek E: Adoptive immunotherapy for recurrent CML after BMT. Bone Marrow Transplant 1993;12:125–129.

- 12 Porter DL, Roth MS, McGarigle C, Ferrara JLM, Antin JH: Induction of graft-versus-host disease as immunotherapy for relapsed chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 1994;330: 100–106.
- 13 Slavin S, Naparstek E, Nagler A, Ackerstein A, Samuel S, Kapelushnik J, Brautbar C, Or R: Allogeneic cell therapy with donor peripheral blood cells and recombinant human interleukin-2 to treat leukemia relapse after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1996;87: 2195–2204.
- 14 Bacigalupo A, Soracco M, Vassallo F, Abate M, van Lint MT, Gualandi F, Lamparelli T, Occhini D, Mordini N, Bregante S, Figari O, Benvenuto F, Sessarego M, Fugazza G, Carlier P, Valbonesi M: Donor lymphocyte infusions (DLI) in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997;19: 927–932.
- 15 Kolb HJ, Schattenberg A, Goldman JM, Hertenstein B, Jacobsen N, Arcese W, Ljungman P, Ferrant A, Verdonck L, Niederwieser D, van Rhee F, Mittermüller J, De Witte T, Holler E, Ansari H: Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. Blood 1995;86:2041–2050.
- 16 Collins RH, Shpilberg O, Drobyski WR, Porter DL, Giralt S, Champlin R, Goodman SA, Wolff SN, Hu W, Verfaillie C, List A, Dalton W, Ognoskie N, Chetrit A, Antin JH, Nemunaitis J: Donor leukocyte infusions in 140 patients with relapsed malignancy after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Oncol 1997;15:433–444.
- 17 Riddell SR, Watanabe KS, Goodrich JM, Li CR, Agha ME, Greenberg PD: Restoration of viral immunity in immunodeficient humans by adoptive transfer of T-cell clones. Science 1992;257:238–241.
- 18 Papadopoulos EB, Ladanyi M, Emanuel D, Mackinnon S, Boulad F, Carabasi MH, Castro-Malaspina H, Childs BH, Gillio AP, Small TN, Young JW, Kernan NA, OReilly RJ: Infusions of donor leukocytes to treat Epstein-Bar virusassociated lymphoproliferative disorders after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med 1994;330:1185–1191.
- 19 Heslop HE, Brenner MK, Rooney CM: Donor T cells to treat EBV-associated lymphoma. N Engl J Med 1994;331:679–680.
- 20 van der Harst D, Goulmy E, Falkenburg JHF, Kooji-Winkelaar YMC, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, Goselink HM, Brand A: Recognition of minor histocompatibility antigens on lymphocytic and myeloid leukemic cells by cytotoxic T-cell clones. Blood 1994;83:1060–1066.
- 21 Mutis T, Verdijk R, Schrama E, Esendam B, Brand A, Goulmy E: Feasability of immunotherapy of relapsed leukemia with ex vivo generated cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for hematopoietic system-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens. Blood 1999;93:2336–2341.

- 22 Warren EH, Greenberg PD, Riddell SR: Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-defined human minor histocompatibility antigens with a restricted tissue distribution. Blood 1998;91:2197–2207.
- 23 Truitt RL, Shih CC, LeFever AV: Manipulation of graft-versus-host disease for a graft-versus-leukemia effect after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation in AKR mice with spontaneous leukemia/lymphoma. Transplantation 1986;41:301–310.
- 24 Johnson BD, Drobyski WR, Truitt RL: Delayed infusion of normal donor cells after MHC-matched bone marrow transplantation provides an antileukemia reaction without graft-versus-host disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 1993;11:329–336.
- 25 Ferrara JLM, Deeg HJ: Graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 1991;324:667–674.
- 26 Johnson BD, Becker EE, LaBelle JL, Truitt RL: Role of immunoregulatory donor T cells in suppression of graft-versus-host disease following donor leukocyte infusion therapy. J Immunol 1999;163:6479–6487.
- 27 Kolb HJ, Mittermueller J, Holler E, Clemm C, Ledderose G, Brehm G, Wilmanns W: Treatment of recurrent chronic myelogenous leukemia posttransplant with interferone alpha (INFa) and donor leukocyte transfusions. Blut 1990;61:122.
- 28 Cervantes F, Rovira M, Urbano-Ispizua A, Rozman M, Carreras E, Montserrat E: Complete remission of idiopathic myelofibrosis following donor lymphocyte infusion after failure of allogeneic transplanta-tion: Demonstration of a graft-versus-myelofibrosis effect. Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;26:697–699.
- 29 Schattenberg A, Schaap N, van de Wiel-van Kemenade E, Bar B, Preijers F, Van Der Maazen R, Roovers E, De Witte T: In relapsed patients after lymphocyte depleted bone marrow transplantation the percentage of donor T lymphocytes correlates well with the outcome of donor leukocyte infusion. Leuk Lymphoma 1999;32:317–325.
- 30 Chen X, Regn S, Raffegerst S, Kolb HJ, Roskrow M: Interferon alpha in combination with GM-CSF induces the differentiation of leukaemic antigen-presenting cells that have the capacity to stimulate a specific anti-leukaemic cytotoxic T-cell response from patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2000;111:596–607.
- 31 Flowers MED, Sullivan KM, Martin P, Buckner CD, Beach K, Higano T, Radich JP, Clift RA, Bensinger W, Deeg HJ, Chauncey TR, Rowley S, Storb R, Appelbaum FR: G-CSF stimulated donor peripheral blood infusions as immunotherapy in patients with hematologic malignancies relapsing after allogeneic transplantation (abstract). Blood 1995;86(suppl 1):564.

- 32 Giralt S, Hester J, Huh Y, Hirsch-Ginsberg C, Rondon G, Seong D, Lee M, Gajewski J, Van Besien K, Khouri I, Mehra R, Przepiorka D, Körbling M, Talpaz M, Kantarjian H, Fischer H, Deisseroth A, Champlin R: CD8-depleted donor lymphocyte infusion as treatment for relapsed chronic myelogenous leukemia after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1995;86:4337–4343.
- 33 Alyea EP, Soiffer RJ, Canning C, Neuberg D, Schlossman R, Pickett C, Collins H, Wang Y, Anderson KC, Ritz J: Toxicity and efficacy of defined doses of CD4(+) donor lymphocytes for treatment of relapse after allogeneic bone marrow transplant. Blood 1998;91:3671– 3680.
- 34 Mackinnon S, Papadopoulos EB, Carabasi MH, Reich L, Collins NH, Boulad F, Castro-Malaspina H, Childs BH, Gillio AP, Kernan NA, Small TM, Young JW, OReilly RJ: Adoptive immunotherapy evaluating escalating doses of donor leukocytes for relapse of chronic myeloid leukemia after bone marrow transplantation: Separation of graft-versus-leukemia responses from graft-versus-host disease. Blood 1995;86:1261–1268.
- 35 Guglielmi C, Arcese W, Dazzi F, Brand R, Bunjes D, Verdonck LF, Schattenberg A, Kolb HJ, Ljungman P, Devergie A, Bacigalupo A, Gomez M, Michallet M, Elmaagacli A, Gratwohl A, Apperley J, Niederwieser D: Donor lymphocyte infusion for relapsed chronic myelogenous leukemia: Prognostic relevance of the initial cell dose. Blood 2002;100:397–405.
- 36 Schmid C, Alessandrino EP, Bunjes D, Ferrant A, Frassoni F, Gluckman E, Holler E, Jacobsen N, Ljungman P, Schattenberg A, Verdonck L, Kolb HJ: Treatment of relapsed AML and MDS after allogeneic stem cell transplantation with donor lymphocyte transfusion – A retrospective analysis of EBMT results (abstract). Blood 2000;96:477.
- 37 Woiciechowsky A, Regn S, Kolb H-J, Roskrow M: Leukemic dendritic cells generated in the presence of FLT3 ligand have the capacity to stimulate an autologous leukaemia-specific cytotoxic T cell response from patients with acute myeloid leukaemia. Leukemia 2001;15:246– 255.
- 38 Schmid C, Lange C, Salat C, Stoetzer O, Ledderose G, Muth A, Schleuning M, Roskrow M, Kolb H-J: Treatment of recurrent acute leukemia after marrow transplantation with donor cells and GM-CSF (abstract). Blood 1999; 94(suppl 1):668.
- 39 Fleming DR, Greenwood ME, Garrison J, Geil JD, Romond EH: Lymphocyte infusion for delayed extramedullary relapse of acute leukemia following bone marrow transplantation. Leuk Lymphoma 1996;21:525–528.
- 40 Lokhorst HM, Schattenberg A, Cornelissen JJ, Thomas LLM, Verdonck L: Donor leukocyte infusions are effective in relapsed multiple myeloma after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1997;90:4206–4211.
- 41 Tricot G, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Hilton J, Munshi N, Barlogie B: Graft-versus-myeloma effect: Proof of principle. Blood 1996;87:1196– 1198.

- 42 Verdonck LF, Lokhorst HM, Dekker AW, Nieuwenhuis HK, Petersen EF. Graft-versusmyeloma effect in two cases. Lancet 1996;347: 800–801.
- 43 Salama M, Nevill T, Marcellus D, Parker P, Johnson M, Kirk A, Porter D, Giralt S, Levine JE, Drobyski W, Barrett AJ, Horowitz M, Collins RH: Donor leukocyte infusions for multiple myeloma. Bone Marrow Transplant 2000; 26:1179–1184.
- 44 Fuchs EJ, Seber A, Altomonte V, Braine HG, Humphrey RL, Jones RJ, Noga SJ, Schepers K, Wright SK, Vogelsang GB: Chemotherapy does not nullify the ability of donor lymphocyte infusions to mediate graft-versus-host reactions. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;22:303– 305.
- 45 du Toit C, Novitzky N: Multiple myeloma: Infusions of low doses of donor lymphocytes are also effective in reversing disease recurrence after bone marrow transplantation. Br J Haematol 1998;103:1210–1211.
- 46 Alyea E, Weller E, Schlossman R, Canning C, Webb I, Doss D, Mauch P, Marcus K, Fisher D, Freeman A, Parikh B, Gribben J, Soiffer R, Ritz J, Anderson K: T-cell-depleted allogeneic bone marrow transplantation followed by donor lymphocyte infusion in patients with multiple myeloma: Induction of graft-versus-myeloma effect. Blood 2001;98:934–939.
- 47 Kwak LW, Taub DD, Duffey PL, Bensinger WI, Bryant EM, Reynolds CW, Longo DL: Transfer of myeloma idiotype-specific immunity from an actively immunised marrow donor. Lancet 1995;345:1016–1020.
- 48 Collins RH, Jr., Goldstein S, Giralt S, Levine J, Porter D, Drobyski W, Barrett J, Johnson M, Kirk A, Horowitz M, Parker P: Donor leukocyte infusions in acute lymphocytic leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;26:511–516.
- 49 Matsue K, Tabayashi T, Yamada K, Takeuchi M: Eradication of residual bcr-abl-positive clones by inducing graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation in patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 2002;29:63–66.
- 50 Lawson SE, Darbyshire PJ: Use of donor lymphocytes in extramedullary relapse of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia following bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;22:829–830.
- 51 van Besien KW, de Lima M, Giralt SA, Moore DF, Jr., Khouri IF, Rondon G, Mehra R, Andersson BS, Dyer C, Cleary K, Przepiorka D, Gajewski JL, Champlin RE: Management of lymphoma recurrence after allogeneic transplantation: The relevance of graft-versus-lymphoma effect. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997; 19:977–982.
- 52 Childs R, Chernoff A, Contentin N, Bahceci E, Schrump D, Leitman S, Read EJ, Tisdale J, Dunbar C, Linehan WM, Young NS, Barrett AJ: Regression of metastatic renal-cell carcinoma after nonmyeloablative allogeneic peripheral-blood stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med 2000;343:750–758.

- 53 Or R, Ackerstein A, Nagler A, Kapelushnik J, Samuel S, Amar A, Brautbar C, Slavin S: Allogeneic cell-mediated immunotherapy for breast cancer after autologous stem cell transplantation: A clinical pilot study. Cytokines Cell Mol Ther 1998;4:1–6.
- 54 Horwitz ME, Barrett AJ, Brown MR, Carter CS, Childs R, Gallin JI, Holland SM, Linton GF, Miller JA, Leitman SF, Read EJ, Malech HL: Treatment of chronic granulomatous disease with nonmyeloablative conditioning and a T-cell-depleted hematopoietic allograft. N Engl J Med 2001;344:881–888.
- 55 Slavin S, Nagler A, Varadi G, Or R: Graft vs autoimmunity following allogeneic non-myeloablative blood stem cell transplantation in a patient with chronic myelogenous leukemia and severe systemic psoriasis and psoriatic polyarthritis. Exp Hematol 2000;28:853–857.
- 56 de Bueger M, Bakker A, Van Rood JJ, Van der Woude F,Goulmy E: Tissue distribution of human minor histocompatibility antigens. Ubiquitous versus restricted tissue distribution indicates heterogeneity among human cytotoxic T lymphocyte-defined non-MHC antigens. J Immunol 1992;149:1788–1794.
- 57 Vogt MH, de Paus RA, Voogt PJ, Willemze R, Falkenburg JH: DFFRY codes for a new human male-specific minor transplantation antigen involved in bone marrow graft rejection. Blood 2000;95:1100–1105.
- 58 Warren EH, Gavin MA, Simpson E, Chandler P, Page DC, Disteche C, Stankey KA, Greenberg PD, Riddell SR: The human UTY gene encodes a novel HLA-B8-restricted H-Y antigen. J Immunol 2000;164:2807–2814.
- 59 Vogt MH, van den Muijsenberg JW, Goulmy E, Spierings E, Kluck P, Kester MG, van Soest RA, Drijfhout JW, Willemze R, Falkenburg JH: The DBY gene codes for an HLA-DQ5restricted human male-specific minor histocompatibility antigen involved in graft-versushost disease. Blood 2002;99:3027–3032.
- 60 Zorn E, Wang KS, Hochberg EP, Canning C, Alyea EP, Soiffer RJ, Ritz J: Infusion of CD4+ donor lymphocytes induces the expansion of CD8+ donor T cells with cytolytic activity directed against recipient hematopoietic cells. Clin Cancer Res 2002;8:2052–2060.
- 61 Bonnet D, Warren EH, Greenberg PD, Dick JE, Riddell SR: CD8+ minor histocompatibility antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones eliminate human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:8639–8644.
- 62 Fontaine P, Roy-Proulx G, Knafo L, Baron C, Roy DC, Perreault C: Adoptive transfer of minor histocompatibility antigen-specific T lymphocytes eradicates leukemia cells without causing graft-versus host disease. Nat Med 2001;7:789–794.
- 63 Falkenburg JH, Wafelman AR, Joosten P, Smit WM, van Bergen CA, Bongaerts R, Lurvink E, van der Hoorn M, Kluck P, Landegent JE, Kluin-Nelemans HC, Fibbe WE, Willemze R: Complete remission of accelerated phase chronic myeloid leukemia by treatment with leukemia-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Blood 1999;94:1201–1208.

Adoptive Immunotherapy in Chimeras with Donor Lymphocytes

- 64 Slavin S, Ackerstein A, Morecki S, Gelfand Y, Cividalli G: Immunotherapy of relapsed resistant chronic myelogenous leukemia post allogeneic bone marrow transplantation with alloantigen pulsed donor lymphocytes. Bone Marrow Transplant 2001;28:795–798.
- 65 Clave E, Molldrem J, Hensel N, Raptis A, Barrett AJ: Donor-recipient polymorphism of the proteinase 3 gene: A potential target for T-cell alloresponses to myeloid leukemia. J Immunother 1999;22:1–6.
- 66 Bocchia M, Korontsvit T, Xu Q, Mackinnon S, Yang SY, Sette A, Scheinberg DA: Specific human cellular immunity to bcr-abl oncogenederived peptides. Blood 1996;87:3587–3592.
- 67 Pinilla-Ibarz J, Cathcart K, Korontsvit T, Soignet S, Bocchia M, Caggiano J, Lai L, Jimenez J, Kolitz J, Scheinberg DA: Vaccination of patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia with bcr-abl oncogene breakpoint fusion peptides generates specific immune responses. Blood 2000;95:1781–1787.
- 68 Eibl B, Ebner S, Duba Ch, Böck G, Romani N, Gächter A, Nachbaur D, Schuler G, Niederwieser D: Philadelphia-chromosome positive dendritic cells (DC) of chronic myelocytic leukemia (CML) patients induce primary cytotoxic T-cell responses to CML cells. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997;19(suppl 1):S33.
- 69 Smit WM, Rijnbeck M, van Bergen CAM, de Paus RA, Willemze R, Falkenburg JHF: Dendritic cells generated from FACS sorted chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) precursor cells express BCR/ABL, and are potent stimulators for allogeneic T cells (abstract 1186). Br J Haematol 1996;93(suppl 2):313.
- 70 Choudhury BA, Liang J, Thomas EK, Flores-Romo L, Xie QS, Agusala K, Sutaria S, Sinha I, Champlin RE, Claxton D: Dendritic cells derived in vitro from acute myelogenous leukemia cells stimulate autologous anti-leukemic Tcell responses. Blood 1999;93:780–786.
- 71 Schneider EM, Chen ZZ, Ellwart J, Wilmanns W, Kolb HJ: Immune phenotype of chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitor cells (abstract 319). Bone Marrow Transplant 1996; 17(suppl 1):S69.
- 72 Chen X, Regn S, Kolb H-J, Roskrow M: The generation of leukemic dendritic cells from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) using the combination of interferon-α and GM-CSF (abstract). Blood 1999;94(suppl 1):529.

- 73 Varadi G, Ackerstein A, Ben Neriah S, Nagler A: Adoptive cell-mediated immunotherapy with interleukin-2 (IL-2) for relapsing lymphoblastic crisis following mismatched unrelated bone marrow transplantation in a chronic myelogenous leukemia patient. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;21:93–96.
- 74 Wen XY, Mandelbaum S, Li ZH, Hitt M, Graham FL, Hawley TS, Hawley RG, Stewart AK: Tricistronic viral vectors co-expressing interleukin-12 (1L-12) and CD80 (B7-1) for the immunotherapy of cancer: preclinical studies in myeloma. Cancer Gene Ther 2001;8:361– 370.
- 75 Claret EJ, Alyea EP, Orsini E, Pickett CC, Collins H, Wang Y, Neuberg D, Soiffer RJ, Ritz J: Characterization of T cell repertoire in patients with graft-versus-leukemia after donor lymphocyte infusion. J Clin Invest 1997;100:855– 866.
- 76 Bellucci R, Alyea EP, Weller E, Chillemi A, Hochberg E, Wu CJ, Canning C, Schlossman R, Soiffer RJ, Anderson KC, Ritz J: Immunologic effects of prophylactic donor lymphocyte infusion after allogeneic marrow transplantation for multiple myeloma. Blood 2002;99: 4610–4617.
- 77 Epperson DE, Margolis DA, McOlash L, Janczak T, Barrett AJ: In vitro T-cell receptor V beta repertoire analysis may identify which Tcell V beta families mediate graft-versus-leukaemia and graft-versus-host responses after human leucocyte antigen-matched sibling stem cell transplantation. Br J Haematol 2001;114: 57–62.
- 78 Craddock C, Szydlo RM, Dazzi F, Olavarria E, Cwynarski K, Yong A, Brookes P, de la Fuente J, Kanfer E, Apperley JF, Goldman JM: Cytomegalovirus seropositivity adversely influences outcome after T-depleted unrelated donor transplant in patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia: The case for tailored graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis. Br J Haematol 2001;112: 228–236.
- 79 Dermime S, Mavroudis D, Jiang YZ, Hensel N, Molldrem J, Barrett AJ: Immune escape from a graft-versus-leukemia effect may play a role in the relapse of myeloid leukemias following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997;19:989–999.

- 80 Au WY, Lie AK, Ma SK, Wan TS, Liang R, Leung YH, Kwong YL: Philadelphia (Ph) chromosome-positive chronic myeloid leukaemia relapsing as Ph-negative leukaemia after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Br J Haematol 2001;114:365–368.
- 81 Glass B, Uharek L, Gassmann W, Focks B, Bolouri H, Loeffler H, Mueller-Ruchholtz W: Graft-versus-leukemia activity after bone marrow transplantation does not require graft-versus-host disease. Ann Hematol 1992;64:255– 259.
- 82 Uharek L, Glass B, Zeis M, Dreger P, Steinmann J, Löffler H, Schmitz N: Abrogation of graft-vs. leukemia activity after depletion of CD3+ T cells in a murine model of MHCmatched peripheral blood progenitor cell transplantation (PBPCT). Exp Hematol 1998;26: 93–99.
- 83 Sykes M, Preffer F, McAfee S, Saidman SL, Weymouth D, Andrews DM, Colby C, Sackstein R, Sachs DH, Spitzer TR: Mixed lymphohaemopoietic chimerism and graft-versus-lymphoma effects after nonmyeloablative therapy and HLA-mismatched bone-marrow transplantation. Lancet 1999;353:1755–1759.
- 84 Mapara MY, Kim YM, Wang SP, Bronson R, Sachs DH, Sykes M: Donor lymphocyte infusions mediate superior graft-versus-leukemia effects in mixed compared to fully allogeneic chimeras: a critical role for host antigen-presenting cells. Blood 2002;100:1903–1909.
- 85 Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, Posati S, Rogaia D, Frassoni F, Aversa F, Martelli MF, Velardi A: Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. Science 2002;295:2097–2100.
- 86 Weber M, Lange C, Kolb HJ, Kolb HJ: CFUsuppression by T-Cells primed with DLA-identical dendritic cells (abstract). Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;25(suppl 1):S23.
- 87 Bonini C, Ferrari G, Verzelletti S, Servida P, Zappone E, Ruggieri L, Ponzoni M, Rossini S, Mavilio F, Traversari C, Bordignon C: HSV-TK gene transfer into donor lymphocytes for control of allogeneic graft-versus-leukemia. Science 1997;276:1719–1724.
- 88 Weissinger EM, Franz M, Voss C, Kremmer E, Kolb H-J: Expression of HSV-TK suicide gene in primary T lymphocytes: The dog as a preclinical model. Cytokines Cell Mol Ther 2000; 6:25–33.



Acta Haematol 2003;110:121–131 DOI: 10.1159/000072461

Cellular Engineering of HSV-tk Transduced, Expanded T Lymphocytes for Graft-versus-Host Disease Management

Scott R. Burger^a Diane M. Kadidlo^b Lisa Basso^{c, d} Nancy Bostrom^b Paul J. Orchard^{c, d, e}

^aAdvanced Cell and Gene Therapy, Chapel Hill, N.C. and Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology, University of Minnesota Medical School, ^bCell Therapy Clinical Laboratory, Fairview University Medical Center, ^cProgram in Blood and Marrow Transplantation, ^dDepartment of Pediatrics, ^eInstitute of Human Genetics, University of Minnesota Medical School, Minneapolis, Minn., USA

Key Words

HSV-tk · Suicide genes · Allogeneic T lymphocytes · Graft-versus-host disease · Cell therapy

Abstract

Engineering donor T lymphocytes with inducible 'suicide genes', such as herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase, has potential to improve safety and efficacy in allogeneic transplantation by facilitating management of graft-versus-host disease. Elective administration of a relatively nontoxic pro-drug would induce in vivo negative selection of engineered lymphocytes specifically, sparing other donor hematopoietic cells. The engineered cells must retain immunologic function, and undergo negative selection in response to clinically attainable plasma concentrations of pro-drug. The cell engineering process itself, typically involving activation, transduction, ex vivo expansion, and selection, must produce clinically useful numbers of genetically modified cells at high purity. We discuss development of a cellular engineering manufacturing process that yields transduced, expanded T lymphocytes meeting these requirements.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0121\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha

Introduction

Morbidity and mortality associated with graft-versushost disease (GVHD) remain a major limitation of allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation [1, 2]. While the incidence and severity of GVHD can be decreased by depletion of T lymphocytes from the allogeneic graft, this process has been associated with increased risk of graft failure, and may compromise both immune reconstitution [3–5] and the beneficial graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect [6–8], with corresponding increased risk of relapse.

An alternative approach to T-lymphocyte depletion for GVHD prevention is to provide allogeneic donor T lymphocytes with the graft to facilitate engraftment and GVL, while managing GVHD by other means. The molecular engineering of cells with 'suicide genes' has the potential to inhibit the proliferation of or eradication of cells expressing the gene in the presence of an otherwise relatively nontoxic pro-drug. The expression of these genes in donor T cells has promise in GVHD management, as they may be specifically eliminated in vivo by administration of the appropriate pro-drug, while sparing other hematopoietic cells within the graft.

Scott R. Burger, MD Advanced Cell & Gene Therapy 105 Highgrove Drive Chapel Hill, NC 27516 (USA) Tel./Fax +1 919 969 1103, E-Mail sburger@ac-gt.com Several suicide gene/pro-drug combinations have been studied, including cytosine deaminase/5-fluorocytosine [9], P450–2B1/cyclophosphamide [10], bacterial nitroreductase/CB1954 [11], and more unusually, a Fas-FKBP chimera which induces apoptosis in response to bivalent FKBP ligand [12]. The herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase suicide gene (HSV-tk) is, however, undoubtedly the most extensively studied for use in cellular therapy. Cells transduced with the HSV-tk gene phosphorylate the pro-drug ganciclovir (GCV) to the monophosphate form, which is subsequently converted by endogenous kinase activity to GCV-triphosphate, which inhibits DNA synthesis.

Using this strategy, the administration of GCV therefore has the potential to selectively eliminate HSV-tk expressing cells in vivo, and therefore to control undesirable T-lymphocyte activity, specifically GVHD mediated by transduced T lymphocytes. Administration of allogeneic donor T lymphocytes transduced with such a suicide gene, administered in the setting of a T-cell-depleted hematopoietic cell transplant, would take advantage of the positive effects of donor T lymphocytes on engraftment, GVL and immune function, while providing an increased measure of safety due to the potential to eliminate T lymphocytes in vivo if severe GVHD is observed [13–16].

Cell Engineering Requirements for T-Lymphocyte Suicide Gene Therapy

For this T-lymphocyte suicide gene strategy to be practical clinically and provide likelihood of success, the cell engineering process and the lymphocyte product must meet certain basic requirements (table 1). The engineered donor lymphocytes must retain immunologic function as close as possible to unmanipulated cells to provide immune reconstitution, facilitation of engraftment, and GVL, despite undergoing the extensive cell processing and gene transfer necessary for their production, as this therapeutic strategy is based on exploiting the beneficial functions of allogeneic lymphocytes after transplantation. Second, the engineered lymphocytes must be sensitive to the pro-drug at plasma concentrations that are attainable in transplant patients, with appropriately complete and definitive negative selection. This, too, is fundamental to the strategy of suicide gene therapy, as the ability to perform in vivo negative selection of the engineered lymphocytes by administering the pro-drug is to provide the principal protection against the morbidity and mortality of **Table 1.** Process requirements for T-lymphocyte suicide gene therapy

- Engineered lymphocytes retain sufficient immunologic function to provide enhanced immunologic reconstitution, facilitation of engraftment, and GVL in comparison to a T-cell-depleted graft
- Engineered lymphocytes demonstrably sensitive to pro-drug at levels achievable in vivo
- Gene transfer frequency sufficient to provide adequate numbers of engineered cells. If retroviral-mediated gene transfer is used, an activation step is required to initiate proliferation prior to transduction
- Process yields engineered lymphocytes at high purity and in sufficient numbers for clinical application

GVHD. Third, if the suicide gene is to be transferred and expressed by means of a retroviral vector, then the target lymphocytes must be actively proliferating [17]. While alternative means of gene transfer exist, including nonviral strategies, the most common method of clinical gene transfer in hematopoietic cells remains retroviral-mediated gene transfer, which requires activation prior to transduction to achieve efficient transduction. Fourth, the donor T lymphocytes administered must not contain significant numbers of nontransduced lymphocytes, which would not be controllable by pro-drug-induced negative selection. As gene transfer remains an inefficient process, a post-transduction positive selection step is likely to be required in which transduced cells are selected to high purity. Because the suicide gene itself does not provide a basis for positive selection, a second gene providing expression of a selectable marker is typically provided on the vector in addition to the suicide gene.

These four requirements define much of the cell engineering process for generation of suicide gene-transduced lymphocytes (table 2). For protocols using retroviral-mediated gene transfer, lymphocytes must be enriched or isolated from allogeneic donor blood, activated to induce proliferation and transduced with a vector providing the capacity for both positive and negative selection [18]. Following transduction, the engineered cells must undergo enrichment based on expression of the positive selectable marker. A period of cell expansion in the process assists in attaining a sufficient dose of engineered lymphocytes. By performing cell expansion after transduction and prior to selection, one may minimize the quantity of vector required as well as expand the transduced population, thereby increasing the efficiency and recovery of the cell selection step [18]. Additional cell expansion after selec**Table 2.** Cell engineering process outline for lymphocyte transduction with suicide gene and selectable marker, expansion and selection of engineered lymphocytes

Process step	Process elements	Questions
Day 0	Anti-CD3/CD28 beads	Optimal bead:target ratio
Cell proliferation	IL-2: 1,000 U/ml	Duration of incubation with CD3/CD28 beads Optimal IL-2 concentration Duration of culture in IL-2
Day 2 Transduction	MFG-TKiNG vector Protamine Centrifugation	Centrifugal force Timing after activation Transduction duration Recovery after transduction
Days 3–14 Cell expansion	Culture × 11 days X-VIVO-15 culture medium IL-2: 1,000 U/ml CD3/CD28 beads from day 1 activation step	Protein source (FFP, FBS, HSA) Medium changes Culture duration Optimal IL-2 concentration, if any Duration of exposure to CD3/CD28 beads
Day 14 Anti-CD3/CD28 bead removal Transduced cell selection	NGFR+ cell selection Anti-NGFR biotinylated antibody Anti-biotin magnetic particles	Optimal selection device: Miltenyi CliniMACS or Nexell Isolex 300i

Donor lymphocytes were transduced with a thymidine kinase suicide gene and a gene encoding a truncated nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR), then expanded and selected for NGFR+ cells.



Fig. 1. MFG-TKiNG retrovirus. The herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene (HSV-tk) and the truncated nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR) are co-expressed using the internal ribosome entry site (IRES) from the encephalomyocarditis virus. Splice donor (SD) and splice acceptor (SA) sites are designated, as well as the retroviral long terminal repeats (LTR).

tion also could be considered, depending on the purity and yield of the engineered lymphocytes following selection.

Several means exist for providing positive selection of a heterogeneous population of transduced and untransduced cells. Antibiotic genes providing resistance to neomycin and hygromycin have been used, but require an extended culture period. In addition, there is evidence that the neomycin phosphotransferase gene is immunogenic [19]. An alternative approach for positive selection is based on expression of a cell surface molecule that may be bound by specific antibodies. An example is the human nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR) gene, which is expressed on NGFR-transduced human T cells [20]. This strategy permits both enrichment of transduced cells to high purity using immunomagnetic bead technology, as well as monitoring of the persistence of transduced cells in vivo by flow cytometry [13]. For these reasons, the truncated NGFR gene was incorporated into the construct design for the HSV-tk gene vector (fig. 1).

HSV-tk Gene Transfer into Donor T Lymphocytes





An effective process for generation of a pure population of transduced lymphocytes requires process evaluation and testing to establish optimal conditions and specifications. Table 2 includes an outline of the initial process used to generate HSV-tk- and NGFR-transduced, expanded lymphocytes in our cell-engineering laboratory, as well as some of the process development questions encountered.

Lymphocyte Activation, Proliferation

To achieve high efficiency retroviral-mediated gene transfer it is critical to induce the target cell population to undergo mitosis to facilitate integration [17, 21]. Use of anti-CD3 antibodies and IL-2 has been shown to generate large numbers of T cells [22, 23], and has been used to provide transduced T cells for clinical use [15]. There is, however, reason for concern that use of antibodies capable of cross-linking the T-cell receptor alone may induce eventual apoptosis of the activated cells.

We performed lymphocyte activation using anti-CD3/ CD28 antibodies bound to magnetic beads designed to



Fig. 3. Effect of IL-2 on allogeneic responses of anti-CD3/CD28 activated cells. Donorderived MNC were activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads and cultured in IL-2 from 0 to 1,000 U/ml as in figure 2. On day 7 in culture a sample of cells were tested in a mixed lymphocyte reaction (MLR) assay to determine their ability to respond to allogeneic stimulation. The assay was also performed on cells maintained in identical culture conditions until day 14 after activation. Dilutions of responder cells (10⁵ to 30 cells/ well) from day 7 (A) or 14 (B) were placed in culture with 50,000 irradiated stimulator cells, and pulsed on day 6 for 16 h with 1 μCi of [³H]-thymidine prior to cell harvesting and determinations of thymidine incorporation.

cross-link the T-cell receptor and co-stimulatory pathways simultaneously [24, 25]. This approach would be expected to initiate proliferation of T cells [26–28], with potential to decrease development of anergy or apoptosis associated with stimulation through the T-cell receptor alone [29– 32].

The initial procedure specified performing lymphocyte activation for 48 h in the presence of IL-2 and anti-CD3/CD28 beads prior to transduction. Following mononuclear cell (MNC) isolation from a unit of whole blood (2–5 \times 10⁸ MNC), MNCs were transferred to a 3-liter LifeCell culture bag containing 1 liter X-VIVO-15 culture medium with 10% FFP, 1,000 units IL-2/ml, and anti-CD3/CD28

beads at a ratio of 3 beads/cell. Cells were incubated overnight at 37° C, 5% CO₂.

Initial process development studies yielded sufficient numbers of transduced, expanded, GCV-sensitive lymphocytes [18]. Engineered lymphocytes, however, demonstrated significantly impaired function, evidenced by impaired phytohemagglutinin (PHA)-induced proliferation and poor function in mixed lymphocyte reactions (MLRs) (fig. 2, 3). These results suggested persistent excessive cell activation, possibly due to prolonged culture with CD3/ CD28 beads and IL-2. The initial lymphocyte-engineering process lasted 14 days, with lymphocytes maintained in the presence of CD3/CD28 beads and IL-2 at 1,000 U/ml

HSV-tk Gene Transfer into Donor T Lymphocytes



Fig. 4. Effect of IL-2 concentration on expansion of anti-CD3/CD28 activated cells. Donor-derived MNC activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads in X-VIVO-15 medium were maintained in culture for 12 days in the presence or absence of IL-2. The expansion of cells was determined every 2–3 days, and additional medium added to maintain the cells at a concentration of 0.5 to 2×10^6 cells/ml. The overall fold expansion is given for a representative experiment. Similar results were observed in relative expansion in 3 independent experiments.

throughout [18]. Small-scale studies testing a range of IL-2 concentrations, however, demonstrated that the presence of IL-2 in the culture medium had little effect on the expansion of the cells subjected to transduction (fig. 4). This suggested that engineered lymphocyte function would be better preserved if IL-2 could be greatly reduced or eliminated from the process without adversely effecting expansion.

Transduction

Modification of T cells for the purposes of both purification of transduced cells (positive selection) as well as the ability to eradicate the cells in vivo (negative selection) requires expression of two genes in a single vector. The MFG-TKiNG retroviral construct (fig. 1) was designed to express tNGFR and HSV-tk using the MFG strategy, which has been shown to provide high efficiency gene transfer and expression [33, 34]. The MFG-TKiNG vector consists of the Moloney murine leukemia virus long terminal repeats, retroviral splice donor/acceptance sites, the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-tk) gene



Fig. 5. Transduction frequency based on timing following activation. Donor-derived MNC were activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads in X-VIVO-15 medium with IL-2 (1,000 U/ml), and 24 h later 2×10^5 cells in 400 µl were transduced using MFG-TKiNG supernatant (1.2 ml) in the presence of a final concentration of 8 µg/ml protamine (day 1). Transduction was performed with centrifugation (4,000 g for 1 h at 32 °C) and transduction was allowed to continue for 16 h at 37 °C. On day 2 (48 hours after activation) the transduced cells were washed and resuspended in fresh medium, while additional cells (day 2) underwent transduction using an identical procedure; similarly, transduction was performed in the final group (day 3) 72 h after initial activation. The percentage of cells expressing NGFR was determined by flow cytometry 48 h following transduction.

an internal ribosomal entry site and the truncated NGFR cDNA, designed to express both the NGFR and HSV-tk genes from a single bicistronic message, optimizing the potential that the HSV-tk gene will be expressed in cells selected on the basis of NGFR [18].

Transduction conditions, including timing of transduction relative to activation, centrifugation parameters, the effectiveness of transduction with virus produced from PA-317 or PG13 packaging lines, and protein sources were evaluated to develop specifications for increased transduction efficiency and reduced cell loss. Of these parameters, only transduction timing and centrifugation will be discussed here.

Optimal timing of transduction following activation with anti-CD3/CD28 beads was determined by activating MNCs and transducing activated cells in replicates of 3 using MFG-TKiNG supernatant 24, 48 or 72 h after activation. Transduced cell frequency was determined by
flow cytometry, measuring the percentage of NGFR+ cells, with results shown in figure 5. Transduction efficiency was highest when performed 48 h after initial cell activation.

Centrifugation has been used to enhance the physical association of retrovirus and target cells, and the effects on transduction have been shown to increase with both gravitational force and duration of centrifugation [37]. We investigated the effects of centrifugation on transduction frequency and cell viability. The frequency of transduced cells rose with increasing centrifugal force to 4,000 g with a minimal effect on the viability of transduced cells (fig. 6).

Based on these data, process specifications were developed which included performing transduction 48 h after initial lymphocyte activation, in protamine (8 μ g/ml), with centrifugation at 4,000 g for 1 h, followed by overnight incubation at 37 °C.

Large-Scale Lymphocyte Expansion

The initial process called for expanding cells in culture for 11 days after transduction. Cells were washed and resuspended in IL-2-containing medium, divided into eight 100-ml aliquots in LifeCell bags and cultured at 37 °C, with medium volume doubled after 1, 4, 6, and 8 days. Bags were pooled on culture day 12, and beads removed from cells using the Isolex 300i magnet, with $2.40 \pm 0.98 \times 10^{10}$ (mean ± 1 SD) cells recovered. Cell expansion observed averaged 42.6-fold.

As described above, however, the continued activation of T cells in the presence of IL-2 and anti-CD3/CD28 beads for 12–14 days resulted in cells that were unable to respond to a second stimulus. In addition, the IL-2 was shown to not be required for continued proliferation in vitro. The current protocol has been revised to eliminate exogenous IL-2 from the medium, to remove the anti-CD3/CD28 beads on day 3 of culture, and to end the in vivo expansion period at day 6 rather than day 14. Predictably, cell expansion decreased significantly with the shorter period of ex vivo expansion, averaging 4.6-fold (\pm 1.6) from day 0 to day 6.

Transduced Lymphocyte Selection

As the purpose of this strategy is to ensure that infused T cells can be eradicated in vivo if severe GVHD is observed, it is essential that transduced cells undergo



Fig. 6. Effect of centrifugation on transduction frequency and T lymphocyte viability. MNC activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads were transduced 48 h after activation in triplicate as described in figure 5. Data are pooled from 2 donors (n = 6). Cell viability was measured by acridine orange/propidium iodide darkfield fluorescence microscopy. The frequency of transduced cells was determined by flow cytometry.

selection to generate a population of nearly pure transduced cells. We compared two clinical scale immunomagnetic cell selection instruments, the Baxter Isolex 300i and the Miltenyi CliniMACS. Within a single experiment, engineered cells were divided following transduction and expansion and separations performed on using each instrument.

To perform the isolations, 1.0 ml of the anti-NGFR monoclonal antibody 20.4 (2.4 mg) was added to a suspension of 1×10^{10} cells. In the case of the experiments using the Isolex 300i, an unconjugated 20.4 antibody preparation was used, followed by 1.2×10^{10} sheep antimouse-IgG paramagnetic beads. For selections performed with the CliniMACS, 1.0 ml of biotinylated 20.4 antibody was used with streptavidin beads (Miltenyi Biotech Inc.). Cell selection with each device was performed in accordance with the manufacturer's specifications.

NGFR+ cell selection using the CliniMACS consistently produced the highest purity cell product, 97.7 \pm 2.1% NGFR+ cells, with mean cell yield of 23.5 \pm 6.4%. NGFR+ cell selection using the Isolex 300i yielded a product containing 67.5 \pm 12.9% NGFR+ cells, with 41.3 \pm 13.3% cell recovery (fig. 7). Isolex-selected cells

HSV-tk Gene Transfer into Donor T Lymphocytes

were incubated overnight, after which bead removal was attempted using the Isolex 300i magnet. Because purity of the engineered lymphocytes is of paramount importance in T-cell suicide gene therapy, to assure that the infused lymphocytes are indeed controllable using GCV pro-drug, the Miltenyi CliniMACS was incorporated into process specifications for transduced cell selection.

Fig. 7. Immunomagnetic NGFR+ cell selection – instrument comparison, Miltenyi CliniMACS vs. Baxter Isolex 300i. Transduced, expanded lymphocytes were divided into two equal aliquots and processed for positive selection based on NGFR expression. One aliquot was processed using the Baxter Isolex 300i, and the other processed using the Miltenyi CliniMACS unit. Frequency of NGFR+ cells prior to and following selection was determined by flow cytometry. The total yield was determined by calculating the number of NGFR+ cells in a given cell fraction, and comparing this to the number of cells and the proportion of NGFR+ cells after selection.





Fig. 8. Ganciclovir sensitivity of NGFR+ cells. Mononuclear cells transduced with the MFG-TKiNG virus on day 2 after activation with anti-CD3/CD28 beads were expanded to day 6, following removal of the beads on the day after transduction. Selection of NGFR+ cells was performed using the CliniMACS device as in figure 7, as was the ability of ganciclovir (GCV) to inhibit proliferation in response to a second stimulatory event (PHA, 10 μ g/ml). A total of 10⁵ cells from the NGFR+ population, cells from the same donor that were not previously activated (day 0) and cells that were activated

and cultured in an identical manner but not transduced (mock) were tested. Increasing concentrations of GCV were used from 0 to $10 \mu g/ml$. Following activation the cells were pulsed with [³H]-thymidine 48 h later for 16 h prior to cell harvesting. Maximal proliferation was defined as [³H]-thymidine incorporation without GCV in the respective groups, and relative proliferation determined. The baseline proliferation was defined as 0%, and in the case of the NGFR+ group proliferation decreased below baseline in the presence of 1, 3 and 10 $\mu g/ml$ GCV. **Table 3.** Specifications for revised lymphocyte engineering process

	Process specifications
Day 0 Cell proliferation	$0.5-2.0 \times 10^9$ total MNC, 5×10^5 cells/ml X-VIVO-15 culture medium Heat-inactivated frozen plasma, 10% Anti-CD3/CD28 beads, 3 beads/cell \times 3 days 3-liter LifeCell culture bag
Day 2 Transduction	MFG-TKiNG retroviral vector; 750–1,000 ml Centrifugation, 4,000 $g \times 1$ h Protamine, 8 µg/ml
Day 3 Anti-CD3/CD28 bead removal	MaxSep magnetic cell separation device
Days 3–6 Cell expansion	X-VIVO-15 culture medium Heat-inactivated FFP, 10% 3-liter LifeCell culture bag
Day 6 Transduced cell selection	Biotinylated anti-NGFR monoclonal antibody Anti-biotin magnetic particles Miltenyi CliniMACS magnetic cell separation device

GCV Sensitivity of NGFR-Selected Cells

For these experiments, populations of transduced lymphocytes enriched, using the Miltenyi CliniMACS, for NGFR+ cells were cultured in the presence of varying concentrations of GCV and subjected to activation with PHA. After 48 h, the cells were pulsed with [³H]-thymidine. This appeared to be the optimal time to achieve a proliferative response in cells activated with anti-CD3/ CD28 beads for 72 h and maintained in vitro until day 6 (data not shown). Controls included cells from the same donor frozen following mononuclear cell enrichment with Ficoll, and activated, cultured, but non-transduced lymphocytes (fig. 8).

Conclusions

Initial versions of this process generated large numbers of transduced, expanded lymphocytes at appropriately high purity, with demonstrable sensitivity to the GCV pro-drug. Certain aspects of lymphocyte functions were, **Table 4.** Cell yields and purity for revised lymphocyte engineering process

	Mean ± 1 SD
Initial cell content	5×10^{8} total MNC
Transduction efficiency	22.9 ± 3.9% NGFR+ cells
Cell expansion, days 0–6	4.6 ± 1.6-fold
Cell purity after selection	94.6 ± 3.7% NGFR+ cells
Transduced cell yield	35.3 ± 13.8% overall NGFR+ cell yield

however, adversely affected due to excessive cellular activation during the process. The current protocol has been modified to more effectively maintain the T-cell proliferative response to an allogeneic stimulus or PHA as a result of three process modifications: (1) eliminating exogenous IL-2 from the process; (2) limiting the ex vivo expansion culture to 7 days, and (3) limiting exposure to anti-CD3/CD28 beads to 3 days.

Revised process specifications for clinical-scale T-lymphocyte transduction, expansion, and selection were developed based on these findings, and are shown in table 3. Engineered lymphocyte yields and purity are summarized in table 4. The process begins with donor lymphocytes obtained from a single unit of whole blood or a 1- to 2hour apheresis from which 5×10^8 MNCs are isolated, activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads, and transduced on day 2 using centrifugation (4,000 g for 1 h) and 8 µg/ml protamine. On day 3 the cells are washed and anti-CD3/ CD28 beads removed. The cells are cultured in X-VIVO 15 with 10% FFP until day 6, when selection is performed using a biotinylated anti-NGFR monoclonal antibody and anti-biotin beads, selecting NGFR+ cells using the Miltenyi CliniMACS.

Transduction efficiency averaged 22.9 \pm 3.9% in development runs. Following selection transduced cells were enriched to extremely high purity (94.6 \pm 3.7%). Cell expansion from day 0 to 6 averaged 4.6-fold (\pm 1.6), with 35.3 \pm 13.8% overall yield of NGFR+ cells. The NGFR+ fraction was tested for sensitivity to GCV by determining inhibition of the proliferative response on day 2 following PHA stimulation. Engineered lymphocytes were demonstrably GCV-sensitive. GCV concentrations of 1 µg/ml resulted in 80% inhibition of PHA-induced proliferation, confirming that levels of GCV attainable in serum arrest engineered T cell expansion.

HSV-tk Gene Transfer into Donor T Lymphocytes

Acknowledgements

We thank Noel Blake and Brent Bilhartz for technical assistance, and the staff of the Molecular and Cellular Therapy Facility at the University of Minnesota, and the Cell Therapy Clinical Laboratory for their efforts and expertise. This work was supported in part by the Amy Strelzer Manasevit Scholars Program, the National Marrow Donor Program/Health Resources and Services Administration, the Minnesota Medical Foundation Inherited Metabolic Disease and Hurler Syndrome Project, the Children's Cancer Research Fund and the Bone Marrow Transplant Research Fund.

References

- Davies SM, Wagner JE, Weisdorf DJ, Shu XO, Blazar BR, Nright H, Mcglave PB, Ramsay NK: Unrelated donor bone marrow transplantation for hematological malignancies – Current status. Leukemia Lymphoma 1996;23: 221–226.
- 2 Nademanee A, Schmidt GM, Parker P, Dagis AC, Stein A, Snyder DS, O'Donnell M, Smith EP, Stepan DE, Molina A, et al: The outcome of matched unrelated donor bone marrow transplantation in patients with hematologic malignancies using molecular typing for donor selection and graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis regimen of cyclosporine, methotrexate, and prednisone. Blood 1995;86:1228–1234.
- 3 Davison GM, Novitzky N, Kline A, Thomas V, Abrahams L, Hale G, Waldmann H: Immune reconstitution after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation depleted of T cells. Transplantation 2000;69:1341–1347.
- 4 Marmont AM, Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sobocinski K, Ash RC, van Bekkum DW, Champlin RE, Dicke KA, Goldman JM, Good RA, et al: T-cell depletion of HLA-identical transplants in leukemia. Blood 1991;78:2120–2130.
- 5 Martin PJ, Hansen JA, Buckner CD, Sanders JE, Deeg HJ, Stewart P, Appelbaum FR, Clift R, Fefer A, Witherspoon RP, et al: Effects of in vitro depletion of T cells in HLA-identical allogeneic marrow grafts. Blood 1985;66:664–672.
- 6 Enright H, Davies SM, Defor T, Shu X, Weisdorf D, Miller W, Ramsay NK, Arthur D, Verfaillie C, Miller J, Kersey J, Mcglave P: Relapse after non-T-cell-depleted allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for chronic myelogenous leukemia: Early transplantation, use of an unrelated donor, and chronic graft-versus-host disease are protective. Blood 1996;88:714– 720.
- 7 Gale RP, Horowitz MM: Graft-versus-leukemia in bone marrow transplantation. The Advisory Committee of the International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry. Bone Marrow Transplant 1990;6(suppl 1):94–97.
- 8 Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sondel PM, Goldman JM, Kersey J, Kolb HJ, Rimm AA, Ringden O, Rozman C, Speck B, et al: Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1990;75:555–562.
- 9 Huber BE, Austin EA, Richards CA, Davis ST, Good SS: Metabolism of 5-fluorocytosine to 5fluorouracil in human colorectal tumor cells transduced with the cytosine deaminase gene: Significant antitumor effects when only a small percentage of tumor cells express cytosine deaminase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91: 8302.

- 10 Wei MX, Tamiya T, Chase M, et al: Experimental tumor therapy in mice using the cyclophosphamide-activating cytochrome P450 2B1 gene. Hum Gene Ther 1994;5:969.
- 11 Knox RJ, Friedlos F, Boland MP: The bioactivation of CB 1954 and its use as a prodrug in antibody-directed enzyme prodrug therapy (ADEPT). Cancer Metastasis Rev 1993;12: 195–212.
- 12 Thomis DC, Marktel S, Bonini C, et al: A Fasbased suicide switch in human T cells for the treatment of graft-versus-host disease. Blood 2001;97:1249–1257.
- 13 Bonini C, Ferrari G, Verzeletti S, Servida P, Zappone E, Ruggieri L, Ponzoni M, Rossini S, Mavilio F, Traversari C, Bordignon C: Hsv-tk gene transfer into donor lymphocytes for control of allogeneic graft-versus-leukemia. Science 1997;276:1719–1724.
- 14 Tiberghien P: Use of suicide gene-expressing donor T-cells to control alloreactivity after haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. J Intern Med 2001;249:369–377.
- 15 Tiberghien P, Ferrand C, Lioure B, Milpied N, Angonin R, Deconinck E, Certoux JM, Robinet E, Saas P, Petracca B, Juttner C, Reynolds CW, Longo DL, Herve P, Cahn JY: Administration of herpes simplex-thymidine kinaseexpressing donor T cells with a T-cell-depleted allogeneic marrow graft. Blood 2001;97:63– 72.
- 16 Tiberghien P, Cahn JY, Brion A, Deconinck E, Racadot E, Herve P, Milpied N, Lioure B, Gluckman E, Bordigoni P, Jacob W, Chiang YW, Marcus S, Reynolds C, Longo D: Use of donor T-lymphocytes expressing herpes-simplex thymidine kinase in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation – A phase I-II study. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8:615–624.
- 17 Miller DG, Adam MA, Miller AD: Gene transfer by retrovirus vectors occurs only in cells that are actively replicating at the time of infection. Mol Cell Biol 1990;10:4239–4242.
- 18 Orchard PJ, Blazar BR, Burger SR, Levine B, Basso L, Nelson DMK, Gordon K, McIvor RS, Wagner JW, Miller JS: Clinical scale selection of anti-CD3/CD28 activated T cells following transduction with a retroviral vector expressing herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase and truncated nerve growth factor receptor. Hum Gene Ther 2002;13:979–988.

- 19 Riddell SR, Elliott M, Lewinsohn DA, Gilbert MJ, Wilson L, Manley SA, Lupton SD, Overell RW, Reynolds TC, Corey L, Greenberg PD: Tcell mediated rejection of gene-modified HIVspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in HIV-infected patients. Nat Med 1996;2:216–223.
- 20 Mavilio F, Ferrari G, Rossini S, Nobili N, Bonini C, Casorati G, Traversari C, Bordignon C: Peripheral blood lymphocytes as target cells of retroviral vector-mediated gene transfer. Blood 1994;83:1988–1997.
- 21 Stevenson M, Stanwick TL, Dempsey MP, Lamonica CA: HIV-1 replication is controlled at the level of T cell activation and proviral integration. EMBO J 1990;9:1551–1560.
- 22 Anderson PM, Bach FH, Ochoa AC: Augmentation of cell number and LAK activity in peripheral blood mononuclear cells activated with anti-CD3 and interleukin-2. Preliminary results in children with acute lymphocytic leukemia and neuroblastoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 1988;27:82–88.
- 23 Ochoa AC, Hasz DE, Rezonzew R, Anderson PM, Bach FH: Lymphokine-activated killer activity in long-term cultures with anti-CD3 plus interleukin 2: Identification and isolation of effector subsets. Cancer Res 1989;49:963–968.
- 24 Levine BL, Ueda Y, Craighead N, Huang ML, June CH: CD28 ligands CD80 (B7-1) and CD86 (B7-2) induce long-term autocrine growth of CD4+ T cells and induce similar patterns of cytokine secretion in vitro. Int Immunol 1995;7:891–904.
- 25 Levine BL, Mosca JD, Riley JL, Carroll RG, Vahey MT, Jagodzinski LL, Wagner KF, Mayers DL, Burke DS, Weislow OS, ST, L.D., June, CH: Antiviral effect and ex vivo CD4+ T cell proliferation in HIV-positive patients as a result of CD28 costimulation. Science 1996; 272:1939–1943.
- 26 Levine BL, Cotte J, Small CC, Carroll RG, Riley JL, Bernstein WB, Van Epps DE, Hardwick RA, June CH: Large-scale production of CD4+ T cells from HIV-1-infected donors after CD3/CD28 costimulation. J Hematother 1998; 7:437–448.
- 27 Garlie NK, Lefever AV, Siebenlist RE, Levine BL, June CH, Lum LG: T cells coactivated with immobilized anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 as potential immunotherapy for cancer. J Immunother 1999;22:336–345.
- 28 Shibuya TY, Wei WZ, Zormeier M, Ensley J, Sakr W, Mathog RH, Meleca RJ, Yoo GH, June CH, Levine BL, Lum LG: Anti-CD3/anti-CD28 bead stimulation overcomes CD3 unresponsiveness in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2000;126:473–479.

- 29 Wolf H, Muller Y, Salmen S, Wilmanns W, Jung G: Induction of anergy in resting human T lymphocytes by immobilized anti-CD3 antibodies. Eur J Immunol 1994;24:1410–1417.
- 30 Noel PJ, Boise LH, Green JM, Thompson CB: CD28 costimulation prevents cell death during primary T cell activation. J Immunol 1996; 157:636–642.
- 31 Radvanyi LG, SHI Y, Vaziri H, Sharma A, Dhala R, Mills GB, Miller RG: CD28 costimulation inhibits TCR-induced apoptosis during a primary T cell response. J Immunol 1996;156: 1788–1798.
- 32 Muller Y, Wolf H, Wierenga E, Jung G: Induction of abortive and productive proliferation in resting human T lymphocytes via CD3 and CD28. Immunology 1999;97:280–286.
- 33 Dranoff G, Jaffee E, Lazenby A, Golumbek P, Levitsky H, Brose K, Jackson V, Hamada H, Pardoll D, Mulligan RC: Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:3539–3543.
- 34 Jaffee EM, Dranoff G, Cohen LK, Hauda KM, Clift S, Marshall FF, Mulligan RC, Pardoll DM: High efficiency gene transfer into primary human tumor explants without cell selection. Cancer Res 1993;53:2221–2226.
- 35 Gallardo HF, Tan C, Sadelain M: The internal ribosomal entry site of the encephalomyocarditis virus enables reliable coexpression of two transgenes in human primary T lymphocytes. Gene Ther 1997;4:1115–1119.
- 36 Zitvogel L, Tahara H, Cai Q, Storkus WJ, Muller G, Wolf SF, Gately M, Robbins PD, Lotze MT: Construction and characterization of retroviral vectors expressing biologically active human interleukin-12. Hum Gene Ther 1994;5:1493–1506.
- 37 Bahnson AB, Dunigan JT, Baysal BE, Mohney T, Atchison RW, Nimgaonkar MT, Ball ED, Barranger JA: Centrifugal enhancement of retroviral mediated gene transfer. J Virol Methods 1995;54:131–143.

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:132–138 DOI: 10.1159/000072462

Alternative Concepts of Suicide Gene Therapy for Graft-versus-Host Disease after Adoptive Immunotherapy

Christof M. Kramm

Department of Pediatric Hematology, Oncology, and Immunology, University Hospital Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

Key Words

Suicide gene · Gene therapy · Graft-versus-host disease · Donor lymphocytes · Leukemia

Abstract

T-cell suicide gene therapy represents a promising novel treatment strategy for graft-versus-host disease following adoptive immunotherapy after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. The clinical efficiency of this approach is still hampered by several obstacles including induction of alloresponses due to the use of immunogenic suicide and selection genes, genetic inactivation of suicide genes, and functional immunological impairment after retroviral transduction with extensive in vitro stimulation. New concepts as possible solutions to these limitations are discussed.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Adoptive immunotherapy employing donor lymphocyte infusions (DLI) represents a potent instrument to treat relapses of chronic myeloic leukemia after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (alloHSCT). Here, remission is re-achieved in up to 70% of treated patients [Kolb et al., 1995] demonstrating a strong graftversus-leukemia (GvL) effect. For post-transplantation relapses of acute leukemia, treatment results with DLI are less impressive (acute myeloblastic leukemia: 25% complete response; acute lymphoblastic leukemia: <15% complete response) [Kolb et al., 1995; Porter et al., 1996; Collins et al., 2000], but acute leukemia patients may benefit when DLI are started at the early stage of increasing mixed chimerism indicating the imminent hematological relapse [Bader et al., 1999; Beck et al., 2002].

Application of DLI on a general basis after alloHSCT is hampered by the high risk of graft-versus-host disease (GvHD). Approximately 50% of the patients suffer from clinically significant GvHD after DLI [Kolb et al., 1995; Collins et al., 1997]. The incidence and degree of GvHD appear to be correlated with the amount of applied donor lymphocytes.

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0132\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha

- Department of Pediatric Hematology, Oncology, and Immunology
- University Hospital Düsseldorf, Heinrich Heine University, Moorenstrasse 5 DE-40225 Düsseldorf (Germany)
- Tel. +49 211 8117662, Fax +49 211 8117634, E-Mail kramm@uni-duesseldorf.de

Christof M. Kramm, MD

T-Cell Suicide Gene Therapy

Transfer of suicide genes represents the most recent strategy to control the risk of GvHD after DLI. Suicide genes code for enzymes of pro- or eukaryontic origin which are capable of activating an inert substance ('prodrug') into highly cytotoxic metabolites. Cytotoxic metabolites are only generated in genetically modified ('transduced') cells and will predominantly kill these cells while sparing non-transduced ones.

To date, only the herpes simplex virus type 1 gene for thymidine kinase (HSV-tk) has been employed in clinical trials as a suicide gene. HSV-tk initializes the intracellular cytotoxic activation of the nucleoside analogons acyclovir and ganciclovir (GCV). Only GCV is used for suicide gene therapy purposes since HSV thymidine kinase displays a significantly higher affinity for this prodrug than for acyclovir [Aghi et al., 2000]. Using highly specialized transduction and selection protocols and procedures, more than 95% of donor lymphocytes can be transduced with the *HSV-tk* gene in vitro by retroviral gene transfer. Application of these genetically modified donor lymphocytes provides an efficient tool to abrogate GvHD since HSV-tk-positive GvHD effector cells can be eliminated by GCV treatment. Control of GvHD by T-cell suicide gene therapy has indeed been shown in patients after alloHSCT [Bordignon et al., 1995; Bonini et al., 1997; Verzeletti et al., 1998; Tiberghien et al., 2001].

Immunological Inactivation of Genetically Modified Donor Lymphocytes

However, not all patients appeared to benefit from Tcell suicide gene therapy and suffered from GvHD despite GCV treatment. One reason may be that genetically modified T cells are inactivated by immune responses to nonhuman gene products such as the HSV-TK protein [Verzeletti et al., 1998]. Tiberghien et al. [2001] attempted to overcome this unwanted immune response in their clinical trial by applying HSV-tk transduced donor lymphocytes not in case of relapse, but in parallel to the transplantation of T-cell-depleted grafts. By this procedure, an immunological tolerance towards the HSV-tk gene product should be induced. At least a partial prevention of immunological inactivation of genetically modified donor lymphocytes was supposed to have occurred since observed GvHD rates were only slightly lower than those found after application of unmodified donor lymphocytes. However, despite the possible induction of an immune tolerance towards the suicide gene, one patient still suffered from GvHD which could not be terminated by GCV.

An interesting modification of this add-back principle was performed by Litvinova et al. [2002]. In an animal model, genetically modified donor lymphocytes were applied at defined time points after alloHSCT together with a short treatment cycle of GCV to remove activated donor T cells. With this approach, the GvHD incidence was reduced, but a marked GvL effect was still found.

New Suicide and Selection Marker Genes with Lower Immunogenic Potential

Less immunogenic suicide and selection marker genes, preferably of human origin, may also reduce the immunological inactivation of genetically modified donor lymphocytes. Truncated versions or splice variants of the human genes for low affinity nerve growth factor receptor (LNGFR) and CD34 [Fehse et al., 1998, 2002] are already used instead of the highly immunogenic bacterial neomycin resistance gene for selection of transduced donor lymphocytes. Especially appealing seems a fusion gene construct of *CD34* and *HSV-tk* which provides both selection and suicide gene properties [Fehse et al., 2002].

The development of an inducible fusion gene employing the human *fas* gene as cytotoxic component may also contribute to further reduction of immunogenicity. This new suicide gene codes for a chimeric protein which contains the membrane-anchored intracellular domain of Fas fused to the FK506-binding protein FKBP12. Addition of the dimerizing prodrug AP1903 induces Fas cross-linking with subsequent triggering of an apoptotic death signal. This suicide gene therapy system has been shown in vitro to confer a reliable cytotoxicity to human T cells. In contrast to the *HSV-tk/GCV* system, only short prodrug exposures were sufficient to induce a rapid T-cell killing, independently of cellular proliferation [Thomis et al., 2001].

An equally interesting new approach is offered by transfer of the human gene for CD20 and application of the chimeric anti-CD20 antibody rituximab as cytotoxic principle [Introna et al., 2000, 2002]. Rituximab binds to the B-cell-specific CD20 surface antigen and can induce lysis of CD20-positive cells in the presence of complement. Thus, transduction of T cells with *CD20* provides both a selection marker and a suicide gene. One pitfall of this approach may be additional depletion of circulating B cells by rituximab although rituximab treatment of non-

Hodgkin lymphoma has already been shown to be relatively safe without major side effects [McLaughlin et al., 1998].

Other human-derived prodrug-activating systems like the human folvlpolvglutamate synthetase (hfpgs)/methotrexate (MTX), the deoxycytidine kinase (dCK)/cytosine arabinoside (ara-c), or the carboxylesterase (CE)/irinothecan (CPT-11) systems are also interesting candidates for further exploration since they promise a low potential of immunogenicity [Hapke et al., 1996; Kojima et al., 1998; Aghi et al., 1999]. However, these systems represent modified suicide gene therapy strategies since they do not activate non-toxic prodrugs but enhance already potent chemotherapeutic agents. Thus, these systems may provide the basis for a dose reduction of the corresponding chemotherapeutic agents. Future studies still have to clarify if the dose reduction of chemotherapeutic agents due to application of suicide gene therapy systems may be sufficient to circumvent myelotoxicity in the post-transplantation course.

However, MTX is already used as an immunosuppressant to prevent early GvHD after alloHSCT. Transfer of the suicide gene *hfpgs* may enhance cytotoxicity in transduced T cells since polyglutamylation of MTX will be induced, thereby increasing its intracellular retention and its overall inhibitory effect on nucleic acid synthesis. Thus, the application of MTX in case of severe GvHD may not only kill transduced donor lymphocytes, but may also provide additional inhibitory activity on non-transduced, but activated T cells. Thus, the effect on GvHD may not be as selective as by the HSV-tk/GCV system, but it may be more potent. A modification of this approach has been reported by Liu et al. [2002]. Here, the murinereduced folate carrier (mRFC) gene was employed to enhance sensitivity of hematopoietic cells to MTX. Transfer of this gene increases the cellular uptake of MTX. In a murine bone marrow transplantation model, MTX treatment resulted in a significant decrease of hematopoietic cells transduced with mRFC. Since mRFC is a murine gene with potential immunogenicity, future exploration of this system should focus on the human analogue RFC1 [Moscow et al., 1995].

Rapid killing of transduced cells independently of cellular proliferation was also observed with the rabbit cytochrome P_{450} isotype 4B1 (cyp4B1)/4-ipomeanol (4-IPO) system in a rodent brain tumor model. Here, cell killing was induced more rapidly than by the *HSV-tk*/GCV system [Frank et al., 2002]. Preliminary studies have already confirmed a reliable induction of similar cytotoxicity by the *cyp4B1*/4-IPO system in T cells [Kramm, Steffens, Kluemper, unpubl. results]. However, the relevance of any immunogenicity due to expression of rabbit proteins still has to be cleared.

Table 1 summarizes data of possible suicide gene therapy systems [Aghi et al., 2000] with special respect to their feasibility for T-cell suicide gene therapy. Most of the systems appear not to be eligible for this purpose since they are of bacterial or yeast origin and may, therefore, yield a highly immunogenic potential. Furthermore, only less than 50% of these systems have actually been tested in T cells. Interestingly, the *Escherichia coli* cytosine deaminase (*cd*)/5-fluocytosine (5FC) system which represents the only other suicide gene therapy system which has been used besides the *HSV-tk*/GCV approach in clinical cancer trials was shown to induce no significant cytotoxicity in T cells [Hiller et al., 2000].

Data regarding the so-called bystander effect which describes the phenomenon that non-transduced cells in close proximity to transduced cells can be killed upon prodrug treatment by transfer of cytotoxic metabolites have also been included into table 1. For tumor treatment, the bystander effect represents one of the cornerstones of therapeutic efficiency of suicide gene therapy systems. For T-cell suicide gene therapy, the bystander effect appears to be less important since transduced and nontransduced cells are usually not as close to each other as they may be within a tumor environment. However, regarding T-cell infiltration of solid organs like the liver induction of a bystander effect upon prodrug treatment may be also disadvantageous by enhancing organ toxicity.

Reduced Immunological Competence of Genetically Modified Donor Lymphocytes

Besides the immunological inactivation due to an alloreaction against non-human suicide or other vector gene products, there is an increasing number of reports which demonstrate a markedly reduced immune competence of genetically modified cells when compared to their unmodified counterparts [Tiberghien 2001; Sauce et al., 2002; Duarte et al., 2002]. There is no doubt that genetically modified T cells maintain certain functions essential for alloreactivity [Di Ianni et al., 2000]. However, in vitro cell culture, retroviral transduction, and selection procedures appear to have a substantial negative impact on the overall immunological functionality as shown for the anti-Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) potential of genetically modified T cells [Sauce et al., 2002]. This observation provides

Table 1	. Feasibility of	different	prodrug-activ	vating systems	for T	F-cell suici	de gene t	therapy
---------	------------------	-----------	---------------	----------------	-------	--------------	-----------	---------

Suicide gene therapy system	Origin	Expected immunogenicity	Expected myelotoxicity	Proliferation dependence of cytotoxicity	Bystander cell death induction by diffusion	Induction of cell death in T cells
HSV-tk/GCV	HSV type 1	High	Possible	Yes	Only by cell-to-cell contact	Yes
fas-FKBP12/AP1903	Human	Low	Probably not	No	Unknown	Yes
CD20/rituximab	Human	Low	Highly cytotoxic for B cells	No	Unknown	Yes
hfpgs/MTX	Human	Low	Possible	Probably not	No	Unknown
mRFC/MTX	Human or mouse	Low or moderate	Possible	Probably not	Probably not	Yes (in mice)
dCK/Ara-c	Human	Low	Possible	No	No	Unknown
ce/CPT-11	Human or rabbit	Low or moderate	Possible	Unknown	Yes	Unknown
cyp2B1/CPA	Rat	Moderate	Possible	No	Yes	Unknown
<i>cyp4B1</i> /4-IPO	Rabbit	Moderate	Probably not	Probably not	No	Yes
Nitroreductase/CB1954	E. coli	High	Unknown	Yes	Yes	Yes
cd/5FC	E. coli or yeast	High	Probably not	No	Yes	No
deoD/MeP	E. coli	High	Unknown	Unknown	Yes	Unknown
gpt/6-TX	E. coli	High	Probably not	Unknown	Only by cell-to-cell contact	Unknown

 $cyp2B1/CPA = Cytochrome P_{450}$ isotype 2B1/cyclophosphamide; deoD/MeP = purine nucleoside phopsphorylase/6-methyl-purine-2'-deoxynucleoside; gpt/6-TX = guanine phosphoribosyl transferase/6-thioxanthine.

a sufficient explanation for the occurrence of an EBVassociated lymphoproliferative disease after alloHSCT despite the application of genetically modified donor lymphocytes which – in their native form – usually represent a potent therapeutic tool for this disease [Tiberghien et al., 2001].

Although there have been improvements of the immunological competence due to changes in conditions for cell culture and selection [Sauce et al., 2002], the use of retroviral vectors for gene transfer still appears to represent the limiting step for further positive developments. Retroviral gene transfer can only occur during cellular proliferation, but the necessary in vitro stimulation of T cells to proliferate is accompanied by functional impairment [Duarte et al., 2002]. The use of lentiviral vectors which can also transduce non-proliferative cells may offer a solution in this respect. One study already showed a significantly improved preservation of T-cell functionality after lentiviral HSV-tk gene transfer [Cazzaniga et al., 2002]. Despite several striking advantages including a markedly enhanced gene transfer efficiency, to date, there is still no authorization to use lentiviral vectors in clinical trials. The fact that these vectors are derived from human immunodeficiency virus may be one of the main reasons for this.

Potential Risk of Malignant Transformation

Most recently, the occurrence of T-cell leukemia-like proliferative disease in 2 patients who had undergone retrovirus-mediated gene therapy for X-linked SCID has started a controversy about the usage of integrating vectors like retroviral and lentiviral vectors. In addition, the use of the LNGFR selection marker which is employed for clinical T-cell suicide gene therapy was also linked in a murine model of hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy to the induction of acute leukemia [Li et al., 2002].

These current developments have shocked the entire scientific community since vector-mediated genomic integration of transgenes has long been regarded to occur on a purely random basis with a minimalized risk for interference with host's genetic elements crucial for prevention of malignant transformation. Extensive present and fu-

	Limitations	Clinical impact	Possible solutions
Suicide gene therapy system	Immunogenicity	Immunological inactivation with reduced GvL effect	Use of human-derived suicide genes DLI as add-back to T-cell-depleted graft
	Loss of genetic material	Non-functional suicide gene product with GCV resistance and no therapeutic efficiency against GvHD	Modification of suicide gene sequence Combination of different suicide genes
	Pharmacological resistance	GCV resistance without therapeutic efficiency against GvHD	Combination of different suicide genes
Selection marker	Immunogenicity	Immunological inactivation with reduced GvL effect	Use of human-derived selection markers
	Possible risk of malignant transformation by LNGFR	Acute leukemia?	Use of other human-derived selection markers, e.g. truncated <i>CD34</i> gene
Retroviral vector	Need for in vitro T-cell stimulation	Impairment of immunological functions with reduced GvL effect and reduced protection against infectious agents	Use of lentiviral vectors
Retroviral vector (+ lentiviral + foamy virus vectors)	Risk of malignant transfor- mation by genomic integration	Acute leukemia	Development of vectors with stable episomal gene expression or site-specific genomic integration

Table 2. Limitations of present T-cell suicide gene therapy and possible future solutions

ture investigations have now to clarify the actual malignant potency of retroviral and lentiviral gene therapy. Vectors with a defined safe integration site or stable episomal gene expression may represent an attractive alternative for future clinical gene therapy. However, they still have to be further explored [Hiller et al., 2000] or even developed.

Genetically Induced and Pharmacological Resistance to GCV Treatment

There have been also hints in previous clinical studies for a resistance of genetically modified donor lymphocytes to GCV treatment [Bonini and Bordignon 1997]. Garin et al. [2001] demonstrated that this may reflect in some cases the presence of a non-functional HSV-tk splice variant. This splice variant which is estimated to occur at a frequency of 10–20% is characterized by a deletion of 227 base pair fragment resulting in expression of a truncated HSV-TK protein not capable of activating GCV. By modifying the HSV-tk gene sequence, generation of truncated HSV-TK proteins has been abolished [Chalmers et al., 2001]. Besides the genetic inactivation of the *HSV-tk* gene, there may also be true pharmacological resistance mechanisms which may hamper an efficient GCV treatment of *HSV-tk*-expressing cells. Two GCV resistance mechanisms involving a cellular enzyme for DNA repair and a multidrug resistance protein have been recently described [Tomicic et al., 2002; Adachi et al., 2002]. As in most modern multimodal treatment protocols for malignant diseases, the combination of different cytotoxic agents, i.e. different suicide gene therapy systems, may help to prevent and/or overcome pharmacological resistance mechanisms. Combination of the *HSV-tk/GCV* and the *cd*/5FC systems has already been shown to induce a therapeutic synergism in the treatment of experimental brain tumors [Aghi et al., 1998].

Outlook (table 2)

Future concepts in T-cell suicide gene therapy have to rely on suicide and selection genes with low immunogenicity. Low immunogenicity may be achieved by use of human-derived transgenes, such as *fas-FKBP12* or *CD20* as suicide genes or the *CD34* splice variant gene as selection marker. Induction of an immune tolerance towards non-human transgenes, e.g. by application of genetically modified donor lymphocytes as add-backs to T-celldepleted grafts, may be an alternative. In general, the combination of different suicide gene therapy systems appears to be advantageous to enhance the overall therapeutic efficiency and to prevent resistance development. Retroviral vectors should be replaced by vectors which can transduce T cells without the need of cellular proliferation. The avoidance of extensive in vitro stimulation will help to reduce the loss of immunological competence important for GvL effect and protection against infectious agents. To date, lentiviral vectors appear to offer the most suitable features for T-cell suicide gene therapy. However, lentiviral vectors still need to be authorized for clinical trials, and their risk of inducing malignant transformation has to be carefully assessed.

References

- Adachi M, Sampath J, Lan LB, Sun D, Hargrove P, Flatley R, Tatum A, Edwards MZ, Wezeman M, Matherly L, Drake R, Schuetz J: Expression of MRP4 confers resistance to ganciclovir and compromises bystander cell killing. J Biol Chem 2002;277:38998–39004.
- Aghi M, Hochberg F, Breakefield XO: Prodrug activation enzymes in cancer gene therapy. J Gene Med 2000;2:148–164.
- Aghi M, Kramm CM, Breakefield XO: Folylpolyglutamyl synthetase gene transfer and glioma antifolate sensitivity in culture and in vivo. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999;91:1233–1241.
- Aghi M, Kramm CM, Chou TC, Breakefield XO, Chiocca EA: Synergistic anticancer effects of ganciclovir/thymidine kinase and 5-fluorocytosine/cytosine deaminase gene therapies. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998;90:370–380.
- Bader P, Klingebiel T, Schaudt A, Handgretinger R, Theurer-Mainka U, Lang P, Niethammer D, Beck J: Early immunotherapy after allogeneic SCT on the basis of increasing mixed chimerism in patients with acute leukemias can prevent frank hematological relapse: A single-center experience of 12 children. Leukemia 1999; 13:2079–2086.
- Beck JF, Klingebiel T, Kreyenberg H, Schaudt A, Hölle W, Niethammer D, Bader P: Rezidivprophylaxe bei Kindern mit ALL, AML und MDS nach allogener Stammzelltransplantation durch interventionelle Immuntherapie im kritischen Stadium eines ansteigenden gemischten Chimärismus. Klin Pädiatr 2002;214:201– 205.
- Bonini C, Bordignon C: Potential and limitations of HSV-TK-transduced donor peripheral blood lymphocytes after allo-BMT. Hematol Cell Ther 1997;39:273–274.
- Bonini C, Ferrari G, Verzeletti S, Servida P, Zappone E, Ruggieri L, Ponzoni M, Rossini S, Mavilio F, Traversari C, Bordignon C: HSV-TK gene transfer into donor lymphocytes for control of allogeneic graft-versus-leukemia. Science 1997;276:1719–1724.

- Bordignon C, Bonini C, Verzeletti S, Nobili N, Maggioni D, Traversari C, Giavazzi R, Servida P, Zappone E, Benazzi E, et al: Transfer of the HSV-tk gene into donor peripheral blood lymphocytes for in vivo modulation of anti-tumor immunity after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Hum Gene Ther 1995;6:813–819.
- Cazzaniga S, Cavalieri S, Geuna M, Zulma M, Bordignon C, Bonini C, Naldini L: Human T lymphocytes transduced by lentiviral vectors in the absence of TCR activation maintain an intact repertoire. Mol Ther 2002;5:S166, abstr 505.
- Chalmers D, Ferrand C, Apperley JF, Melo JV, Ebeling S, Newton I, Duperrier A, Hagenbeek A, Garrett E, Tiberghien P, Garin M: Elimination of the truncated message from the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase suicide gene. Mol Ther 2001;4:146–148.
- Collins RH Jr, Goldstein S, Giralt S, Levine J, Porter D, Drobyski W, Barrett J, Johnson M, Kirk A, Horowitz M, Parker P: Donor leukocyte infusions in acute lymphocytic leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;26:511–516.
- Collins RH Jr, Shpilberg O, Drobyski WR, Porter DL, Giralt S, Champlin R, Goodman SA, Wolff SN, Hu W, Verfaillie C, List A, Dalton W, Ognoskie N, Chetrit A, Antin JH, Nemunaitis J: Donor leukocyte infusions in 140 patients with relapsed malignancy after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Oncol 1997;15:433–444.
- Di Ianni M, Di Florio S, Venditti G, Liberatore C, Lucheroni F, Falzetti F, Terenzi A, Stella CC, Spinozzi F, Mannoni P, Martelli MF, Tabilio A: T-lymphocyte function after retroviral-mediated thymidine kinase gene transfer and G418 selection. Cancer Gene Ther 2000;7: 920–926.
- Duarte RF, Chen FE, Lowdell MW, Potter MN, Lamana ML, Prentice HG, Madrigal JA: Functional impairment of human T-lymphocytes following PHA-induced expansion and retroviral transduction: Implications for gene therapy. Gene Ther 2002;9:1359–1368.
- Fehse B, Kustikova OS, Li Z, Wahlers A, Bohn W, Beyer WR, Chalmers D, Tiberghien P, Kuhlcke K, Zander AR, Baum C: A novel 'sort-suicide' fusion gene vector for T cell manipulation. Gene Ther 2002a;9:1633–1638.

- Fehse B, Schade UM, Li Z, Uhde A, Koch S, Goller B, Ruger R, Fehse N, Stockschlader M, Zander AR: Highly efficient gene transfer with retroviral vectors into human T lymphocytes on fibronectin. Br J Haematol 1998;102:566–574.
- Frank S, Steffens S, Fischer U, Tlolko A, Rainov NG, Kramm CM: Differential cytotoxicity and bystander effect of the rabbit cytochrome P₄₅₀
 4B1 enzyme gene by two different prodrugs: Implications for pharmacogene therapy. Cancer Gene Ther 2002;9:178–188.
- Garin MI, Garrett E, Tiberghien P, Apperley JF, Chalmers D, Melo JV, Ferrand C: Molecular mechanism for ganciclovir resistance in human T lymphocytes transduced with retroviral vectors carrying the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene. Blood 2001;97:122–129.
- Hapke DM, Stegmann AP, Mitchell BS: Retroviral transfer of deoxycytidine kinase into tumor cell lines enhances nucleoside toxicity. Cancer Res 1996;56:2343–2347
- Hiller C, Wittmann S, Slavin S, Fickenscher H: Functional long-term thymidine kinase suicide gene expression in human T cells using a herpesvirus saimiri vector. Gene Ther 2000;7: 664–674.
- Introna M, Barbui AM, Bambacioni F, Casati C, Gaipa G, Borleri G, Bernasconi S, Barbui T, Golay J, Biondi A, Rambaldi A: Genetic modification of human T cells with CD20: A strategy to purify and lyse transduced cells with anti-CD20 antibodies. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11: 611–120.
- Introna M, Manganini M, Bonamino M, Broady R, Biondi A, Rambaldi A, Serafini M: Preclinical development of the CD20 suicide gene system in T and NK cells. 44th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology, Philadelphia, Dec 6–10, 2002, abstr 2558.
- Kojima A, Hackett NR, Ohwada A, Crystal RG: In vivo human carboxylesterase cDNA gene transfer to activate the prodrug CPT-11 for local treatment of solid tumors. J Clin Invest 1998;101:1789–1796.

- Kolb HJ, Schattenberg A, Goldman JM, Hertenstein B, Jacobsen N, Arcese W, Ljungman P, Ferrant A, Verdonck L, Niederwieser D et al: Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation Working Party Chronic Leukemia. Blood 1995;86:2041–2050.
- Li Z, Dullmann J, Schiedlmeier B, Schmidt M, von Kalle C, Meyer J, Forster M, Stocking C, Wahlers A, Frank O, Ostertag W, Kuhlcke K, Eckert HG, Fehse B, Baum C: Murine leukemia induced by retroviral gene marking. Science 2002;296:497.
- Litvinova E, Maury S, Boyer O, Bruel S, Benard L, Boisserie G, Klatzmann D, Cohen JL: Graftversus-leukemia effect after suicide-gene-mediated control of graft-versus-host disease. Blood 2002;100:2020–2025.
- Liu S, Song L, Bevins R, Birhiray O, Moscow JA: The murine-reduced folate carrier gene can act as a selectable marker and a suicide gene in hematopoietic cells in vivo. Hum Gene Ther 2002;13:1777–1782.

- McLaughlin P, Grillo-Lopez AJ, Link BK, Levy R, Czuczman MS, Williams ME, Heyman MR, Bence-Bruckler I, White CA, Cabanillas F, Jain V, Ho AD, Lister J, Wey K, Shen D, Dallaire BK: Rituximab chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy for relapsed indolent lymphoma: Half of patients respond to a fourdose treatment program. J Clin Oncol 1998;16: 2825–2833.
- Moscow JA, Gong M, He R, Sgagias MK, Dixon KH, Anzick SL, Meltzer PS, Cowan KH: Isolation of a gene encoding a human-reduced folate carrier (RFC1) and analysis of its expression in transport-deficient, methotrexate-resistant human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 1995;55: 3790–3794.
- Porter DL, Roth MS, Lee SJ, McGarigle C, Ferrara JML, Antin JH: Adoptive immunotherapy with donor mononuclear cell in fusions to treat relapse of acute leukemia or myelodysplasia after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1996;18:975–980.
- Sauce D, Bodinier M, Garin M, Petracca B, Tonnelier N, Duperrier A, Melo JV, Apperley JF, Ferrand C, Herve P, Lang F, Tiberghien P, Robinet E: Retrovirus-mediated gene transfer in primary T lymphocytes impairs their anti-Epstein-Barr virus potential through both culturedependent and selection process-dependent mechanisms. Blood 2002;99:1165–1173.

- Thomis DC, Marktel S, Bonini C, Traversari C, Gilman M, Bordignon C, Clackson T: A Fasbased suicide switch in human T cells for the treatment of graft-versus-host disease. Blood 2001;97:1249–1257.
- Tiberghien P, Ferrand C, Lioure B, Milpied N, Angonin R, Deconinck E, Certoux JM, Robinet E, Saas P, Petracca B, Juttner C, Reynolds CW, Longo DL, Herve P, Cahn JY: Administration of herpes simplex-thymidine kinaseexpressing donor T cells with a T-cell-depleted allogeneic marrow graft. Blood 2001;97:63– 72.
- Tomicic MT, Thust R, Sobol RW, Kaina B: DNA polymerase β mediates protection of mammalian cells against ganciclovir-induced cytotoxicity and DNA breakage. Cancer Res 2001;61: 7399–7403.
- Verzeletti S, Bonini C, Marktel S, Nobili N, Ciceri F, Traversari C, Bordignon C: Herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene transfer for controlled graft-versus-host disease and graft-versus-leukemia: Clinical follow-up and improved new vectors. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:2243– 2251.

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:139–148 DOI: 10.1159/000072463

Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for EBV-Associated Post-Transplant Lymphoproliferative Disease

Catherine M. Bollard Barbara Savoldo Cliona M. Rooney Helen E. Heslop

Center for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Tex., USA

Key Words

Transplantation · Epstein-Barr virus · Adoptive immunotherapy · Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease

Abstract

Increased understanding of the mechanisms by which T lymphocytes recognize virus and tumor-specific antigens has fueled the use of adoptive immunotherapy for viral and malignant diseases. An ideal candidate for such treatment is Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). EBV-associated post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) is a serious complication post-solid organ transplant (SOT) or hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT). The disease is essentially the result of suppression of cytotoxic T-cell function and despite various treatment strategies the course may still be fulminant and lethal. Therefore, an adoptive immunotherapeutic approach using ex vivo derived EBV-specific CTL offers a promising solution not only for the treatment but also as prophylaxis for PTLD. The infusion of EBV-CTL has been demonstrated to be safe and effective in allogeneic HSCT recipients and their use post-SOT is being evaluated.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0139\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha

Introduction

Epstein-Barr virus associated post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) is a potentially life-threatening consequence of immune suppression post marrow and solid organ transplantation. Persistence and reactivation of EBV infection within the cells of the immune system is a unique characteristic of gamma herpes viruses and is fundamental to the pathogenesis of this EBV-associated disease. PTLD is heterogeneous in its presentation ranging from polyclonal lymphoproliferations to malignant lymphoma. In addition, the clinical presentation and course as well as treatment options differ when PTLD develops post organ transplant versus marrow transplant. Although there are a number of therapeutic options including chemotherapy and treatment with monoclonal antibodies, PTLD can still have a rapid and lethal course. However, a promising approach for the treatment and prevention of this devastating illness is the application of adoptive immunotherapy such as the use of ex vivo derived EBV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) to restore the deficient CTL response.

Dr. Helen E. Heslop Center for Cell and Gene Therapy 1102 Bates St, Suite 1140 Houston, TX 77030 (USA) Tel. +1 832 824 4662, Fax +1 832 825 4668, E-Mail hheslop@bcm.tmc.edu

Epstein-Barr Virus Infection

EBV is an enveloped herpesvirus with a 172-kb double-stranded DNA genome [1]. In the immunocompetent host, EBV infection results in a mild self-limiting illness [2]. Over 95% of the adult population worldwide are seropositive for EBV primarily after developing the infection during childhood [3]. Like other herpes viruses, EBV is then able to maintain a latent infection with the virus genome retained in the host cells without production of infectious virions. EBV targets oral epithelial cells and B cells. The CD21 receptor of the B lymphocyte allows the EBV to enter the cell and establish latent infection in vivo with the expression of latency-associated transforming proteins [4]. There are three types of EBV latency defined by the number and type of latent protein expressed on the host's B cells. During acute infectious mononucleosis, between 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 circulating B cells in the peripheral blood are infected with EBV and express a type 3 latency pattern of transcription [5]. Type 3 latency involves the expression of EBV nuclear antigen (EBNA)-1, -2, -3A, -3B, -3C, the leader protein (LP), latent membrane protein (LMP)-1, -2A, -2B and the cytosolic protein RK-BARFO (the product of the BamH1 open reading frame) [6]. In addition, abundantly expressed small nonpolyadenylated RNAs termed EBV early RNA (EBER)-1 and -2 are transcribed but not translated [7]. The expression of the 9 viral antigens and the presence of cell adhesion and co-stimulatory molecules make these B cells highly immunogenic and in the immunocompetent host, susceptible to immune mediated killing by EBV-specific cytotoxic T cells [6]. In addition, in vitro type 3 latency is demonstrated by the establishment of immortalized EBVtransformed lymphoblastoid B cell lines (LCL). In the immunocompetent host, once the type 3 latency-expressing B cells are eliminated by the cellular immune response, around 1 in 10⁶ infected B cells persist which express a more restricted pattern of EBV genes. This viral gene expression in resting infected B cells in normal seropositive individuals, is limited to the immuno-subdominant LMP-2A antigen, BARFO, EBNA-1 which possess gly-ala repeat sequences that inhibit HLA class I antigen processing, and EBERs [4, 5]. This expression of a minimal subset of genes, which are weak targets for CTL activity, therefore allows infected cells to evade the immune system and maintain a low level persistent infection [8].

Pathogenesis of EBV-Driven Lymphoproliferation (PTLD)

In seropositive individuals, EBV-infected cells may undergo lytic replication usually with a transient expression of the full panel of type 3 latent antigens, followed by immune recognition and elimination by EBV-specific CTL. In contrast, type 1 and type 2 latency express only a limited array of EBV antigens as seen in nasopharyngeal carcinoma, Hodgkin disease and Burkitt's lymphoma [9– 11].

An ongoing balance exists in normal seropositives between the EBV viral load and the immune defense mechanisms. However, following transplantation where cytotoxic T-cell numbers and/or activity are drastically suppressed, the EBV-infected B cells expressing a type 3 latency are able to proliferate unchecked [12]. This leads to accumulation of EBV-infected B cells in the body and enhanced viral replication as demonstrated by elevated levels of EBV DNA detected in the peripheral blood by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [13–16]. These changes reflect the loss of CTL activity and in many patients, uncontrolled EBV-driven B-cell lymphoproliferation occurs leading to immunoblastic lymphoma.

EBV-Driven Lymphoproliferation in Stem Cell Transplantation

Incidence and Risk Factors

The differences in the incidences between PTLD developing after solid organ versus stem cell transplants are highlighted in table 1. The reported incidence of PTLD post-hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) ranges from 1 to 25% of transplant recipients [17]. The highest frequencies are seen in patients receiving HSCT from mismatched family donors or unrelated donors, particularly if the marrow was depleted of T cells to prevent graftversus-host disease [18-23]. The post-transplant immunosuppression regimen employed is also an important risk factor for PTLD. The type and cumulative dose of potent T-cell-immunosuppressive agents such as anti-CD3 antibody, cyclosporin, FK506 and antithymocyte globulin [24, 25] play an important role in determining risk for EBV-associated PTLD. In addition, bone marrow transplant recipients with underlying immunodeficiencies such as Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome represent an independent risk group for PTLD [26].

Table 1. Incidence of PTLD in allorecipients

	Type of transplant	Incidence of EBV-PTLD
Hematopoietic stem cell	Mismatched Mismatched + T-cell depletion Unrelated Unrelated + T-cell depletion Unrelated + Campath depletion	1% 1-8% 1.5% 5-29% [33, 35, 48-50] 1.3%
Solid organ	Kidney Heart Liver Small bowel Lung and heart-lung	1-2% [56, 57] 5-10% [58, 59] 2-10% [60, 61] 20% [60] 9-19% [58, 59]

Pathology and Clinical Presentation

Ablation of the recipient's bone marrow before transplantation and reconstitution of the recipient's immune system with donor lymphocytes means that PTLD is usually of donor B-cell origin [19]. In the bone marrow transplant setting, PTLD usually presents early posttransplant and is rapidly fatal [19]. EBV-associated PTLD that arises in allogeneic stem cell recipients are usually classified as immunoblastic lymphomas [27]. The majority of the tumor cells express a type 3 latency pattern of gene expression and are phenotypically identical to LCL derived in vitro [27, 28]. The diagnosis of PTLD post-HSCT is usually established within the first 3 months following transplant with the range being 3-12 months when profound deficiencies of EBV-specific CTL are observed [20]. In these patients with early-onset PTLD, the EBVinfected cells are donor-derived. There is a small subset of HSCT patients who develop 'late-onset' PTLD up to 4 years post-transplant [29]. Generally, these patients require HSCT for underlying immunodeficiency syndromes and incomplete engraftment post-transplant. In contrast to the early-onset group, the EBV-infected cells were of host origin.

The clinical presentation of PTLD post-HSCT may be a generalized systemic illness not unlike infectious mononucleosis with prominent B symptoms (fevers, sweats, anorexia) and rapid enlargement of the tonsils and cervical nodes [30]. In highly immunosuppressed patients, they may present with fulminant disease with diffusely infiltrative multiorgan involvement difficult to distinguish from sepsis or graft-versus-host disease [31]. Retrospective analyses of several case reports and studies reported that PTLD emerged as an incidental finding, discovered at autopsy, in nearly 20% of patients [32–34]. PTLD can therefore be very variable in its presentation and not always easily recognizable. Prompt diagnosis and intervention are likely to improve outcome, which is why many bone marrow transplant centers monitor patients' EBV-DNA levels post-transplant [15, 35–38]. Using quantitative PCR, EBV-DNA levels >4,000 copies/µg DNA are highly predictive for the development of EBV lymphoma and therefore serve as a guide to commence treatment [39].

Therapeutic Management

Therapeutic approaches to PTLD post-HSCT such as reduction of immunosuppression and the use of the antiviral agents acyclovir and ganciclovir have not substantially improved the poor prognosis of PTLD in this setting [34, 40]. Post-HSCT, the withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy is usually ineffective as the developing donor-derived immune system cannot provide sufficient immune recovery to eradicate EBV-infected B cells in bone marrow transplant patients. Chemotherapy and localized radiotherapy have been used to treat PTLD post-HSCT, but mortality is high secondary to significant cytotoxicity [41]. The use of monoclonal anti-B cell antibodies has also been investigated for the treatment of this disease. A mixture of anti-CD21 and anti-CD24 antibodies was found to be effective in a European multicenter trial which included HSCT recipients with PTLD. Twenty-seven patients post-HSCT were treated with an overall survival rate of 46% at a median follow-up of 61 months [42, 43]. The toxicity was mild, but these antibodies are not available clinically. Our group and others have investigated the feasibility of treating PTLD with the humanized murine anti-CD20 antibody Rituximab (Rituxan; IDEC Pharmaceuticals, San Diego, Calif. and Genentech, Inc., San

Francisco, Calif., USA) [44–47]. Although follow-up is relatively short and the patient numbers in each series is relatively small, the overall response rates ranged from 69 to 100% and therefore represents a promising strategy for PTLD post-HSCT. In addition, the reported toxicity was mild, however the long-term sequelae are as yet unknown – in particular the risk of selecting CD20-negative tumors.

Adoptive Immunotherapy Approach in HSCT Recipients

It has been possible to restore EBV-specific immunocompetence and therefore control EBV LPD post-HSCT by administering unselected populations of donor lymphocytes to transplant recipients [48, 49]. However, the utility of such therapy is limited by potentially fatal complications that arise from alloreactive T cells also present in the lymphocyte infusion [48, 49]. To overcome this obstacle, several groups have investigated the feasibility of generating donor-derived EBV-specific CTL [50-53]. Our group generated EBV-specific T-cell lines from donor lymphocytes and used them as prophylaxis and treatment for EBV-induced lymphoma in patients post-HSCT [50]. CTL were generated by initiating an LCL line by infecting donor peripheral blood mononuclear cells with a laboratory strain of EBV. These LCL which, as mentioned previously, express a type 3 latency, were irradiated and then used as antigen-presenting cells to stimulate and expand EBV-specific CTL from the donor lymphocyte population. Over a 7-year period, 56 patients who received a Tcell-depleted HSCT were given EBV-CTL prophylactically. The patients ranged in age from 9 months to 20 years and CTL were administered at a median of 88 days post-HSCT. The first 26 patients enrolled on to the study received CTL which were genetically modified with the neomycin resistance gene. None of the 56 patients who received the EBV-CTL developed PTLD compared with an incidence of 11.5% in a comparable group who did not receive CTL [22]. Using conventional PCR and real-time PCR, the marker gene was identified in the peripheral blood at least 69 months post-CTL [54]. Although toxicity was low in this prophylaxis group, inflammatory responses were seen in patients who had incipient disease. Three patients who declined or were ineligible for our prophylaxis study were treated for established EBV lymphoma. The EBV-specific CTL therapy induced a remission for 2 patients although in 1 case dramatic inflammation occurred at sites of disease after CTL administration. The patient who failed treatment was found to have an escape mutant in her EBV lymphoma cells. Therefore, although the donor EBV-CTL line recognized two immunodominant HLA-11-restricted epitopes in EBNA-3B, the patient's tumor cells had a mutation in the EBNA-3B epitope thereby rendering the tumor resistant to the donor CTL [55]. Although polyclonal CTL lines were used, it is possible for escape mutants to arise in this setting. Therefore, the risk of tumor escape mutants remains a concern as it does with the use of monoclonal antibody therapies. In addition, the infusion of CTL to patients with incipient or established disease warrants caution secondary to the inflammatory response at disease sites. However, adoptively transferred EBV-CTL do persist long term and can prevent as well as effectively treat EBV driven PTLD.

PTLD in Solid Organ Transplant (SOT) Recipients

Incidence and Risk Factors

In SOT recipients, the incidence of PTLD varies according to the type of graft, being lower after renal, heart or liver transplant (1–10%) and higher after lung or small bowel transplant (10-30%) [56-61]. These differences depend on the degree and duration of the immunosuppressive treatment employed to prevent graft rejection. The other major risk factor for the development of PTLD is the occurrence of a primary EBV infection after the transplant [25]. Therefore, the pediatric populations who are recipients of solid organ grafts are particularly susceptible to PTLD, because children are more frequently EBV-seronegative at the time of transplant. EBV infection of the recipient may result from different sources including latent EBV infection of donor or host lymphocytes, blood transfusions and the graft itself [34].

Clinical Presentation and Pathology

Although seroconversion after EBV infection may be asymptomatic, up to 50% of patients present with fever, lymphadenopathy, rash and diarrhea along with a high EBV-DNA viral load at initial infection. Symptomatic primary infection is frequently followed by PTLD. In EBV-seropositive SOT recipients, PTLD can present as single or localized forms, with regional node involvement. Symptoms are related to the anatomic site involved. EBVdriven lymphoma can localize near the transplanted liver or kidney. PTLD can present as diffuse disease, with multiorgan involvement, including CNS [62, 63]. Different histologic subtypes have been described, ranging from benign hyperplasia, generally polyclonal, to monomorphic and mononclonal forms. According to the interval of development of disease after transplant, PTLD can be divided into 'early' and 'late' lymphoma. Their development closely related to the intensity of immunosuppression given in the first period post-transplant, since the former develops within the first year of transplant and is invariably associated with EBV. In contrast, the 'late' form develops 2–5 years or later after the transplantation and their pathogenesis is probably multifactorial with a significant number being EBV-negative [64–66]. These late-onset lymphomas also have a much poorer prognosis and require more aggressive therapies.

Therapeutic Management

Reduction or withdrawal of immunosuppression, aimed at restoring the ability to control the proliferation of the infected B cells, is suggested as first-line treatment of PTLD post-SOT [67]. Regression of PTLD has been reported after suspension of immunosuppressive drugs, though there is great variability in the response, ranging from 23 to 86% according to the different centers [67, 68]. Early PTLD tends to be more susceptible to modification of the immunosuppression, but one drawback associated with the recovery of immunocompetence is represented by rejection of the graft. This is of particular concern for recipients of heart or liver grafts who invariably lack alternative therapeutic options unlike kidney recipients who usually have access to dialysis in the event of graft rejection. For localized forms of PTLD, surgical resection is generally successful with complete resolution of the disease. In contrast, alternative therapeutic strategies are required to effectively treat PTLD not responsive to the withdrawal of immunosuppression and/or PTLD presenting as a more aggressive and diffuse disease. Antiviral agents may offer some advantages as preemptive therapy, by reducing the incidence of symptomatic post-transplant seroconversion [69]. Similarly, biological immune-response modifiers like interferon can be used to prevent the infection of new lymphocytes by inhibiting viral replication [19, 70].

Recently, more centers are reporting regression of PTLD in SOT recipients treated with the humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody [71–73]. Complete responses are generally observed for early PTLD, however the data is limited regarding the long-term maintenance of such remissions. Late PTLD seems less responsive to Rituxi-mab. This may be dependent on the heterogeneity of CD20 expression on these tumor cells. In addition, the

possibility of selecting CD20-negative PTLD using this treatment needs further evaluation [74]. Finally, more information is required on the long-term effects of multiple anti-CD20 administrations in children, especially on the B-cell compartment recovery.

Chemotherapy represents another treatment option, especially for aggressive disease. Though several groups have reported complete remission after a variety of chemotherapy regimens, severe toxic effects and high mortality rate have also been described [75]. Low-dose chemotherapy regimens appear to provide control of the disease and are well tolerated in terms of treatment-related toxicity and infections [76]. However, as yet there is no uniform approach for the treatment of EBV-driven PTLD in SOT recipients. Adoptive immunotherapy may have therapeutic potential in this setting as previously demonstrated for PTLD developing after HSCT.

Adoptive Immunotherapy Approach in SOT Recipients

The majority of the localized forms of PTLD and the 'early' lesion that presents as polymorphic proliferation can be considered as 'non-cancerous' stages, since regression may be obtained after reduction or withdrawal of the immunosuppression resulting in restoration of the T-cell function. Late-onset PTLD is generally monomorphic and associated with point mutations or rearrangement of proto-oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes [77]. This suggests that the broad array of PTLD observed after SOT reflects a multistep process. Whether delays in detection and treatment of 'early' PTLD may permit progression to a more aggressive malignant disease is not known. Some indications that 'early' PTLD can progress to these malignant lymphomas come from the identification of EBV infection in draining lymph nodes or identification of partial sequences of the EBV genome in some of these lymphomas [78, 79].

The use of EBV-specific CTL to restore EBV-specific immunity early in the disease process may provide the ideal therapeutic strategy to prevent PTLD progressing to a more aggressive, treatment-resistant form. However, the generation of EBV-specific CTL for SOT recipients presents some major differences compared to HSCT recipients. First, SOT recipients and donor are not HLA-matched and PTLD occurring after SOT are of recipient origin, so that the use of donor-derived CTL is not appropriate [80]. Secondly, the grafted organ is generally from a cadaver, which obviously precludes the ex vivo generation of donor-derived CTL. Infusion of CD3+ leukocytes from an HLA-matched sibling has been previously reported for the treatment of PTLD [63]. However, the

Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for EBV-Associated PTLD

availability of such donors may be limited and graft toxicity or rejection may occur. Graft rejection has also been observed after the infusion of autologous natural killerlike T cells, obtained by expansion in vitro in the presence of interleukin-2 [81]. To reduce alloreactivity, the generation of EBV-specific CTL from allogeneic EBV-seropositive healthy donors based on the 'best HLA match' has been proposed [82]. However, the infused CTL seem to be rapidly eliminated by the recipient's T cells.

Autologus EBV-specific T-cell lines therefore represent the best option for the adoptive transfer. Autologous CTL from SOT recipients generated before the transplant procedure are able to restore EBV-specific competence [83]. However, this approach is not feasible, since the number of transplant procedures is increasing and it would be too expensive and time-consuming to generate these T-cell lines for all transplant candidates. Therefore, the optimal approach is to generate CTL only for patients with active disease. This includes patients with PTLD or patients acquiring EBV seroconversion post-transplant. Initially there were concerns regarding patient immunosuppression and the feasibility of generating CTL from these patients. While HSCT donors are healthy subjects, SOT recipients are continuously on immunosuppressive treatment. Khanna et al. [84] first showed that it was possible to generate EBV-specific CTL from SOT recipients who were receiving immunosuppression when the EBV seroconversion occurred. We have confirmed this finding by successfully generating EBV-specific CTL from 2 patients who seroconverted after the transplant procedure. In addition, we have been successful in generating EBV-specific CTL from other 6 SOT patients receiving immunosuppression treatment, even those presenting with active PTLD [85]. By using multiple stimulations with autologous LCL in the presence of interleukin-2 from day +15 of culture, all our patients' CTL expanded easily with normal kinetics, phenotype and cytotoxic activity.

Though feasible, the time required for the establishment of these T-cell lines remains the major limitation of this approach and other treatments are required to allow sufficient time for CTL establishment. Alternatively, preventive CTL generation should be reserved for high-risk patients. To select patients highly immunosuppressed, a test that correlates the patient's immunodeficiency status with the incipient PTLD development is necessary. So far the evaluation of EBV-DNA level as evidence of lack of EBV-specific immune control has been used [14, 86–88]. However, the measurement of EBV-DNA levels does not seem to be specific, since an increase of the EBV-viral load is not always followed by PTLD. In our institution, we are evaluating alternative methods for measuring cellular immune responses to EBV. The availability of a test for the early detection of EBV-PTLD which is rapid, sensitive and specific will give us not only enough time for the establishment of CTL lines but also the opportunity for early intervention.

Another limitation of the adoptive immunotherapy approach is the failure to generate EBV-specific CTL from EBV-seronegative SOT recipients using multiple stimulations with autologous LCL in presence of interleukin-2. In fact, although LCL are potent antigen-presenting cells, they seem incapable of inducing a primary immune response in vitro. In our institution, new strategies for the generation of EBV-specific CTL from EBV-seronegative SOT recipients are currently under evaluation. The possibility to treat symptoms at seroconversion and PTLD in this group of patients would drastically reduce the incidence of this disease.

Conclusions and Future Directions

The use of adoptive transfer represents a physiologic treatment for PTLD in HSCT and SOT recipients, since it allows restoration of the immunosurveillance that is compromised in these individuals. A summary of the studies where CTL therapies have been used for the treatment or prophylaxis of PTLD are listed in table 2. In the SOT setting, treatment of early lesions would prevent the EBV-transformed cells from progressing into aggressive lymphoma. However, further information is required to assess efficacy and persistence of the infused CTL in these patients. Preliminary studies suggest that CTL administered to SOT recipients continuing immunosuppressive therapy are effective in reducing EBV-DNA viral load but do no persist for longer than 3 months after the infusion [83, 84].

In the HSCT setting, the use of EBV-CTL is effective for the treatment and prophylaxis of PTLD. However, the development of tumor escape mutants despite the used of polyclonal CTL lines is a concern. Other approaches such as depleting the stem cell graft of B as well as T cells have been investigated by our group and may be a feasible option especially when donor cells are not available (e.g. post-matched unrelated cord blood transplant).

In summary, CTL therapy may best be used as prophylaxis or for minimal residual disease, as the presence of fewer tumor cells will reduce the risk of tumor escape mutants. However with the time investment required to generate such CTL lines, future directions should be

Study	Patients (patient age)	Immunosuppression	PTLD	CTL lines	Results
Post-HSCT					
Rooney [35]	56 (9 months to 20 years)	T-depleted HSCT (MMRD or MUD)	Prophylaxis	Allogeneic	No PTLD cf. 11.5% control No toxicity
Heslop [35, 55]	3 (12–17 years)	T-depleted HSCT	Lymphoblastic lymphoma	Allogeneic	2 CR, 1 NR (died) tumor mutation resistant to CTL
Gustafsson [53]	9 (1–39 years)	T-depleted HSCT or ATG/OKT3	ŤEBV-DNA	Allogeneic	8 pts↓EBV-DNA 1 pt died from PTLD (CTL not EBV-specific)
Post solid organ tr	ansplant				
Emanuel [63]	1 (11 years)	CSA+AZA+Pred	CNS B-lymphoma	HLA-matched lymphocytes	CR but signs of rejection
Nalesnik [81]	7 (41-61 years)	Not available	EBV +ve (4 pts) EBV -ve (3 pts)	Autologous LAK cell line	3 CR, 3 NR, 1 died of sepsis
Haque [83]	3 (29–61)	FK506 or CSA	Prophylaxis	Autologous	↓EBV-DNA ↑CTLp
Khanna [84]	1 (39)	CSA + AZA + Pred	B-lymphoma	Autologous	\uparrow CTLp and initial CR then died from PTLD

Table 2. Published studies using adoptive immunotherapy for treatment or prophylaxis of PTLD

MMRD = Mismatched related donor; MUD = matched unrelated donor; CR = complete remission; NR = no response; ATG = antithymocyte globulin; OKT3 = anti-CD3; CSA = cyclosporin; AZA = azathioprine; Pred = prednisone; LAK = lymphokine-activated killer cell; FK506 = tacrolimus; CTLp = CTL precursor frequency.

focused on identifying high-risk patients in the HSCT and SOT populations so that prophylaxis is timely and effective. Known risk factors such as previous lymphoma, immunodeficiency syndromes, type of immunosuppression as well as the use of quantitative real-time PCR to regularly monitor EBV DNA levels are helpful tools to

preempt PTLD development and expedite the appropriate therapy. In addition, the ability to generate autologous EBV-CTL lines in seronegative SOT recipients will be invaluable for the treatment of this large at-risk population.

References

- Rickinson AB, Kieff E: Epstein-Barr virus; in Fields BN, Knipe DM, Howley PM (eds): Fields Virology. Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven, 1996, pp 2397–2446.
- 2 Rickinson AB: EBV infection and EBV-associated tumors; in Minson AC, Neil JC, McRae MA (eds): Viruses and Cancer. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1994, pp 81– 100.
- 3 Henle G, Henle W, Horwitz C: Antibodies to Epstein-Barr virus-associated antigens in infectious mononucleosis. J Infect Dis 1974;130: 231–239.
- 4 Qu L, Rowe DT: Epstein-Barr virus latent gene expression in uncultured peripheral blood lymphocytes. J Virol 1992;66:3715–3724.
- 5 Tierney RJ, Steven N, Young LS, Rickinson AB: Epstein-Barr virus latency in blood mononuclear cells: Analysis of viral gene transcription during primary infection and in the carrier state. J Virol 1994;68:7374–7385.
- 6 Rickinson AB, Moss DJ: Human cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses to Epstein-Barr virus infection. Annu Rev Immunol 1997;15:405– 431.
- 7 Hopwood P, Crawford DH: The role of EBV in post-transplant malignancies: A review. J Clin Pathol 2000;53:248–254.
- 8 Lewin N, Aman P, Masucci MG, Klein E, Klein G, Oberg B, Strander H, Henle W, Henle G: Characterization of EBV-carrying B-cell populations in healthy seropositive individuals with regard to density, release of transforming virus and spontaneous outgrowth. Int J Cancer 1987;39:472–476.
- 9 Sample J, Brooks L, Sample C, Young L, Rowe M, Gregory C, Rickinson A, Kieff E: Restricted Epstein-Barr virus protein expression in Burkitt lymphoma is due to a different Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 transcriptional initiation site. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88: 6343–6347.

Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for EBV-Associated PTLD

- 10 Brooks L, Yao QY, Rickinson AB, Young LS: Epstein-Barr virus latent gene transcription in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells: Coexpression of EBNA-1 and LMP-2 transcripts. J Virol 1992;66:2689–2697.
- 11 Deacon EM, Pallesen G, Niedobitek G, Crocker J, Brooks L, Rickinson AB, Young LS: Epstein-Barr virus and Hodgkin's disease: Transcriptional analysis of virus latency in the malignant cells. J Exp Med 1993;177:339–349.
- 12 d'Amore ESG, Manivel JC, Gajl-Peczalska KJ, Litz CE, Copenhaver CM, Shapiro RS, Strickler JG: B-cell lymphoproliferations after bone marrow transplant. Cancer 1991;68:1285– 1294.
- 13 Wagner HJ, Bein G, Bitsch A, Kirchner H: Detection and quantification of latently infected B lymphocytes in Epstein-Barr virusseropositive, healthy individuals by polymerase chain reaction. J Clin Microbiol 1992; 30:2826–2829.
- 14 Riddler SA, Breinig MC, McKnight JLC: Increased levels of circulating Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-infected lymphocytes and decreased EBV nuclear antigen antibody responses are associated with the development of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in solid-organ transplant recipients. Blood 1994;84:972– 984.
- 15 Rowe DT, Qu L, Reyes J, Jabbour N, Yunis E, Putnam P, Todo S, Green M: Use of quantitative competitive PCR to measure Epstein-Barr virus genome load in the peripheral blood of pediatric transplant patients with lymphoproliferative disorders. J Clin Microbiol 1997;35: 1612–1615.
- 16 Orii T, Ohkohchi N, Kikuchi H, Koyamada N, Chubachi S, Satomi S, Kimura H, Hoshino Y, Morita M: Usefulness of quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction in following up patients with Epstein-Barr virus infection after liver transplantation. Clin Transplant 2000;14: 308–317.
- 17 Curtis RE, Travis LB, Rowlings PA, Socie G, Kingma DW, Banks PM, Jaffe ES, Sale GE, Horowitz MM, Witherspoon RP, Shriner DA, Weisdorf DJ, Kolb HJ, Sullivan KM, Sobocinski KA, Gale RP, Hoover RN, Fraumeni JF Jr, Deeg HJ: Risk of lymphoproliferative disorders after bone marrow transplantation: A multi-institutional study. Blood 1999;94:2208– 2216.
- 18 Skinner JC, Gilbert EF, Hong R, Bozdech MJ, Flynn B, Borcherding W, Hafez GR, Arya S, Trigg ME, Finlay JL, Sondel PM: B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders following T-cell-depleted allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1988;10:112– 119.
- 19 Shapiro RS, McClain K, Frizzera G, Gajl-Peczalska KJ, Kersey JH, Blazar BR, Arthur DC, Patton DF, Greenberg JS, Burke B, Ramsay NKC, McGlave P, Filipovich AH: Epstein-Barr virus associated B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders following bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1988;71:1234–1243.

- 20 Lucas K, Small T, Heller G, Dupont B, O'Reilly RJ: The development of cellular immunity to Epstein-Barr virus after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1996;87:2594– 2603.
- 21 Gerritsen EJ, Stam ED, Hermans J, van den Berg H, Haraldsson A, van Tol MJ, van den Bergh RL, Waaijer JL, Kroes AC, Kluin PM, Vossen JM: Risk factors for developing EBVrelated B cell lymphoproliferative disorders after non-HLA-identical BMT in children. Bone Marrow Transpl 1996;18:377–382.
- 22 Heslop HE, Rooney CM: Adoptive Immunotherapy of EBV lymphoproliferative diseases. Immunol Rev 1997;157:217–222.
- 23 Hale G, Waldmann H, for CAMPATH Users: Risks of developing Epstein-Barr virus-related lymphoproliferative disorders after T-cell-depleted marrow transplants. Blood 1998;91: 3079–3083.
- 24 Swinnen LJ, Costanzo-Nordin MR, Fisher SG, O'Sullivan EJ, Johnson MR, Heroux AL, Dizikes GJ, Pifarre R, Fisher RI: Increased incidence of lymphoproliferative disorder after immunosuppression with the monoclonal antibody OKT3 in cardiac-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med 1990;323:1723–1728.
- 25 Sokal EM, Antunes H, Beguin C, Bodeus M, Wallemacq P, de Ville D, Reding R, Janssen M, Buts JP, Otte JB: Early signs and risk factors for the increased incidence of Epstein-Barr virus-related posttransplant lymphoproliferative diseases in pediatric liver transplant recipients treated with tacrolimus. Transplantation 1997; 64:1438–1442.
- 26 Bhatia S, Ramsay NK, Steinbuch M, Dusenbery KE, Shapiro RS, Weisdorf DJ, Robison LL, Miller JS, Neglia JP: Malignant neoplasms following bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1996;87:3633–3639.
- 27 Orazi A, Hromas RA, Neiman RS, Greiner TC, Lee CH, Rubin L, Haskins S, Heerema NA, Ghapure V, Abonour R, Srour EF, Cornetta K: Posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorders in bone marrow transplant recipients are aggressive diseases with a high incidence of adverse histologic and immunobiologic features. Am J Clin Pathol 1997;107:419–429.
- 28 Rea D, Fourcade C, Leblond V, Rowe M, Joab I, Edelman L, Bitker MO, Gandjbakhch I, Suberbielle C, Farcet JP: Patterns of Epstein-Barr virus latent and replicative gene expression in Epstein-Barr virus B cell lymphoproliferative disorders after organ transplantation. Transplantation 1994;58:317–324.
- 29 Gratama JW, Oosterveer MAP, Zwaan FE, Lepoutre J, Klein G, Ernberg I: Eradication of Epstein-Barr virus by allogeneic bone marrow transplantation: Implications for sites of viral latency. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988;85: 8693–8696.
- 30 Hanto DW, Frizzera G, Gajl-Peczalska KJ, Simmons RL: Epstein-Barr virus, immunodeficiency, and B cell lymphoproliferation. Transplantation 1985;39:461–472.
- 31 Swinnen LJ: Diagnosis and treatment of transplant-related lymphoma. Ann Oncol 2000; 11(suppl 1):45–48.

- 32 Gratama JW, Zutter MM, Minarovits J, Oosterveer MAP, Thomas ED, Klein G, Ernberg I: Expression of Epstein-Barr virus-encoded growth-transformation-associated proteins in lymphoproliferations of bone-marrow transplant recipients. Int J Cancer 1991;47:188– 192.
- 33 Gross TG, Steinbuch M, DeFor T, Shapiro RS, McGlave P, Ramsay NKC, Wagner JE, Filipovich AH: B cell lymphoproliferative disorders following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: Risk factors, treatment and outcome. Bone Marrow Transplant 1999;23:251–258.
- 34 Claviez A, Tiemann M, Wagner HJ, Dreger P, Suttorp M: Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease after bone marrow transplantation mimicking graftversus-host disease. Pediatr Transplant 2000;4: 151–155.
- 35 Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng CYC, Loftin SK, Sixbey JW, Gan YJ, Srivastava DK, Bowman LC, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE: Infusion of cytotoxic T cells for the prevention and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus-induced lymphoma in allogeneic transplant recipients. Blood 1998;92:1549–1555.
- 36 Rooney CM, Loftin SK, Holladay MS, Brenner MK, Krance RA, Heslop HE: Early identification of Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease. Br J Haematol 1995;89:98–103.
- 37 Stevens SJ, Vervoort MB, van den Brule AJ, Meenhorst PL, Meijer CJ, Middeldorp JM: Monitoring of Epstein-Barr virus DNA load in peripheral blood by quantitative competitive PCR. J Clin Microbiol 1999;37:2852–2857.
- 38 Stevens SJ, Verschuuren EA, Pronk I, van der BW, Harmsen MC, The TH, Meijer CJ, van den Brule AJ, Middeldorp JM: Frequent monitoring of Epstein-Barr virus DNA load in unfractionated whole blood is essential for early detection of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in high-risk patients. Blood 2001; 97:1165–1171.
- 39 Bollard CM, Rooney CM, Huls MH, Rochester RJ, Benaim E, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE: Long-term follow-up of patients who received EBV-specific CTLs for the prevention or treatment of EBV lymphoma (abstract). Blood 2000:96:478.
- 40 Yao QY, Ogan P, Rowe M, Wood M, Rickinson AB: Epstein-Barr virus-infected B cells persist in the circulation of acyclovir-treated virus carriers. Int J Cancer 1989;43:67–71.
- 41 Swinnen LJ: Overview of posttransplant B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders. Semin Oncol 1999;26(suppl 14):21–25.
- 42 Fischer A, Blanche S, LeBidois J, Bordigoni P, Garnier JL, Neaudet P, Morinet F, Le Deist F, Fischer AM, Griscelli C, Hirn M: Anti-B-cell monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of severe B-cell lymphoproliferative syndrome following bone marrow and organ transplantation. N Engl J Med 1991;324:1451–1456.

- 43 Benkerrou M, Jais JP, Leblond V, Durandy A, Sutton L, Bordigoni P, Garnier JL, Le Bidois J, Le Deist F, Blanche S, Fischer A: Anti-B-cell monoclonal antibody treatment of severe posttransplant B-lymphoproliferative disorder: Prognostic factors and long-term outcome. Blood 1998;92:3137–3147.
- 44 Kuehnle I, Huls MH, Liu Z, Semmelmann M, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Rooney CM, Heslop HE: CD20 monoclonal antibody (Rituximab) for therapy of Epstein-Barr virus lymphoma after hemopoietic stem-cell transplantation. Blood 2000;95:1502–1505.
- 45 Skoda-Smith S, Douglas VK, Mehta P, Graham-Pole J, Wingard JR: Treatment of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease with induction chemotherapy followed by haploidentical peripheral blood stem cell transplantation and Rituximab. Bone Marrow Transplant 2001;27:329–332.
- 46 Schaar CG, van der Pijl JW, van Hoek B, de Fijter JW, Veenendaal RA, Kluin PM, Van Krieken JH, Hekman A, Terpstra WE, Willemze R, Kluin-Nelemans HC: Successful outcome with a 'quintuple approach' of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder. Transplantation 2001;71:47–52.
- 47 Ifthikharuddin JJ, Mieles LA, Rosenblatt JD, Ryan CK, Sahasrabudhe DM: CD-20 expression in post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders: Treatment with Rituximab. Am J Hematol 2000;65:171–173.
- 48 Papadopoulos EB, Ladanyi M, Emanuel D, MacKinnon S, Boulad F, Carabasi MH, Castro-Malaspina H, Childs BH, Gillio AP, Small TN, Young JW, Kernan NA, O'Reilly RJ: Infusions of donor leukocytes to treat Epstein-Barr virus-associated lymphoproliferative disorders after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med 1994;330:1185–1191.
- 49 Heslop HE, Brenner MK, Rooney CM: Donor T cells to treat EBV-associated lymphoma. N Engl J Med 1994;331:679–680.
- 50 Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng C, Loftin SK, Li C, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE: Use of gene-modified virus-specific T lymphocytes to control Epstein-Barr virus-related lymphoproliferation. Lancet 1995;345:9–13.
- 51 Regn S, Raffegerst S, Chen X, Schendel D, Kolb HJ, Roskrow M: Ex vivo generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for one or two distinct viruses for the prophylaxis of patients receiving an allogeneic bone marrow transplant. Bone Marrow Transplant 2001;27:53– 64.
- 52 O'Reilly RJ, Small TN, Papadopoulos E, Lucas K, Lacerda J, Koulova L: Biology and adoptive cell therapy of Epstein-Barr virus-associated lymphoproliferative disorders in recipients of marrow allografts. Immunol Rev 1997;157: 195–216.
- 53 Gustafsson A, Levitsky V, Zou JZ, Frisan T, Dalianis T, Ljungman P, Ringden O, Winiarski J, Ernberg I, Masucci MG: Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) load in bone marrow transplant recipients at risk to develop posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease: Prophylactic infusion of EBV-specific cytotoxic T cells. Blood 2000;95: 807–814.

- 54 Bollard C, Onishi H, Huls M, Rochester R, Benaim E, Krance R, Brenner M, Rooney C, Heslop H: Long-term follow-up of patients who received EBV-specific CTLs for the prevention or treatment of EBV-associated lymphoproliferative disease (abstract). Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2001;7:61.
- 55 Gottschalk S, Ng CYC, Smith CA, Perez M, Sample C, Brenner MK, Heslop HE, Rooney CM: An Epstein-Barr virus deletion mutant that causes fatal lymphoproliferative disease unresponsive to virus-specific T-cell therapy. Blood 2001;97:835–843.
- 56 Cohen JI: Epstein-Barr virus lymphoproliferative disease associated with acquired immunodeficiency. Medicine 1991;70:137–160.
- 57 Shapiro R, Nalesnik M, McCauley J, Fedorek S, Jordan ML, Scantlebury VP, Jain A, Vivas C, Ellis D, Lombardozzi-Lane S, Randhawa P, Johnston J, Hakala TR, Simmons RL, Fung JJ, Starzl TE: Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders in adult and pediatric renal transplant patients receiving tacrolimus-based immunosuppression. Transplantation 1999;68: 1851–1854.
- 58 Montone KT, Litzky LA, Wurster A, Kaiser L, Bavaria J, Kotloff R, Palevsky H, Pietra GG, Tomaszewski JE: Analysis of Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder after lung transplantation. Surgery 1996;119:544–551.
- 59 Boyle GJ, Michaels MG, Webber SA, Knisely AS, Kurland G, Cipriani LA, Griffith BP, Fricker FJ: Posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorders in pediatric thoracic organ recipients. J Pediatr 1997;131:309–313.
- 60 Todo S, Tzakis A, Reyes J, Abu-Elmagd K, Furukawa H, Fung K, Starzl TE: Intestinal transplantation: 4-year experience. Transplant Proc 1995;27:1355–1356.
- 61 Younes BS, McDiarmid SV, Martin MG, Vargas JH, Goss JA, Busuttil RW, Ament ME: The effect of immunosuppression on posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver transplant patients. Transplantation 2000;70: 94–99.
- 62 Leblond V, Sutton L, Dorent R, Davi F, Bitker MO, Gabarre J, Charlotte F, Ghoussoub JJ, Fourcade C, Fischer A: Lymphoproliferative disorders after organ transplantation: A report of 24 cases observed in a single center. J Clin Oncol 1995;13:961–968.
- 63 Emanuel DJ, Lucas KG, Mallory GB, Edwards-Brown MK, Pollok KE, Conrad PD, Robertson KA, Smith FO: Treatment of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in the central nervous system of a lung transplant recipient using allogeneic leucocytes. Transplantation 1997;63:1691–1694.
- 64 Leblond V, Davi F, Charlotte F, Dorent R, Bitker MO, Sutton L, Gandjbakhch I, Binet JL, Raphael M: Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders not associated with Epstein-Barr virus: A distinct entity? J Clin Oncol 1998;16: 2052–2059.

- 65 Dotti G, Fiocchi R, Motta T, Gamba A, Gotti E, Gridelli B, Borleri G, Manzoni C, Viero P, Remuzzi G, Barbui T, Rambaldi A: Epstein-Barr virus-negative lymphoproliferate disorders in long-term survivors after heart, kidney, and liver transplant. Transplantation 2000;69: 827–833.
- 66 Nelson BP, Nalesnik MA, Bahler DW, Locker J, Fung JJ, Swerdlow SH: Epstein-Barr virusnegative post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders: A distinct entity? Am J Surg Pathol 2000;24:375–385.
- 67 Starzl TE, Naleskin MA, Porter KA, Ho M, Iwatsaki S, Griffith BP, Rosenthal JT, Hakala TR, Shaw BW, Hardesty RL, Atchinson RW, Jaffe R, Behnson HT: Reversibility of lymphomas and lymphoproliferative lesions developing under cyclosporin-steroid therapy. Lancet 1984;i:583.
- 68 Newell KA, Alonso EM, Whitington PF, Bruce DS, Millis JM, Piper JB, Woodle ES, Kelly SM, Koeppen H, Hart J, Rubin CM, Thistlethwaite JR Jr: Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver transplantation. Interplay between primary Epstein-Barr virus infection and immunosuppression. Transplantation 1996;62:370–375.
- 69 Darenkov IA, Marcarelli MA, Basadonna GP, Friedman AL, Lorber KM, Howe JG, Crouch J, Bia MJ, Kliger AS, Lorber MI: Reduced incidence of Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder using preemptive antiviral therapy. Transplantation 1997;64:848–852.
- 70 Davis CL, Wood BL, Sabath DE, Joseph JS, Stehman-Breen C, Broudy VC: Interferon-α treatment of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in recipients of solid organ transplants. Transplantation 1998;66:1770–1779.
- 71 Cook RC, Connors JM, Gascoyne RD, Fradet G, Levy RD: Treatment of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease with Rituximab monoclonal antibody after lung transplantation. Lancet 1999;354:1698–1699.
- 72 Milpied N, Vasseur B, Parquet N, Garnier JL, Antoine C, Quartier P, Carret AS, Bouscary D, Faye A, Bourbigot B, Reguerre Y, Stoppa AM, Bourquard P, de Ligny BH, Dubief F, Mathieu-Boue A, Leblond V: Humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (Rituximab) in posttransplant B-lymphoproliferative disorder: A retrospective analysis on 32 patients. Ann Oncol 2000;11(suppl 1):113–116.
- 73 Dotti G, Rambaldi A, Fiocchi R, Motta T, Torre G, Viero P, Gridelli B, Barbui T: Anti-CD20 antibody (Rituximab) administration in patients with late-occurring lymphomas after solid organ transplant. Haematologica 2001; 86:618–623.
- 74 Davis TA, Czerwinski DK, Levy R: Therapy of B-cell lymphoma with anti-CD20 antibodies can result in the loss of CD20 antigen expression. Clin Cancer Res 1999;5:611–615.
- 75 Swinnen LJ, Mullen GM, Carr TJ, Costanzo MR, Fisher RI: Aggressive treatment for postcardiac transplant lymphoproliferation. Blood 1995;86:3333–3340.

- 76 Gross TG, Hinrichs SH, Winner J, Greiner TC, Kaufman SS, Sammut PH, Langnas AN: Treatment of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease following solid organ transplantation with low-dose chemotherapy. Ann Oncol 1998; 9:339–340.
- 77 Knowles DM, Cesarman E, Chadburn A, Frizzera G, Chen J, Rose EA, Michler RE: Correlative morphologic and molecular genetic analysis demonstrates three distinct categories of posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorders. Blood 1995;85:552–565.
- 78 Razzouk BI, Srinivas S, Sample CE, Singh V, Sixbey JW: Epstein-Barr virus DNA recombination and loss in sporadic Burkitt's lymphoma. J Infect Dis 1996;173:529–535.
- 79 Ellis D, Jaffe R, Green M, Janosky JJ, Lombardozzi-Lane S, Shapiro R, Scantlebury V, Vivas C, Jordan ML: Epstein-Barr virus-related disorders in children undergoing renal transplantation with tacrolimus-based immunosuppression. Transplantation 1999:68:997–1003.
- 80 Weissmann DJ, Ferry JA, Harris NL, Louis DN, Delmonico F, Spiro I: Posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorders in solid organ recipients are predominantly aggressive tumors of host origin. Am J Clin Pathol 1995;103:748– 755.

- 81 Nalesnik MA, Rao AS, Furukawa H, Pham S, Zeevi A, Fung JJ, Klein G, Grittsch HA, Elder E, Whiteside TL, Starzl TE: Autologous lymphokine-activated killer cell therapy of Epstein-Barr virus-positive and -negative lymphoproliferative disorders arising in organ transplant recipients. Transplantation 1998;63: 1200–1205.
- 82 Haque T, Crawford DH: The role of adoptive immunotherapy in the prevention and treatment of lymphoproliferative disease following transplantation. Br J Haematol 1999;106:309– 316.
- 83 Haque T, Amlot PL, Helling N, Thomas JA, Sweny P, Rolles K, Burroughs AK, Prentice HG, Crawford DH: Reconstitution of EBVspecific T-cell immunity in solid organ transplant recipients. J Immunol 1998;160:6204– 6209.
- 84 Khanna R, Bell S, Sherritt M, Galbraith A, Burrows SR, Rafter L, Clarke B, Slaughter R, Falk MC, Douglass J, Williams T, Elliott SL, Moss DJ: Activation and adoptive transfer of Epstein-Barr virus-specific cytotoxic T cells in solid organ transplant patients with posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:10391–10396.

- 85 Savoldo B, Goss J, Liu Z, Huls H, Doster S, Gee AP, Brenner MK, Heslop HE, Rooney CM: Generation of autologous Epstein-Barr virus-specific cytotoxic T cells for adoptive immunotherapy in solid organ transplant recipients. Transplantation 2003;72:1078–1086.
- 86 Savoie A, Perpete C, Carpentier L, Joncas J, Alfieri C: Direct correlation between the load of Epstein-Barr virus-infected lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of pediatric transplant patients and risk of lymphoproliferative disease. Blood 1994;83:2715–2722.
- 87 Green M, Cacciarelli TV, Mazariegos GV, Sigurdsson L, Qu L, Rowe DT, Reyes J: Serial measurement of Epstein-Barr viral load in peripheral blood in pediatric liver transplant recipients during treatment for posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease. Transplantation 1998;66:1641–1644.
- 88 Baldanti F, Grossi P, Furione M, Simoncini L, Sarasini A, Comoli P, Maccario R, Fiocchi R, Gerna G: High levels of Epstein-Barr virus DNA in blood of solid-organ transplant recipients and their value in predicting posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders. J Clin Microbiol 2000;38:613–619.

lcta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:149–153 DOI: 10.1159/000072464

Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for Epstein-Barr Virus-Positive Hodgkin's Disease

M. Helen Huls Cliona M. Rooney Helen E. Heslop

Center for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston Tex., USA

Key Words

Epstein-Barr virus · Adoptive immunotherapy · Cytotoxic T lymphocyte · Hodgkin's disease

Abstract

Immunotherapy approaches with antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) have proved safe and effective prophylaxis and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-associated lymphomas arising after bone marrow transplantation. EBV is also associated with other malignancies including about 40% of cases of Hodgkin's disease making this tumor another potential target for EBVtargeted immunotherapy. While studies with autologous EBV-specific CTLs have shown antiviral activity and immune effects, the clinical responses have been less impressive than those observed in post-transplant lymphomas. There are several possible reasons why the malignant cells in EBV-positive Hodgkin's disease may be less susceptible to immunotherapy approaches, including the fact that they express a more restricted array of EBV-encoded antigens and possess many immune evasion strategies. A number of approaches to overcome these tumor evasion strategies including targeting CTLs to the expressed antigens and genetic modification of CTLs are being evaluated.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha

Rationale for Immunotherapy Approaches

Immunotherapy approaches using Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) to prevent or treat cancer have been successful in severely immunosuppressed patients, who are at high risk for virus-associated tumors such as EBV-associated lymphoproliferative disease (EBV-LPD) [1-4]. The malignant cells in EBV-LPD are highly immunogenic and express all 9 latent cycle EBV-encoded antigens [5]. EBV-associated cancers also include other lymphoid disorders like Burkitt's lymphoma and Hodgkin's lymphoma and the epithelial cell malignancy nasopharyngeal carcinoma [6]. In Burkitt's lymphoma a much more restricted pattern of gene expression is observed, with expression of the EBNA-1 protein and EBER RNAs (latency I). An intermediate pattern (latency type II) is seen in nasopharyngeal carcinoma and Hodgkin's lymphoma with expression of EBNA-1, BAR-FO, LMP1 and LMP2 as well as the EBER RNAs. Nevertheless these antigens provide potential targets for immunotherapeutic approaches with CTLs.

About 40% of cases of Hodgkin's disease in North America and Europe are associated with EBV [7]. In South America, Kenya and parts of Asia, the association is 90–100%. Although 80% or more of patients with Hodgkin's disease are cured with available treatments, 50% of the minority who relapse, fail to respond to sal-

Helen E. Heslop

Center for Cell and Gene Therapy

Tel. +1 832 824 4662, Fax +1 832 825 4668, E-Mail hheslop@bcm.tmc.edu

¹¹⁰² Bates Street, Suite 1140 Houston, TX 77030 (USA)

vage chemotherapy or relapse a second time. Further, the unacceptably high level of therapy-related secondary malignancies (18% at 5 years) and other serious medical complications in those who are 'cured' also underscore the need to improve current therapeutic options [8]. A number of factors could diminish the effectiveness of EBV-specific CTLs in Hodgkin's disease. First of all, the malignant cells express a restricted set of viral genes, namely, EBNA-1, RK-BARFO, LMP1 and LMP2 [9]. In the majority of cases, memory CTL responses are preferentially directed against the highly immunogenic EBNA-3A, -3B and -3C antigens, depending on the patient's HLA type. By comparison, EBNA-1, BARFO, LMP1, and LMP2 are poorly immunogenic. EBNA-1 contains a repeating glycine-alanine amino acid sequence that inhibits ubiquitination and subsequent processing and presentation of EBNA-1 peptides by class-I human leukocyte antigens (HLAs) [10]. EBV+ Hodgkin's tumors express co-stimulatory molecules such as HLA DR, CD40, CD80 and 86 and should therefore be both excellent antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and good target cells for CTLs. However, they also secrete the TH2 cytokines interleukin (IL)-10 and tumor growth factor- β (TGF- γ) as well as TARC, a chemoattractant for CD4+ T cells of the TH2 biotype. This overwhelmingly TH2 bias likely helps the antibody response and inhibits the CTL response. IL-10 may also act as an autocrine growth factor for Reed-Sternberg (RS) cells. In addition, patients with Hodgkin's disease also have T-cell abnormalities, such as low expression of the ζ chain of the T-cell receptor (TCR) [11], which further reduces the effectiveness of the host immune response to the tumor [12, 13].

Preclinical Studies

To assess the feasibility of using EBV-specific CTLs as therapy for Hodgkin's disease, we generated EBV-specific CTLs from the peripheral blood of patients with this malignancy, with the notion of expanding the specific T cells in vitro in the absence of in vivo immunosuppressive effects. We then compared them phenotypically and functionally with CTLs generated from normal donors [14]. In the presence of IL-2 and B-LCL, cell counts of cultures from healthy donors (n = 15) typically increased by 10fold every 2 weeks, so that after 16 weeks in culture CTLs from normal donors had expanded approximately 1,500fold. During the same 16-week period, CTL cultures from patients in remission expanded by only approximately 150-fold, while those from patients with relapsed disease increased by just 80-fold. In more than 75% of patients, however, it was still possible to generate at least 10^8 CTLs, a number suggested by previous studies of EBV-LPD to be well in excess of that required to establish EBV immunity [1, 2]. Phenotypically, the patient lines were essentially identical to the lines from normal donors, except that the level of the TCR- ζ chain was abnormally low [15]. Nonetheless, the lines produced had strong activity against HLA-matched EBV-positive targets. Of particular note, clones recognizing Hodgkin's-associated viral antigens could be detected by LMP-2 tetramers.

More recently by modifying our standard CTL generation procedures to include routine 'superexpansion' with irradiated mononuclear cells (MNCs) and OKT3 and using EHAA medium, we have been able to shorten the CTL generation time. Comparisons were made between RPMI 1640 containing 10% fetal calf serum (FCS; RPMI/ FCS) and 45% RPMI 1640 with 45% EHAA and 10% FCS (RPMI/EHAA/FCS). The addition of EHAA consistently and quite dramatically improved CTL expansion. A potential drawback with the use of EHAA medium was that in its presence there was an increased percentage of CD4+ T cells in the CTL line [Huls, unpubl. data].

Preliminary Results of Our Current Trial

We are therefore evaluating autologous polyclonal EBV-specific CTL infusion in 2 federally approved phase-I/II clinical trials for patients with EBV-positive Hodgkin's lymphoma with multiple relapses (group A) or with minimal residual disease after autologous stem cell transplant (group B) [16]. Of 94 referred patients 39 (42%) had EBV-positive tumors as measured by expression of viral small RNAs (EBERs) or LMP1. EBV-transformed lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) were generated in 30 patients and in most cases CTLs were successfully generated. Four patients with advanced disease died before the generation of LCLs and CTLs was completed. Eight patients with relapsed disease (group A) have been treated on study and have either received 4×10^7 (n = 6), or 2×10^7 10^7 CTLs/m^2 (n = 1) or $1.2 \times 10^8 \text{ CTLs/m}^2$ (n = 1). Seven patients in group A received CTLs marked with a retroviral vector encoding the neomycin resistance gene (Neo), so their fate and persistence in vivo could be tracked [16]. Three patients have been treated in group B and received two injections of unmarked CTLs at a dose of $2 \times 10^{7}/m^{2}$. No immediate toxicity was observed after CTL infusion in either group A or B. In group A, 6 patients with aggressive disease at the time of CTL infusion survived for 8-

18 months, 1 patient had tumor erosion through the left upper lobe bronchus and died 2 months after CTL infusion, and 1 patient is alive 25 months after infusion. The 3 patients in group B are alive and well 9-16 months after CTL infusion. Studies using an LMP-2 tetramers in HLA A2-positive recipients showed an increase in frequency of positive cells after CTL infusion. The frequency of interferon (IFN)-y-producing CD8 T cells in response to LCL also increased after CTL infusion. Gene-marked CTLs were found in the peripheral blood up to 9 months following infusion. Neo-marked cells and LMP-2 tetramer-specific T cells were found localized to a malignant pleural effusion in 1 patient 3 weeks after CTL infusion [15]. This study demonstrates that: (1) adoptive immunotherapy with autologous EBV-specific CTLs is well tolerated in patients with Hodgkin's disease; (2) CTLs can localize to the Hodgkin's tumor; (3) gene-marked CTLs persist for up to 12 months after infusion, and (4) LMP2-specific CTLs are increased in the peripheral blood after CTL infusion and strategies to increase their frequency may result in a more specific cytotoxic response against EBV+ Hodgkin's tumors.

Possibilities for Improving Immunotherapy Approaches

Targeting CTLs towards Subdominant Antigens Expressed by Tumor

Lack of CTL efficacy may simply be quantitative in that the current method of EBV-specific CTL generation activates too few clones reactive with the viral proteins expressed on Hodgkin's tumor cells. Instead LCLs activate CTL lines that are dominated by clones reactive to the immunodominant EBNA-3A, 3B and 3C viral proteins that are not expressed in Hodgkin's lymphoma. Of the 4 EBV-associated antigens expressed in H-RS cells, only LMP1 and LMP2 are potential antigens for the generation of antigen-specific CTLs. EBNA-1 is not processed for HLA class-I presentation, and attempts to identify BARFO-specific CTLs have produced lymphocytes that recognized target cells expressing BARFO at a high level, but failed to recognize the antigen expressed at low levels in lymphoblastoid cell lines. LMP1-specific CTL clones are rare in EBV-positive donors [17] and very few LMP1 epitopes have been identified [18]. Moreover LMP1 displays heterogeneity between virus strains [19] and CTL raised against B cell (B95-8 prototype)-derived LMP1 may not recognize the LMP1 tumor variants [20]. Thus we and others have focused on the generation of LMP2-specific CTLs. In preclinical studies several different methodologies have been used to generate LMP2-specific CTLs [21–24]. Using either peptide-pulsed dendritic cells [23], dendritic cells transduced with adenovirus [21, 24] or LMP2 RNA [22], it is possible to preferentially expand LMP2-specific CTLs when compared to the standard protocol which uses LCL as the APC. Because of these encouraging in vitro results we are currently modifying our clinical protocols to administer LMP2-specific CTLs for patients with relapsed EBV-positive Hodgkin's lymphoma. An alternative method of isolating LMP2specific CTLs is by cloning from polyclonal lines but this is highly labor intensive due to the low frequency of LMP-2-specific CTLs in such lines [17], and is likely to produce CTLs with a limited target epitope repertoire. Finally a recent report describes transfer of CTL activity from a LMP2 peptide-specific CTL clone to a stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) population by transducing the PBMCs with a retroviral vector encoding the appropriate TCR [25].

Genetically Modifying CTLs to Overcome Tumor Evasion Strategies

Although the malignant RS cells in Hodgkin's disease appear to be good APCs, they have additional immune evasion strategies that act later in the process of CTL generation [26]. They secrete IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine that deactivates professional APCs and thus prevent them both from cross-priming and recruiting tumorspecific CTLs. They secrete TGF- β which inhibits T-cell activation and expansion by inhibiting early signaling events essential to the induction of IFN-y, IL-12 and TNF [27, 28] They also secrete the chemokine, TARC, which selectively recruits Th2 cells, which in turn release IL-4 and inhibit the Th1 CTL response, likely explaining why patients with Hodgkin's disease produce tumor-specific antibodies [29–31]. The idea that the RS cells generate a Th2 environment is supported by the observation that the T-cell infiltrate consists exclusively of CD4+ T cells with a Th2 profile [32]. Finally RS cells express the ligand for the death receptor Fas. Since Fas is expressed on activated CTLs, apoptosis may be induced in the CTLs on interaction with the RS cell. This would not only prevent the CTLs from killing other tumor cells, but also preclude their expansion in tumor tissues. The fact that Hodgkin's cells need multiple mechanisms to evade immune responses suggests that one or more single mechanisms could be overcome. We are currently evaluating whether introduction of a dominant negative TGG-ß receptor can render CTL resistant to the inhibitory effects of TGF-β.

Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for Epstein-Barr Virus-Positive Hodgkin's Disease

Conclusions

Initial immunotherapy studies with EBV-specific CTLs in patients with EBV-positive Hodgkin's disease have shown evidence of immune activity and partial clinical responses but no complete clinical responses. Follow-up studies will focus on targeting CTL to the subdominant EBV-encoded antigens expressed by this tumor, while preclinical studies are evaluating whether tumor evasion mechanisms can be circumvented by genetically modifying CTLs.

References

- Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng C, Loftin SK, Li C, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE: Use of gene-modified virus-specific T lymphocytes to control Epstein-Barr virus-related lymphoproliferation. Lancet 1995;345:9–13.
- 2 Heslop HE, Ng CYC, Li C, Smith CA, Loftin SK, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Rooney CM: Long-term restoration of immunity against Epstein-Barr virus infection by adoptive transfer of gene-modified virus-specific T lymphocytes. Nat Med 1996;2:551–555.
- 3 Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng CYC, Loftin SK, Sixbey JW, Gan Y-J, Srivastava D-K, Bowman LC, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE: Infusion of cytotoxic T cells for the prevention and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus-induced lymphoma in allogeneic transplant recipients. Blood 1998;92:1549–1555.
- 4 Gustafsson A, Levitsky V, Zou JZ, Frisan T, Dalianis T, Ljungman P, Ringden O, Winiarski J, Ernberg I, Masucci MG: Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) load in bone marrow transplant recipients at risk to develop posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease: Prophylactic infusion of EBV-specific cytotoxic T cells. Blood 2000;95: 807–814
- 5 Rickinson AB, Moss DJ: Human cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses to Epstein-Barr virus infection. Annu Rev Immunol 1997;15:405– 431.
- 6 Raab-Traub N: Epstein-Barr virus and nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Semin Cancer Biol 1992;3:297.
- 7 Weiss LM, Movahed LA, Warnke RA, Sklar J: Detection of Epstein-Barr viral genomes in Reed-Sternberg cells of Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 1989;320:502–506.
- 8 Beaty O, Hudson MM, Greenwald C, Luo X, Fang L, Wilimas JA, Thompson EI, Kun LE, Pratt CB: Subsequent malignancies in children and adolescents after treatment for Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 1995;13:603–609.
- 9 Herbst H, Dallenback F, Hummel M, Niedobitek G, Pileri S, Nuller-Lantzsch N, Stein H: Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein expression in Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells. Proc Natl Acad Aci USA 1991;88:4766– 4770.

- 10 Levitskaya J, Coram M, Levitsky V, Imreh S, Steigerwald-Mullen PM, Klein G, Kurilla MG, Masucci MG: Inhibition of antigen processing by the internal repeat region of the Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1. Nature 1995;375: 685–688.
- 11 Slivnick DJ, Ellis TM, Nawrocki JF, Fisher RI: The impact of Hodgkin's disease on the immune system. Semin Oncol 1990;17:673–682.
- 12 Renner C, Ohnesorge S, Held G, Bauer S, Jung W, Pfitzenmeier JP, Pfreundschuh M: T cells from patients with Hodgkin's disease have a defective T-cell receptor zeta chain expression that is reversible by T-cell stimulation with CD3 and CD28. Blood 1996;88:236–241.
- 13 Gimmi CD, Morrison BW, Mainprice BA, Gribben JG, Boussiotis VA, Freeman GJ, Lee Park SY, Watanabe M, Gong JL, Hayes DF, Kufe DW, Nadler LM: Breast cancer-associated antigen, DF3/MUC1, induces apoptosis of activated human T cells. Nat Med 1996;2: 1367–1370.
- 14 Smith CA, Ng CYC, Heslop HE, Holladay MS, Richardson S, Turner EV, Loftin SK, Li C, Brenner MK, Rooney CM: Production of genetically modified EBV-specific cytotoxic T cells for adoptive transfer to patients at high risk of EBV-associated lymphoproliferative disease. J Hematother 1995;4:73–79.
- 15 Roskrow MA, Suzuki N, Gan Y-J, Sixbey JW, Ng CYC, Kimbrough S, Hudson MM, Brenner MK, Heslop HE, Rooney CM: EBV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes for the treatment of patients with EBV positive relapsed Hodgkin's disease. Blood 1998;91:2925–2934.
- 16 Roskrow MA, Rooney CM, Heslop HE, Brenner MK, Krance RA, Gresik MV, McClain K, Aguilar LK, Grilley B, Rob E, Carrum G: Administration of neomycin resistance gene marked EBV specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes to patients with relapsed EBV-positive Hodg-kin disease. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:1237–1250.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by NIH grants CA 74126 to C.M.R. and CA 94237 to H.E.H., a Distinguished Clinical Scientist Award from the Doris Duke Foundation to H.E.H., and the General Clinical Research Center at Baylor College of Medicine.

- 17 Sing AP, Ambinder RF, Hong DJ, Jensen M, Batten W, Petersdorf E, Greenberg PD: Isolation of Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes that lyse Reed-Sternberg cells: Implications for immune-medicated therapy of EBV Hodgkin's disease. Blood 1997;89: 1978–1986.
- 18 Khanna R, Burrows SR, Nicholls J, Poulsen LM: Identification of cytotoxic T cell epitopes within Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) oncogene latent membrane protein 1 (LMP1): Evidence for HLA A2 supertype-restricted immune recognition of EBV-infected cells by LMP1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol 1998; 28:451–458.
- 19 Khanim F, Yao QY, Niedobitek G, Sihota S, Rickinson AB, Young LS: Analysis of Epstein-Barr virus gene polymorphisms in normal donors and in virus-associated tumors from different geographic locations. Blood 1996;88: 3491–3501.
- 20 Trivedi P, Hu LF, Christensson B, Masucci MG, Klein G, Winberg G: Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-encoded membrane protein LMP1 from a nasopharyngeal carcinoma is non-immunogenic in a murine model system, in contrast to a B cell-derived homologue. Eur J Cancer 1994; 30A:84–88.
- 21 Gahn B, Siller-Lopez F, Pirooz AD, Yvon E, Gottschalk S, Longnecker R, Brenner MK, Heslop H, Aguilar-Cordova E, Rooney C: Adenoviral gene transfer into dendritic cells efficiently amplifies the immune response to the LMP2A-antigen: A potential treatment strategy for Epstein-Barr virus-positive Hodgkin's lymphoma. Int J Cancer 2001;93:706–713.
- 22 Su Z, Peluso MV, Raffegerst SH, Schendel DJ, Roskrow MA: The generation of LMP2a-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes for the treatment of patients with Epstein-Barr virus-positive Hodgkin disease. Eur J Immunol 2001;31:947– 958.
- 23 Redchenko IV, Rickinson AB: Accessing Epstein-Barr virus-specific T-cell memory with peptide-loaded dendritic cells. J Virol 1999;73: 334–342.

Acta Haematol 2003;110:149-153

- 24 Ranieri E, Herr W, Gambotto A, Olson W, Rowe D, Robbins PD, Kierstead LS, Watkins SC, Gesualdo L, Storkus WJ: Dendritic cells transduced with an adenovirus vector encoding Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 2B: A new modality for vaccination. J Virol 1999;73:10416–10425.
- 25 Orentas RJ, Roskopf SJ, Nolan GP, Nishimura MI: Retroviral transduction of a T cell receptor specific for an Epstein-Barr virus-encoded peptide. Clin Immunol 2001;98:220–228.
- 26 Gruss HJ, Pinto A, Duyster J, Poppema S, Herrmann F: Hodgkin's disease: A tumor with disturbed immunological pathways. Immunol Today 1997;18:156–163.
- 27 Pardoux C, Ma X, Gobert S, Pellegrini S, Mayeux P, Gay F, Trinchieri G, Chouaib S: Downregulation of interleukin-12 (IL-12) responsiveness in human T cells by transforming growth factor-beta: Relationship with IL-12 signaling. Blood 1999;93:1448–1455.
- 28 Ranges GE, Figari IS, Espevik T, Palladino MA Jr: Inhibition of cytotoxic T cell development by transforming growth factor beta and reversal by recombinant tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Exp Med 1987;166:991–998.
- 29 Graus F, Gultekin SH, Ferrer I, Reiriz J, Alberch J, Dalmau J: Localization of the neuronal antigen recognized by anti-Tr antibodies from patients with paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration and Hodgkin's disease in the rat nervous system. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1998;96: 1–7.
- 30 Seo N, Tokura Y: Downregulation of innate and acquired antitumor immunity by bystander gammadelta and alphabeta T lymphocytes with Th2 or Tr1 cytokine profiles. J Interferon Cytokine Res 1999;19:555–561.
- 31 Sallusto F, Lenig D, MacKay CR, Lanzavecchia A: Flexible programs of chemokine receptor expression on human polarized T helper 1 and 2 lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1998;187:875– 883.
- 32 van den Berg A, Visser L, Poppema S: High expression of the CC chemokine TARC in Reed-Sternberg cells. A possible explanation for the characteristic T-cell infiltratein Hodgkin's lymphoma. Am J Pathol 1999;154:1685– 1691.

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:154–159 DOI: 10.1159/000072465

Chimeric T-Cell Receptors for the Targeting of Cancer Cells

Claudia Rössig^a Malcolm K. Brenner^b

^aUniversity Children's Hospital Münster, Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, Münster, Germany; ^bCenter for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Tex., USA

Key Words

Adoptive immunotherapy · Cytotoxic T cells · T cell receptor · Costimulation · Gene therapy

Abstract

Genetic engineering of human T lymphocytes to express tumor antigen-specific chimeric immune receptors is an attractive means for providing large numbers of effector cells for adoptive immunotherapy. Major mechanisms of tumor escape from immune recognition are efficiently bypassed. Although adoptive transfer of chimeric receptor-expressing peripheral blood-derived T lymphocytes has produced some anti-tumor activity in mice, the first clinical studies have revealed a disappointing lack of correlation between in vitro cytotoxicity and therapeutic efficacy. The most pertinent issue is that chimeric T cells fail to expand and rapidly lose their function in vivo. Potential strategies to enhance the therapeutic value of chimeric receptor-modified cells by preventing their functional inactivation in vivo are currently being investigated.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Specific cytotoxic T cells (CTL) are important mediators of the physiological immune defense against eukaryotic cells, such as allogeneic or virus-infected cells. There has been increasing interest in the use of CTL for the treatment of cancer. Tumor cells which present tumorspecific protein antigens on molecules of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) can indeed be lysed by ex vivo generated CTL with native specificity for the respective peptide. This strategy has been successfully used for the treatment and prophylaxis of Epstein-Barr-virus-associated lymphoproliferative disease and lymphoma [1–3]. However, attempts at generating CTL against non-viral antigens by selection and expansion of T cells in the presence of autologous tumor cells have generally failed. A likely explanation is the lack of tumor specificity of most tumor antigens. In contrast to viral antigens, most tumorassociated proteins are co-expressed on normal cells or at certain developmental stages. According to the rules of immune tolerance towards self, these antigens cannot be expected to induce efficient immune activation. Furthermore, efficient anti-tumor T-cell activity is complicated by the nature of antigen recognition by T cells, requiring the processing of cellular proteins into peptide fragments, their association with molecules of the MHC and their transport to the cell surface. Many tumor cells have

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0154\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha Claudia Rössig, MD

University Children's Hospital Münster Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology

Albert-Schweitzer-Strasse 33, DE-48149 Münster (Germany)

Tel. +49 251 8352819, Fax +49 251 8352804, E-Mail rossig@uni-muenster.de

acquired defects of these mechanisms for efficient antigen presentation which allows them to escape immune attack.

In an attempt to extend the recognition specificity of T lymphocytes beyond their classical MHC-presented peptide targets, a gene-therapeutic strategy has been developed that allows us to redirect T cells to antibody-defined targets. This novel concept is based on structural similarities between the recognition domains of an immunoglobulin molecule and the T-cell receptor. Antibodies recognize their targets through hypervariable regions located within the variable (V) domains of their heavy and light chain. T-cell recognition is mediated by regions within the α and β chain of the T-cell receptor that share structural homology with the antibody V domains. Receptor engagement by specific peptide presented on MHC results in tyrosine phosphorylation of immune-receptor activation motifs present in the cytoplasmic domain of the ζ chain component of the T-cell receptor, initiating T-cell signaling to the nucleus and exertion of tumor cell-directed effector functions.

In a first attempt to endow T cells with antibody-type specificity, hybrid receptors were created in which the α and β chain V domains were replaced with the corresponding portions of the heavy and the light chain V domains [4–7]. The modified T-cell receptor chains were functionally expressed in T cells and recognized antigen in a non-MHC-restricted manner. With these experiments, it became evident that antibody-derived V_H regions can replace a V α or V β region to form functional receptors.

Based on the observation that proteins belonging to the ζ receptor family are capable of mediating complete signals that suffice to induce immune effector functions [8-10], receptors were then constructed that directly link the V domains of a monoclonal antibody to a cytoplasmic immune receptor domain (fig. 1). Several receptor designs employing the signal-transducing intracellular components of either the Fc receptor or TCR have been tested. To allow for functional recognition of the target antigen, the receptors were spaced from the plasma membrane, usually by insertion of an immunoglobulin hinge-like domain. Gene transfer into human or murine T lymphocytes was performed by transfection or using retroviral vectors. T cells engineered to express the recombinant chimeric receptor genes were shown to be capable of producing specific lysis and cytokine secretion upon exposure to tumor cells expressing the respective target antigen on their surface [11–14]. Adoptive transfer of these cells in tumor models in mice have shown significant anti-tumor



Fig. 1. Structure of the T-cell receptor and a chimeric receptor.

activity of the genetically modified effector T cells in vivo [13, 15].

The use of chimeric receptor-transduced T cells for the treatment of cancer has numerous theoretical advantages over classical T-cell-based immunotherapies. As opposed to the lengthy process of in vitro selection, characterization and expansion of T cells with native specificity for tumor-associated antigens, genetic modification of polyclonal T cells allows to generate high numbers of tumorspecific T cells within weeks. Since antigen recognition by chimeric receptors is independent of MHC restriction and antigen processing, major mechanisms of tumor escape from immune recognition are efficiently bypassed. Importantly, this strategy is applicable to every malignancy that is associated with a tumor antigen for which a monoclonal antibody exists, including non-protein antigens, and thus extends the spectrum of malignancies eligible for T-cell-based immune therapy by a multitude of solid tumors and hematopoietic malignancies. Tumor antigens used as targets for chimeric receptors include Neu/HER2, folate-binding protein (FBP), CEA, TAG-72, renal tumor-associated antigen, epithelial glycoprotein-2, CD30, CD33, G_{D2} [16, 17], and angiogenic endothelial cell receptor (KDR) [12, 13, 18–23]. Moreover, receptors have been generated against HIV [24-27] and against targets involved in autoimmune diseases [28, 29].

In recent years, attempts have been made at translating preclinical experiences with chimeric receptor-transduced T cells into clinical trials. One of the first chimeric receptor cell therapies tested in humans was an adoptive immunotherapy protocol targeting HIV [30, 31]. A chimeric receptor bearing the extracellular domain derived from the HIV receptor CD4 had been shown to be func-

Chimeric T-Cell Receptors for the Targeting of Cancer Cells

tionally active in vitro by redirecting T cells to efficiently lyse CD4+ T cells infected with HIV [26].

Adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded CD4ζ-modified syngeneic CD8+ T cells in HIV-infected twin pairs was well tolerated. Clinical or virological effects were not seen in any of the treated patients. The lack of anti-retroviral activity was associated with a rapid decline in genemarked cells in the blood following the cell transfusions [31]. According to viral models, persistent control of tumor growth by CTL likely requires sustained in vivo proliferation of the transferred cells and their repeated expansion in response to encounters with tumor cells. The key issues determining in vivo survival and persistent anti-tumor functionality of gene-modified CTL are their immunogenicity, their requirement for specific T-cell help and co-stimulation, and the quality of chimeric receptor signaling.

Rapid clearance of modified T cells may partly be overcome by reducing the immunogenicity of the recombinant receptors. Currently available hybridoma antibodies can be humanized by replacing murine framework regions [32, 33], and fully human recombinant singlechain antibodies can be generated by phage display technology [34]. Co-expression of potentially immunogenic markers genes can be avoided by optimizing the efficiency of retroviral gene transfer systems for T-cell transduction, eliminating the need for selection of transduced cells [35].

The in vivo requirements for disease control by T cells have been studied in murine models of viral infection. Specific T-helper cells have been shown to be of critical importance for the maintenance of CTL function. In situations in which CD4 help is deficient, CTL responses may be silenced [36]. Thus, co-transfusion of antigen-specific CD4+ T cells along with the transduced CTL may be necessary for long-term maintenance of adoptively transferred T cells. Prolonged survival of genetically engineered HIV-specific CTL for at least 1 year was indeed achieved by co-transfusion of CD8+ and CD4+ chimeric receptor-modified T cells [30]. Disappointingly, however, the cells again did not appear to have an anti-retroviral effect in vivo, even though the cells had high levels of in vitro activity against ovarian cancer. In an additional clinical trial at the NCI, patients with ovarian carcinoma are treated with FBP-specific chimeric receptor T cells. In the first 8 patients treated with up to 5 \times 10¹⁰ cells, no clinical responses were seen [37]. Thus, providing T-cell help does not seem to suffice for persistent effector function of chimeric receptor CTL.

A key question is whether signaling via the chimeric receptor provides an activation signal of sufficient strength and quality for inducing adaptive immune responses in the transduced T cells. Ideally, analogous to T-cell priming via peptide/MHC, engagement of chimeric receptors by tumor cells would induce a complete immediate effector response as well as specific T-cell memory, establishing efficient and life-long anti-tumor immunity. However, studies performed in transgenic mice suggest that the function of chimeric receptor proteins depends upon the activation status of the T cell. Chimeric receptor-mediated signaling was not sufficient to trigger activation of resting primary T cells unless they had been prestimulated through their native receptor [38, 39]. In accordance, in vitro stimulation of T cells via chimeric receptors does not induce a proliferative response [40-42]. These observations suggest that chimeric receptor signaling is limited. Whereas effector functions are efficiently induced, signals that are required for induction of clonal proliferation of activated T cells are incomplete. Although chimeric receptors can serve as surrogates for the T-cell receptor, they differ from the native T-cell receptor in important aspects. The cellular microenvironment of the immunological synapse, which is responsible for efficient recruitment of engaged receptors into kinaserich microdomains, contributes significantly to sustained signaling, as necessary for complete T-cell activation. Detailed knowledge about the molecular mechanisms and deficits of chimeric receptor-mediated signal transduction are not available to date. It has been suggested that the restricted subset of T-cell receptor signaling domains present within chimeric receptors might be responsible for the observed functional deficits. However, the number of immune receptor activation motifs (ITAMs) present within the intracellular portion of the receptor does not seem to correlate with the receptor function: the T-cell receptor ζ chain, containing three ITAMs, and the Fc receptor γ chain with one single ITAM only were both used as chimeric receptor signaling domains with comparable effectiveness [8, 11, 14, 27]. Efforts have been made to develop clinically effective chimeric receptors with improved signal transduction characteristics. In an attempt to bypass co-receptor engagement, receptors were constructed in which the src family kinase lck was directly linked to the ζ chain in a combined receptor. Engagement of the combined receptor promoted formation of a qualitatively superior signal-transducing complex, reflected by enhancement of early events in TCR signal transduction and in a greater quantity of IL-2 release. These new receptors have not been validated clinically yet.



Fig. 2. Model: Use of EBV-infected B lymphocytes and chimeric T-cell receptors to target cancer cells. CD8 T cells bearing a tumor-specific chimeric TCR are activated by EBV antigen binding to a native TCR and are co-stimulated through the interaction of B7/CD28. They may receive additional cognate help from EBV-specific CD4+ T cells. Tumor cell lysis is mediated by the chimeric receptor.

The functionally inactivated phenotype of chimeric receptor CTL can also be explained by the absence of appropriate co-stimulation. According to the dual signal model of T-cell activation, in addition to the signal transmitted via the T-cell receptor, a co-stimulatory signal is required for efficient priming of naive T cells, resulting in cellular proliferation, secretion of cytokines, and prevention of activation-induced anergy [43]. The best known co-stimulatory pathway is the interaction between B7 and CD28. Physiologically, CD28 co-stimulatory signals are provided by professional antigen-presenting cells. As the majority of tumor cells do not express B7, co-stimulatory signals are not expected to be transduced when the chimeric receptor is engaged. In vitro experiments have shown that chimeric receptor-mediated induction of cytokine secretion and T-cell proliferation is substantially enhanced by co-stimulator signaling [41, 44, 45]. CD28 thus seems to contribute to efficient T-cell activation via chimeric receptors. The in vivo functionality of chimeric T-cell receptors in situations where co-stimulation is limited remains to be determined. Modified chimeric receptor designs aim at co-transmitting co-stimulatory signals along with the chimeric receptor signal.

Effective CD28 signaling can be mediated in primary T cells by chimeric receptors fusing an extracellular antitumor antibody fragment to the signal transduction domain of CD28 [23]. Double transfectants simultaneously expressing scFv-CD28 and scFv-CD3 ζ chimeras result in effective co-stimulation when binding to the antigen recognized by both scFv [46]. In an attempt to co-deliver costimulation in a single receptor, chimeras were constructed that combine the signaling domains of the T-cell receptor ζ chain and the CD28 receptor, linked to an extracellular anti-tumor antibody domain [41, 45, 47, 48]. In transduced T cells, both signals were indeed transduced through the same receptor, resulting in efficient costimulation.

An alternative approach to overcoming the limitations of current chimeric receptor immunotherapies is the genetic engineering of an effector T cell with native specificity for a strong viral antigen (fig. 2). Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection of B lymphocytes is near universal in humans and stimulates high levels of EBV-specific helper and CTL, which persist indefinitely. Clinical studies have shown that EBV-specific T cells generated in vitro will expand, persist and function for more than 6 years in

Chimeric T-Cell Receptors for the Targeting of Cancer Cells

vivo. Following genetic modification with anti-tumor chimeric receptor genes, EBV-specific T cells can be expanded and maintained long term in the presence of EBV-infected B cells. They recognize EBV-infected targets through their conventional T-cell receptor, and tumor targets through their chimeric receptors, and they efficiently lyse both [49]. Their therapeutic value is still awaiting clinical investigation. In conclusion, the genetic engineering of T lymphocytes to target antigenic structures on tumor cells via chimeric receptors has high potential for immunotherapy of cancer. Direct application of the experimental design to the clinical setting still requires optimization of individual components of the approach. Long-term functional persistence of transferred T cells appears to be the key issue for the development of successful adoptive immunotherapy with chimeric receptor-engineered cells.

References

- 1 Heslop HE, Ng CY, Li C, Smith CA, Loftin SK, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Rooney CM: Longterm restoration of immunity against Epstein-Barr virus infection by adoptive transfer of gene-modified virus-specific T lymphocytes. Nat Med 1996;2:551–555.
- 2 Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng CY, Loftin S, Li C, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE: Use of gene-modified virus-specific T lymphocytes to control Epstein-Barr-virus-related lymphoproliferation. Lancet 1995;345:9–13.
- 3 Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng CY, Loftin SK, Sixbey JW, Gan Y, Srivastava DK, Bowman LC, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE: Infusion of cytotoxic T cells for the prevention and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus-induced lymphoma in allogeneic transplant recipients. Blood 1998;92:1549–1555.
- 4 Kuwana Y, Asakura Y, Utsunomiya N, Nakanishi M, Arata Y, Itoh S, Nagase F, Kurosawa Y: Expression of chimeric receptor composed of immunoglobulin-derived V regions and T-cell receptor-derived C regions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1987;149:960–968.
- 5 Gross G, Waks T, Eshhar Z: Expression of immunoglobulin T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibodytype specificity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989; 86:10024–10028.
- 6 Becker ML, Near R, Mudgett-Hunter M, Margolies MN, Kubo RT, Kaye J, Hedrick SM: Expression of a hybrid immunoglobulin T-cell receptor protein in transgenic mice. Cell 1989; 58:911–921.
- 7 Goverman J, Gomez SM, Segesman KD, Hunkapillerl T, Laug WE, Hood L: Chimeric immunoglobulin T-cell receptor proteins form functional receptors: Implications for T-cell receptor complex formation and activation. Cell 1990;60:929–939.
- 8 Romeo C, Seed B: Cellular immunity to HIV activated by CD4 fused to T cell or Fc receptor polypeptides. Cell 1991;64:1037–1046.
- 9 Irving BA, Weiss A: The cytoplasmic domain of the T-cell receptor ζ chain is sufficient to couple to receptor-associated signal transduction pathways. Cell 1991;64:891–901.
- 10 Letourneur F, Klausner RD: T-cell and basophil activation through the cytoplasmic tail of T-cell-receptor ζ family proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:8905–8909.

Acta Haematol 2003;110:154-159

- 11 Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG: Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the γ or ζ subunits of the immunoglobulin and T-cell receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993: 90:720–724.
- 12 Hwu P, Shafer GE, Treisman J, Schindler DG, Gross G, Cowherd R, Rosenberg SA, Eshhar Z: Lysis of ovarian cancer cells by human lymphocytes redirected with a chimeric gene composed of an antibody variable region and the Fc receptor γ chain. J Exp Med 1993;178:361– 366.
- 13 Moritz D, Wels W, Mattern J, Groner B: Cytotoxic T lymphocytes with a grafted recognition specificity for ERBB2-expressing tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:4318–4322.
- 14 Stancovski I, Schindler DG, Waks T, Yarden Y, Sela M, Eshhar Z: Targeting of T lymphocytes to Neu/HER2-expressing cells using chimeric single chain Fv receptors. J Immunol 1993;151:6577–6582.
- 15 Hwu P, Yang JC, Cowherd R, Treisman J, Shafer GE, Eshhar Z, Rosenberg SA: In vivo anti-tumor activity of T cells redirected with chimeric antibody/T-cell receptor genes. Cancer Res 1995;55:3369–3373.
- 16 Darcy PK, Kershaw MH, Trapani JA, Smyth MJ: Expression in cytotoxic T lymphocytes of a single-chain anti-carcinoembryonic antigen antibody. Redirected Fas ligand-mediated lysis of colon carcinoma. Eur J Immunol 1998;28: 1663–1672.
- 17 Ren-Heidenreich L, Hayman GT, Trevor KT: Specific targeting of EGP-2⁺ tumor cells by primary lymphocytes modified with chimeric T cell receptors. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:9–19.
- 18 Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Zhu Z, Witte L, Libutti SK, Hwu P: Generation of gene-modified T cells reactive against the angiogenic kinase insert domain-containing receptor found on tumor vasculature. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:2445–2452.
- 19 Hombach A, Heuser C, Sircar R, Tillmann T, Diehl V, Pohl C, Abken H: An anti-CD30 chimeric receptor that mediates CD3-ζ-independent T-cell activation against Hodgkin's lymphoma cells in the presence of soluble CD30. Cancer Res 1998;58:1116–1119.

- 20 McGuinness RP, Ge Y, Patel SD, Kashmiri SV, Lee HS, Hand PH, Schlom J, Finer MH, McArthur JG: Anti-tumor activity of human T cells expressing the CC49-ζ chimeric immune receptor. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:165–173.
- 21 Weijtens ME, Willemsen RA, Valerio D, Stam K, Bolhuis RL: Single chain Ig/γ gene-redirected human T lymphocytes produce cytokines, specifically lyse tumor cells, and recycle lytic capacity. J Immunol 1996;157:836–843.
- 22 Rössig C, Nuchtern J, Merchant DA, Brenner MK: Targeting of GD2-positive tumor cells by human T lymphocytes engineered to express chimeric T-cell receptor genes. Int J Cancer 200115;94:228–236.
- 23 Krause A, Guo HF, Latouche JB, Tan C, Cheung NK, Sadelain M: Antigen-dependent CD28 signaling selectively enhances survival and proliferation in genetically modified activated human primary T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1998;188:619–626.
- 24 Bitton N, Verrier F, Debre P, Gorochov G: Characterization of T cell-expressed chimeric receptors with antibody-type specificity for the CD4 binding site of HIV-1 gp120 [erratum appears in Eur J Immunol 1996;29:725]. Eur Immunol 1998;28:4177–4187.
- 25 Hege KM, Cooke KS, Finer MH, Zsebo KM, Roberts MR: Systemic T-cell-independent tumor immunity after transplantation of universal receptor-modified bone marrow into SCID mice. J Exp Med 1996;184:2261–2269.
- 26 Roberts MR, Qin L, Zhang D, Smith DH, Tran AC, Dull TJ, Groopman JE, Capon DJ, Byrn RA, Finer MH: Targeting of human immunodeficiency virus-infected cells by CD8+ T lymphocytes armed with universal T-cell receptors. Blood 1994;84:2878–2889.
- 27 Roberts MR, Cooke KS, Tran AC, Smith KA, Lin WY, Wang M, Dull TJ, Farson D, Zsebo KM, Finer MH: Antigen-specific cytolysis by neutrophils and NK cells expressing chimeric immune receptors bearing ζ or γ signaling domains. J Immunol 1998;161:375–384.
- 28 Annenkov AE, Moyes SP, Eshhar Z, Mageed RA, Chernajovsky Y: Loss of original antigenic specificity in T cell hybridomas transduced with a chimeric receptor containing singlechain Fv of an anti-collagen antibody and Fc εRI-signaling γ subunit. J Immunol 1998;161: 6604–6613.

Rössig/Brenner

- 29 Annenkov A, Chernajovsky Y: Engineering mouse T lymphocytes specific to type II collagen by transduction with a chimeric receptor consisting of a single chain Fv and TCR ζ. Gene Ther 2000;7:714–722.
- 30 Mitsuyasu, RT, Anton PA, Deeks SG, Scadden DT, Connick E, Downs MT, Bakker A, Roberts M R, June CH, Jalali S, Lin AA, Pennathur-Das R, Hege KM: Prolonged survival and tissue trafficking following adoptive transfer of CD4ζ gene-modified autologous CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells in human immunodeficiency virus-infected subjects. Blood 2000;96:785–793.
- 31 Walker RE, Bechtel CM, Natarajan V, Baseler M, Hege KM, Metcalf JA, Stevens R, Hazen A, Blaese RM, Chen CC, Leitman SF, Palensky J, Wittes J, Davey RT, Falloon J, Polis MA, Kovacs JA, Broad DF, Levine BL, Roberts MR, Masur H, Lane HC: Long-term in vivo survival of receptor-modified syngeneic T cells in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Blood 2000;96:467–474.
- 32 Hombach A, Schneider C, Sent D, Koch D, Willemsen RA, Diehl V, Kruis W, Bolhuis RL, Pohl C, Abken H: An entirely humanized CD3 ζ-chain signaling receptor that directs peripheral blood T cells to specific lysis of carcinoembryonic antigen- positive tumor cells. Int J Cancer 2000;88:115–120.
- 33 Verhoeyen M, Milstein C, Winter G: Reshaping human antibodies: Grafting an anti-lysozyme activity. Science 1988;239:1534–1536.
- 34 Cai X, Garen A: Anti-melanoma antibodies from melanoma patients immunized with genetically modified autologous tumor cells: Selection of specific antibodies from single-chain Fv fusion phage libraries. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:6537–6541.

- 35 Pollok KE, Hanenberg H, Noblitt TW, Schroeder WL, Kato I, Emanuel D, Williams DA: High-efficiency gene transfer into normal and adenosine deaminase-deficient T lymphocytes is mediated by transduction on recombinant fibronectin fragments. J Virol 1998;72: 4882–4892.
- 36 Zajac AJ, Blattman JN, Murali-Krishna K, Sourdive DJ, Suresh M, Altman JD, Ahmed R: Viral immune evasion due to persistence of activated T cells without effector function. J Exp Med 1998;188:2205–2213.
- 37 Parker LL, Do MT, Westwood JA, Wunderlich JR, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA, Hwu P: Expansion and characterization of T cells transduced with a chimeric receptor against ovarian cancer. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:2377–2387.
- 38 Brocker T, Karjalainen K: Signals through T cell receptor-ζ chain alone are insufficient to prime resting T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1995; 181:1653–1659.
- 39 Brocker T: Chimeric Fv-ζ or Fv-ε receptors are not sufficient to induce activation or cytokine production in peripheral T cells. Blood 2000; 96:1999–2001.
- 40 Rössig C, Nuchtern JG, Brenner MK: Selection of human anti-tumor single-chain Fv antibodies from the B-cell repertoire of patients immunized against autologous neuroblastoma. Med Pediatr Oncol 2000;35:692–695.
- 41 Beecham EJ, Ma Q, Ripley R, Junghans RP: Coupling CD28 co-stimulation to immunoglobulin T-cell receptor molecules: The dynamics of T-cell proliferation and death. J Immunother 2000;23:631–642.
- 42 Rössig C, Nuchtern J, Merchant DA, Brenner MK: Targeting of GD2-positive tumor cells by human T lymphocytes engineered to express chimeric T-cell receptor genes. Int J Cancer 2001;94:228–236.

- 43 Greenfield EA, Nguyen KA, Kuchroo VK: CD28/B7 costimulation: A review. Crit Rev Immunol 1998;18:389–418.
- 44 Hombach A, Wieczarkowiecz A, Marquardt T, Heuser C, Usai L, Pohl C, Seliger B, Abken H: Tumor-specific T-cell activation by recombinant immunoreceptors: CD3 ζ signaling and CD28 costimulation are simultaneously required for efficient IL-2 secretion and can be integrated into one combined CD28/CD3 ζ signaling receptor molecule. J Immunol 2001;167: 6123–6131.
- 45 Hombach A, Sent D, Schneider C, Heuser C, Koch D, Pohl C, Seliger B, Abken H: T-cell activation by recombinant receptors: CD28 costimulation is required for interleukin-2 secretion and receptor-mediated T-cell proliferation but does not affect receptor-mediated target cell lysis. Cancer Res 2001;61:1976–1982.
- 46 Alvarez-Vallina L, Hawkins RE: Antigen-specific targeting of CD28-mediated T-cell costimulation using chimeric single-chain antibody variable fragment-CD28 receptors. Eur J Immunol 1996;26:2304–2309.
- 47 Finney HM, Lawson AD, Bebbington CR, Weir AN: Chimeric receptors providing both primary and costimulatory signaling in T cells from a single gene product. J Immunol 1998; 161:2791–2797.
- 48 Geiger TL, Nguyen P, Leitenberg D, Flavell RA: Integrated src kinase and costimulatory activity enhances signal transduction through single-chain chimeric receptors in T lymphocytes. Blood 2001;98:2364–2371.
- 49 Rössig C, Bollard CM, Nuchtern J, Rooney CM, Brenner MK: Epstein-Barr virus-specific human T lymphocytes expressing anti-tumor chimeric T cell receptors: Potential for improved immunotherapy. Blood 2002;99:2009– 2016.

cta Hæmatologica

Acta Haematol 2003;110:160–170 DOI: 10.1159/000072466

Leukemia Vaccines

Ludmila Glouchkova Birgit Ackermann Dagmar Dilloo

Clinic for Pediatric Oncology, Hematology and Immunology, University Clinic, Heinrich Heine University, Düsseldorf, Germany

Key Words

Leukemia · Vaccine · Gene transfer · Dendritic cells

Abstract

Evidence that immunological effector mechanisms contribute to the elimination of leukemic blasts in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation supports the concept that the immune system plays a prominent role in the control of leukemic disease. For patients with high-risk acute leukemia, relapse prevention in the setting of minimal residual disease is paramount. This review discusses vaccine strategies aimed to stimulate a leukemia-specific immune response in vivo.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Leukemia as a Target for Immunotherapy

In leukemia, remission can be achieved with the current-intensified radio-/chemotherapy protocols. For patients suffering relapse, allogeneic stem cell transplantation represents an effective treatment option. Following allogeneic stem cell transplantation, the graft-versus-leukemia effect provides evidence that the immune system contributes to the elimination of residual leukemic blasts [1–7]. Also, identification of leukemia-specific antigens that have been successfully targeted by T-cell responses supports the concept that the immune system plays a

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel 0001–5792/03/1103–0160\$19.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha prominent role in the control of leukemic disease. Among these leukemia antigens are fusion products of leukemiaspecific chromosomal translocations [8–12], antigens that are markedly overexpressed in different types of leukemia [13, 14] but are not truly leukemia-specific and so-called 'shared' antigens that are expressed in different malignancies but not in normal tissue [15–18]. In addition, cytotoxic T-cell clones specific for minor histocompatibility antigens presented by class-I major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules have been shown to lyse lymphoid and myeloid leukemic cells [19–22]. Yet, while leukemic cells do express specific antigens that can serve as target structures for anti-leukemic immune responses, in the clinical setting acute leukemias may still escape immune surveillance.

In principle, for effective T-cell stimulation two signals are required [23, 24]. The first signal is mediated via recognition of the antigen-MHC-I complex by the respective T-cell receptor. The second signal is delivered by co-stimulatory molecules such as CD80 or CD86 [23–26]. Costimulation may also be provided in a paracrine fashion via cytokines [27]. In the absence of such secondary signals T cells are rendered anergic to the presented antigen [23]. Thus deficient immunogenicity of leukemia cells may in principal be due to defective antigen-processing and/or antigen-presentation or lack of co-stimulatory molecules. As leukemia cells generally express MHC-I molecules to high levels, their reduced T-cell stimulatory capacity is largely attributed to deficient co-stimulation.

PD Dr. med. Dagmar Dilloo

Klinik für Kinder-Onkologie, -Hämatologie und -Immunologie

Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf, Moorenstrasse 5

DE-40225 Düsseldorf (Germany)

Tel. +49 211 811 6103, Fax +49 211 811 6436, E-Mail dilloo@uni-duesseldorf.de

Vaccine Strategies

Vaccine strategies aim to compensate for the reduced immunogenicity of leukemic cells. To this end, vaccine cells are generated in large numbers to express leukemiaspecific antigens in the context of adequate co-stimulation. Vaccine cells are then administered via different routes of application with the aim to stimulate a systemic leukemia-specific immune responses. Two principal strategies have been pursued in leukemia vaccine generation. The first strategy aims to improve the antigen-presenting capacity of leukemia cells themselves. This may be achieved either by transfer of genes into leukemia cells that encode the necessary co-stimulatory molecules [28-47] or by induction of leukemia cell maturation via receptor-ligand interactions [48-60]. The second strategy takes advantage of the superior T-cell stimulatory capacity of professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as dendritic cells (DCs) [61, 62]. For delivery of leukemia-specific antigens, DCs generated ex vivo from monocytes [63, 64] or CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells [65–67] may be pulsed with leukemia cell lysates or synthetic peptides derived from defined leukemia-specific antigens. APCs are also the major mediators of anti-neoplastic responses stimulated by vaccine cells expressing the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF). GM-CSF has been shown to attract bone marrowderived DCs to the vaccination site enhancing uptake, processing and presentation of leukemia antigens by professional APCs [68]. Similarly, recruitment of effector cells to the vaccination site promoting the encounter with the relevant antigens and co-stimulatory signals improves vaccine efficacy. Due to their capacity to regulate migration of specific leukocyte subsets [69], chemokines have recently moved into the focus of immunological research and have been successfully employed in a leukemia vaccine model [37].

In leukemia vaccine design, the choice of a particular vaccination strategy depends on conceptual as well as technical considerations. The use of modified leukemic blasts has the advantage that the vaccine cells closely resemble the target cells of the anti-neoplastic response and that the entire repertoire of antigens expressed in the leukemic cells is presented independent of prior identification of leukemia-specific antigens. Technically, sufficient numbers of leukemic cells are readily obtained from bone marrow or peripheral blood. Yet, maintenance of leukemic cells in culture – acute B cell leukemia in particular – and high efficiency gene transfer remain a challenge. In vaccine strategies based on DCs, generation of

vaccine cells ex vivo is technically achievable and delivery of leukemia-specific antigens does not necessarily require gene transfer approaches circumventing the potential risks associated with viral transgene delivery.

Improving the Antigen-Presenting Capacity of Leukemic Cells

Genetic Modification of Leukemic Cell

The most efficient methods of transferring genes into somatic cells involve viral vectors. For clinical use, safetymodified derivatives of wild-type virus are generated that carry the transgene but lack the viral genes essential for replication and packaging such that these defective vectors are capable of transgene delivery but not propagation. These vectors can only be generated in producer cell lines providing the necessary viral genes in trans. Prior to any clinical application of such viral vectors, extensive safety testing is required to ensure the absence of replicationcompetent viral particles, which can emerge by recombination events between the viral vectors and the viral genes inserted into the producer cell line or provided by cotransfected replication-competent helper virus. At present, various viral systems have been approved for clinical trial, namely, retroviruses, adeno-associated viruses, adenoviruses, and herpes simplex viruses. These vector systems differ in titers of viral stocks, tropism, immunogenicity and their capacity to carry large-size inserts, to transduce quiescent cells and mediate transgene integration into the host cell genome [70–73]. High titer vectors allow for bulk transduction of leukemic cells as required for multiple vaccinations and the ability to carry largesize inserts is advantageous when aiming to deliver a combination of immunomodulatory genes. Also, for vaccine applications transient expression of transgenes is usually sufficient. Immunogenicity of viral proteins expressed in target cells transduced ex vivo is acceptable or potentially beneficial adding to the immunostimulatory capacity of the vaccine.

Adenoviral or herpesviral (HSV) vectors exhibit all of these characteristics. Adenoviral vectors have been shown to efficiently transduce chronic myelogenous and activated chronic lymphocytic leukemic cells [74, 75]. Adenoviruses are non-enveloped double-stranded DNA viruses that can be generated to high titers [76]. Adenoviral vectors do not require target cells to be in cycle and transgenes are strongly expressed after adenoviral transduction. Safety modifications consist of deletions of the essential viral genes such as the E1 and/or E3 genes or in

Leukemia Vaccines

the use of 'degutted' adenoviral vectors lacking all the essential viral genes [73]. Infectivity of adenoviral vectors is determined by target cell expression of the primary Coxsackie-adenovirus receptor as well as expression of α integrins mediating adenoviral internalization [77, 78]. Transduction efficiencies of 50-80% can be achieved in primary chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) [74]. The efficiency of adenoviral gene transfer into acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) is variable depending on cytokineinduced modulation of adenoviral receptor expression [79, 80] but can be significantly improved by the use of virus polycation complexes [81]. Also retargeting of adenoviruses to cellular receptors, such as heparan sulfates [80], integrins [82, 83] and FC receptors [84], may prove beneficial as shown for monocytes and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). In CLL, adenoviral gene transfer is significantly enhanced by pre-activation with CD40 Ligand (CD40L) or interleukin (IL)-4 [74, 75] resulting in upregulation of integrin expression. In resting T or B lymphocytes [85] expression of integrins is low accounting in part for the reduced efficiency of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer in non-activated lymphocyte populations.

Here, HSV vectors have proven useful. In acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), gene-transfer rates of 60-80% can be achieved [28] with HSV-1- and HSV-2-derived vectors alike. The Herpesviridae are a family of viruses, which have a large genome of linear, double-stranded DNA (>150 kb) [86-89]. Safety modifications of HSV vectors include deletions of viral glycoprotein H mediating viral infectivity [28, 90] as well as deletions of viral genes essential in replication such as ICP 4, 22, 27 [91]. In acute leukemias, high transduction efficiency achieved with HSV vectors is associated with considerable cellular toxicity. In contrast in CLL [64] that is also highly sensitive to HSV infection, cytopathic effects are less pronounced which has been attributed to high levels of the anti-apoptotic protein bcl-2 in CLL [92]. Yet, while expression of HSV protein results in cellular cytotoxicity, it also enhances vaccine immunogenicity [64, 93].

As no viral proteins are expressed in the target cell following retroviral gene transfer, cellular toxicity and immunogenicity are low. Retroviral transduction results in integration of the gene of interest into the host cell genome facilitating long-term transgene expression yet with the risk of insertional mutagenesis. Application of retroviral vectors for leukemia vaccine generation is further limited by the requirement of target cells to be in cycle as well as by the restriction to a 6–8-kb insert size. Nonetheless, retroviral gene transfer has proven highly effective in CML cells particularly when performed in the presence of fibronectin fragments known to enhance retroviral transduction by co-localization of retroviral particles and hematopoietic target cells [94, 95]. In AML or ALL in contrast, transduction efficiency is highly variable and often low due to the poor proliferative potential of primary human acute leukemia cells in culture [30, 38, 79]. Recently members of two other retroviral subfamilies, the Lentiviridae (HIV1 and 2) and the Spumaviridae (foamy viruses) have attracted considerable attention in the experimental setting [96-98]. The human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) vectors have been shown to effectively transduce non-proliferating cells in vitro [99–102]. Primary ALL and AML cells are both transduced by lentiviral vectors [103, 104] and although variation in transduction efficiency at lower multiplicities of infection is considerable, at very high multiplicities of infection (100-3,000) transduction was consistently successful with gene transfer rates between 30 and 80% [36].

Genetically Modified Leukemia Cells as Vaccine Cells

Enhancement of the T-cell response consists of at least three distinct components: (1) attraction of sufficient numbers of lymphocytes to allow for engagement with an antigen-specific T-cell receptor; (2) delivery of a second signal via co-stimulatory molecules, and (3) amplification of the attracted, stimulated effectors cells. Chemokines, cytokines and co-stimulatory molecules may mediate these effects, respectively.

Cytokines

Initial vaccine models for solid tumors employed cytokine-transduced tumor cells as a vaccine. This approach is based on the rationale that paracrine secretion of cytokines in the immediate vicinity of tumor antigens results in the induction of a tumor-specific immune response rather than generalized immune stimulation as observed after systemic cytokine application. Indeed, in a variety of different solid tumor models, vaccine cells transduced with an array of different cytokines with stimulatory activity on effector cells such as tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF- α), interferon- γ (IFN- γ), and IL-2, 4 and 7 [27, 105– 110] have demonstrated convincing efficacy even for eradication of pre-established disease [108, 110]. These treatment models are the most stringent models of tumor vaccination, as the clinical situation of residual disease is closely mimicked. For eradication of pre-established leukemia, in murine vaccine models the single cytokine
approach – with the exceptions of GM-CSF [28, 29, 31, 32] and IL-12 [43, 44, 111] – has been inferior to transgenic expression of co-stimulatory surface molecules such as CD80 [29] and survival is generally improved when combinations of co-stimulatory molecules are employed.

As a single cytokine, transgenic expression of GM-CSF has proven superior to other cytokines in a number of solid tumor vaccine models [112]. GM-CSF lacks primary activity on lymphocytes but induces cross-priming events at high concentrations enhancing uptake, processing and presentation of tumor antigen by professional APCs. High levels of GM-CSF production seem to be critical for the protective effects of GM-CSF-secreting vaccines, vet are difficult to achieve in genetically modified primary human leukemia cells [28, 36]. In some murine leukemia models, vaccine cells secreting high levels of GM-CSF [29, 31, 32] did suppress outgrowth of pre-established leukemia. In other treatment models, anti-leukemic protection mediated by GM-CSF-secreting vaccines was incomplete [28, 30] but, however, could be enhanced by combination with vaccine cells expressing additional immunomodulatory molecules such as lymphotactin, CD80 or IL-12 acting on different levels of the immune response [34, 35, 37].

In murine AML, vaccination with leukemia cells genetically modified to express IL-12 as a single cytokine protects mice against subsequent leukemic challenge and induces rejection of pre-established disease [43, 44, 111]. In a murine ALL model, survival was significantly improved when GM-CSF-secreting vaccine was combined with systemic IL-12 application [33]. In this ALL model, systemic IL-12 administration also enhanced the efficacy of CD80/CD40L-expressing vaccines such that mice with pre-established disease were protected long-term, the protective effects being CD8- and natural killer cell-dependent [33].

Co-Stimulatory Surface Molecules

Transgenic expression of the co-stimulatory surface molecule CD80 also enhances the immunogenicity of myeloid and lymphoid leukemia cells [30, 38, 39, 41, 113, 114]. The potency of CD80 as a co-stimulator is documented in a murine ALL model, with CD80 being the only immunomodulator mediating complete rejection of leukemia in 50% of mice while IL-2 or GM-CSF induced prolonged survival only [30]. In vitro, retroviral transduction of murine AML cells with CD80 enhances expansion of leukemia-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes mediating graft-versus-leukemia reactions when infused after syngeneic bone marrow transplantation [39]. Also in a vaccine approach, leukemic cells transgenically expressing CD80 serve to eliminate minimal residual disease; however, efficacy is lost when the vaccine is administered at a later stage of the disease [41, 114]. In keeping with the significance of combination vaccines in leukemia, vaccination efficacy is improved when CD80 is combined with other immunomodulators [32, 34, 35, 115].

Another potent co-stimulatory surface molecule is CD40L which is transiently expressed on activated T cells [116, 117]. Its counter-receptor can be found on B cells, monocytes and DCs [118, 119]. Generally, CD40L-CD40 interactions are critical for interaction between T cells and APCs, B cells in particular [120–122]. Engagement of the CD40 receptor on normal B cells induces differentiation and survival of mature B cells promoting immunoglobulin class switch, antigen-processing, increased MHC expression and upregulation of co-stimulatory surface molecules such as CD80 and CD86. CD40L thus enhances the antigen-presenting capacity of mature B cells [123, 124]. More than 80% of B-lineage CLLs, hairy cell leukemias and ALLs express CD40 [125]. Thus, in the context of leukemia vaccines, CD40L may serve a dual purpose providing both T-cell help and delivery of a maturation signal to Bcell leukemia or DCs serving as a vaccine. In a murine leukemia vaccine model, CD40L-transduced fibroblasts admixed with non-transduced leukemia cells stimulated a protective anti-leukemic immune response in mice with pre-established disease [126], documenting that efficacy does not depend on expression of CD40L on the entire vaccine cell population [126]. As in the murine model, transgenic expression of CD40L in primary human CLL cells via adenoviral or HSV transduction results in upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules [45, 46, 64]. Following infusion of autologous CD40L-transduced CLL cells in a clinical phase-I study, induction of CD80 and CD86 expression on non-infected bystander leukemia cells and an increase in frequency of leukemia-specific T cells was observed. In some patients there was also a decrease in the absolute leukemia cell count associated with a reduction in lymph node size [46].

Maturation of Vaccine Cells by Receptor/Ligand Interaction

CD40-Stimulated Leukemia Cells as Vaccine Cells

As an alternative to the gene-transfer approach, one may also take advantage of the CD40L-induced bystander effect and culture the leukemic blasts ex vivo on CD40Lexpressing feeder cells or in the presence of the CD40L trimer to induce maturation. In ALL, such CD40-stimulated blasts express high levels of MHC class-I and II molecules, show upregulation of ICAM-1 and LFA-3 expression as well as of CD80, CD86 [58] and CD70, a co-stimulatory molecule that also contributes to T-cell activation [127]. These CD40-activated ALL cells serve to generate anti-leukemic T-cell lines in vitro [58, 128]. When combined with IL-4, CD40-activated ALL blasts express the typical DC marker CD83 [48, 60] and stimulate naive T cells to secrete Th1-type cytokines. In addition to acute and chronic B-cell leukemia [58, 59], CD40-induced maturation has also been successfully employed in AML [50], enhancing the T-cell-stimulatory capacity of myelogenous blasts.

Maturation of Leukemic Cells to Dendritic-Like Cells

When AML or CML cells are cultured in the presence of GM-CSF in combination with either IL-4 and TNF-α, or IFN-α, myeloid blasts take on DC-like features with upregulation of the markers CD1a and CD83, MHC and costimulatory molecules [48, 51, 52, 54, 129, 130]. In patients with CML, the combined administration of GM-CSF and IFN-α led to in vivo differentiation of mononuclear cells to DCs [131, 132]. In these CML-derived DCs, the bcr-abl fusion products are detectable and stimulation of cytotoxic T-cell activity against parental CML has been demonstrated with low reactivity to normal bone marrow cells [53]. It has been definitively shown that in CML cells, the bcr-abl fusion protein is processed, MHC-binding peptides are generated and presented such that CML cells can serve as target cells to bcr-abl-specific T-cell clones [133]. In a clinical phase-I/II study, reinfusion of CML-derived DCs also led to priming of CML-reactive T cells in vivo and these T cells responded to subsequent in vitro challenge with autologous CML cells [56]. Similarly, DCs generated from non-malignant monocytes and pulsed with different bcr-abl peptides [134, 135] stimulate a potent CMLspecific T-cell response [8, 9, 136, 137].

DC Vaccines

Thus, instead of improving the antigen-presenting capacity of leukemic cells themselves, DCs derived from non-malignant precursors may be employed as professional APCs for stimulation of an anti-neoplastic immune response [138]. Due to high levels of MHC, co-stimulatory and adhesion molecule expression, DCs are able to activate unprimed T cells and are therefore ideal tools for vaccine generation [61, 62]. Physiologically, human DCs are localized in tissues and lymphoid organs while in the peripheral blood, they are detectable at a very low frequency of less than 0.5%. In the last years, several protocols have been developed for large scale ex vivo generation of DCs either from CD14+ monocytes [63, 139, 140] or from CD34+ hematopoietic precursor cells [65, 66, 141]. Monocyte-derived DCs are cultured in the presence of GM-CSF and IL-4, while for generation of DCs derived from CD34+ cells additional cytokines such as flt-3 ligand, IL-3 or stem cell factor are employed that allow for initial expansion of myeloid progenitors. Immature DCs employ a number of mechanisms to facilitate antigen uptake such as macropinocytosis [142] or receptor-mediated endocytosis via the C-type lectin receptor DEC205 [143] or the FC receptors CD32 and CD64 [142, 144]. Additional maturation of DCs is required for effective antigen presentation. Ex vivo maturation can be achieved by addition of cytokines such as TNF- α , PEG2 and IL-1 β . In the presence of these cytokines DCs upregulate MHC and co-stimulatory molecules that are essential for effective T-cell stimulation [145-147]. In solid tumor patients, DC vaccines derived from CD14+ [148-156] and CD34+ [157-159] cells have been used in clinical phase-I/II studies for stimulation of an anti-neoplastic immune response.

For loading of DCs with tumor antigen, several strategies can be pursued. If tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) have been identified, defined TAA-derived peptides matching the respective MHC-restriction elements may be used for DC loading and subsequent presentation of tumor-specific antigens to the immune system [160]. These TAA-derived peptides can be synthesized under good manufacturing practice conditions to high quantities and have the advantage that once synthesized they are readily available for clinical grade vaccine preparation. Clinical phase-I/II studies principally document the immunological and clinical efficacy of this approach in patients with melanoma, prostate and ovarian cancer [64, 148, 149, 156–159, 161–163].

Leukemia-Specific Targets

Principally, leukemias express an array of antigens that may serve as potential targets for an anti-leukemic immune response. For vaccine generation, the choice of suitable target antigens depends not only on their exclusive or preferential expression in malignant cells but also on their immunogenicity.

As discussed above, in leukemia translocation products, such as the BCR-ABL protein in CML [9, 134, 135], PML-RAR α in acute pro-myelocytic leukemia [11], DEK-CAN in AML [12] and ETV6-AML1 in pre-B ALL [10], are a potential source of target antigens. In patients with multiple myeloma and follicular B-cell lymphoma, peptides derived from the hypervariable region of the immunoglobulin protein called the idiotype have been employed as target antigens. Administration of idiotypeloaded DCs in these patients induces idiotype-specific Tcell responses [155, 159, 164-168] as well as clinical responses in some cases. Whether the applicability of this approach also extends to other B-cell malignancies needs to be evaluated. Another group of potential target antigens are not truly leukemia-specific but are expressed to high levels in leukemic cells. In AML and ALL, HLA-A2binding peptides derived from the Wilms tumor geneencoded transcription factor WT-1 [169, 170] stimulate a specific anti-leukemic cytotoxic T-cell response [171-173]. Similarly, DCs loaded with two HLA-A2-binding peptides from the MUC1 protein, an epithelial mucin that is overexpressed in AML and multiple myeloma [174], facilitate the generation of anti-neoplastic cytotoxic T lymphocytes [175]. Proteinase-3 (PR3), a neutrophilic granule protein, is expressed at high levels in AML and CML [176] with negligible expression in normal hematopoietic progenitors. Several HLA-binding PR3 peptides have been identified that elicit a cytotoxic anti-leukemic T-cell response in vitro [177]. In CML patients, detection of cytotoxic PR3-specific T cells in the peripheral blood correlates with clinical responses after bone marrow transplantation or IFN- α treatment [14]. Also clinically, a PR3 peptide vaccine effectively stimulates specific immune responses [178]. The group of so-called 'shared' antigens comprises TAAs that are generally not detected in normal tissue but are expressed in various neoplastic diseases including leukemia. The human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) for instance is expressed in 85% of cancers as well as in leukemias [179, 180], and HLA-A2- or A24-binding hTERT-derived peptides can be employed to elicit cytotoxic anti-leukemic T-cell responses [15, 16, 181]. Similarly survivin, an apoptosis inhibitor [182], is expressed in different human malignancies including ALL, AML and CML blastic crises but not in normal adult tissue [17, 18]. Survivin-derived MHC class-I-binding peptides can be used for the generation of survivin-specific T cells with anti-leukemic cytotoxic activity [183].

Identification of peptides derived from leukemia-specific or overexpressed antigens as potential T-cell targets facilitates the use of these peptides in clinical DC vaccine applications. While exclusive presentation of a defined antigen minimizes the risk of autoimmune phenomena induced by contaminating self-antigen, peptide-based vaccines may not target a broad enough spectrum of antigens allowing escape mutants to develop. Thus, combination of peptides derived from different antigens generating a 'polyvalent' vaccine may prove more beneficial. Yet, peptidebased vaccines are restricted to malignancies for which specific target antigens have been identified and are only applicable to patients who carry the relevant MHC restriction elements. Several investigators therefore employ lysates of the neoplastic cells as the antigen source. In clinical studies utilizing such lysate-pulsed DCs as the vaccine, induction of T-cell-mediated anti-tumor responses and partial clinical responses in the absence of autoimmune side effects has been demonstrated [148, 150-154, 184, 185]. While for solid tumors DC vaccines have been extensively examined, in hematological malignancies, with the exception of myeloma and CML, clinical experience with this vaccine approach is currently limited.

Thus while the spectrum of available vaccines for malignant hematological diseases is broad ranging from genetically modified leukemic cells to DCs, careful evaluation in well-controlled clinical studies of both immune and clinical responses is required to identify the optimal vaccination strategy for each of the different leukemic disease entities.

References

- Baron F, Beguin Y: Adoptive immunotherapy with donor lymphocyte infusions after allogeneic HPC transplantation. Transfusion 2000;40:468–476.
- 2 Barrett AJ: Mechanisms of the graft-versus-leukemia reaction. Stem Cells 1997;15:248–258.
- 3 Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sondel PM, Goldman JM, Kersey J, Kolb HJ, Rimm AA, Ringden O, Rozman C, Speck B, et al: Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1990;75:555–562.
- 4 Slavin S, Ackerstein A, Naparstek E, Or R, Weiss L: The graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) phenomenon: Is GVL separable from GVHD? Bone Marrow Transplant 1990;6:155–161.
- 5 Sullivan KM, Storb R, Buckner CD, Fefer A, Fisher L, Weiden PL, Witherspoon RP, Appelbaum FR, Banaji M, Hansen J, et al: Graft-versus-host disease as adoptive immunotherapy in patients with advanced hematologic neoplasms. N Engl J Med 1989;320:828–834.
- 6 Sullivan KM, Weiden PL, Storb R, Witherspoon RP, Fefer A, Fisher L, Buckner CD, Anasetti C, Appelbaum FR, Badger C, et al: Influence of acute and chronic graft-versushost disease on relapse and survival after bone marrow transplantation from HLA-identical siblings as treatment of acute and chronic leukemia. Blood 1989;73:1720–1728.
- 7 Weiden PL, Flournoy N, Thomas ED, Prentice R, Fefer A, Buckner CD, Storb R: Antileukemic effect of graft-versus-host disease in human recipients of allogeneic-marrow grafts. N Engl J Med 1979;300:1068–1073.

- 8 Yasukawa M, Ohminami H, Kaneko S, Yakushijin Y, Nishimura Y, Inokuchi K, Miyakuni T, Nakao S, Kishi K, Kubonishi I, Dan K, Fujita S: CD4(+) cytotoxic T-cell clones specific for bcr-abl b3a2 fusion peptide augment colony formation by chronic myelogenous leukemia cells in a b3a2-specific and HLA-DR-restricted manner. Blood 1998;92:3355–3361.
- 9 He L, Feng H, Raymond A, Kreeger M, Zeng Y, Graner M, Whitesell L, Katsanis E: Dendritic-cell-peptide immunization provides immunoprotection against bcr-abl-positive leukemia in mice. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2001; 50:31–40.
- 10 Yotnda P, Garcia F, Peuchmaur M, Grandchamp B, Duval M, Lemonnier F, Vilmer E, Langlade-Demoyen P: Cytotoxic T cell response against the chimeric ETV6-AML1 protein in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Invest 1998;102:455–462.
- 11 Osman Y, Takahashi M, Zheng Z, Toba K, Liu A, Furukawa T, Narita M, Aizawa Y, Koike T, Shibata A: Dendritic cells stimulate the expansion of PML-RAR alpha specific cytotoxic Tlymphocytes: Its applicability for antileukemia immunotherapy. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 1999; 18:485–492.
- 12 Ohminami H, Yasukawa M, Kaneko S, Yakushijin Y, Abe Y, Kasahara Y, Ishida Y, Fujita S: Fas-independent and nonapoptotic cytotoxicity mediated by a human CD4(+) T-cell clone directed against an acute myelogenous leukemia-associated DEK-CAN fusion peptide. Blood 1999;93:925–935.
- 13 Molldrem JJ, Lee PP, Wang C, Champlin RE, Davis MM: A PR1-human leukocyte antigen-A2 tetramer can be used to isolate low-frequency cytotoxic T lymphocytes from healthy donors that selectively lyse chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer Res 1999;59:2675–2681.
- 14 Molldrem JJ, Lee PP, Wang C, Felio K, Kantarjian HM, Champlin RE, Davis MM: Evidence that specific T lymphocytes may participate in the elimination of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Nat Med 2000;6:1018–1023.
- 15 Minev B, Hipp J, Firat H, Schmidt JD, Langlade-Demoyen P, Zanetti M: Cytotoxic T cell immunity against telomerase reverse transcriptase in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:4796–4801.
- 16 Arai J, Yasukawa M, Ohminami H, Kakimoto M, Hasegawa A, Fujita S: Identification of human telomerase reverse transcriptase-de-rived peptides that induce HLA-A24-restricted antileukemia cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Blood 2001;97:2903–2907.
- 17 Ambrosini G, Adida C, Altieri DC: A novel anti-apoptosis gene, survivin, expressed in cancer and lymphoma. Nat Med 1997;3:917–921.
- 18 Adida C, Crotty PL, McGrath J, Berrebi D, Diebold J, Altieri DC: Developmentally regulated expression of the novel cancer anti-apoptosis gene survivin in human and mouse differentiation. Am J Pathol 1998;152:43–49.

- 19 Marijt WA, Veenhof WF, Brand A, Goulmy E, Fibbe WE, Willemze R, van Rood JJ, Falkenburg JH: Minor histocompatibility antigenspecific cytotoxic T cell lines, capable of lysing human hematopoietic progenitor cells, can be generated in vitro by stimulation with HLAidentical bone marrow cells. J Exp Med 1991; 173:101–109.
- 20 Faber LM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Willemze R, Falkenburg JH: Generation of leukemia-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones from the HLA-identical bone marrow donor of a patient with leukemia. J Exp Med 1992;176: 1283–1289.
- 21 Dolstra H, Fredrix H, Maas F, Coulie PG, Brasseur F, Mensink E, Adema GJ, de Witte TM, Figdor CG, van de Wiel-van Kemenade E: A human minor histocompatibility antigen specific for B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Exp Med 1999;189:301–308.
- 22 Mutis T, Blokland E, Kester M, Schrama E, Goulmy E: Generation of minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1-specific cytotoxic T cells restricted by nonself HLA molecules: A potential strategy to treat relapsed leukemia after HLA-mismatched stem cell transplantation. Blood 2002;100:547–552.
- 23 Schwartz RH: A cell culture model for T lymphocyte clonal anergy. Science 1990;248:1349– 1356.
- 24 Bernard A, Lamy, Alberti I: The two-signal model of T-cell activation after 30 years. Transplantation 2002;73:S31–S35.
- 25 Harding FA, McArthur JG, Gross JA, Raulet DH, Allison JP: CD28-mediated signalling costimulates murine T cells and prevents induction of anergy in T-cell clones. Nature 1992; 356:607–609.
- 26 Pardigon N, Bercovici N, Calbo S, Santos-Lima EC, Liblau R, Kourilsky P, Abastado JP: Role of co-stimulation in CD8+ T cell activation. Int Immunol 1998;10:619–630.
- 27 Fearon ER, Pardoll DM, Itaya T, Golumbek P, Levitsky HI, Simons JW, Karasuyama H, Vogelstein B, Frost P: Interleukin-2 production by tumor cells bypasses T helper function in the generation of an antitumor response. Cell 1990;60:397–403.
- 28 Dilloo D, Rill D, Entwistle C, Boursnell M, Zhong W, Holden W, Holladay M, Inglis S, Brenner M: A novel herpes vector for the highefficiency transduction of normal and malignant human hematopoietic cells. Blood 1997; 89:119–127.
- 29 Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Dranoff G, Weinstein HJ, Ferrara JL, Bierer BE, Croop JM: Gene immunotherapy in murine acute myeloid leukemia: Granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor tumor cell vaccines elicit more potent antitumor immunity compared with B7 family and other cytokine vaccines. Blood 1998;91:222–230.

- 30 Stripecke R, Skelton DC, Gruber T, Afar D, Pattengale PK, Witte ON, Kohn DB: Immune response to Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia induced by expression of CD80, interleukin 2, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:2049–2062.
- 31 Hsieh CL, Pang VF, Chen DS, Hwang LH: Regression of established mouse leukemia by GM-CSF-transduced tumor vaccine: Implications for cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses and tumor burdens. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8:1843– 1854.
- 32 Nakazaki Y, Tani K, Lin ZT, Sumimoto H, Hibino H, Tanabe T, Wu MS, Izawa K, Hase H, Takahashi S, Tojo A, Azuma M, Hamada H, Mori S, Asano S: Vaccine effect of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor or CD80 gene-transduced murine hematopoietic tumor cells and their cooperative enhancement of antitumor immunity. Gene Ther 1998;5: 1355–1362.
- 33 Gruber TA, Skelton DC, Kohn DB: Requirement for NK cells in CD40 ligand-mediated rejection of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. J Immunol 2002;168:73–80.
- 34 Vereecque R, Buffenoir G, Preudhomme C, Hetuin D, Bauters F, Fenaux P, Quesnel B: Gene transfer of GM-CSF, CD80 and CD154 cDNA enhances survival in a murine model of acute leukemia with persistence of a minimal residual disease. Gene Ther 2000;7:1312– 1316.
- 35 Stripecke R, Skelton DC, Pattengale PK, Shimada H, Kohn DB: Combination of CD80 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor coexpression by a leukemia cell vaccine: Preclinical studies in a murine model recapitulating Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:2109–2122.
- 36 Stripecke R, Cardoso AA, Pepper KA, Skelton DC, Yu XJ, Mascarenhas L, Weinberg KI, Nadler LM, Kohn DB: Lentiviral vectors for efficient delivery of CD80 and granulocytemacrophage-colony-stimulating factor in human acute lymphoblastic leukemia and acute myeloid leukemia cells to induce antileukemic immune responses. Blood 2000;96:1317–1326.
- 37 Dilloo D, Bacon K, Holden W, Zhong W, Burdach S, Zlotnik A, Brenner M: Combined chemokine and cytokine gene transfer enhances antitumor immunity. Nat Med 1996;2:1090– 1095.
- 38 Hirst WJ, Buggins A, Darling D, Gaken J, Farzaneh F, Mufti GJ: Enhanced immune costimulatory activity of primary acute myeloid leukaemia blasts after retrovirus-mediated gene transfer of B7.1. Gene Ther 1997;4:691–699.
- 39 Boyer MW, Vallera DA, Taylor PA, Gray GS, Katsanis E, Gorden K, Orchard PJ, Blazar BR: The role of B7 costimulation by murine acute myeloid leukemia in the generation and function of a CD8+ T-cell line with potent in vivo graft-versus-leukemia properties. Blood 1997; 89:3477–3485.

- 40 Mutis T, Schrama E, Melief CJ, Goulmy E: CD80-Transfected acute myeloid leukemia cells induce primary allogeneic T-cell responses directed at patient specific minor histocompatibility antigens and leukemia-associated antigens. Blood 1998;92:1677–1684.
- 41 Matulonis U, Dosiou C, Freeman G, Lamont C, Mauch P, Nadler LM, Griffin JD: B7–1 is superior to B7–2 costimulation in the induction and maintenance of T cell-mediated antileukemia immunity. Further evidence that B7– 1 and B7–2 are functionally distinct. J Immunol 1996;156:1126–1131.
- 42 Cignetti A, Guarini A, Gillio Tos A, Reato G, Foa R: Interleukin-2 gene-transduced human leukemic cells induce major histocompatibility complex-restricted and -unrestricted anti-leukemic effectors in mixed lymphocyte-tumor cultures. Cancer Gene Ther 2000;7:167–176.
- 43 Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Runyon K, Erickson J, Schaub RG, Hawley RG, Leonard JP: Vaccines with interleukin-12-transduced acute myeloid leukemia cells elicit very potent therapeutic and long-lasting protective immunity. Blood 1999;94:4263–4273.
- 44 Saudemont A, Buffenoir G, Denys A, Desreumaux P, Jouy N, Hetuin D, Bauters F, Fenaux P, Quesnel B: Gene transfer of CD154 and IL12 cDNA induces an anti-leukemic immunity in a murine model of acute leukemia. Leukemia 2002;16:1637–1644.
- 45 Takahashi S, Rousseau RF, Yotnda P, Mei Z, Dotti G, Rill D, Hurwitz R, Marini F, Andreeff M, Brenner MK: Autologous antileukemic immune response induced by chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells expressing the CD40 ligand and interleukin 2 transgenes. Hum Gene Ther 2001;12:659–670.
- 46 Wierda WG, Cantwell MJ, Woods SJ, Rassenti LZ, Prussak CE, Kipps TJ: CD40-ligand (CD154) gene therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2000;96:2917–2924.
- 47 Souquet M, Roskrow M, Balzer S, Kruesemann C, Quang H, Zibert A, Dilloo D: Combination of MIP-1a and IL-2 in a vaccine simulates both T- and NK-effector cells and mediated longlasting anti-leukemic protection (abstract). Blood 1999;94:365.
- 48 Kohler T, Plettig R, Wetzstein W, Schmitz M, Ritter M, Mohr B, Schaekel U, Ehninger G, Bornhauser M: Cytokine-driven differentiation of blasts from patients with acute myelogenous and lymphoblastic leukemia into dendritic cells. Stem Cells 2000;18:139–147.
- 49 Eibl B, Ebner S, Duba C, Bock G, Romani N, Erdel M, Gachter A, Niederwieser D, Schuler G: Dendritic cells generated from blood precursors of chronic myelogenous leukemia patients carry the Philadelphia translocation and can induce a CML-specific primary cytotoxic T-cell response. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1997;20:215–223.
- 50 Costello RT, Mallet F, Sainty D, Maraninchi D, Gastaut JA, Olive D: Regulation of CD80/ B7–1 and CD86/B7–2 molecule expression in human primary acute myeloid leukemia and their role in allogenic immune recognition. Eur J Immunol 1998;28:90–103.

- 51 Chen X, Regn S, Raffegerst S, Kolb HJ, Roskrow M: Interferon alpha in combination with GM-CSF induces the differentiation of leukaemic antigen-presenting cells that have the capacity to stimulate a specific anti-leukaemic cytotoxic T-cell response from patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2000;111:596–607.
- 52 Charbonnier A, Gaugler B, Sainty D, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Olive D: Human acute myeloblastic leukemia cells differentiate in vitro into mature dendritic cells and induce the differentiation of cytotoxic T cells against autologous leukemias. Eur J Immunol 1999;29:2567– 2578.
- 53 Choudhury A, Gajewski JL, Liang JC, Popat U, Claxton DF, Kliche KO, Andreeff M, Champlin RE: Use of leukemic dendritic cells for the generation of antileukemic cellular cytotoxicity against Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 1997;89:1133–1142.
- 54 Choudhury BA, Liang JC, Thomas EK, Flores-Romo L, Xie QS, Agusala K, Sutaria S, Sinha I, Champlin RE, Claxton DF: Dendritic cells derived in vitro from acute myelogenous leukemia cells stimulate autologous, antileukemic Tcell responses. Blood 1999;93:780–786.
- 55 Westermann J, Kopp J, Korner I, Richter G, Qin Z, Blankenstein T, Dorken B, Pezzutto A: Bcr/abl+ autologous dendritic cells for vaccination in chronic myeloid leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;25(suppl 2):S46–S49.
- 56 Lim SH, Coleman S, Bailey-Wood R: In vitro cytokine-primed leukaemia cells induce in vivo T cell responsiveness in chronic myeloid leukaemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;22: 1185–1190.
- 57 Robinson SP, English N, Jaju R, Kearney L, Knight SC, Reid CD: The in-vitro generation of dendritic cells from blast cells in acute leukaemia. Br J Haematol 1998;103:763–771.
- 58 Cardoso AA, Seamon MJ, Afonso HM, Ghia P, Boussiotis VA, Freeman GJ, Gribben JG, Sallan SE, Nadler LM: Ex vivo generation of human anti-pre-B leukemia-specific autologous cytolytic T cells. Blood 1997;90:549–561.
- 59 Buhmann R, Nolte A, Westhaus D, Emmerich B, Hallek M: CD40-activated B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells for tumor immunotherapy: Stimulation of allogeneic versus autologous T cells generates different types of effector cells. Blood 1999;93:1992–2002.
- 60 Mohty M, Isnardon D, Charbonnier A, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Merlin M, Sainty D, Olive D, Gaugler B: Generation of potent T(h)1 responses from patients with lymphoid malignancies after differentiation of B lymphocytes into dendritic-like cells. Int Immunol 2002;14: 741–750.
- 61 Steinman RM: The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenicity. Annu Rev Immunol 1991;9:271–296.
- 62 Robinson SP, Saraya K, Reid CD: Developmental aspects of dendritic cells in vitro and in vivo. Leuk Lymphoma 1998;29:477–490.

- 63 Thurner B, Roder C, Dieckmann D, Heuer M, Kruse M, Glaser A, Keikavoussi P, Kampgen E, Bender A, Schuler G: Generation of large numbers of fully mature and stable dendritic cells from leukapheresis products for clinical application. J Immunol Methods 1999;223:1– 15.
- 64 Tolba KA, Bowers WJ, Hilchey SP, Halterman MW, Howard DF, Giuliano RE, Federoff HJ, Rosenblatt JD: Development of herpes simplex virus-1 amplicon-based immunotherapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2001;98: 287–295.
- 65 Ferlazzo G, Klein J, Paliard X, Wei WZ, Galy A: Dendritic cells generated from CD34+ progenitor cells with flt3 ligand, c-kit ligand, GM-CSF, IL-4, and TNF-alpha are functional antigen-presenting cells resembling mature monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunother 2000;23:48–58.
- 66 Siena S, Di Nicola M, Bregni M, Mortarini R, Anichini A, Lombardi L, Ravagnani F, Parmiani G, Gianni AM: Massive ex vivo generation of functional dendritic cells from mobilized CD34+ blood progenitors for anticancer therapy. Exp Hematol 1995;23:1463–1471.
- 67 Ye Z, Gee AP, Bowers WE, Lamb LS, Turner MW, Henslee-Downey PJ: In vitro expansion and characterization of dendritic cells derived from human bone marrow CD34+ cells. Bone Marrow Transplant 1996;18:997–1008.
- 68 Huang AY, Golumbek P, Ahmadzadeh M, Jaffee E, Pardoll D, Levitsky H: Role of bone marrow-derived cells in presenting MHC class I-restricted tumor antigens. Science 1994;264: 961–965.
- 69 Legdeur MC, Broekhoven MG, Schuurhuis GJ, Beelen RH, Ossenkoppele GJ: Monocyte-chemoattractant-protein-1-mediated migration of human monocytes towards blasts from patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2001;50:16–22.
- 70 Baum C, Richters A, Ostertag W: Retroviral vector-mediated gene expression in hematopoietic cells. Curr Opin Mol Ther 1999;1:605– 612.
- 71 Williams DA, Smith FO: Progress in the use of gene transfer methods to treat genetic blood diseases. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:2059– 2066.
- 72 Jacobs A, Breakefield XO, Fraefel C: HSV-1based vectors for gene therapy of neurological diseases and brain tumors. II. Vector systems and applications. Neoplasia 1999;1:402–416.
- 73 Zhang WW: Development and application of adenoviral vectors for gene therapy of cancer. Cancer Gene Ther 1999;6:113–138.
- 74 Huang MR, Olsson M, Kallin A, Pettersson U, Totterman TH: Efficient adenovirus-mediated gene transduction of normal and leukemic hematopoietic cells. Gene Ther 1997;4:1093– 1099.
- 75 Cantwell MJ, Sharma S, Friedmann T, Kipps TJ: Adenovirus vector infection of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Blood 1996;88: 4676–4683.

- 76 Benihoud K, Yeh P, Perricaudet M: Adenovirus vectors for gene delivery. Curr Opin Biotechnol 1999;10:440–447.
- 77 Wickham TJ, Tzeng E, Shears LL, 2nd, Roelvink PW, Li Y, Lee GM, Brough DE, Lizonova A, Kovesdi I: Increased in vitro and in vivo gene transfer by adenovirus vectors containing chimeric fiber proteins. J Virol 1997;71:8221– 8229.
- 78 Bergelson JM, Cunningham JA, Droguett G, Kurt-Jones EA, Krithivas A, Hong JS, Horwitz MS, Crowell RL, Finberg RW: Isolation of a common receptor for Coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses 2 and 5. Science 1997;275:1320– 1323.
- 79 Roddie PH, Paterson T, Turner ML: Gene transfer to primary acute myeloid leukaemia blasts and myeloid leukaemia cell lines. Cytokines Cell Mol Ther 2000;6:127–134.
- 80 Gonzalez R, Vereecque R, Wickham TJ, Vanrumbeke M, Kovesdi I, Bauters F, Fenaux P, Quesnel B: Increased gene transfer in acute myeloid leukemic cells by an adenovirus vector containing a modified fiber protein. Gene Ther 1999;6:314–320.
- 81 Howard DS, Rizzierri DA, Grimes B, Upchurch D, Phillips GL, Stewart AK, Yannelli JR, Jordan CT: Genetic manipulation of primitive leukemic and normal hematopoietic cells using a novel method of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer. Leukemia 1999;13:1608–1616.
- 82 Haviv YS, Blackwell JL, Kanerva A, Nagi P, Krasnykh V, Dmitriev I, Wang M, Naito S, Lei X, Hemminki A, Carey D, Curiel DT: Adenoviral gene therapy for renal cancer requires retargeting to alternative cellular receptors. Cancer Res 2002;62:4273–4281.
- 83 Nakamura T, Sato K, Hamada H: Effective gene transfer to human melanomas via integrin-targeted adenoviral vectors. Hum Gene Ther 2002;13:613–626.
- 84 Ebbinghaus C, Al-Jaibaji A, Operschall E, Schoffel A, Peter I, Greber UF, Hemmi S: Functional and selective targeting of adenovirus to high-affinity Fcgamma receptor I-positive cells by using a bispecific hybrid adapter. J Virol 2001;75:480–489.
- 85 Huang S, Endo RI, Nemerow GR: Upregulation of integrins alpha v beta 3 and alpha v beta 5 on human monocytes and T lymphocytes facilitates adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. J Virol 1995;69:2257–2263.
- 86 Breakefield XO, DeLuca NA: Herpes simplex virus for gene delivery to neurons. New Biol 1991;3:203–218.
- 87 Glorioso JC, DeLuca NA, Fink DJ: Development and application of herpes simplex virus vectors for human gene therapy. Annu Rev Microbiol 1995;49:675–710.
- 88 Sena-Esteves M, Saeki Y, Fraefel C, Breakefield XO: HSV-1 amplicon vectors – Simplicity and versatility. Mol Ther 2000;2:9–15.
- 89 Frenkel N, Singer O, Kwong AD: Minireview: The herpes simplex virus amplicon – A versatile defective virus vector. Gene Ther 1994; 1(suppl 1):S40–S46.

- 90 Forrester A, Farrell H, Wilkinson G, Kaye J, Davis-Poynter N, Minson T: Construction and properties of a mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1 with glycoprotein H coding sequences deleted. J Virol 1992;66:341–348.
- 91 Krisky DM, Wolfe D, Goins WF, Marconi PC, Ramakrishnan R, Mata M, Rouse RJ, Fink DJ, Glorioso JC: Deletion of multiple immediate-early genes from herpes simplex virus reduces cytotoxicity and permits longterm gene expression in neurons. Gene Ther 1998;5:1593–1603.
- 92 Eling DJ, Johnson PA, Sharma S, Tufaro F, Kipps TJ: Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells are highly sensitive to infection by herpes simplex virus-1 via herpesvirus-entrymediator A. Gene Ther 2000;7:1210–1216.
- 93 Zibert A, Paris-Scholz C, Glouchkova L, Ackermann B, Roskrow M, Dilloo D: Leukemia cells transduced with HSV-1 amplicons expressing CD70 and IL-2 stimulate a protective anti-leukemic response in vivo (abstract). Blood 2000;96:804.
- 94 Hanenberg H, Xiao XL, Dilloo D, Hashino K, Kato I, Williams DA: Colocalization of retrovirus and target cells on specific fibronectin fragments increases genetic transduction of mammalian cells. Nat Med 1996;2: 876–882.
- 95 Moritz T, Dutt P, Xiao X, Carstanjen D, Vik T, Hanenberg H, Williams DA: Fibronectin improves transduction of reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells by retroviral vectors: Evidence of direct viral binding to chymotryptic carboxy-terminal fragments. Blood 1996;88:855–862.
- 96 Buchschacher GL Jr, Wong-Staal F: Development of lentiviral vectors for gene therapy for human diseases. Blood 2000;95:2499–2504.
- 97 Federico M: Lentiviruses as gene delivery vectors. Curr Opin Biotechnol 1999;10:448– 453.
- 98 Hill CL, Bieniasz PD, McClure MO: Properties of human foamy virus relevant to its development as a vector for gene therapy. J Gen Virol 1999;80:2003–2009.
- 99 Weinberg JB, Matthews TJ, Cullen BR, Malim MH: Productive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection of nonproliferating human monocytes. J Exp Med 1991;174:1477–1482.
- 100 Bukrinsky MI, Haggerty S, Dempsey MP, Sharova N, Adzhubel A, Spitz L, Lewis P, Goldfarb D, Emerman M, Stevenson M: A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells. Nature 1993;365:666–669.
- 101 Sherman MP, Greene WC: Slipping through the door: HIV entry into the nucleus. Microbes Infect 2002;4:67–73.
- 102 Medin JA, Karlsson S: Viral vectors for gene therapy of hematopoietic cells. Immunotechnology 1997;3:3–19.

- 103 Biagi E, Bambacioni F, Gaipa G, Casati C, Golay J, Biondi A, Introna M: Efficient lentiviral transduction of primary human acute myelogenous and lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Haematologica 2001;86:13–16.
- 104 Mascarenhas L, Stripecke R, Case SS, Xu D, Weinberg KI, Kohn DB: Gene delivery to human B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Blood 1998;92:3537–3545.
- 105 Blankenstein T, Qin ZH, Uberla K, Muller W, Rosen H, Volk HD, Diamantstein T: Tumor suppression after tumor cell-targeted tumor necrosis factor alpha gene transfer. J Exp Med 1991;173:1047–1052.
- 106 Asher AL, Mule JJ, Kasid A, Restifo NP, Salo JC, Reichert CM, Jaffe G, Fendly B, Kriegler M, Rosenberg SA: Murine tumor cells transduced with the gene for tumor necrosis factoralpha. Evidence for paracrine immune effects of tumor necrosis factor against tumors. J Immunol 1991;146:3227–3234.
- 107 Watanabe Y, Kuribayashi K, Miyatake S, Nishihara K, Nakayama E, Taniyama T, Sakata T: Exogenous expression of mouse interferon gamma cDNA in mouse neuroblastoma C1300 cells results in reduced tumorigenicity by augmented anti-tumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989;86:9456–9460.
- 108 Golumbek PT, Lazenby AJ, Levitsky HI, Jaffee LM, Karasuyama H, Baker M, Pardoll DM: Treatment of established renal cancer by tumor cells engineered to secrete interleukin-4. Science 1991;254:713–716.
- 109 Hock H, Dorsch M, Diamantstein T, Blankenstein T: Interleukin 7 induces CD4+ T cell-dependent tumor rejection. J Exp Med 1991;174:1291–1298.
- 110 Tepper RI, Mule JJ: Experimental and clinical studies of cytokine gene-modified tumor cells. Hum Gene Ther 1994;5:153–164.
- 111 Fallarino F, Ashikari A, Boon T, Gajewski TF: Antigen-specific regression of established tumors induced by active immunization with irradiated IL-12- but not B7–1-transfected tumor cells. Int Immunol 1997;9:1259–1269.
- 112 Dranoff G, Jaffee E, Lazenby A, Golumbek P, Levitsky H, Brose K, Jackson V, Hamada H, Pardoll D, Mulligan RC: Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:3539–3543.
- 113 Matulonis UA, Dosiou C, Lamont C, Freeman GJ, Mauch P, Nadler LM, Griffin JD: Role of B7–1 in mediating an immune response to myeloid leukemia cells. Blood 1995; 85:2507–2515.
- 114 Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Weinstein HJ, Nickerson PW, Strom TB, Burakoff SJ, Croop JM, Arceci RJ: Irradiated B7–1 transduced primary acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) cells can be used as therapeutic vaccines in murine AML. Blood 1996;87:2938– 2946.

- 115 Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Weinstein HJ, Arceci RJ, Croop JM: Gene therapy with B7.1 and GM-CSF vaccines in a murine AML model. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1997;19: 536–540.
- 116 van Kooten C, Banchereau J: Functions of CD40 on B cells, dendritic cells and other cells. Curr Opin Immunol 1997;9:330–337.
- 117 Banchereau J, Dubois B, Fayette J, Burdin N, Briere F, Miossec P, Rissoan MC, van Kooten C, Caux C: Functional CD40 antigen on B cells, dendritic cells and fibroblasts. Adv Exp Med Biol 1995;378:79–83.
- 118 Banchereau J, Bazan F, Blanchard D, Briere F, Galizzi JP, van Kooten C, Liu YJ, Rousset F, Saeland S: The CD40 antigen and its ligand. Annu Rev Immunol 1994;12:881– 922.
- 119 van Kooten C, Banchereau J: CD40-CD40 ligand. J Leukoc Biol 2000;67:2–17.
- 120 Faassen AE, Dalke DP, Berton MT, Warren WD, Pierce SK: CD40-CD40 ligand interactions stimulate B cell antigen processing. Eur J Immunol 1995;25:3249–3255.
- 121 Gordon J: CD40 and its ligand: Central players in B lymphocyte survival, growth, and differentiation. Blood Rev 1995;9:53–56.
- 122 Splawski JB, Fu SM, Lipsky PE: Immunoregulatory role of CD40 in human B cell differentiation. J Immunol 1993;150:1276–1285.
- 123 Ranheim EA, Kipps TJ: Activated T cells induce expression of B7/BB1 on normal or leukemic B cells through a CD40-dependent signal. J Exp Med 1993;177:925–935.
- 124 Kennedy MK, Mohler KM, Shanebeck KD, Baum PR, Picha KS, Otten-Evans CA, Janeway CA Jr, Grabstein KH: Induction of B cell costimulatory function by recombinant murine CD40 ligand. Eur J Immunol 1994;24: 116–123.
- 125 Law CL, Wormann B, LeBien TW: Analysis of expression and function of CD40 on normal and leukemic human B cell precursors. Leukemia 1990;4:732–738.
- 126 Dilloo D, Brown M, Roskrow M, Zhong W, Holladay M, Holden W, Brenner M: CD40 ligand induces an antileukemia immune response in vivo. Blood 1997;90:1927–1933.
- 127 Ackermann B, Glouchkova L, Dilloo D: CD70 expression by CD40-activated human ALL blasts plays a role in stimulating an antileukemic T-cell response. Blood 2000; 16(suppl 1):3118.
- 128 Glouchkova L, Ackermann B, Troeger A, Dilloo D: Stimulation of a specific immune response against acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) utilizing CD40-activated blasts or dendritic cells pulsed with leukemic cell-lysate. Bone marrow transplantation 2002;30 (suppl 1):S41.
- 129 Mohty M, Isnardon D, Blaise D, Mozziconacci MJ, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Briere F, Gastaut JA, Olive D, Gaugler B: Identification of precursors of leukemic dendritic cells differentiated from patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 2002;16:2267–2274.

- 130 Ochler L, Berer A, Kollars M, Keil F, Konig M, Waclavicek M, Haas O, Knapp W, Lechner K, Geissler K: Culture requirements for induction of dendritic cell differentiation in acute myeloid leukemia. Ann Hematol 2000; 79:355–362.
- 131 Cortes J, Kantarjian H, O'Brien S, Kurzrock R, Keating M, Talpaz M: GM-CSF can improve the cytogenetic response obtained with interferon-alpha therapy in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia. Leukemia 1998;12:860–864.
- 132 Paquette RL, Hsu N, Said J, Mohammed M, Rao NP, Shih G, Schiller G, Sawyers C, Glaspy JA: Interferon-alpha induces dendritic cell differentiation of CML mononuclear cells in vitro and in vivo. Leukemia 2002;16:1484– 1489.
- 133 Clark RE, Dodi IA, Hill SC, Lill JR, Aubert G, Macintyre AR, Rojas J, Bourdon A, Bonner PL, Wang L, Christmas SE, Travers PJ, Creaser CS, Rees RC, Madrigal JA: Direct evidence that leukemic cells present HLAassociated immunogenic peptides derived from the BCR-ABL b3a2 fusion protein. Blood 2001;98:2887-2893.
- 134 Osman Y, Takahashi M, Zheng Z, Koike T, Toba K, Liu A, Furukawa T, Aoki S, Aizawa Y: Generation of bcr-abl specific cytotoxic Tlymphocytes by using dendritic cells pulsed with bcr-abl (b3a2) peptide: Its applicability for donor leukocyte transfusions in marrow grafted CML patients. Leukemia 1999;13: 166–174.
- 135 Nieda M, Nicol A, Kikuchi A, Kashiwase K, Taylor K, Suzuki K, Tadokoro K, Juji T: Dendritic cells stimulate the expansion of bcr-abl specific CD8+ T cells with cytotoxic activity against leukemic cells from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 1998; 91:977–983.
- 136 Greco G, Fruci D, Accapezzato D, Barnaba V, Nisini R, Alimena G, Montefusco E, Vigneti E, Butler R, Tanigaki N, Tosi R: Two brc-abl junction peptides bind HLA-A3 molecules and allow specific induction of human cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Leukemia 1996;10: 693–699.
- 137 Yotnda P, Firat H, Garcia-Pons F, Garcia Z, Gourru G, Vernant JP, Lemonnier FA, Leblond V, Langlade-Demoyen P: Cytotoxic T cell response against the chimeric p210 BCR-ABL protein in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia. J Clin Invest 1998;101: 2290–2296.
- 138 Lanzavecchia A: Identifying strategies for immune intervention. Science 1993;260:937– 944.
- 139 Romani N, Gruner S, Brang D, Kampgen E, Lenz A, Trockenbacher B, Konwalinka G, Fritsch PO, Steinman RM, Schuler G: Proliferating dendritic cell progenitors in human blood. J Exp Med 1994;180:83–93.

- 140 Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A: Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/ macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Exp Med 1994;179: 1109–1118.
- 141 Caux C, Vanbervliet B, Massacrier C, Durand I, Banchereau J: Interleukin-3 cooperates with tumor necrosis factor alpha for the development of human dendritic/Langerhans cells from cord blood CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood 1996;87:2376–2385.
- 142 Sallusto F, Cella M, Danieli C, Lanzavecchia A: Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: Downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. J Exp Med 1995;182:389–400.
- 143 Jiang W, Swiggard WJ, Heufler C, Peng M, Mirza A, Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC: The receptor DEC-205 expressed by dendritic cells and thymic epithelial cells is involved in antigen processing. Nature 1995;375:151– 155.
- 144 Fanger NA, Wardwell K, Shen L, Tedder TF, Guyre PM: Type I (CD64) and type II (CD32) Fc gamma receptor-mediated phagocytosis by human blood dendritic cells. J Immunol 1996;157:541–548.
- 145 Cella M, Engering A, Pinet V, Pieters J, Lanzavecchia A: Inflammatory stimuli induce accumulation of MHC class II complexes on dendritic cells. Nature 1997;388:782–787.
- 146 Cella M, Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A: Origin, maturation and antigen presenting function of dendritic cells. Curr Opin Immunol 1997; 9:10–16.
- 147 Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B, Palucka K: Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2000;18:767–811.
- 148 Nestle FO, Alijagic S, Gilliet M, Sun Y, Grabbe S, Dummer R, Burg G, Schadendorf D: Vaccination of melanoma patients with peptide- or tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells. Nat Med 1998;4:328–332.
- 149 Lau R, Wang F, Jeffery G, Marty V, Kuniyoshi J, Bade E, Ryback ME, Weber J: Phase I trial of intravenous peptide-pulsed dendritic cells in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Immunother 2001;24:66–78.
- 150 Chakraborty NG, Sporn JR, Tortora AF, Kurtzman SH, Yamase H, Ergin MT, Mukherji B: Immunization with a tumor-celllysate-loaded autologous-antigen-presentingcell-based vaccine in melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 1998;47:58–64.
- 151 Schott M, Feldkamp J, Lettmann M, Simon D, Scherbaum WA, Seissler J: Dendritic cell immunotherapy in a neuroendocrine pancreas carcinoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2001; 55:271–277.

- 152 Stift A, Friedl J, Dubsky P, Bachleitner-Hofmann T, Benkoe T, Brostjan C, Jakesz R, Gnant M: In vivo induction of dendritic cellmediated cytotoxicity against allogeneic pancreatic carcinoma cells. Int J Oncol 2003;22: 651–656.
- 153 Holtl L, Zelle-Rieser C, Gander H, Papesh C, Ramoner R, Bartsch G, Rogatsch H, Barsoum AL, Coggin JH Jr, Thurnher M: Immunotherapy of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with tumor lysate-pulsed autologous dendritic cells. Clin Cancer Res 2002;8:3369–3376.
- 154 Kobayashi T, Shinohara H, Toyoda M, Iwamoto S, Tanigawa N: Regression of lymph node metastases by immunotherapy using autologous breast tumor-lysate pulsed dendritic cells: Report of a case. Surg Today 2001;31: 513–516.
- 155 Hsu FJ, Benike C, Fagnoni F, Liles TM, Czerwinski D, Taidi B, Engleman EG, Levy R: Vaccination of patients with B-cell lymphoma using autologous antigen-pulsed dendritic cells. Nat Med 1996;2:52–58.
- 156 Brossart P, Wirths S, Stuhler G, Reichardt VL, Kanz L, Brugger W: Induction of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in vivo after vaccinations with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells. Blood 2000;96:3102–3108.
- 157 Banchereau J, Palucka AK, Dhodapkar M, Burkeholder S, Taquet N, Rolland A, Taquet S, Coquery S, Wittkowski KM, Bhardwaj N, Pineiro L, Steinman R, Fay J: Immune and clinical responses in patients with metastatic melanoma to CD34(+) progenitor-derived dendritic cell vaccine. Cancer Res 2001;61: 6451–6458.
- 158 Mackensen A, Herbst B, Chen JL, Kohler G, Noppen C, Herr W, Spagnoli GC, Cerundolo V, Lindemann A: Phase I study in melanoma patients of a vaccine with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells generated in vitro from CD34(+) hematopoietic progenitor cells. Int J Cancer 2000;86:385–392.
- 159 Titzer S, Christensen O, Manzke O, Tesch H, Wolf J, Emmerich B, Carsten C, Diehl V, Bohlen H: Vaccination of multiple myeloma patients with idiotype-pulsed dendritic cells: Immunological and clinical aspects. Br J Haematol 2000;108:805–816.
- 160 Boon T, Cerottini JC, Van den Eynde B, van der Bruggen P, Van Pel A: Tumor antigens recognized by T lymphocytes. Annu Rev Immunol 1994;12:337–365.
- 161 Marchand M, van Baren N, Weynants P, Brichard V, Dreno B, Tessier MH, Rankin E, Parmiani G, Arienti F, Humblet Y, Bourlond A, Vanwijck R, Lienard D, Beauduin M, Dietrich PY, Russo V, Kerger J, Masucci G, Jager E, De Greve J, Atzpodien J, Brasseur F, Coulie PG, van der Bruggen P, Boon T: Tumor regressions observed in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with an antigenic peptide encoded by gene MAGE-3 and presented by HLA-A1. Int J Cancer 1999;80: 219–230.

- 162 Murphy G, Tjoa B, Ragde H, Kenny G, Boynton A: Phase I clinical trial: T-cell therapy for prostate cancer using autologous dendritic cells pulsed with HLA-A0201-specific peptides from prostate-specific membrane antigen. Prostate 1996;29:371–380.
- 163 Hernando JJ, Park TW, Kubler K, Offergeld R, Schlebusch H, Bauknecht T: Vaccination with autologous tumour antigen-pulsed dendritic cells in advanced gynaecological malignancies: Clinical and immunological evaluation of a phase I trial. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2002;51:45–52.
- 164 Cull G, Durrant L, Stainer C, Haynes A, Russell N: Generation of anti-idiotype immune responses following vaccination with idiotype-protein pulsed dendritic cells in myeloma. Br J Haematol 1999;107:648–655.
- 165 Wen YJ, Ling M, Bailey-Wood R, Lim SH: Idiotypic protein-pulsed adherent peripheral blood mononuclear cell-derived dendritic cells prime immune system in multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res 1998;4:957–962.
- 166 Lim SH, Bailey-Wood R: Idiotypic proteinpulsed dendritic cell vaccination in multiple myeloma. Int J Cancer 1999;83:215–222.
- 167 Reichardt VL, Okada CY, Liso A, Benike CJ, Stockerl-Goldstein KE, Engleman EG, Blume KG, Levy R: Idiotype vaccination using dendritic cells after autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for multiple myeloma – A feasibility study. Blood 1999;93: 2411–2419.
- 168 Timmerman JM, Czerwinski DK, Davis TA, Hsu FJ, Benike C, Hao ZM, Taidi B, Rajapaksa R, Caspar CB, Okada CY, van Beckhoven A, Liles TM, Engleman EG, Levy R: Idiotype-pulsed dendritic cell vaccination for B-cell lymphoma: Clinical and immune responses in 35 patients. Blood 2002;99:1517– 1526.
- 169 Inoue K, Sugiyama H, Ogawa H, Nakagawa M, Yamagami T, Miwa H, Kita K, Hiraoka A, Masaoka T, Nasu K: WT1 as a new prognostic factor and a new marker for the detection of minimal residual disease in acute leukemia. Blood 1994;84:3071–3079.
- 170 Inoue K, Ogawa H, Sonoda Y, Kimura T, Sakabe H, Oka Y, Miyake S, Tamaki H, Oji Y, Yamagami T, Tatekawa T, Soma T, Kishimoto T, Sugiyama H: Aberrant overexpression of the Wilms tumor gene (WT1) in human leukemia. Blood 1997;89:1405–1412.
- 171 Ohminami H, Yasukawa M, Fujita S: HLA class I-restricted lysis of leukemia cells by a CD8(+) cytotoxic T-lymphocyte clone specific for WT1 peptide. Blood 2000;95:286– 293.
- 172 Gao L, Bellantuono I, Elsasser A, Marley SB, Gordon MY, Goldman JM, Stauss HJ: Selective elimination of leukemic CD34(+) progenitor cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for WT1. Blood 2000;95:2198–2203.
- 173 Scheibenbogen C, Letsch A, Thiel E, Schmittel A, Mailaender V, Baerwolf S, Nagorsen D, Keilholz U: CD8 T-cell responses to Wilms tumor gene product WT1 and proteinase 3 in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 2002;100:2132–2137.

- 174 Dyomin VG, Palanisamy N, Lloyd KO, Dyomina K, Jhanwar SC, Houldsworth J, Chaganti RS: MUC1 is activated in a B-cell lymphoma by the t(1;14)(q21;q32) translocation and is rearranged and amplified in B-cell lymphoma subsets. Blood 2000;95:2666– 2671.
- 175 Brossart P, Schneider A, Dill P, Schammann T, Grunebach F, Wirths S, Kanz L, Buhring HJ, Brugger W: The epithelial tumor antigen MUC1 is expressed in hematological malignancies and is recognized by MUC1-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. Cancer Res 2001; 61:6846–6850.
- 176 Dengler R, Munstermann U, al-Batran S, Hausner I, Faderl S, Nerl C, Emmerich B: Immunocytochemical and flow cytometric detection of proteinase 3 (myeloblastin) in normal and leukaemic myeloid cells. Br J Haematol 1995;89:250–257.
- 177 Molldrem J, Dermime S, Parker K, Jiang YZ, Mavroudis D, Hensel N, Fukushima P, Barrett AJ: Targeted T-cell therapy for human leukemia: cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for a peptide derived from proteinase 3 preferentially lyse human myeloid leukemia cells. Blood 1996;88:2450–2457.
- 178 Kant S, Wieder ED, Lu S, Molldrem JJ: Induction of a high affinity allogeneic PR1specific CTL response is associated with cytogeneic remission after PR1 vaccine. Blood 2001;98:652a.
- 179 Counter CM, Gupta J, Harley CB, Leber B, Bacchetti S: Telomerase activity in normal leukocytes and in hematologic malignancies. Blood 1995;85:2315–2320.
- 180 Ohyashiki JH, Ohyashiki K, Iwama H, Hayashi S, Toyama K, Shay JW: Clinical implications of telomerase activity levels in acute leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 1997;3:619–625.
- 181 Vonderheide RH, Hahn WC, Schultze JL, Nadler LM: The telomerase catalytic subunit is a widely expressed tumor-associated antigen recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Immunity 1999;10:673–679.
- 182 Andersen MH, Thor SP: Survivin A universal tumor antigen. Histol Histopathol 2002; 17:669–675.
- 183 Schmidt S, Schlag K, Müller M, Weck M, Appel S, Grünebach F, Kanz L, Brossart P: Induction of survivin specific cytotoxic Tlymphocytes (CTL) for a broadly applicable cancer vaccine. Int J Cancer Res Treatm 2002;25:108.
- 184 Chang AE, Redman BG, Whitfield JR, Nickoloff BJ, Braun TM, Lee PP, Geiger JD, Mule JJ: A phase I trial of tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells in the treatment of advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2002;8:1021–1032.
- 185 Geiger JD, Hutchinson RJ, Hohenkirk LF, McKenna EA, Yanik GA, Levine JE, Chang AE, Braun TM, Mule JJ: Vaccination of pediatric solid tumor patients with tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells can expand specific T cells and mediate tumor regression. Cancer Res 2001;61:8513–8519.



Ackermann, B. 160 Bardenheuer, W. 93 Basso, L. 121 Baum, C. 107 Bollard, C.M. 139 Bostrom, N. 121 Brenner, M.K. 154 Burger, S.R. 121 Chen, X. 110 d'Azzo, A. 71 Dilloo, D. 59, 160 Dinauer, M.C. 86 Engel, B.C. 60 Flasshove, M. 93 Glouchkova, L. 160 Goebel, W.S. 86 Guenther, W. 110 Heslop, H.E. 139, 149 Huls, M.H. 149 Kadidlo, D.M. 121 Kalle, C. von 107 Kohn, D.B. 60 Kolb, H.-J. 110 Kramm, C.M. 132 Ledderose, G. 110 Moritz, T. 93 Orchard, P.J. 121 Rooney, C.M. 139, 149 Roskrow, M. 110 Rössig, C. 154 Savoldo, B. 139 Schleuning, M. 110 Schmid, C. 110 Seeber, S. 93 Weber, M. 110 Woiciechowski, A. 110

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha



Adeno-associated virus 78 Adenosine deaminase deficiency 61 Adenoviral vectors 78, 161 Adoptive immunotherapy 110, 139, 149, 154 Allogeneic T lymphocytes 121 Animal models 71, 89, 111, 163 Cell therapy 121 Chimeric receptors 65, 154 Chimerism 110 Chronic granulomatous disease 86 Clinical gene transfer studies 61, 77, 98 Costimulation 115, 154, 163 Cytotoxic T lymphocytes 149, 154 Dendritic cells 116, 160 Donor lymphocyte transfusion 110, 132 Drug resistance 93 Epstein-Barr virus 139, 149 Gene therapy 60, 71, 86, 93, 107, 132, 154 - transfer 76, 160 Graft-versus-host disease 115, 121, 132 Graft-versus-leukemia effect 115, 121, 132 Hematopoietic stem cells 60, 86, 93 Herpesviral vectors 161

Hodgkin's disease 114, 149 HSV-tk 121 Immunodeficiency 60 Lentiviral vectors 77, 136 Leukemia 112, 132, 160 Lysosomal enzymes 71 - storage diseases 71 Mutagenesis 62, 107, 135 NADPH oxidase 86 Phagocytes 86 Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease 139 Retroviral vector 61, 76, 88, 93, 107, 123, 136 Safety aspects, gene transfer 101, 107, 135 Stem cell transplantation 110, 121 Suicide gene therapy 121, 132 T cell receptor 65, 154 Transformation 62, 107, 135 Transplantation 139 - tolerance 110 Vaccines 160 Viral vectors 71

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/aha